ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021

JRAFT FOR REVIEW

Disclaimer

The European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (hereinafter referred to as 'ESHRE') developed the current clinical practice guideline, to provide clinical recommendations to improve the quality of healthcare delivery within the European field of human reproduction and embryology. This guideline represents the views of ESHRE, which were achieved after careful consideration of the scientific evidence available at the time of preparation. In the absence of scientific evidence on certain aspects, a consensus between the relevant ESHRE stakeholders has been obtained.

The aim of clinical practice guidelines is to aid healthcare professionals in everyday clinical decisions about appropriate and effective care of their patients.

However, adherence to these clinical practice guidelines does not guarantee a successful or specific outcome, nor does it establish a standard of care. Clinical practice guidelines do not override the healthcare professional's clinical judgment in diagnosis and treatment of particular patients. Ultimately, healthcare professionals must make their own clinical decisions on a case-by-case basis, using their clinical judgment, knowledge, and expertise, and taking into account the condition, circumstances, and wishes of the individual patient, in consultation with that patient and/or the guardian or carer.

ESHRE makes no warranty, express or implied, regarding the clinical practice guidelines and specifically excludes any warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular use or purpose. ESHRE shall not be liable for direct, indirect, special, incidental, or consequential damages related to the use of the information contained herein. While ESHRE makes every effort to compile accurate information and to keep it up to date, it cannot, however, guarantee the correctness, completeness, and accuracy of the guideline in every respect. In any event, these clinical practice guidelines do not necessarily represent the views of all clinicians that are member of ESHRE.

The information provided in this document does not constitute business, medical or other professional advice, and is subject to change.

ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021_DRAFT FOR REVIEW

RAFTY

Table of Contents

1	Disclaimer	2
2 3 4	Table of Contents Introduction List of all recommendations	
5	List of research recommendations	
о 7	I. Diagnosis of endometriosis I.1. Signs and symptoms	19 19
8	I.2. Diagnostic work-up	23
9	I.2.a Clinical examination	23
10	I.2.b Medical technologies	24
11	I.2.c Diagnostic laparoscopy or empirical treatment	28
12	I.2.d. Impact of the time of diagnosis on quality of life	29
13	I.3. Long term monitoring	32
14	II. Treatment of endometriosis-associated pain	
15	II.1. Analgesics	
16	II.2 Hormonal therapies	36
17	II.2.a. Combined oral contraceptives.	
18	II.2.b. Progestogens (including progestogen-only contraceptives) and anti-progestogens	
19	II.2.c. GnRH agonists	40
20	II.2.d. GnRH antagonists	
21	II.2.e. Aromatase inhibitors	43
22	II.3. Surgical treatment	
23	II.3.a. Surgery versus diagnostic taparoscopy/ medical treatment	
24	II.3.D. Ablation versus excision of endometriosis	
25 26	II.3.C. Superiicial peritorieal endometriosis	40
20 27	II.3.0. Surgery for ovarian ondemotriema	40
27 28	It a f Surgery for doop and motionsis	49 F1
20		51 Е б
29 20	II.3.9. Netve-spatning tapatoscopy	
21	Il 2 i Patient selection for surgery	
32	II A Medical therapies adjunct to surgery	
22 2-	II 4 a Preoperative medical treatment	64
34	II.4.b Postoperative medical treatment	
35	II.5. Medical versus surgical treatment for endometriosis	
36	II.6. Non-medical management strategies	68
37	II.6.a. Acupuncture	68
38	II.6.b Physical therapies	
39	II.6.c Electrotherapy	71
40	II.6.d Psychological interventions	72
41	II.6.e Nutrition and Traditional Chinese Medicine	73

42 43	III. Treatment of endometriosis-associated infertility III.1. Medical treatment	78 78
44	III.1.a. Ovarian suppression	
45	III.1.b. Hormonal or medical therapies as an adjunct to surgical therapy	79
46	III.1.c. Other medical treatments	
47	III.2. Surgical treatment	
48	III.2.a Peritoneal endometriosis	
49	III.2.b. Ovarian endometriosis	
50	III.2.c. Deep endometriosis	
51	III.3 Assessing the need for assisted reproduction after surgery	85
52	III.4. Medically assisted reproduction	
53	III.4.a. Intrauterine insemination in women with endometriosis	
54	III.4.b. Assisted reproductive technology in women with endometriosis.	87
55	III.5. Medical therapies as an adjunct to MAR	
56	III.6. Surgical therapies as an adjunct to MAR	
57	III.6.a. Surgery prior to MAR in women with peritoneal endometriosis.	94
58	III.6.b. Surgery prior to MAR in women with ovarian endometrioma.	
59	III.6.c. Surgery prior to MAR in women with deep endometriosis	
60	III.7. Non-Pharmacological treatment strategies	
61	III.8. Fertility Preservation	
62	III.9 Impact of endometriosis on pregnancy and pregnancy outcome	
63	III.9.a. Effect of pregnancy on endometriotic lesions	
64	III.9.b. Possible complications during pregnancy from a pre-existing endometriosis lesion	
65	III.9.c. Impact of endometriosis on early pregnancy (1 st trimester)	
66	III.9.d. Impact of endometriosis on 2nd and 3rd trimester pregnancy and neonatal outcome	
67 68	IV. Endometriosis recurrence IV.1 Prevention of recurrence of endometriosis	109
69	IV.1.a. Surgical technique for prevention of recurrence	
70	IV.1.b. Medical therapies for prevention of recurrence	
71	IV.1.c. ART and endometriosis recurrence	
72	IV.2 Treatment of recurrent endometriosis	
73	IV.2.a. Medical treatment for recurrent endometriosis	
74	IV.2.b. Surgical treatment for recurrent endometriosis	
75 76	V. Endometriosis and adolescence V.1. Diagnosis	117 117
77	V.1.a. Diagnostic process	
78	V.1.b. Risk factors for adolescent endometriosis	
79	V.1.c. Clinical symptoms	
80	V.1.d. Clinical examination	
81	V.1.e. Imaging	
82	V.1.f. Laboratory parameters	
83	V.1.f. Diagnostic laparoscopy	
84	V.1.g. Histology	

85	V.2. Treatment	124
86	V.2.a Medical treatment	124
87	V.2.b Surgical treatment	
88	IV.2.c Combined medical and surgical treatment	127
89	V.3. Fertility preservation	129
90	VI. Endometriosis and menopause	131
91	VI.1. Endometriosis in postmenopausal women	
92	VI.2. Treatment of endometriosis in postmenopausal women	
93	VI.2.a. Surgical treatment	133
94	VI.2.b. Medical treatment	134
95	VI.3. Menopausal symptoms in women with a history of endometriosis	
96	VI.3.a. HRT for menopausal symptoms in women with a history of endometriosis	
97	VI.3.b. HRT and recurrence of endometriosis in women after natural menopause	136
98	VI.3.c. HRT and recurrence of endometriosis in women after surgical menopause	136
99	VI.3.d. HRT and risk of malignancy	137
100	VI.3.e. Regimen of HRT in women with a history of endometriosis	137
101	VI.4. Menopause-related major health concerns in women with endometriosis	
102 103	VII. Extrapelvic Endometriosis	140 140
104	VII.1.a. Abdominal wall, umbilical, perineal and inguinal endometriosis	
105	VII.1.b. Thoracic endometriosis	141
106	VII.2. Treatment	143
107	VII.2.a. Extrapelvic endometriosis of the abdominal wall, the umbilicus, and the inguinal region	143
108	VII.2.b. Thoracic and diaphragmatic endometriosis	143
109	VIII. Asymptomatic endometriosis	
110	VIII.1. Treatment	
111	VIII.2. Monitoring	148
112 113	IX. Primary prevention of endometriosis IX.1 Risk factors and prevention	149 149
114	IX.2. Genetic predisposition	
115	X. Endometriosis and cancer	153
116	X.1. Link between endometriosis and cancer	153
117	X.1.a Somatic mutations	156
118	X.1.b Impact of hormonal treatments	156
119	X.2. Monitoring for detection of malignancy	
120	X.3. Surgery and malignancy	
121		
122 123	Annex 1: Guideline group Annex 2: Abbreviations	164 164
124	Annex 3: Terminology	
125 126	Annex 4: Key Questions	
120 127	Annex 5. Meu loaology	
128	Annexes will be introduced in the final version	

129 Introduction

130 Clinical need

131 Endometriosis is a chronic inflammatory disease defined as the presence of endometrium-like 132 tissue outside the uterus (Kennedy, *et al.*, 2005). Establishment and growth of such endometriotic 133 tissue is estrogen dependent, thus it is mostly found in women of reproductive age although the 134 clinical consequences of endometriosis and its management can last well into the post-135 menopause.

- The exact prevalence of endometriosis is unknown, but estimates range from 2 to 10% within the general female population but up to 50% in infertile women (Eskenazi and Warner, 1997, Meuleman, *et al.*, 2009). Thus, it is estimated that currently approximately 190 million worldwide are affected by the disease (Zondervan, *et al.*, 2020). Whilst not all women with endometriosis are symptomatic,
- endometriosis-associated pain and infertility are the clinical hallmarks of the disease affecting not
- 141 only women with endometriosis, but also their partners, families, and society in general. Direct and
- indirect healthcare costs have been estimated to have a significant socioeconomic impact and are
- 143 comparable to other common diseases such as type 2 diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, and Crohn's 144 disease (Zondervan, *et al.* 2018)
- 144 disease (Zondervan, *et al.*, 2018).
- 145 Despite all of this, there still exists a large diagnostic void between the onset of symptoms and a

reliable diagnosis averaging between 8-12 years. Therapeutic options range from improving pain

symptoms and fertility prospects by means of hormonal suppression of endogenous estrogen
 levels, decidualisation of endometriotic tissue, surgical removal, or destruction of endometriotic

- 149 lesions and division of adhesions to management of chronic pain syndromes.
- 150 Whilst there still exists a great unmet clinical need for improving many aspects of the diagnosis of
- the disease and the treatment of endometriosis-associated symptoms, there is a slowly growing body of studies which found the basis for the use of evidence-based recommendations which are
- 153 compiled here.
- 154 This document is the second update of the ESHRE Guidelines on Endometriosis [Dunselman, 2014 155 #123](Kennedy, *et al.*, 2005). Where available, peer-reviewed evidence formed the basis of our 156 recommendations. However, there still remain many unanswered questions for which no, only poor 157 quality or little data are available. We have highlighted such areas by making research 158 recommendations and good practice points that were developed based on clinical expertise by
- 159 experts in the field of endometriosis and patient representatives.

160 Target users of the guideline

- 161 The guideline covers the care provided by secondary and tertiary healthcare professionals who
- have direct contact with, and make decisions concerning, the care of women with endometriosis.
- Although primary healthcare providers are not the main target users of this guideline, it may be ofinterest for them too.
- 165 This guideline is of relevance to European health care providers and women with endometriosis.
- 166 To assist patient education and shared decision making, a patient version of this guideline will be
- 167 developed.

168 Guideline scope

169 This guideline offers best practice advice on the care of women with suspected and confirmed 170 endometriosis. Recommendations are provided on diagnosis and treatment for both relief of 171 painful symptoms and for infertility due to endometriosis.

- 172 Specific recommendations are provided on management of patients in whom endometriosis is
- found incidentally (without pain or infertility), adolescents and menopausal women with endometriosis.

- 175 Information on risk factors for endometriosis and associations with other diseases is provided, with176 recommendations on prevention and monitoring.
- 177 The current guideline is an update of the ESHRE guideline Management of women with 178 endometriosis, published in 2013. The members of the guideline development group are listed in 179 Annex 1.

180 Patient population

- 181 The current guideline focusses on women with endometriosis; either diagnosed or strongly182 suspected.
- This guideline, in line with endometriosis research, terminology and discussion is focused on cis heterosexual females and menstruation. The guideline group recognizes that there are many individuals living with endometriosis who are not cis female, who do not menstruate, who do not have a uterus and who do not identify with the terms used in the literature. For the purposes of this guideline, we use the term "women with endometriosis", however, it is not intended to isolate,
- 188 exclude, or diminish any individual's experience nor to discriminate against any group.

189 Terminology and definitions

- 190 This guideline uses terms and definitions as recently defined in an International Terminology on
- 191 Endometriosis, published by an international working group of AAGL, ESGE, ESHRE and WES (HR
- 192 Open 2021, in publication). The terminology includes definitions on endometriosis and its subtypes,
- 193 disease locations, interventions, and outcome parameters.
- 194 A list of abbreviations used in this document is included in Annex 2.
- 195 References
- 196 Eskenazi B, Warner ML. Epidemiology of endometriosis. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am* 1997;24: 235-258.
- Kennedy S, Bergqvist A, Chapron C, D'Hooghe T, Dunselman G, Greb R, Hummelshoj L, Prentice A, Saridogan
 E. ESHRE guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2005;20: 2698-2704.
- 199 Meuleman C, Vandenabeele B, Fieuws S, Spiessens C, Timmerman D, D'Hooghe T. High prevalence of 200 endometriosis in infertile women with normal ovulation and normospermic partners. *Fertil Steril* 2009;92: 68-201 74.
- Zondervan KT, Becker CM, Koga K, Missmer SA, Taylor RN, Viganò P. Endometriosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2018;4: 9.
- 204 Zondervan KT, Becker CM, Missmer SA. Endometriosis. *N Engl J Med* 2020;382: 1244-1256.
- 205

List of all recommendations

Diagnosis of endometriosis

Sig	ns and symptoms		
1	The GDG recommends that clinicians should consider the diagnosis of endometriosis in individuals presenting with the following cyclical and non-cyclical signs and symptoms: dysmenorrhea, deep dyspareunia, dysuria, dyschezia, painful rectal bleeding or haematuria, shoulder tip pain, catamenial pneumothorax, cyclical cough/haemoptysis/chest pain, cyclical scar swelling and pain, fatigue, and infertility.	GPP	
2	Although currently no evidence exists that a symptom diary/questionnaire/app reduces the time to diagnosis or earlier diagnosis, the GDG considers their potential benefit in complementing the traditional history taking process as it aids in objectifying pain and empowering women to demonstrate their symptoms.		Conclusion
Clin	ical examination and diagnostic tests		
3	Clinical examination, including vaginal examination where appropriate, should be considered to identify deep nodules or endometriomas in patients with suspected endometriosis, although the diagnostic accuracy is low.	€000	Strong recommendation
4	In women with suspected endometriosis, further diagnostic steps, including imaging, should be considered even if the clinical examination is normal.	⊕⊕00	Strong recommendation
5	Clinicians should not use measurement of biomarkers in endometrial tissue, blood, menstrual or uterine fluids to diagnose endometriosis.	⊕⊕⊕⊖	Strong recommendation
6	Clinicians are recommended to use imaging (US or MRI) in the diagnostic work-up for endometriosis, but they need to be aware that a negative finding does not exclude endometriosis, particularly superficial peritoneal disease.	⊕⊕00	Strong recommendation
7	In patients with negative imaging results or where empirical treatment was unsuccessful or inappropriate, the GDG recommends that clinicians consider offering laparoscopy for the diagnosis and treatment of suspected endometriosis.	GPP	
8	The GDG recommends that laparoscopic identification of endometriotic lesions is confirmed by histology although negative histology does not entirely rule out the disease.	GPP	
9	Both diagnostic laparoscopy and imaging combined with empirical treatment (oral contraceptive pill or progestogens) can be considered in women suspected of endometriosis. There is no evidence of superiority of either approach.		Conclusion
10	Follow-up should be considered in women with confirmed endometriosis, particularly deep and ovarian endometriosis, although there is currently no evidence of benefit of regular long-term monitoring for early detection of recurrence, complications, or malignancy.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
11	The appropriate frequency of follow-up or monitoring is unknown and should be individualized based on previous and current treatments and severity of the disease and symptoms.		Conclusion
12	Although no adequate studies exist to support the benefits of early versus late diagnosis, the GDG recommends that in symptomatic women, attempts should be made to relieve symptoms, either by empirical treatment or after a diagnosis of endometriosis.		Conclusion
Tre	eatment of endometriosis-associated pain		Chapter II
Ana	lgesics		
13	Women may be offered NSAIDs or other analgesics (either alone or in combination with other treatments) to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
Hor	monal contraceptives		
14	It is recommended to offer women hormonal treatment (combined hormonal contraceptives, progestogens, GnRH agonists or GnRH antagonists) as one of the options to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.	⊕⊕⊕○	Strong recommendation

Chapter I

15	The GDG recommends that clinicians take a shared decision-making approach and take individual preferences, side effects, individual efficacy, costs, and availability into consideration when choosing hormonal treatments for endometriosis-associated pain.	GPP	
16	It is recommended to prescribe women a combined hormonal contraceptive (oral, vaginal ring or transdermal) to reduce endometriosis-associated dyspareunia, dysmenorrhea, and non-menstrual pain.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
17	Women suffering from endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea can be offered the continuous use of a combined hormonal contraceptive pill.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
Pro	gestogens (including progestogen-only contraceptives) and anti-proge	stogens	
18	It is recommended to prescribe women progestogens to reduce endometriosis- associated pain.	⊕⊕00	Strong recommendation
19	The GDG recommends that clinicians take the different side-effect profiles of progestogens into account when prescribing these drugs.	GPP	
20	It is recommended to prescribe women a levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system or an etonogestrel-releasing subdermal implant to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.	⊕⊕⊕⊖	Strong recommendation
GnF	RH agonists		
21	It is recommended to prescribe women GnRH agonists to reduce endometriosis- associated pain, although evidence is limited regarding dosage or duration of treatment.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
22	The GDG recommends that GnRH agonists are prescribed as second line (for example if combined oral contraceptives or a progestogen have been ineffective) due to their side-effect profile.	GPP	
23	Clinicians should consider prescribing combined hormonal add-back therapy alongside GnRH agonist therapy to prevent bone loss and hypoestrogenic symptoms.	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$	Strong recommendation
GnF	RH antagonists		
24	It is recommended to prescribe women GnRH antagonists to reduce endometriosis- associated pain, although evidence is limited regarding dosage or duration of treatment.	⊕⊕⊕○	Strong recommendation
Aro	matase inhibitors		
25	women with endometriosis-associated pain, refractory to other medical or surgical treatment, aromatase inhibitors in combination with oral hormonal contraceptive pills, progestogens, GnRH agonists or GnRH antagonists, as they reduce endometriosis-associated pain.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
Sur	gical treatment		
26	It is recommended to offer surgery as one of the options to reduce endometriosis- associated pain.	⊕⊕00	Strong recommendation
27	When surgery is performed, clinicians may consider excision instead of ablation of endometriosis to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
28	It can be concluded that LUNA is not beneficial as an additional procedure to conventional laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis, as it offers no additional benefit over surgery alone. PSN is beneficial for treatment of endometriosis-associated midline pain as an adjunct to conventional laparoscopic surgery, but it should be stressed that PSN requires a high degree of skill and is associated with an increased risk of adverse effects such as intraoperative bleeding, and postoperative constipation, urinary urgency and painless first stage of labour.		Conclusion
29	When performing surgery in women with ovarian endometrioma, clinicians should perform cystectomy instead of drainage and coagulation, as cystectomy reduces recurrence of endometrioma and endometriosis-associated pain.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
30	When performing surgery in women with ovarian endometrioma, clinicians can consider both cystectomy and laser vaporization, as both techniques appear to have similar recurrence rates beyond the first year after surgery. Early post-surgical recurrence rates may be lower after cystectomy.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
31	When performing surgery for ovarian endometrioma, specific caution should be used to minimize ovarian damage.	⊕000	Strong recommendation

32	Clinicians can consider performing surgical removal of deep endometriosis, as it may reduce endometriosis-associated pain and improves quality of life.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
33	The GDG recommends that women with deep endometriosis are referred to a centre of expertise.	GPP	
34	The GDG recommends that patients undergoing surgery particularly for deep endometriosis are informed on potential risks, benefits, and long-term effect on quality of life.	GPP	
35	Due to the heterogeneity of patient populations, surgical approaches, preferences, and techniques, the GDG decided not to make any conclusions or recommendations on the techniques to be applied for treatment of pain associated with deep endometriosis.		Conclusion
36	Clinicians can consider hysterectomy with or without removal of the ovaries and all visible endometriosis lesions, in those women who no longer wish to conceive and failed to respond to more conservative treatments. Women should be informed that hysterectomy will not necessarily cure the symptoms or the disease.	⊕⊕⊙⊙	Weak recommendation
37	When a decision is made whether to remove the ovaries, the long-term consequences of early menopause and possible need for hormone replacement therapy should be considered.	GPP	
38	The GDG recommends that when hysterectomy is performed, a total hysterectomy is preferred.	GPP	
39	There are currently no prognostic markers that can be used to select patients that would benefit from surgery. Such markers would need to be assessed prior to surgery and predict a clinically meaningful improvement of pain symptoms.		Conclusion
Me	dical therapies as an adjunct to surgery		
40	It is not recommended to prescribe preoperative hormonal treatment to improve the immediate outcome of surgery for pain in women with endometriosis.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
41	Women may be offered postoperative hormonal treatment to improve the immediate outcome of surgery for pain in women with endometriosis.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
Medical versus surgical treatment for endometriosis			
42	The GDG recommends that clinicians take a shared decision-making approach and take individual preferences, side effects, individual efficacy, costs, and availability into consideration when choosing between hormonal and surgical treatments for endometriosis-associated pain.	GPP	
No	n-medical management strategies		
43	The GDG recommends that clinicians discuss non-medical strategies to address quality of life and psychological well-being in women managing symptoms of endometriosis. However, no recommendations can be made for any specific non-medical intervention (Chinese medicine, nutrition, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy, exercise, and psychological interventions) to reduce pain or improve quality of life measures in women with endometriosis, as the potential benefits and harms are unclear.	GPP	
Tre	eatment of endometriosis-associated infertility		Chapter III
44	In infertile women with endometriosis, clinicians should not prescribe ovarian suppression treatment to improve fertility.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
45	Women seeking pregnancy should not be prescribed postoperative hormonal suppression with the sole purpose to enhance future pregnancy rates.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
46	Those women who cannot attempt to or decide not to conceive immediately after surgery should be offered hormonal therapy as it does not negatively impact their fertility and improves the immediate outcome of surgery for pain.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
47	In infertile women with endometriosis, clinicians should not prescribe pentoxifylline, other anti-inflammatory drugs or letrozole outside ovulation-induction to improve natural pregnancy rates.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
48	Operative laparoscopy could be offered as a treatment option for endometriosis- associated infertility in rASRM stage I/II endometriosis as it improves the rate of ongoing pregnancy.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
49	Clinicians may consider operative laparoscopy for the treatment of endometrioma- associated infertility as it may increase their chance of natural pregnancy, although no data from comparative studies exist.	⊕000	Weak recommendation

50	Although no compelling evidence exists that operative laparoscopy for DE improves fertility, operative laparoscopy may represent a treatment option in symptomatic patients wishing to conceive.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
51	The GDG recommends that the decision to perform surgery should be guided by the presence or absence of pain symptoms, patient age and preferences, history of previous surgery, presence of other infertility factors, ovarian reserve, and estimated EFI.	GPP	
52	Women should be counselled of their chances of becoming pregnant after surgery. To identify patients that may benefit from MAR after surgery, the Endometriosis Fertility Index (EFI) should be used as it is validated, reproducible and cost-effective. The results of other fertility investigations such as their partner's sperm analysis should be taken into account.		Conclusion
Me	dically assisted reproduction		
53	In infertile women with AFS/ASRM stage I/II endometriosis, clinicians may perform intrauterine insemination (IUI) with ovarian stimulation, instead of expectant management or IUI alone, as it increases pregnancy rates.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
54	Although the value of IUI in infertile women with AFS/ASRM stage III/IV endometriosis with tubal patency is uncertain, if performed, the use of ovarian stimulation could be considered.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
55	ART can be performed for infertility associated with endometriosis, especially if tubal function is compromised, if there is male factor infertility, in case of low EFI and/or if other treatments have failed.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
56	A specific protocol for ART in women with endometriosis cannot be recommended. Both antagonist and agonist protocols can be offered based on patients' and physicians' preferences as no difference in pregnancy or live birth rate has been demonstrated.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
57	Women with endometriosis can be reassured regarding the safety of ART since the recurrence rates are not increased compared to those women not undergoing ART.	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$	Weak recommendation
58	In women with endometrioma, clinicians may use antibiotic prophylaxis at the time of oocyte retrieval, although the risk of ovarian abscess formation following follicle aspiration is low.	GPP	
59	The administration of GnRH agonist prior to ART treatment to improve live birth rate in infertile women with endometriosis is not recommended, as the benefit is uncertain.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
60	There is insufficient evidence to recommend prolonged administration of the COC/progestogens as a pre-treatment to ART to increase live birth rates.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
61	Clinicians are not recommended to routinely perform surgery prior to ART to improve live birth rates in women with stage I/II endometriosis, as the potential benefits are unclear.	⊕⊕⊖⊖	Strong recommendation
62	Clinicians are not recommended to routinely perform surgery for ovarian endometrioma prior to ART to improve live birth rates, as the current evidence shows no benefit and surgery is likely to have a negative impact on ovarian reserve.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
63	Surgery for endometrioma prior to ART can be considered to improve endometriosis- associated pain or accessibility of follicles.	GPP	
64	The decision to offer surgical excision of deep endometriosis lesions prior to ART should be guided mainly by pain symptoms and patient preference as its effectiveness on reproductive outcome is uncertain due to lack of randomized studies.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
Nor	n-medical management strategies		
65	Regarding non-medical strategies on infertility, there is no clear evidence that any non- medical interventions for women with endometriosis will be of benefit to increase the chance of pregnancy. No recommendation can be made to support any non-medical interventions (nutrition, Chinese medicine, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy, exercise, and psychological interventions) to increase fertility in women with endometriosis. The potential benefits and harms are unclear.		Conclusion
Fer	tility Preservation		
66	In case of extensive ovarian endometriosis, clinicians should discuss the pros and cons of fertility preservation with women with endometriosis. The true benefit of fertility preservation in women with endometriosis remains unknown.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
Imp	pact of endometriosis on pregnancy and pregnancy outcome		

67	Patients should not be advised to become pregnant with the sole purpose of treating endometriosis, as pregnancy does not always lead to improvement of symptoms or reduction of disease progression.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
68	Endometriomas may change in appearance during pregnancy. In case of finding an atypical endometrioma during ultrasound in pregnancy, it is recommended to refer the patient to a centre with appropriate expertise.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
69	Complications related directly to pre-existing endometriosis lesions are rare, but probably under-reported. Such complications may be related to their decidualisation, adhesion formation/stretching and endometriosis-related chronic inflammation. Although rare, they may represent life-threatening situations that may require surgical management.		Conclusion
70	Clinicians should be aware that there may be an increased risk of first trimester miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy in women with endometriosis.	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$	Strong recommendation
71	Clinicians should be aware of endometriosis-associated complications in pregnancy, although these are rare. As these findings are based on low/moderate quality studies, these results should be interpreted with caution and currently do not warrant increased antenatal monitoring or dissuade women from becoming pregnant.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
En	dometriosis recurrence		Chapter IV
Pre	vention of recurrence of endometriosis		
72	When surgery is indicated in women with an endometrioma, clinicians should perform ovarian cystectomy, instead of drainage and electrocoagulation, for the secondary prevention of endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and non- menstrual pelvic pain. However, the risk of reduced ovarian reserve should be taken into account.	@@00	Strong recommendation
73	Clinicians should consider prescribing combined hormonal contraceptives for prevention of endometrioma recurrence after cystectomy in women not immediately seeking conception.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
74	Clinicians should consider prescribing the postoperative use of a levonorgestrel- releasing intrauterine system (52 mg LNG-IUS) or a combined hormonal contraceptive for at least 18–24 months for the secondary prevention of endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea	⊕⊕⊖⊖	Strong recommendation
75	After surgical management of ovarian endometrioma in women not immediately seeking conception, clinicians are recommended to offer long-term hormonal treatment for the secondary prevention of endometrioma and endometriosis-associated related symptom recurrence	⊕000	Strong recommendation
76	For the recurrence prevention of deep endometriosis and associated symptoms, long- term administration of postoperative hormonal treatment can be considered.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
77	Clinicians can perform ART in women with deep endometriosis, as it does not seem to increase endometriosis recurrence per se.	⊕⊕⊕⊖	
Tre	atment of recurrent endometriosis		
78	The GDG recommends that any hormonal treatment or surgery could be offered to treat recurring pain symptoms	⊕000	Weak recommendation
En	dometriosis and adolescence		Chapter V
Dia	gnosis		
79	In adolescents, clinicians should take a careful history to identify possible risk factors for endometriosis, such as a positive family history, obstructive genital malformations, early menarche, or short menstrual cycle.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
80	Clinicians may consider endometriosis in young women presenting with (cyclical) absenteeism from school, or with use of oral contraceptives for treatment of dysmenorrhea.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
81	In adolescents, clinicians should take a careful history and consider symptoms of chronic or acyclical pelvic pain, particularly combined with nausea , dysmenorrhea, dyschezia, dysuria, dyspareunia, as well as cyclical pelvic pain, as indicative of the presence of endometriosis.	⊕000	Strong recommendation

82	The GDG recommends that before performing vaginal examination and/or rectal examination in adolescents, the acceptability should be discussed with the adolescent and her caregiver, with consideration of the patient's age and cultural background.	GPP	
83	Transvaginal ultrasound is recommended to be used in adolescents in whom it is appropriate, as it is effective in diagnosing ovarian endometriosis. If a transvaginal scan is not appropriate, MRI, transabdominal, transperineal, or transrectal scan may be considered where appropriate.	@ @00	Strong recommendation
84	Serum biomarkers (e.g., CA-125) are not recommended for diagnosing or ruling out endometriosis in adolescents.	⊕⊕⊕⊖	Strong recommendation
85	In adolescents with suspected endometriosis where imaging is negative and medical treatments (with NSAIDs and/or oral contraceptives) have not been successful, diagnostic laparoscopy may be considered.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
86	If a laparoscopy is performed, clinicians should consider taking biopsies to confirm the diagnosis histologically.	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
87	The GDG recommends that laparoscopic identification of endometriotic lesions is confirmed by histology although negative histology does not entirely rule out the disease.	GPP	
Trea	atment		
88	In adolescents with (severe dysmenorrhea and/or) endometriosis-associated pain clinicians should prescribe oral contraceptives or progestogens (systemically or via LNG-IUS) as first line hormonal therapy because they may be effective and safe. However, it is important to note that some progestogens may decrease bone mineral density.	@ 000	Strong recommendation
89	The GDG recommends clinicians consider NSAIDs as treatment for endometriosis- associated pain in adolescents with (suspected) endometriosis, especially if first line hormonal treatment is not an option.	GPP	
90	In adolescents with laparoscopically confirmed endometriosis and associated pain in whom oral contraceptives or progestogen therapy failed, clinicians may consider prescribing GnRH agonists for up to 1 year, as they are effective and safe when combined with add-back therapy.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
91	The GDG recommends that in young women and adolescents, GnRH agonists should be used after careful consideration and discussion with a practitioner in a secondary or tertiary care setting, considering potential side effects and long-term health risks.	GPP	
92	In adolescents with endometriosis, clinicians may consider surgical removal of endometriosis lesions to manage endometriosis-related symptoms, however symptom recurrence rates may be considerable, especially when surgery is not followed by hormonal treatment.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
93	The GDG recommends that if surgical treatment is indicated in adolescents with endometriosis, it should be performed laparoscopically by an experienced surgeon, and, if possible, complete laparoscopic removal of all present endometriosis should be performed.	GPP	
94	In adolescents with endometriosis, clinicians should consider postoperative hormonal therapy, as this may suppress recurrence of symptoms.	⊕000	Strong recommendation
Fer	tility preservation		
95	The GDG recommends that adolescents with endometriosis are informed of the potential detrimental effect of ovarian endometriosis and surgery on ovarian reserve and future fertility.	GPP	
96	Fertility preservation options exist and the GDG recommends that adolescents are informed about them, although the true benefit, safety, and indications in adolescents with endometriosis remain unknown.	GPP	
End	dometriosis and menopause		Chapter VI
97	Clinicians should be aware that endometriosis, however rare, can still be active after menopause.		
Trea	atment of endometriosis in postmenopausal women		
98	Clinicians may consider surgical treatment for postmenopausal women presenting with signs of endometriosis and/or pain to enable histological confirmation of the diagnosis of endometriosis.	⊕000	Weak recommendation

99	The GDG recommends that clinicians acknowledge the higher risk of malignancy in postmenopausal women If a pelvic mass is detected, the work-up and treatment should be performed according to national oncology guidelines.	GPP	
100	For postmenopausal women with endometriosis-associated pain, clinicians may consider aromatase inhibitors as a treatment option especially if surgery is not feasible	⊕000	Weak recommendation
Mer	nopausal symptoms in women with a history of endometriosis		
101	Clinicians may consider combined HRT or tibolone for the treatment of postmenopausal symptoms in women (both after natural and surgical menopause) with a history of endometriosis.	⊕⊕○○	Weak recommendation
102	Clinicians should avoid prescribing estrogen-only regimens for the treatment of vasomotor symptoms in postmenopausal women with a history of endometriosis, as these regimens may be associated with a higher risk of malignant transformation	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
103	The GDG recommends that clinicians continue to treat women with a history of endometriosis after surgical menopause with combined estrogen/progestogen or tibolone, at least up to the age of natural menopause.	GPP	
Mer	nopause-related major health concerns in women with endometriosis		
104	Clinicians should be aware that women with endometriosis who have undergone an early bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy as part of their treatment have an increased risk of diminished bone density, dementia, and cardiovascular disease. It is also important to note that women with endometriosis have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, irrespective of whether they have had an early surgical menopause.	7	Conclusion
Ext	rapelvic Endometriosis		Chapter VII
Diag	gnosis		
105	Clinicians should be aware of symptoms of extrapelvic endometriosis, such as cyclical shoulder pain, cyclical spontaneous pneumothorax, cyclical cough, or nodules which enlarge during menses.	GPP	
106	It is advisable to discuss diagnosis and management of extrapelvic endometriosis in a multidisciplinary team in a centre with sufficient expertise.	GPP	
Trea	atment		
107	For abdominal extrapelvic endometriosis, surgical removal is the preferred treatment when possible, to relieve symptoms. Hormonal treatment may also be an option when surgery is not possible or acceptable.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
108	For thoracic endometriosis, hormonal treatment can be offered. If surgery is indicated, it should be performed in a multidisciplinary manner involving a thoracic surgeon and/or other relevant specialists.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
Asy	/mptomatic endometriosis		Chapter VIII
Trea	atment		
109	The GDG recommends that clinicians should inform and counsel women about any incidental finding of endometriosis.	GPP	
110	The GDG recommends that clinicians should not routinely perform surgical excision/ablation for an incidental finding of asymptomatic endometriosis at the time of surgery.	GPP	
111	Clinicians should not prescribe medical treatment in women with incidental finding of endometriosis.	⊕⊕00	Strong recommendation
Mor	nitoring		
112	Routine ultrasound monitoring of asymptomatic endometriosis can be considered.	⊕000	Weak recommendation
Prir	mary prevention of endometriosis		Chapter IX
113	Although there is no direct evidence of developing endometriosis in the future, women can be advised of aiming for a healthy lifestyle and diet, with reduced alcohol intake and regular physical activity.	\$\$O	Weak recommendation

114	The usefulness of hormonal contraceptives for the primary prevention of endometriosis is uncertain.	⊕⊕00	Weak recommendation
115	Genetic testing in women with suspected or confirmed endometriosis should only be performed within a research setting.		RESEARCH- ONLY
End	dometriosis and cancer		Chapter X
116	Clinicians should inform women with endometriosis requesting information on their risk of developing cancer that, although endometriosis is associated with a higher risk of ovarian, breast, and thyroid cancer, the increase in risk compared with women in the general population is low (+0.5% to +1.2%).	@ @00	Strong recommendation
117	The GDG recommends that clinicians reassure women with endometriosis with regards to their cancer risk and address their concern to reduce their risk by recommending general cancer prevention measures (avoiding smoking, maintaining a healthy weight, exercising regularly, having a balanced diet with high intakes of fruits and vegetables and low intakes of alcohol, and using sun protection).	GPP	
118	Based on the limited literature and controversial findings, there is little evidence that somatic mutations in patients with deep endometriosis may be predictive of development and/or progression of ovarian cancer.		Conclusion
119	Clinicians should reassure women with endometriosis about the risk of malignancy associated with the use of the oral contraceptive pill (OCP).	0000	Strong recommendation
120	Clinicians should not systematically perform cancer screening in women with endometriosis.	⊕⊕00	Strong recommendation
121	Clinicians can consider cancer screening according to local guidelines in individual patients that have additional risk factors, e.g., strong family history, specific germline mutations.	GPP	
122	Clinicians should be aware that there is epidemiological data, mostly on ovarian endometriosis, showing that complete excision of visible endometriosis may reduce the risk of ovarian cancer (OR 0.29). The potential benefits should be weighed against the risks of surgery (morbidity, pain, and ovarian reserve).	⊕⊕○○	Strong recommendation
	ORAF		

²⁰⁶ List of research recommendations

207	<u>Diagn</u>	<u>osis of endometriosis</u>
208	•	Randomised research studies are recommended to verify whether symptom diaries or
209		questionnaires lead to improved or earlier diagnosis of endometriosis.
210	•	The GDG recommends large, multi-centre prospective studies with independent validation
211		sample sets to investigate the potential benefit of biomarkers in the detection and
212		prognosis of endometriosis.
213	•	The GDG recommends large longitudinal intervention studies to investigate the potential
214		benefits and best long-term management approaches of women with endometriosis.
215	•	The GDG recommends large longitudinal studies to investigate the effect of early diagnosis
216		on the quality of life of women with endometriosis.
217	<u>Treatr</u>	<u>ment of endometriosis-associated pain</u>
218	•	The GDG recommends sufficiently powered randomized clinical trials in different countries
219		and cultural backgrounds to directly compare the risks, costs, and clinical outcomes of
220		laparoscopy and empirical treatment. These studies are ideally performed in subgroups of
221		women with superficial, deep endometriosis or endometrioma.
222	•	More data are need of the effect of surgery in different subtypes via longitudinal population
223		studies.
224	•	The GDG recommends sufficiently powered prospective, randomised and ideally blinded
225		studies to unequivocally determine whether surgical treatment of superficial peritoneal
226		endometriosis improves short and long-term clinical outcomes such as a reduction in pain
227		symptoms and improvement in quality of life.
228	•	The GDG recommends that nerve-sparing laparoscopy should be performed in centres of
229		expertise and that data are collected in a standardised fashion to assess its potential
230		benefits and risks.
231	•	Studies should evaluate factors that can be assessed prior to surgery and can predict a
232		clinically meaningful improvement of pain symptoms. Such prognostic markers can be
233		used to select patients that may benefit from endometriosis surgery.
234	•	Adequately designed trials are needed to define the potential benefits of non-medical
235		interventions (nutrition, Chinese medicine, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy,
236		exercise, and psychological interventions) in endometriosis. Further research into such
237		interventions for women with endometriosis that employ evidence-based protocols with
238		high intervention integrity is recommended.
239	<u>Treatr</u>	<u>ment of endometriosis-associated infertility</u>
240	•	In patients without a clear indication for ART, the value of surgery for ovarian and deep
241		endometriosis and its effect on natural pregnancy rates should be evaluated. Such studies
242		should consider patient age, endometrioma bilaterality and size, and previous surgeries.
243	•	It is suggested that the EFI is used for better patient phenotyping in studies on surgical
244		treatment and/or the place of MAR in endometriosis-related infertility. The role of the EFI
245		as a pre-surgical triage tool should be validated.
246	•	Studies should focus on identification of women with endometriosis who have higher
247		chances of becoming infertile in the future due to endometriosis or endometriosis surgery
248		(and/or who will need ART anyway). These women would have a true benefit from fertility
249		preservation and this evidence would support a future recommendation supporting FP in
250		selected women with endometriosis.
251	•	Adequately designed trials are needed to define the magnitude of the benefit of non-
252		medical interventions (nutrition, Chinese medicine, electrotherapy, acupuncture.
253		physiotherapy, exercise, and psychological interventions) in endometriosis. Further
254		research into non-medical interventions for women with endometriosis that employ
255		evidence-based protocols with high intervention integrity is recommended.

256 Medically assisted reproduction

- Studies should clarify whether IUI with or without ovarian stimulation is a relevant option
 for women with (different subtypes of) endometriosis. Also, the value of EFI to predict the
 relevance of IUI could be further investigated.
- Studies evaluating IUI and ART should report clinically relevant outcomes (live birth rates and cumulative data), and ideally perform subgroup analysis by stage of endometriosis and type of disease.
- Further studies of both medical and surgical treatments for endometriosis-associated
 infertility are required to clarify the relative effectiveness of treatments, in particular trials
 comparing ART and IUI to other treatments.
- The impact of the extent of disease on the outcome of ART should be further studied, as it could provide data for selection of patients that could benefit from ART.
- RCTs are required to answer the question whether surgery for endometrioma prior to ART
 improves reproductive outcomes.

270 Impact of endometriosis on pregnancy and pregnancy outcome

- Observational studies to assess natural evolution of pre-existing endometrioma or other
 endometriosis lesions during pregnancy.
- There is a need for prospective, well-designed studies to assess: the impact of surgery on subsequent pregnancy evolution, disease phenotype and presence of adenomyosis on these rare complications.
- Larger studies on the evolution of early pregnancy in women with endometriosis versus controls are necessary, particularly with more precise phenotyping including adenomyosis, the role of surgery prior to conception and the mode of conception.
- Prospective observational studies are needed in pregnant women with endometriosis
 versus controls to better define obstetric risks for women with endometriosis and the
 potential usefulness of interventions to prevent them.

282 Endometriosis and adolescence

283 Endometriosis and menopause

 More evidence is need on the efficacy and safety (bone health) of aromatase inhibitors or other medical treatments in postmenopausal women with endometriosis-related pain symptoms.

287 Asymptomatic endometriosis

288 Extrapelvic Endometriosis

Prospective studies are needed in the field of extrapelvic endometriosis, especially thoracic endometriosis.

291 Prevention of endometriosis

292 Endometriosis and cancer

- Future studies should investigate the association between endometriosis and cancer using 293 a prospective design, with a long duration of follow-up to take into account the temporality 294 of the association, a population-based sample with standardized collection of data and 295 recognized criteria for the definition of endometriosis, evaluate potential confounding and 296 mediation, and, also importantly, explore heterogeneity by reporting associations 297 according to a) endometriosis and cancer subtypes, and b) patient characteristics (age, 298 menopausal status...). When exploring endometriosis macro-phenotypes, results from both 299 exclusive and non-exclusive subtypes should be reported. 300
- More research needs to be performed on the mutational and epigenetic profile of ectopic,
 eutopic, and normal endometrium from women of different ages and reproductive

303histories. Among women with endometriosis, exclusive macro-phenotypes of304endometriosis should be investigated.

- More data are needed on the malignant transformation of endometrioma and endometriosis in general to guide the need for monitoring. In addition, there is a critical need for longitudinal studies in patients with (asymptomatic) endometrioma, or diagnosed (or persistent) endometriosis after menopause to guide monitoring and management of the disease with regards to the risk of malignancy.
- 310

or the second se

³¹¹ I. Diagnosis of endometriosis

The diagnostic delay of endometriosis is a hallmark of a disease that can have at times crippling 312 effects on individuals suffering from its associated symptoms and impact on their lives. However, 313 the growth rate and potential progression pattern of endometriotic lesions, cysts and nodules 314 remain unclear. This is partially a result of a lack of sufficient understanding of the underlying 315 pathophysiology, non-standardised clinical outcome measures and not-fit-for-purpose staging 316 317 systems. For example, data from women in the placebo arm of medical or the sham operation arm of surgical trials suggest that within six to twelve months endometriosis may progress in about 318 one-third of patients whilst similar fractions are seen in non-progressive or even regressive disease 319 320 (Evers, 2013). However, these reports have to be addressed carefully as the numbers are small and because they do not take into account the biological activity of individual lesions. 321

There exists no convincing correlation between the extent of the disease categorised by the most widely used revised American Society for Reproductive Medicine (rASRM) classification and the severity of symptoms. Assuming disease progression in at least some individuals, it is conceivable that early diagnosis of endometriosis may also be associated with less extensive disease spread and thus possibly better clinical outcomes, for example less anatomical distortion of pelvic and reproductive structures, thus less requirement for MAR, fewer pain episodes etc.

Multiple studies have demonstrated a significant time period between the onset of first symptoms 328 and a reliable diagnosis (Ghai, et al., 2020, Hudelist, et al., 2012, Staal, et al., 2016). These studies rely 329 on data which use mostly surgical confirmation as the gold standard. However, no convincing data 330 exist that take empirical treatment as the potential endpoint into account, i.e., medical treatment 331 on the suspicion of endometriosis. After considering a presumptive diagnosis of endometriosis, the 332 option of further diagnostic confirmation or (empirical) treatment should be discussed. Patient 333 preference is a relevant issue to be considered here. In this respect, diagnosis of certain 334 presentations of endometriosis for example by ultrasound or MRI (see below) can be considered 335 without laparoscopy with histological confirmation. 336

Other factors may contribute to the delay including lack of awareness both in the general population but also in the medical community. Despite its high prevalence, the severity of symptoms and its high socioeconomic impact many people have not heard of endometriosis, let alone associated symptoms. Whilst few countries have put endometriosis on their national agenda, it is unlikely that public awareness and consequently clinical outcomes will improve unless endometriosis, abnormal menstrual bleeding and pain form a routine part of the school curriculum.

- 343
- 344 I.1. Signs and symptoms

345 PICO QUESTION: CAN CLINICAL SYMPTOMS PREDICT THE PRESENCE OF ENDOMETRIOSIS?

346

In a large retrospective analysis of the UK general practice research database concerning the 347 prevalent symptoms within 3 years before the diagnosis of endometriosis (n=5540 each matched 348 (year-of-birth and practice) to four controls), women with subsequent diagnosis of endometriosis 349 had higher proportion of abdominopelvic pain or heavy menstrual bleeding (73 vs. 20%) (Ballard, et 350 al, 2008). When compared with controls, women with endometriosis had odds ratios (OR) for the 351 following symptoms: abdominopelvic pain 5.2 (4.7 to 5.7), dysmenorrhea 8.1 (7.2 to 9.3), heavy 352 menstrual bleeding 4.0 (95%CI 3.5 to 4.5), infertility 8.2 (95%CI 6.9 to 9.9), dyspareunia/postcoital 353 bleeding 6.8 (95%Cl 5.7 to 8.2), urinary tract symptoms 1.2 (1.0 to 1.3). In addition, history of being 354 355 diagnosed with an ovarian cyst 7.3 (95%Cl 5.7 to 9.4), with irritable bowel syndrome 1.6 (95%Cl 1.3 to 356 1.8), with pelvic inflammatory disease 3.0 (95%Cl 2.5 to 3.6) or with fibrocystic breast disease 1.4 (95%Cl 1.2 to 1.7) were risk factors for subsequent diagnosis of endometriosis. Increasing the number 357 358 of symptoms increased the chance of having endometriosis. Furthermore, women with eventual diagnosis endometriosis had consulted the doctor more frequently and were twice as likely to have 359

had time off from work. Finally, the more symptoms were present, the higher the odds of beingdiagnosed with endometriosis were (Ballard, *et al.*, 2008).

In the same study, women with endometriosis had a high risk of having received the diagnosis of irritable bowel syndrome, namely the OR () for irritable bowel syndrome 3.5 (95%CI 3.1 to 3.9) before

and 2.5 (2.2-2.8) after the diagnosis of endometriosis. In addition, the risk of having received the

365 diagnosis of pelvic inflammatory disease is increased among women with endometriosis. In the UK

366 general practice research database study, the OR of pelvic inflammatory disease diagnosis was 5.9

- 367 (95%Cl 5.1 to 6.9) before and 3.8 (95%Cl 5.1 to 6.9) after the diagnosis of endometriosis (1 symptom:
- 368 OR 5.0; 95%Cl 4.4 to 5.7); 7 symptoms: OR 84.7; 95%Cl 58.8 to 121.8) (Ballard, *et al.*, 2008).
- A large multi-centre prospective, observational, two-phase study in 13 countries was conducted to 369 generate and validate symptom-based models with the aim to predict endometriosis among 370 symptomatic premenopausal women prior to undergoing their first laparoscopy for pain or fertility 371 investigation (Nnoaham, et al., 2012). The study included clinical symptoms, medical history and 372 preoperative ultrasound findings and was divided into a first phase focussing on model 373 development followed by a second, validation phase. For any (rASRM) stage endometriosis the 374 predictive power of any model without ultrasound was poor (AUC: 68.3) but could be improved by 375 376 adding the ultrasound parameter (AUC 80.0). For stage III/IV endometriosis the AUC was reasonable (84.9, with a sensitivity of 82.3% and specificity of 75.8% at optimal cut-off at 0.24) when 377 ultrasound was included (without ultrasound: 83.3, 70.9% and 84.7%, respectively). Whilst these 378 results are not unexpected for stage III/IV endometriosis where ultrasound scan has a high 379 sensitivity and specificity particularly for ovarian endometrioma, the results for endometriosis 380 381 overall are disappointing (with and without ultrasound scan).
- 182 In another prospective study, women undergoing laparoscopy for various gynaecological 183 indications were asked about signs and symptoms including dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, non-184 cyclical pelvic pain, and infertility. However, none of these symptoms were predictive of 185 endometriosis (Eskenazi, *et al.*, 2001).
- 386 Forman *et al.* found in a prospective study in women undergoing laparoscopy for subfertility that
- 387 only severe dysmenorrhea was the predictive of endometriosis (RR 1.7) supporting other studies
- that increased severity of dysmenorrhea may indicate the presence of endometriosis (Eskenazi, et
- 389 *al.*, 2001, Forman, *et al.*, 1993, Hsu, *et al.*, 2010).

390 Recommendations

The GDG recommends that clinicians should consider the diagnosis of endometriosis in individuals presenting with the following cyclical and non-cyclical signs and symptoms: dysmenorrhea, deep dyspareunia, dysuria, dyschezia, painful rectal bleeding or haematuria, shoulder tip pain, catamenial pneumothorax, cyclical cough/haemoptysis/chest pain, cyclical scar swelling and pain, fatigue, and infertility.

GPP

391 Justification

Overall, evidence to predict endometriosis based on clinical symptoms alone is weak and 392 incomplete. In women seeking help from general practitioners, the following symptoms were 393 found to be risk factors for endometriosis: abdominopelvic pain, dysmenorrhea, heavy menstrual 394 bleeding, infertility, dyspareunia and/or postcoital bleeding and/or a previous diagnosis of ovarian 395 cyst, irritable bowel syndrome or pelvic inflammatory disease. Reporting multiple symptoms 396 increases the chance of endometriosis. In specialist health care, severe dysmenorrhea was found 397 to be predictive of a diagnosis of endometriosis in infertile women, but this was not found in all 398 studies. 399

- Thus, endometriosis should be considered a possible diagnosis in women presenting with such clinical symptoms as it may result in an earlier diagnosis of endometriosis and in an improved
- 401 clinical symptoms as it may402 quality of life for the patients.
- 403

404 Further information

405 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question406 I.1)

407

PICO QUESTION: Does the use of symptom diaries or questionnaires compared to traditional history taking lead to improved or earlier diagnosis of endometriosis?

409 410

408

Pain is a cardinal symptom for many individuals suffering from endometriosis. Pain perception can vary individually in intensity, location, time of occurrence and duration. In addition, pain quality and associated sympathetic and parasympathetic reactions may differ at times. Medical appointments are frequently occurring many weeks or even months after the onset and presentation of the pain symptoms. As such, some patients present with summaries of their symptomatic experiences to their appointment in the form of a diary or by answering a questionnaire.

Pain symptoms in endometriosis patients are rather unspecific and their severity does generally not correlate well with the extent of disease according to the widely used rASRM classification system (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2007). This may be a reflection of the limitation of this and other available staging systems which are primarily designed to describe disease extent and location for surgical purposes and do not take certain biological aspects such a disease activity into account (Johnson, *et al.*, 2017). Other staging systems await large scale validation (Haas, *et al.*, 2013).

- There exists a clinical need for a reproducible and easy-to-use objective patient-reported outcome 423 (PRO) tool of endometriosis-associated symptoms primarily for therapeutic studies (Gater, et al., 424 2020, Jones, et al., 2006). However, similarly, such measures may prove helpful in advancing 425 diagnostic accuracy of existing methods and avoid inter- and intra-rater variability (Deal, et al., 2010, 426 van Nooten, et al., 2018, Wyrwich, et al., 2018). Whilst there are different PRO tools available, to date 427 no study has assessed whether their use or the use of symptom diaries compared to traditional 428 history taking techniques has shortened or improved the diagnosis of endometriosis neither for 429 screening nor for triaging of symptomatic patients (Surrey, et al., 2017). Still, it is likely that objective 430 assessment tools will facilitate large scale studies into this. 431
- 432 Conclusion

433 Although currently no evidence exists that a symptom diary/questionnaire/app reduces the time

to diagnosis or earlier diagnosis, the GDG considers their potential benefit in complementing the

435 traditional history taking process as it aids in objectifying pain and empowering women to

- 436 demonstrate their symptoms.
- 437 Research recommendation
- Randomised research studies are recommended to verify whether symptom diaries orquestionnaires lead to improved or earlier diagnosis of endometriosis.

440 Further information

- 441 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question442 I.1)
- 443 References
- Ballard KD, Seaman HE, de Vries CS, Wright JT. Can symptomatology help in the diagnosis of endometriosis?
 Findings from a national case-control study--Part 1. *Bjog* 2008;115: 1382-1391.
- 446 Deal LS, DiBenedetti DB, Williams VS, Fehnel SE. The development and validation of the daily electronic
 447 Endometriosis Pain and Bleeding Diary. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2010;8: 64.
- 448 Eskenazi B, Warner M, Bonsignore L, Olive D, Samuels S, Vercellini P. Validation study of nonsurgical diagnosis 449 of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2001;76: 929-935.
- 450 Evers J. Is adolescent endometriosis a progressive disease that needs to be diagnosed and treated? *Hum* 451 *Reprod* 2013;28: 2023.

- Forman RG, Robinson JN, Mehta Z, Barlow DH. Patient history as a simple predictor of pelvic pathology in subfertile women. *Hum Reprod* 1993;8: 53-55.
- 454 Gater A, Taylor F, Seitz C, Gerlinger C, Wichmann K, Haberland C. Development and content validation of two 455 new patient-reported outcome measures for endometriosis: the Endometriosis Symptom Diary (ESD) and
- new patient-reported outcome measures for endometriosis: the Endom
 Endometriosis Impact Scale (EIS). *J Patient Rep Outcomes* 2020;4: 13.
- 457 Ghai V, Jan H, Shakir F, Haines P, Kent A. Diagnostic delay for superficial and deep endometriosis in the United 458 Kingdom. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2020;40: 83-89.
- 459 Haas D, Oppelt P, Shebl O, Shamiyeh A, Schimetta W, Mayer R. Enzian classification: does it correlate with 460 clinical symptoms and the rASRM score? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2013;92: 562-566.
- Hsu AL, Khachikyan I, Stratton P. Invasive and noninvasive methods for the diagnosis of endometriosis. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 2010;53: 413-419.
- Hudelist G, Fritzer N, Thomas A, Niehues C, Oppelt P, Haas D, Tammaa A, Salzer H. Diagnostic delay for endometriosis in Austria and Germany: causes and possible consequences. *Hum Reprod* 2012;27: 3412-3416.
- Johnson NP, Hummelshoj L, Adamson GD, Keckstein J, Taylor HS, Abrao MS, Bush D, Kiesel L, Tamimi R, Sharpe-Timms KL *et al.* World Endometriosis Society consensus on the classification of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2017;32: 315-324.
- Jones G, Jenkinson C, Taylor N, Mills A, Kennedy S. Measuring quality of life in women with endometriosis: tests of data quality, score reliability, response rate and scaling assumptions of the Endometriosis Health Profile Questionnaire. *Hum Reprod* 2006;21: 2686-2693.
- 471 Nnoaham KE, Hummelshoj L, Kennedy SH, Jenkinson C, Zondervan KT. Developing symptom-based
 472 predictive models of endometriosis as a clinical screening tool: results from a multicenter study. *Fertil Steril*473 2012;98: 692-701.e695.
- 474 Staal AH, van der Zanden M, Nap AW. Diagnostic Delay of Endometriosis in the Netherlands. *Gynecol Obstet* 475 *Invest* 2016;81: 321-324.
- 476 Surrey E, Carter CM, Soliman AM, Khan S, DiBenedetti DB, Snabes MC. Patient-completed or symptom-based 477 screening tools for endometriosis: a scoping review. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2017;296: 153-165.
- van Nooten FE, Cline J, Elash CA, Paty J, Reaney M. Development and content validation of a patient-reported
 endometriosis pain daily diary. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2018;16: 3.
- 480 Vercellini P, Fedele L, Aimi G, Pietropaolo G, Consonni D, Crosignani PG. Association between endometriosis
- stage, lesion type, patient characteristics and severity of pelvic pain symptoms: a multivariate analysis of over
 1000 patients. *Hum Reprod* 2007;22: 266-271.
- 483 Wyrwich KW, O'Brien CF, Soliman AM, Chwalisz K. Development and Validation of the Endometriosis Daily
- 484 Pain Impact Diary Items to Assess Dysmenorrhea and Nonmenstrual Pelvic Pain. *Reproductive sciences*
- 485 (thousand oaks, calif) 2018;25: 1567-1576.
- 486

487 I.2. Diagnostic work-up

488 I.2.a Clinical examination

PICO QUESTION: DOES CLINICAL EXAMINATION OF SYMPTOMATIC WOMEN RELIABLY PREDICT THE PRESENCE OF ENDOMETRIOSIS?

490 491

489

Endometriosis is predominantly an intra-abdominal disease (for extrapelvic endometriosis see 492 Chapter VII). Clinical examination in women suspected with abdominal endometriosis includes 493 physical examination of the pelvis but also the inspection and palpation of the abdomen with the 494 aim to facilitate diagnosis and optimise treatment decisions. Where appropriate, vaginal inspection 495 496 should include a speculum as well as bimanual and rectovaginal palpation (Bazot, et al., 2009, Chapron, et al., 2002). A prospective study has demonstrated that reliability of the clinical 497 examination in detecting pelvic endometriosis is improved during menstruation (Koninckx, et al., 498 1996). 499

500 For women with peritoneal endometriosis and adhesions one study suggested a similar diagnostic 501 accuracy of bimanual examination and transvaginal ultrasound in women with an immobile uterus 502 and adnexal mass or tenderness (Nezhat, *et al.*, 1994). Uterine mobility or rather a lack thereof was 503 found in another retrospective study of almost 800 infertile women as a predictive marker for 504 surgically confirmed endometriosis (Khawaja, *et al.*, 2009). In another retrospective study of 284 505 women with chronic pelvic pain, anterior vaginal wall tenderness had a sensitivity of 17% in women 506 with endometriosis without interstitial cystitis (Paulson and Paulson, 2011).

507 In a prospective study involving 129 women with superficial, ovarian, and deep endometriosis, the 508 prevalence and accuracy of diagnosing endometriosis by clinical examination were investigated. 509 The sensitivity/specificity were for endometriosis on the ovary 44/99, uterosacral ligaments 50/80, pouch of Douglas 76/92, vagina 73/98, rectovaginal space 78/98, urinary bladder 25/100, 511 and rectosigmoid 39/97, respectively. Values for transvaginal ultrasound (TVUS) were similar for 512 most locations but were superior to vaginat examination in cases of ovarian, uterosacral ligament

and rectosigmoid endometriosis (Hudelist, et al., 2011).

514 For deep endometriosis, vaginal examination can facilitate the detection of infiltration or nodules 515 of the vagina, uterosacral ligaments, or pouch of Douglas (whereas sensitivity was poor for 516 endometriosis of the vagina, uterosacral ligaments, rectovaginal septum, and intestine (50%, 73%, 517 18% ad 46%, respectively) (Bazot, *et al.*, 2009).

- 518 Rectovaginal digital examination may allow the detection of infiltration or mass involving the
- rectosigmoid colon or adnexal masses (Bazot, *et al.*, 2009, Condous, *et al.*, 2007, Eskenazi, *et al.*,
- 520 2001, Koninckx, *et al.*, 1996, Ripps and Martin, 1992).

521 Recommendations

Clinical examination, including vaginal examination where appropriate, should be considered to identify deep nodules or endometriomas in patients with suspected $\oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$ endometriosis, although the diagnostic accuracy is low.

522

In women with suspected endometriosis, further diagnostic steps, including imaging, should be considered even if the clinical examination is normal. $\Phi\PhiOO$

- 523 Justification
- 524 Overall, the evidence suggests that clinical examination of symptomatic women does not reliably
- 525 predict the presence of endometriosis in the abdomen and pelvis.

In the first (strong) recommendation, the GDG weighed the benefits of clinical examination versus the burden for patients. Clinical examination may be useful for a diagnosis of endometriosis and/or other diseases and it may lead to further, more specific diagnostic approaches e.g., using medical technologies (see below). The financial burden of clinical examination is minimal as it can be performed at low costs. In the second (strong) recommendation, further diagnostic steps are recommended. The evidence level for this recommendation is derived from the evidence for diagnostic imaging.

Vaginal and/or rectovaginal examination might be inappropriate in certain situations and in adolescents. Furthermore, it can be very painful in some women. In these women, with high burden/discomfort (adolescents, due to religion, painful examination, sexual abuse in the past, virgo intacta etc.) vaginal examination should ideally be omitted and other medical technologies, as described below, should be used as a first step towards diagnosis. Clinical examination in

- adolescence is discussed in chapter V.
- 539 Further information

545

540 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 541 l.2)

542 I.2.b Medical technologies

543 PICO QUESTION: ARE MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES RELIABLE IN DIAGNOSING ENDOMETRIOSIS AND 544 ESTABLISHING THE EXTENT OF THE DISEASE?

The significant delay in diagnosing endometriosis is ubiquitously evident and poses an enormous burden on affected women worldwide. Currently, pelvic/abdominal disease is clinically subdivided into superficial (peritoneal/serosal) lesions, ovarian endometriosis cysts (endometrioma) and deep endometriosis (by arbitrary definition more than 5 mm below the serosal/peritoneal surface) (Cornillie, *et al.*, 1990). However, it is likely that with further insight into the underlying disease processes using new technologies and large-scale studies, in the future more distinct classification systems will emerge with the aim to improve both diagnostic accuracy and therapeutic efficacy.

Medical technologies are successfully used in many conditions to identify or rule out disease. 553 Similarly, such approaches have been studied in endometriosis patients. These include imaging 554 technologies, biomarkers, and surgery alone and in combination. Applying imaging methods and 555 the interpretation of their results can be dependent on a clinician's experience and skill (e.g. 556 ultrasound, surgery) and the availability of the imaging equipment (e.g. MRI). Thus, the 557 transferability of data from published studies performed by experts to the general medical 558 community has to be considered and potentially adapted to the local situation. Similarly, 559 biomarkers require standardised collection and storage protocols for biological samples, 560 accompanying clinical and surgical data needs to be of the highest standard using evidence-based 561 tools (Becker, et al., 2014, Casper, 2014, Fassbender, et al., 2014, Rahmioglu, et al., 2014, Vitonis, et 562 al., 2014) and clinical studies adequate outcome measures (Duffy, et al., 2020). 563

564 Over the years, a dogma has emerged that a laparoscopy is the gold standard to diagnose 565 endometriosis. However, although routinely performed in most countries, it remains an invasive 566 procedure with potential morbidity and mortality (Chapron, *et al.*, 1998). Thus, a reliable, ideally 567 inexpensive non-invasive approach with high sensitivity and specificity would be the preferable 568 approach.

569 I.2.b.1 Biomarkers

570 There exists a multitude of published studies which tested potential biological markers for their 571 predictability of the presence or absence of endometriosis, mostly in symptomatic patients. It is 572 highly likely that negative results could not be published suggesting a high rate of publication bias 573 in this field. May *et al.* first systematically summarised the available data on potential blood, urine, 574 and endometrial biomarkers (May, *et al.*, 2010, May, *et al.*, 2011). A recently updated review of

- available studies using the Cochrane Collaboration tool set confirmed the initial findings that currently there are no reliable biomarkers available for clinical use (Gupta, *et al.*, 2016, Liu, *et al.*, 2015, Nisenblat, *et al.*, 2016a). Unfortunately, all studies included were found to be of poor methodological quality. The group assessed these studies for their value as a replacement or triage test against the existing standard of laparoscopy (Wykes, *et al.*, 2004).
- 580 For blood tests, the authors concluded that, although a subset of biomarkers could prove useful in 581 detecting endometriosis or differentiating ovarian endometrioma from other ovarian tumours, there 582 was insufficient evidence to draw meaningful conclusions (Nisenblat, *et al.*, 2016a).
- 583 Similarly, studies on urinary markers did not show sufficient quality for recommendation for routine 584 clinical use (Liu, *et al.*, 2015).
- The group then looked at available studies on endometrial markers. A meta-analysis of seven studies found, that the histological assessment of the neuronal marker protein gene product 9.5 (PGP 9.5) would potentially meet the criteria for a replacement test for laparoscopy (sensitivity 0.96; 95%CI 0.91 to 1.00; specificity 0.86; 95%CI 0.70 to 1.00)(Gupta, *et al.*, 2016). However, the studies demonstrated considerable heterogeneity. Other neuronal markers including vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), substance P (SP), neuropeptide Y (NPY), calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), and a combination of PGP 9.5, SP, and VIP were thought to show promise as potential markers, but
- the evidence was either poor quality or insufficient (Gupta, *et al.*, 2016).
- Another systematic review assessed the diagnostic accuracy of CA-125 for endometriosis (Hirsch, 593 et al., 2016). This review included 19 prospective and three retrospective observational studies 594 involving a total of 3626 participants. By including only studies with histologically confirmed 595 endometriosis as the reference standard using a threshold of 30 units/ml, Hirsch *et al.* calculated 596 a pooled specificity of 93% (95%Cl 89 to 95%), but only a sensitivity of 52% (95%Cl 38 to 66%) for all 597 endometrioses. Previously, Mol et al., by focussing on women undergoing fertility and pelvic pain 598 investigation, found that the performance of serum CA-125 was low to detect any form of 599 endometriosis, but better for stage III/IV endometriosis (Mol, et al., 1998). The latter finding was also 600 confirmed in a systematic review and meta-analysis (Hirsch, et al., 2016). However, Mol et al. also 601 included studies with only visual confirmation of endometriosis which may partially explain the 602
- 603 lower performance (Fernando, *et al.*, 2013, Kazanegra, *et al.*, 2008).
- 604 Recommendations

Clinicians should not use measurement of biomarkers in endometrial tissue, blood, menstrual or uterine fluids to diagnose endometriosis.

- 605 Justification
- 606 Overall, no biological markers currently exist that reliably can rule in and rule out endometriosis.
- From the literature, CA-125 can be considered as a screening marker for symptomatic patients, it is also inexpensive and widely available. It may convince primary care physicians that endometriosis is a possible reason for the symptoms prompting further investigation.
- 610 However, a negative result does not rule out the disease which bears the risk that patients who

611 have a negative CA-125 are dismissed. Furthermore, it is considered that even a positive test is not

- 612 clinically relevant, and may cause anxiety in the patient, and possible overtreatment. As such, CA-613 125 testing is not considered relevant in the diagnosis of endometriosis.
- 614 Research recommendation
- 615 The GDG recommends large, multi-centre prospective studies with independent validation sample
- sets to investigate the potential benefit of biomarkers in the detection and prognosis of
 endometriosis.
- 618 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question
- 620 l.4)

621 I.2.b.2 Imaging techniques in the diagnosis of endometriosis

Imaging techniques commonly applied in benign gynaecology include (where appropriate)
transvaginal ultrasound scan and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Whilst most ultrasound scans
are part of routine initial investigations in primary care, more advanced ultrasound scan and MRIs
are usually only available through secondary and tertiary care routes.

As part of a set of Cochrane reviews on diagnostic tools for endometriosis, existing evidence of various imaging modalities for the non-invasive diagnosis of endometriosis was published in 2016 (Nisenblat, *et al.*, 2016b). The diagnostic accuracy of superficial, ovarian, and deep endometriosis was compared with surgical diagnosis as a reference standard. Altogether, results from 49 studies

630 involving 4807 women were included.

631 *Pelvic (superficial) endometriosis:*

For overall pelvic endometriosis, none of the imaging modalities showed superior sensitivity and 632 specificity to laparoscopy (Wykes, et al., 2004). Reported findings were heterogeneous with wide 633 confidence intervals. However, transvaginal ultrasound scan showed good specificity (95%; 95%CI 634 89 to 100%), but poor sensitivity (65%; 95%Cl 27% to 100%). MRI showed both poor specificity and 635 sensitivity (72% and 79%, respectively) as well as strong heterogeneity between studies. Two small 636 studies, included in the review, using 3.0 tesla MRI reported specificity of 100% and sensitivity 637 between 81-95% (Manganaro, et al., 2012, Thomeer, et al., 2014) . However, because of the small 638 639 size of the studies, large confidence intervals interpretation of the data was cautioned. Studies using other imaging techniques such as PET-CT did not meet inclusion criteria (Nisenblat, et al., 640 641 2016b).

642 *Ovarian endometriosis (endometrioma):*

For ovarian endometriotic cysts, studies assessing transvaginal ultrasound showed good mean specificity and sensitivity with reasonable confidence intervals and heterogeneity (96%, (95%CI 92 to 99%); 93%, (95%CI 87 to 99%), respectively) (Nisenblat, *et al.*, 2016b).

For MRI, mean specificity and sensitivity were similar to those from transvaginal ultrasound scan studies (91% and 95%, respectively). One study compared MRI directly with transvaginal and transrectal ultrasound (Bazot, *et al.*, 2009). Whilst transrectal ultrasound scan had a lower specificity and sensitivity (77% and 89%, respectively), results for transvaginal ultrasound (86% and 94%, respectively) and MRI (88% and 92%, respectively) were similarly promising.

651 *Deep endometriosis*

Deep endometriosis can involve many areas in the pelvis such as visceral organs (e.g., bowel, 652 bladder), the pelvic wall and its retroperitoneal structures (ureters, nerves, blood vessels etc.). For 653 transvaginal ultrasound (including conventional ultrasound, 3-D ultrasound and sonovaginography) 654 655 overall specificity and sensitivity estimates have been reported as 94% and 79%, respectively, whereas sensitivity may be slightly improved with 3-D ultrasound (87%) (Guerriero, et al., 2014). 656 However, no data were available on the minimum size of the lesions detectable. Furthermore, 657 658 even in experienced hands both sensitivity and specificity can vary depending on the location of the disease in the pelvis with the poorest accuracy probably for deep endometriosis involving 659 660 either uterosacral ligaments or the vagina (Bazot, et al., 2009).

661 Studies assessing the role of MRI in diagnosing deep endometriosis of the pelvis reported an 662 overall mean specificity of 77% (95%CI 44 to 100%) and a mean sensitivity of 94% (95%CI 90 to 97%)

663 (Nisenblat, *et al.*, 2016b).

664 Deep endometriosis; Rectosigmoid

For endometriosis of the rectosigmoid a more recent systematic review of eight studies comparing MRI and transvaginal ultrasound reported a pooled specificity and sensitivity for MRI of 96% (95%CI 94 to 97%) and 90% (95%CI 87 to 92%), respectively and for transvaginal ultrasound 96% specificity (95%CI 94 to 97%) and 90% sensitivity (95%CI 87 to 92%). There was no significant difference between both methods (Moura, *et al.*, 2019).

670 Overall, these data suggest that transvaginal ultrasound and MRI have a similar or slightly better specificity and sensitivity than surgery for ovarian and deep endometriosis. When it comes to 671 superficial disease, these or any other imaging modalities do not seem to have a superior 672 diagnostic value compared to laparoscopic surgery (Wykes, et al., 2004). However, one has to take 673 a few points into account when addressing the question of whether imaging should replace 674 surgery as the gold standard for endometriosis: Firstly, the results from the systematic review by 675 676 Wykes *et al* which is often used as the standard are based on four studies including 413 patients. Secondly, the published imaging studies have been performed by experts in the field and therefore 677 have to be taken with caution when they are translated into real world scenarios. This applies to 678 both approaches. Thirdly, the methodological quality of some of the data were generally deemed 679 as low and only few studies could be included in the systematic reviews. Fourthly, one has to take 680 681 into account the pros and cons of an invasive procedure such as a laparoscopy e.g., the associated morbidity and mortality versus the possibility of treatment and empowerment of women who have 682 been suffering from often debilitating symptoms to objectify and demonstrate the disease. On the 683 other hand, costs, availability of equipment and expertise for both imaging and surgery need to be 684 included into the decision-making process. 685

686 Recommendations

Clinicians are recommended to use imaging (US or MRI) in the diagnostic work-up for endometriosis, but they need to be aware that a negative finding does not exclude endometriosis, particularly superficial peritoneal disease. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

687

In patients with negative imaging results or where empirical treatment was unsuccessful or inappropriate, the GDG recommends that clinicians consider offering laparoscopy for the diagnosis and treatment of suspected endometriosis.

688

The GDG recommends that laparoscopic identification of endometriotic lesions is confirmed by histology although negative histology does not entirely rule out the disease.

689

690 Justification

Taking the factors discussed by Wykes *et al.* and available data into account, it is likely that 691 particularly dedicated transvaginal ultrasound in experienced hands but also MRI can replace 692 surgery are the gold standard for the diagnosis of ovarian endometriosis cysts and deep 693 endometriosis in the pelvis. However, the non-invasive diagnosis of superficial disease remains a 694 significant challenge and can currently not accurately diagnosed or ruled out by the available 695 imaging modalities. The GDG formulated a strong recommendation for using imaging in the 696 diagnostic work-up with a sidenote on false-negative results. Two further good practice points 697 were formulated to support clinical practice. 698

699

700 I.2.c Diagnostic laparoscopy or empirical treatment

701 PICO QUESTION: DOES DIAGNOSTIC LAPAROSCOPY COMPARED TO EMPIRICAL MEDICAL 702 TREATMENT RESULT IN BETTER SYMPTOM MANAGEMENT IN WOMEN SUSPECTED OF 703 ENDOMETRIOSIS?

704

As established above, there exist copious diagnostic challenges for endometriosis in general, in particular for superficial pelvic disease due a variety of factors including the lack of clinically relevant biomarkers, lack of specific symptoms and the inability of current imaging techniques to reliably identify or rule out small lesions (Zondervan, *et al.*, 2020).

There exists the widespread concept that laparoscopy is the accepted standard to diagnose 709 abdominal endometriosis which was formulated in the first edition of this guideline (Kennedy, et al., 710 2005). However, laparoscopic surgery, albeit its widespread use, is expensive, invasive, and 711 712 associated with morbidity and mortality. On the other hand, direct, photographic, and histological proof of lesions could potentially be an important psychological factor for women who have been 713 714 suffering from the symptoms of an otherwise invisible disease creating a platform of acceptance for themselves and their environment. The benefits of laparoscopic surgery need to be weighed 715 up against its risks (Bafort, et al., 2020, Byrne, et al., 2018, Chapron, et al., 1998). 716

Practically, a two-step approach should be sought which would include a transvaginal (where appropriate) ultrasound followed by empirical treatment. Particularly in the primary care setting if endometriosis is suspected, imaging results are negative and the affected person is not acutely

trying to conceive, symptomatic patients usually are offered hormonal treatment mostly in the form

of the oral contraceptive pill or progestogens as a first-line treatment (Kuznetsov, et al., 2017). If

symptoms improve, endometriosis is presumed the main underlying condition, although otherclinical causes can exist. This 'blinded' approach is widely known as empirical treatment.

724 Conclusion

Both diagnostic laparoscopy and imaging combined with empirical treatment (oral contraceptive

pill or progestogens) can be considered in women suspected of endometriosis. There is no

- evidence of superiority of either approach.
- 728 Further information
- 729 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question
- 730 l.5)
- 731

732 I.2.d. Impact of the time of diagnosis on quality of life

733 NARRATIVE QUESTION: DOES EARLY DIAGNOSIS OF ENDOMETRIOSIS VERSUS LATE DIAGNOSIS 734 LEAD TO BETTER QUALITY OF LIFE?

735

In many cases, endometriosis can have a detrimental effect on the lives of affected women, their 736 partners, and families. The negative impact of endometriosis-associated symptoms is complex and 737 multidimensional which should be assessed using validated tools (Jones, et al., 2004, Jones, et al., 738 2001). A retrospective 15-year follow-up study demonstrated that half of women with surgically 739 confirmed endometriosis reported a negative impact on different aspects of their life (education, 740 work ability, relationship, and social life) (Ballard, et al., 2006). It is conceivable that an early 741 diagnosis, ideally followed by early, adequate treatment will reduce pain, reduce the risk of 742 infertility, and deliver patients an explanation for their symptoms. However, no adequate studies so 743 far exist assessing whether an early versus late diagnosis leads to change in guality of life. 744

745 Conclusion

Although no adequate studies exist to support the benefits of early versus late diagnosis, the GDG

- 747 recommends that in symptomatic women, attempts should be made to relieve symptoms, either
- by empirical treatment or after a diagnosis of endometriosis.
- 749 Research recommendation
- The GDG recommends large longitudinal studies to investigate the effect of early diagnosis on the
- 751 quality of life of women with endometriosis.
- 752 References
- Bafort C, Beebeejaun Y, Tomassetti C, Bosteels J, Duffy JM. Laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2020;10: Cd011031.

755 Ballard K, Lowton K, Wright J. What's the delay? A qualitative study of women's experiences of reaching a diagnosis of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2006;86: 1296-1301.

- Bazot M, Lafont C, Rouzier R, Roseau G, Thomassin-Naggara I, Darai E. Diagnostic accuracy of physical
 examination, transvaginal sonography, rectal endoscopic sonography, and magnetic resonance imaging to
 diagnose deep infiltrating endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2009;92: 1825-1833.
- Becker CM, Laufer MR, Stratton P, Hummelshoj L, Missmer SA, Zondervan KT, Adamson GD, Group WEW.
 World Endometriosis Research Foundation Endometriosis Phenome and Biobanking Harmonisation Project: I.
 Surgical phenotype data collection in endometriosis research. *Fertil Steril* 2014;102: 1213-1222.
- Byrne D, Curnow T, Smith P, Cutner A, Saridogan E, Clark TJ, Centres BE. Laparoscopic excision of deep
 rectovaginal endometriosis in BSGE endometriosis centres: a multicentre prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open* 2018;8: e018924.
- 766 Casper RF. Introduction: new tools for enhancing collaborative endometriosis research. *Fertil Steril* 2014;102:
 767 1211-1212.
- 768 Chapron C, Dubuisson JB, Pansini V, Vieira M, Fauconnier A, Barakat H, Dousset B. Routine clinical examination
- is not sufficient for diagnosing and locating deeply infiltrating endometriosis. J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc
 2002;9: 115-119.
- 771 Chapron C, Querleu D, Bruhat MA, Madelenat P, Fernandez H, Pierre F, Dubuisson JB. Surgical complications
- of diagnostic and operative gynaecological laparoscopy: a series of 29,966 cases. *Hum Reprod* 1998;13: 867872.
- Condous G, Van Calster B, Van Huffel S, Lam A. What is the value of preoperative bimanual pelvic examination
 in women undergoing laparoscopic total hysterectomy? *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2007;14: 334-338.
- Cornillie FJ, Oosterlynck D, Lauweryns JM, Koninckx PR. Deeply infiltrating pelvic endometriosis: histology and
 clinical significance. *Fertil Steril* 1990;53: 978-983.
- 778 Duffy J, Hirsch M, Vercoe M, Abbott J, Barker C, Collura B, Drake R, Evers J, Hickey M, Horne AW *et al.* A core
- outcome set for future endometriosis research: an international consensus development study. *Bjog* 2020;127:
 967-974.
- 781 Eskenazi B, Warner M, Bonsignore L, Olive D, Samuels S, Vercellini P. Validation study of nonsurgical diagnosis
- 782 of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2001;76: 929-935.

- 783 Fassbender A, Rahmioglu N, Vitonis AF, Viganò P, Giudice LC, D'Hooghe TM, Hummelshoj L, Adamson GD,
- Becker CM, Missmer SA *et al.* World Endometriosis Research Foundation Endometriosis Phenome and
 Biobanking Harmonisation Project: IV. Tissue collection, processing, and storage in endometriosis research.
 Fertil Steril 2014;102: 1244-1253.
- 787 Fernando S, Soh PQ, Cooper M, Evans S, Reid G, Tsaltas J, Rombauts L. Reliability of visual diagnosis of 788 endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2013;20: 783-789.
- 789 Guerriero S, Saba L, Ajossa S, Peddes C, Angiolucci M, Perniciano M, Melis GB, Alcazar JL. Three-dimensional 790 ultrasonography in the diagnosis of deep endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2014;29: 1189-1198.
- Gupta D, Hull ML, Fraser I, Miller L, Bossuyt PM, Johnson N, Nisenblat V. Endometrial biomarkers for the non invasive diagnosis of endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016;4: Cd012165.
- Hirsch M, Duffy J, Davis CJ, Nieves Plana M, Khan KS. Diagnostic accuracy of cancer antigen 125 for endometriosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bjog* 2016;123: 1761-1768.
- Hudelist G, Ballard K, English J, Wright J, Banerjee S, Mastoroudes H, Thomas A, Singer CF, Keckstein J.
 Transvaginal sonography vs. clinical examination in the preoperative diagnosis of deep infiltrating
 endometriosis. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2011;37: 480-487.
- Jones G, Jenkinson C, Kennedy S. The impact of endometriosis upon quality of life: a qualitative analysis. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol* 2004;25: 123-133.
- Jones G, Kennedy S, Barnard A, Wong J, Jenkinson C. Development of an endometriosis quality-of-life
 instrument: The Endometriosis Health Profile-30. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001;98: 258-264.
- Kazanegra R, Zaritsky E, Lathi RB, Clopton P, Nezhat C. Diagnosis of stage Lendometriosis: comparing visual
 inspection to histologic biopsy specimen. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2008;15, 176-180.
- Kennedy S, Bergqvist A, Chapron C, D'Hooghe T, Dunselman G, Greb R, Hummelshoj L, Prentice A, Saridogan
 E. ESHRE guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2005;20: 2698-2704.
- Khawaja UB, Khawaja AA, Gowani SA, Shoukat S, Ejaz S, Ali FN, Rizvi J, Nawaz FH. Frequency of endometriosis
 among infertile women and association of clinical signs and symptoms with the laparoscopic staging of
 endometriosis. J Pak Med Assoc 2009;59: 30-34.
- Koninckx PR, Meuleman C, Oosterlynck D, Cornillie FJ. Diagnosis of deep endometriosis by clinical
 examination during menstruation and plasma CA-125 concentration. *Fertil Steril* 1996;65: 280-287.
- Kuznetsov L, Dworzynski K, Davies M, Overton C, Guideline C. Diagnosis and management of endometriosis:
 summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ* 2017;358: j3935.
- Liu E, Nisenblat V, Farquhar C, Fraser I, Bossuyt PM, Johnson N, Hull ML. Urinary biomarkers for the noninvasive diagnosis of endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2015: Cd012019.
- Manganaro L, Fierro F, Tomei A, Irimia D, Lodise P, Sergi ME, Vinci V, Sollazzo P, Porpora MG, Delfini R *et al.*Feasibility of 3.0T pelvic MR imaging in the evaluation of endometriosis. *Eur J Radiol* 2012;81: 1381-1387.
- 817 May KE, Conduit-Hulbert SA, Villar J, Kirtley S, Kennedy SH, Becker CM. Peripheral biomarkers of 818 endometriosis: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* 2010;16: 651-674.
- 819 May KE, Villar J, Kirtley S, Kennedy SH, Becker CM. Endometrial alterations in endometriosis: a systematic 820 review of putative biomarkers. *Hum Reprod Update* 2011;17: 637-653.
- 821 Mol BW, Bayram N, Lijmer JG, Wiegerinck MA, Bongers MY, van der Veen F, Bossuyt PM. The performance of 822 CA-125 measurement in the detection of endometriosis: a meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril* 1998;70: 1101-1108.
- Moura APC, Ribeiro H, Bernardo WM, Simoes R, Torres US, D'Ippolito G, Bazot M, Ribeiro P. Accuracy of
 transvaginal sonography versus magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of rectosigmoid endometriosis:
 Systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2019;14: e0214842.
- Nezhat C, Santolaya J, Nezhat FR. Comparison of transvaginal sonography and bimanual pelvic examination
 in patients with laparoscopically confirmed endometriosis. *J Am Assoc Gynecol Laparosc* 1994;1: 127-130.
- Nisenblat V, Bossuyt PM, Shaikh R, Farquhar C, Jordan V, Scheffers CS, Mol BW, Johnson N, Hull ML. Blood
 biomarkers for the non-invasive diagnosis of endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2016a: Cd012179.
- Nisenblat V, Bossuyt PMM, Farquhar C, Johnson N, Hull ML. Imaging modalities for the non-invasive diagnosis
 of endometriosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016b.
- Paulson JD, Paulson JN. Anterior vaginal wall tenderness (AVWT) as a physical symptom in chronic pelvic pain.
 Jsls 2011;15: 6-9.
- 834 Rahmioglu N, Fassbender A, Vitonis AF, Tworoger SS, Hummelshoj L, D'Hooghe TM, Adamson GD, Giudice
- 835 LC, Becker CM, Zondervan KT *et al.* World Endometriosis Research Foundation Endometriosis Phenome and
- 836 Biobanking Harmonization Project: III. Fluid biospecimen collection, processing, and storage in endometriosis
- 837 research. *Fertil Steril* 2014;102: 1233-1243.

- Ripps BA, Martin DC. Correlation of focal pelvic tenderness with implant dimension and stage of endometriosis.
 J Reprod Med 1992;37: 620-624.
- Thomeer MG, Steensma AB, van Santbrink EJ, Willemssen FE, Wielopolski PA, Hunink MG, Spronk S, Laven
 JS, Krestin GP. Can magnetic resonance imaging at 3.0-Tesla reliably detect patients with endometriosis?
 Initial results. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2014;40: 1051-1058.
- 84.3 Vitonis AF, Vincent K, Rahmioglu N, Fassbender A, Buck Louis GM, Hummelshoj L, Giudice LC, Stratton P,
- 844 Adamson GD, Becker CM et al. World Endometriosis Research Foundation Endometriosis Phenome and
- Biobanking Harmonization Project: II. Clinical and covariate phenotype data collection in endometriosis
 research. *Fertil Steril* 2014;102: 1223-1232.
- 847 Wykes CB, Clark TJ, Khan KS. Accuracy of laparoscopy in the diagnosis of endometriosis: a systematic 848 quantitative review. *Bjog* 2004;111: 1204-1212.
- 849 Zondervan KT, Becker CM, Missmer SA. Endometriosis. *N Engl J Med* 2020;382: 1244-1256.
- 850

		NEN
	ORR	
ORAF		

851 I.3. Long term monitoring

PICO QUESTION: IS LONG TERM MONITORING OF WOMEN WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS BENEFICIAL IN
 PREVENTING ADVERSE OUTCOMES (RECURRENCE, COMPLICATIONS, MALIGNANCY)?

In order to answer the question whether long term monitoring of women with endometriosis is beneficial, one needs to understand the natural course of the disease. Endometriosis is generally considered to have a chronic course. However, there are only few data on disease progression. Women included in clinical trials for medical or surgical treatment who were randomised to the placebo/sham operation arm of the studies had progression (higher rASRM score) in approximately 29% of cases at second look laparoscopy after 3-6 months (Evers, 2013). No change or a lower rASRM score were reported in 29% and 42%, respectively.

- 862 Irrespective of treatment approach, data suggest a recurrence rate of 20-50% within five years 863 (Guo, 2009). However, data on whether these numbers constitute recurrence of symptoms and/or 864 disease remains unclear.
- Whilst an ovarian endometrioma can be monitored fairly easily by ultrasound, superficial peritoneal disease is usually not detectable without surgery. In addition, as neither the occurrence, magnitude nor the speed of any change in disease extent is clear and the correlation between disease stage and symptom severity is poor, the question arises whether monitoring of endometriosis is feasible and of any benefit. Early detection could lead to early and potentially less complex treatment and potentially a reduced risk of the development of chronic pain. On the other hand, it could lead to
- 871 unnecessary extra invasive procedures and treatment side effects.
- In a small study evaluating the potential use of serial CA-125 serum concentrations to monitor endometriosis, a subgroup of women had a second look laparoscopy. In 24/26 of these women changes in CA-125 correlated with surgical findings (Pittaway, 1990). Matalliotakis *et al.* monitored CA-125 in women with endometriosis who were treated with Danazol and found a significant reduction of serum levels after 3 months of treatment. However, no confirmation/change of disease status was reported (Matalliotakis, *et al.* 1994).
- Another group used serum CA-125 levels as a surrogate marker for disease progression (Chen, *et al.*, 1998). Involving 75 women with 'advanced' endometriosis who were treated with surgery and postoperative danazol, the authors concluded that CA-125 was not a reliable marker to monitor therapy. However, in a small subset of patients who underwent second look laparoscopy after one year, CA-125 levels were higher in women with recurrence (n=15) than in those without recurrent
- 883 endometriosis (n=9).

884 Recommendations

Follow-up should be considered in women with confirmed endometriosis, particularly deep and ovarian endometriosis, although there is currently no evidence of benefit of regular long-term monitoring for early detection of recurrence, complications, or malignancy.

⊕000

GPP

885

854

The appropriate frequency of follow-up or monitoring is unknown and should be individualized based on previous and current treatments and severity of the disease and symptoms.

886 Justification

There currently exist no studies of sufficient quality or size to address the question of whether patients with endometriosis should be monitored long term.

889 Further information

- 890 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 891 1.6)
- 892 **Research recommendation**

The GDG recommends large longitudinal intervention studies to investigate the potential benefits 893 and best long-term management approaches of women with endometriosis. 894

- 895 References
- 896 Chen FP, Soong YK, Lee N, Lo SK. The use of serum CA-125 as a marker for endometriosis in patients with
- dysmenorrhea for monitoring therapy and for recurrence of endometriosis. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 897 1998;77: 665-670. 898
- Evers J. Is adolescent endometriosis a progressive disease that needs to be diagnosed and treated? Hum 899 900 Reprod 2013;28: 2023.
- 901 Guo SW. Recurrence of endometriosis and its control. Hum Reprod Update 2009;15: 441-461.
- Matalliotakis I, Makrigiannakis A, Karkavitsas N, Psaroudakis E, Froudarakis G, Koumantakis E. Use of CA-125 in 902 the diagnosis and management of endometriosis: influence of treatment with danazol. Int J Fertil Menopausal 903
- 904 Stud 1994;39: 100-104.
- si Pittaway DE. The use of serial CA 125 concentrations to monitor endometriosis in infertile women. Am J Obstet 905
- 906 Gynecol 1990;163: 1032-1035; discussion 1035-1037.
- 907

ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021 DRAFT FOR REVIEW

⁹⁰⁸ II. Treatment of endometriosis-associated ⁹⁰⁹ pain

Women with endometriosis are confronted with one or both of two major problems: endometriosis associated pain and infertility. This section focuses on pain treatment; chapter III addresses
 treatment of women suffering mainly from infertility.

Endometriosis-associated pain includes dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, dysuria, dyschezia and non menstrual pelvic pain (see section I.1). Signs and symptoms), but the literature searches were not
 restricted to these terms. In the searches, quality of life was included, although this was found as
 an outcome in only a limited number of studies.

917 This chapter on the treatment of endometriosis-associated pain is subdivided into sections on 918 empirical treatment, medical treatment, surgical treatment, pre- or postoperative medical 919 treatment (including secondary prevention after surgery) and non-medical management 920 strategies. It has to be noted that endometriosis is a chronic and incurable disease in a significant 921 number of women. The treatments described in this section can offer (partial, often only temporary) 922 relief of pain symptoms, but symptoms often recur after discontinuation of therapy.

923

924 II.1. Analgesics

925 PICO QUESTION: ARE ANALGESICS EFFECTIVE FOR SYMPTOMATIC RELIEF OF PAINFUL 926 SYMPTOMS ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS?

927

Most women with suspected or known endometriosis who would like pharmacological analgesia
will buy over-the-counter medications or be prescribed simple analgesics, such as paracetamol
and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). However, the available evidence to support
their use is of very low quality and based on one study (Brown, *et al.*, 2017, Kauppila and Ronnberg,
1985). There is also some limited evidence that NSAIDs might inhibit ovulation if taken continuously
during the cycle (making conception less likely) (Norman, 2001).

Neuromodulators (e.g., anti-depressants, selective serotonin uptake inhibitors or anticonvulsants) 934 are used mainly by pain medicine specialists and primary care physicians in the management of 935 chronic or persistent pain. Neuromodulators differ from conventional analgesics, such as NSAIDs, 936 in that they primarily affect the central nervous system's modulation of pain rather than peripheral 937 meditators of inflammation. Tricyclic antidepressants (e.g., amitriptyline, nortriptyline), selective 938 serotonin uptake inhibitors (e.g., duloxetine) and anticonvulsants (e.g., gabapentin and pregabalin) 939 have all shown promise in the treatment of endometriosis. However, in randomized clinical trials 940 for the management of chronic pelvic pain, they have not been proven to be clearly superior to 941 placebo and are sometimes associated with severe, dose-limiting side effects (Horne, et al., 2020). 942

943 Recommendation

Women may be offered NSAIDs or other analgesics (either alone or in combination with other treatments) to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.

944 Justification

The evidence for use of NSAIDs for management of pain symptoms related to endometriosis is scarce and limited to a small RCT. There is a general anti-inflammatory effect of some analgesics, they can be used in conjunction with surgery and/or hormonal treatments and they may possibly prevent of complications of chronic pain (e.g., peripheral, and central sensitisation). However, analgesics may also have side effects, and NSAIDs specifically may have some gastrointestinal side effects. There is no evidence that analgesics have an effect on disease progression. Overall,

- 951 with limited risks and considering the wide availability and use of analgesics, the GDG concluded
- that NSAIDs or other analgesics may be offered for the treatment of endometriosis-associated pain 952
- (weak recommendation). 953
- Further information 954
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 955 956 II.1).
- References 957
- 958 Brown J, Crawford TJ, Allen C, Hopewell S, Prentice A. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for pain in women with endometriosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017;1: Cd004753. 959
- Horne AW, Vincent K, Hewitt CA, Middleton LJ, Koscielniak M, Szubert W, Doust AM, Daniels JP. Gabapentin 960 for chronic pelvic pain in women (GaPP2): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. 961 Lancet 2020;396: 909-917.
- 962 Kauppila A, Ronnberg L. Naproxen sodium in dysmenorrhea secondary to endometriosis. Obstet Gynecol 963 1985;65: 379-383. 964
- Norman RJ. Reproductive consequences of COX-2 inhibition. Lancet 2001;358: 1287-1288. 965
- 966

production of the second secon

967 II.2 Hormonal therapies

968 PICO QUESTION: ARE HORMONAL THERAPIES EFFECTIVE FOR PAINFUL SYMPTOMS ASSOCIATED 969 WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS?

970

Hormonal therapy is based on the evidence that endometriosis is a 'steroid dependent' condition. 971 Treatments are often started when endometriosis is suspected in young women prior to surgical 972 confirmation of lesions and are also offered after surgery when symptoms persist after surgical 973 intervention e.g., for persistent or recurrent disease. The most commonly prescribed treatments for 974 975 endometriosis include drugs that modify the hormonal environment either by suppressing ovarian activity or acting directly on steroid receptors and enzymes found in the lesions. These include 976 progestogens, anti-progestogens, combined oral contraceptives, gonadotrophin releasing 977 978 hormone (GnRH) agonists, GnRH antagonists, the levonorgestrel intrauterine system (LNG-IUS), danazol and aromatase inhibitors (e.g., letrozole). 979

All of the above hormone treatments lead to a clinically significant reduction in pain when 980 compared to placebo (when visual analogue scales for dysmenorrhea and non-menstrual pelvic 981 pain are used) (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2017). The magnitude of this 982 983 treatment effect is similar for all treatments, suggesting that there is little difference between them in their capacity to reduce pain. However, clinical practice with regards to hormonal treatment 984 varies widely because of the implications of each option. Notably, none of the hormone treatments 985 986 used to manage endometriosis are free of side effects. In addition, the contraceptive properties of the hormones may be unwanted if fertility is an issue, or may be welcome, if the woman does not 987

988 wish to become pregnant.

989 Recommendations

It is recommended to offer women hormonal treatment (combined hormonal contraceptives, progestogens, GnRH agonists or GnRH antagonists) as one of the $\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$ options to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.

990

The GDG recommends that clinicians take a shared decision-making approach and take individual preferences, side effects, individual efficacy, costs, and availability into consideration when choosing hormonal treatments for endometriosis-associated pain.

GPP

991 Justification

There is moderate quality evidence of benefit for all listed hormonal treatments for relief of painful symptoms related to endometriosis. As there is no evidence that hormonal treatments have a negative effect on disease progression and they generally have limited side effects, prescribing hormonal treatment is recommended (strong recommendation). Moreover, hormonal treatments, such as the contraceptive pill, may be indicated for contraception anyway. As there is no evidence of superiority of one hormonal treatment compared to others, the GDG recommends a shared decision-making approach.

999 Further information

- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (questionII.2).
- 1002
- 1003
1004 II.2.a. Combined oral contraceptives.

1005 II.2.a.1 Efficacy (dyspareunia, dysmenorrhea, and non-menstrual pain)

The data on the efficacy of the combined oral contraceptive pill (OCP) on endometriosis-related pain have recently been summarized in three systematic reviews.

The review of Grandi *et al*, summarizing data on several OCPs but also other agents such as progestin only contraceptives, concluded that OCPs result in a statistically significant reduction in endometriosis-related pain, resulting in improvement in quality of life (QoL) (Grandi, *et al.*, 2019).

1011 The review of Jensen *et al* included RCTs and other studies and concluded that OCP treatment 1012 results in clinically important and statistically significant reductions in endometriosis-related pain.

1013 They reported clinically significant reductions in dysmenorrhea according to 100-mm VAS scores

in all the reviewed studies using this scale. With regards to noncyclic pelvic pain and dyspareunia,
 the reviewers also reported clinically significant reductions. OCP treatment further resulted in

the reviewers also reported clinically significant reductions. OCP treatment further improvements in QoL in most studies that measured this outcome (Jensen, *et al.*, 2018)

A Cochrane review by Brown et al, based on 5 RCTs comparing combined OCP with placebo (2 1017 RCTs) and other medical treatments (3 RCTs) (Brown, et al., 2018). From the trials comparing OCP 1018 with placebo, the review concluded that OCP was associated with improvements in self-reported 1019 1020 pain (dysmenorrhea), cyclical non-menstrual pain, dyspareunia and dyschezia. From the trials comparing OCP with another medical treatment, data suitable for meta-analysis were only 1021 available from one trial that compared the OCP with goserelin (Vercellini, et al., 1993). There was no 1022 clear evidence of a difference between groups for dysmenorrhea pain reduction or non-menstrual 1023 pain reduction. 1024

1025 II.2.a.2. Continuous vs cyclic use

1026 Continuous use of the OCP and the associated achievement of amenorrhea, rather than standard 1027 cyclic use, has been suggested as an effective treatment for endometriosis-associated 1028 dysmenorrhea (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, it was hypothesized that continuous treatment 1029 with OCP may homogenize the hormonal milieu and increase the efficiency of therapy (Vercellini, 1030 *et al.*, 2003).

1031 Efficacy

A systematic review and meta-analysis by Muzii and colleagues compared continuous versus cyclic OCP use for the treatment of endometriosis-associated pain and reported that the continuous regimen appears to be more efficacious with regards to dysmenorrhea recurrence (RR 0.24; 95%CI 0.06-0.91) (Muzii, *et al.*, 2016). Nonsignificant differences between continuous and cyclic OCP use were reported for chronic pelvic pain and dyspareunia, and a trend toward lower cyst recurrence rates for a continuous OCP (RR 0.54; 95%CI 0.28 to 1.05).

1038 Safety

In a review on OCP use, continuous treatment did not seem to affect coagulation, metabolism, or
bone metabolism and bone mineral density more than conventionally taken OCPs (Hee, *et al.*, 2013).
The review did not find any comparative studies on the risk of arterial complications with
conventional OCP use vs. continuous OCP use.

1043 II.2.a.3. Mode of administration

In the review of Grandi *et al*, studies reporting on the efficacy of the vaginal ring and transdermal 1044 patch were summarized (Grandi, et al., 2019). The review reported two studies. A patient preference 1045 trial showed that continuous 48-week treatment with a vaginal ring (ethinylestradiol (EE) 15 mg + 1046 etonogestrel 120 mg/d) was more effective than a transdermal patch (EE 20 mg + norelgestromin 1047 1048 150 mg/d) (Vercellini, et al., 2010). The second study compared desogestrel-only contraceptive pill versus sequential contraceptive vaginal ring in the treatment of rectovaginal endometriosis 1049 1050 infiltrating the rectum. At 48 weeks of follow-up, women using the desogestrel-only contraceptive pill group reported a significantly higher rate of treatment satisfaction and they were significantly 1051 more satisfied with changes in gastrointestinal symptoms. No difference was reported regarding 1052

- 1053 the reduction in nodule volume, the rate of withdrawal after the completion of the study and the 1054 rate of women who decided to undergo surgery (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2014)
- 1055 Recommendations

It is recommended to prescribe women a combined hormonal contraceptive (oral, vaginal ring or transdermal) to reduce endometriosis-associated dyspareunia, $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ dysmenorrhea, and non-menstrual pain.

1056

Women suffering from endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea can be offered the	⊕⊕○○
continuous use of a combined hormonal contraceptive pill.	

1057 Justification

The Cochrane review on OCP for endometriosis-associated pain reported the OCP to be more 1058 effective than placebo for treatment of endometriosis-associated pain (Brown, et al., 2018). Another 1059 review, including both RCTs and observational studies, reported clinically important and 1060 statistically significant reductions in endometriosis-related pain with OCP treatment (Jensen, et al. 1061 2018). As OCP is cost-effective (cheap), considered safe and often required for contraception, the 1062 GDG formulated a strong recommendation for the use of the OCP. Only 2 patient preference trials 1063 provided data on the comparison of different modes of administration (OCP, vaginal contraceptive 1064 ring, transdermal patch). With sparse data, preference one mode of administration could not be 1065 recommended over another. 1066

In the comparison of continuous versus cyclic OCP use, the data for efficacy are deduced from few small studies, although summarized in a meta-analysis. Data show that continuous OCP use may be superior for dysmenorrhea recurrence (Muzii, et al., 2016). A review by Hee *et al* reported no difference in the safety profile of both regimens (Hee, et al., 2013). As such, continuous OCP use can be offered (weak recommendation), for instance when patients with endometriosis prefer a regimen that induces amenorrhea. The occurrence of breakthrough bleeding and possible consequential adaptations to the medical treatment should be discussed with the patient.

1074 Further information

1075 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question1076 II.2).

1077 II.2.b. Progestogens (including progestogen-only contraceptives) and anti-1078 progestogens.

1079 II.2.b.1 Efficacy

The Cochrane review of Brown et al is the most recent Cochrane review reporting on the 1080 effectiveness of progestogens (including progestogen-only contraceptives) and anti-1081 progestogens in the treatment of endometriosis-associated pain (Brown, et al., 2012). Interventions 1082 included in the review are depot medroxyprogesterone acetate, cytoproterone acetate, 1083 1084 medroxyprogesterone acetate, norethindrone/norethisterone acetate, desogestrel (both commonly also prescribed as progestogen-only contraceptives) and dienogest. Gestrinone was 1085 the only anti-progestogen (i.e., a substance that prevents cells from making or using progesterone) 1086 included. The conclusion from this literature review is that both continuous progestogens and 1087 continuous gestrinone are effective therapies for the treatment of painful symptoms associated 1088 with endometriosis. There was no overall evidence of a benefit of one oral progestogen over 1089 another. However, this conclusion must be treated with caution due to the paucity of data and lack 1090 of placebo-controlled studies. 1091

Only 1 more recent review was found evaluating the efficacy of progestogens (dienogest) (Andres
Mde, *et al.*, 2015). For the efficacy, it referred to the same studies already included in the Cochrane
review (Brown, *et al.*, 2012). The majority of the other 'progestogen' studies published over the last

1095 few years have focused mainly on dienogest but are limited to small retrospective and prospective 1096 studies.

1097 II.2.b.2. Safety

1098 The Cochrane review of Brown included both efficacy and safety. Adverse effects reported with dydrogesterone use included severe headaches and cycle irregularity, while acne and oedema 1099 were reported with medroxyprogesterone use. Patients receiving depot progestogens had 1100 significantly more injection site reactions (OR 20.64, 95%Cl 1.19 to 358.23) than with other treatments. 1101 1102 They also experienced more bloating (OR 4.39, 95%Cl 1.71 to 11.30), intermenstrual bleeding (OR 20.56, 95%Cl 6.44 to 65.56), weight gain (OR 2.58, 95%Cl 1.03 to 6.46), amenorrhea (OR 21.18, 95%Cl 1103 1.18 to 380.9), and nausea (OR 3.86, 95%Cl 1.12, 13.26) compared with other treatments. Amenorrhea 1104 (OR 4.95, 95%CI 2.88 to 8.52) and bleeding (OR 4.69, 95%CI 2.47 to 8.90) were reported more 1105 frequently with the use of oral progestogen. Hirsutism and seborrhea (greasy skin) have been 1106 1107 reported with the use of anti-progestogens (gestrinone).

1108 The review of Dragoman *et al* summarized the data on the safety of subcutaneously administered depot medroxyprogesterone acetate (Dragoman and Gaffield, 2016). The review included 14 1109 studies: 10 on DMPA users of varying age or with obesity, endometriosis, or HIV and four on the 1110 safety of DMPA-SC and DMPA-IM in healthy women. The review reported no differences in bone 1111 1112 mineral density among adult DMPA-SC and DMPA-IM users at two years of follow-up (based on 1113 one trial). Women with endometriosis using DMPA-SC over six months had minimal decreases in bone mineral density, weight gain, few serious adverse events and experienced improved pain 1114 symptoms. 1115

1116 II.2.b.3. Long term use

In the review by Andres 2015, two studies were included reporting on the longer-term use of 1117 dienogest. In an extension study, following up on the study of Strowitzki et al, patients were 1118 assigned to treatment with dienogest 2mg/day for 36 weeks (n=17) or 52 weeks (n=135) (Petraglia, 1119 et al., 2012, Strowitzki, et al., 2010). The study reported an improvement in pain for both the group 1120 previously treated with dienogest and for the group previously treated with placebo (from 40.73 ± 1121 21.14 to 13.49 ± 14.14mm versus 27.89 ± 20.24 to 9.72 ± 7.44mm, respectively). Adverse effects were 1122 reported in 27 of 168 women, including breast discomfort (n=7; 4.2%), nausea (n=5; 3.0%) and 1123 irritability (n=4; 2.4%). 1124

In another longer-term study, the use of 52 weeks of dienogest (2mg/day) was evaluated (Momoeda, *et al.*, 2009). A reduction in VAS score for pelvic pain was noted after 24 and 52 weeks of treatment (-22.5 ± 32.1 and -28.4 ± 29.9mm, respectively). All patients experienced some side effects, such as vaginal bleeding (71.9%), headache (18.5%), constipation (10.4%), nausea (9.6%) and hot flushes (8.9%). The percentage of patients with amenorrhea was 7.4% within 5–8 weeks and 40.5% at 49–52 weeks of treatment.

1131 II.2.b.4. Mode of administration (intrauterine system/subdermal implant)

1132 A systematic review of RCTs comparing the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS)with GnRH agonist included five trials with a total of 255 women (Lan, et al., 2013). In three of 1133 the trials reporting on VAS scores, LNG-IUS was found to reduce pain scores, with no difference 1134 compared to GnRH agonist (weighted mean difference [WMD] 0.03: 95%CI -0.53 to 0.59). In a fourth 1135 trial, LNG-IUS treatment decreased ASRM staging scores and improved HRQoL similar to GnRH-1136 agonist. One study reported reduced cardiovascular risk factors (low-density lipoprotein 1137 1138 cholesterol (LDL-C) and total cholesterol (TC)) compared to GnRH-agonist. Irregular bleeding, simple ovarian cysts and one-sided lower abdominal pain occurred more commonly in the LNG-1139 1140 IUS group while vasomotor symptoms and amenorrhea were observed more frequently in the GnRH agonist group. 1141 A recent RCT randomized 103 women with endometriosis-associated chronic pelvic pain and/or 1142

dysmenorrhea to an etonogestrel-releasing subdermal implant (ENG) or a 52-mg levonorgestrelreleasing intrauterine system (Margatho, *et al.*, 2020). The study reported that both the ENG implant

and the LNG-IUS significantly reduced endometriosis-related pain, dysmenorrhea, and chronic

pelvic pain. However, the study reported a high rate of discontinuation and loss to follow-up at 24
months in both arms: 65% for the ENG implant and 63% for the 52-mg LNG-IUS.

1148 II.2.b.5. Danazol

Regarding the use of danazol for treatment of endometriosis-associated pain, the GDG strongly believes that danazol should not be used unless no other medical therapy is available, due to its severe side effects (acne, oedema, vaginal spotting, weight gain, muscle cramps, deepening of voice, increase in facial hair). For this reason, danazol is no longer described as a medical treatment for endometriosis-associated pain in the current guideline.

1154 Recommendations

It is recommended to prescribe women progestogens to reduce endometriosis-associated pain. $\oplus\oplus\odot\odot$

1155

The GDG recommends that clinicians take the different side-effect profiles of progestogens into account when prescribing these drugs.

1156

It is recommended to prescribe women a levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system or an etonogestrel-releasing subdermal implant to reduce endometriosis-associated pain. $\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$

1157 Justification

There is sufficient evidence on the effectiveness of progestogens and anti-progestogens, including the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system and the etonogestrel-releasing subdermal implant, to support their use in reducing pain in women with endometriosis (strong recommendation). The GDG stresses that clinicians should consider the side-effect profiles to tailor the medical treatment towards improving symptoms and quality of life. The GDG does not recommend danazol as a treatment for endometriosis-associated pain and considered it no longer relevant to include anti-progestogens in the recommendations.

1165 With regards to the LNG-IUS, a review of five trials showed that the clinical efficacy was equivalent

to that of GnRH-a, but also that LNG-IUS may have some clinical advantages. LNG-IUS and ENG

1167 were shown to be equally effective is one study. A strong recommendation was formulated for

1168 both LNG-IUS and ENG as progestogen-treatment.

1169 Further information

1170 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 1171 II.2)

1172 II.2.c. GnRH agonists

1173 II.2.c.1 Efficacy

A Cochrane review published in 2010 compared GnRH agonist at different doses, regimens, and routes of administration, with danazol, with intrauterine progestogens, and with placebo/no treatment for relieving endometriosis-associated pain symptoms (Brown, *et al.*, 2010). The results suggest that a GnRH agonist is more effective than placebo but inferior to the levonorgestrelreleasing intrauterine system or oral danazol. No difference in effectiveness exists whether GnRH agonists are administered intramuscularly, subcutaneously or intranasally.

1180 Only a few trials on GnRH agonist treatment include relevant interventions and outcomes.

1181 The RCT by Tang and colleagues, published after the review, randomized 50 women with stage III-1182 IV endometriosis to either 1.88mg (half dose) or 3.75mg (full dose) of GnRH agonist (Leuprorelin)

- 1183 (Tang, *et al.*, 2017). The bone mineral density (BMD) was decreased in both groups at 20 weeks after
- treatment, but the degree of loss of BMD was significantly higher in the full dose group (5.6% vs.
- 1185 1.2%).

1186 <u>II.2.c.2. Safety</u>

The review by Brown *et al* found a poor side effect profile for GnRH agonists in all studies (Brown, *et al.*, 2010). Five of the most reported side effects were vaginal dryness, hot flushes, headaches, weight gain and acne. In studies comparing different routes of administration, hot flushes, vaginal dryness, headaches, and decreased libido were reported, but there was no difference between intramuscular, subcutaneous, or intranasal administration.

1192 II.2.c.3. Add-back therapy.

Reduction of bone mineral density is one of the undesirable effects of long-term GnRH-agonist treatment. There are many combinations of add-back regimens that are effective in preventing bone loss when administered with GnRH agonists. These add-back regimens include progestin monotherapy such as norethisterone/norethindrone acetate (NETA), estrogen-progestin combinations, selective estrogen receptor modulators, bisphosphonates, tibolone, and testosterone (Sauerbrun-Cutler and Alvero, 2019).

1199 A meta-analysis of Wu et al included 13 RCTs comparing efficacy of GnRH agonist or GnRH agonist plus "add-back" therapy for endometriosis (Wu, et al., 2014). Lumbar spine BMD after treatment (12 1200 RCTs; mean difference MD -0.03; 95%CI -0.05 to -0.02) and at 6 months of follow-up (MD -0.02; 1201 95%CI -0.03 to -0.01; 6 RCTs) were superior with GnRH agonist + add-back therapy than with GnRH-1202 agonist alone. Femoral neck BMD after treatment was assessed in 3 trials, but there were no 1203 significant differences between GnRH agonist + add-back therapy and GnRH agonist alone (MD -1204 0.01; 95%Cl -0.02 to 0.01; 3 RCTs). There was no statistically significant difference in dysmenorrhea 1205 scores (MD - 0.27; 95%Cl -0.93 to 0.39; 5 RCTs) or dyspareunia scores after treatment (MD 0.05; 1206 1207 95%CI -0.37 to 0.47; 4 RCTs) when comparing GnRH agonist and add-back therapy with GnRH agonist alone (Wu, et al., 2014). 1208

1209 Recommendations

It is recommended to prescribe women GnRH agonists to reduce endometriosisassociated pain, although evidence is limited regarding dosage or duration of treatment. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

1210

The GDG recommends that GnRH agonists are prescribed as second line (for example if combined oral contraceptives or a progestogen have been ineffective) G due to their side-effect profile.

GPP

1211

Clinicians should consider prescribing combined hormonal add-back therapy alongside GnRH agonist therapy to prevent bone loss and hypoestrogenic $\oplus \oplus \oplus \odot$ symptoms.

1212 Justification

From the Cochrane review, it can be concluded that GnRH agonists are effective in the relief of endometriosis-associated pain (strong recommendation), but evidence is limited regarding dosage or duration of treatment. Based on the evidence to date, no specific GnRH agonist can be recommended over another in relieving endometriosis-associated pain. There is evidence of considerable side effects with GnRH agonists, which should be discussed with the patient when offering this treatment.

1219 There is moderate quality evidence, summarized in a systematic review (Wu, *et al.*, 2014), that 1220 addition of add-back therapy when prescribing GnRH agonist treatment prevents bone loss, while

- it does not affect the efficacy of the GnRH agonist treatment. As such, add-back treatment is recommended (strong recommendation).
- 1223 Considering the possible impact on BMD, The GDG recommends that in young women and 1224 adolescents, GnRH agonist should be used after careful consideration and as second line of 1225 therapy and after discussion with a practitioner in a secondary or tertiary care setting, considering 1226 potential side effects and long-term health risks (e.g., bone health). More information is covered in 1227 chapter V.2 Treatment for endometriosis in adolescents.

1228 Further information

1229 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 1230 II.2)

1231 II.2.d. GnRH antagonists

1232 GnRH antagonists have been added to this update of the medical treatment options for 1233 endometriosis.

Data on efficacy can be deduced from a report on the two similar multicentre, double-blind, 1234 1235 randomized, placebo-controlled, phase three trials of six-month treatment with oral elagolix at two doses in women with moderate or severe endometriosis-associated pain. The two primary efficacy 1236 endpoints were the proportion of women who had a clinical response with respect to 1237 1238 dysmenorrhea and the proportion who had a clinical response with respect to non-menstrual pelvic pain at three months (measured as a clinically meaningful reduction in the pain score (and a 1239 decreased or stable use of rescue analgesic agents). The proportion of women who met the clinical 1240 response criteria for each of the two primary end points was significantly greater among women 1241 who received each Elagolix dose (46.4% in the lower dose group, 75.8% in the higher dose group) 1242 than among those who received placebo (19,6%). The reductions in dysmenorrhea and non-1243 menstrual pelvic pain were apparent at 1 month and were sustained at 6 months. More than 70% 1244 of women in each trial group reported at least one adverse event, with a significant difference in 1245 frequency between those receiving the higher dose of elagolix and those receiving placebo. The 1246 1247 most frequently reported adverse events were hot flushes, headache, and nausea (Taylor, et al., 1248 2017).

Two smaller RCTs support the efficacy of other GnRH antagonists (Donnez, *et al.*, 2020, Osuga, *et al.*, 2020). Compared with placebo, oral doses of ≥75mg of linzagolix resulted in a significantly
greater reduction in overall pelvic pain at 12 weeks (34.5%, 61.5%, 56.4%, and 56.3% for placebo, 75,
100, and 200mg, respectively) (Donnez, *et al.*, 2020). Similarly, oral administration of relugolix at 10,
20 and 40mg alleviated endometriosis-associated pain in a dose-response manner and was
generally well tolerated (Osuga, *et al.*, 2020).

1255 Recommendations

It is recommended to prescribe women GnRH antagonists to reduce endometriosisassociated pain, although evidence is limited regarding dosage or duration of treatment. $\oplus \oplus$

$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$

1256 Justification

Emerging evidence from RCTs of the oral GnRH antagonists (elagolix, relugolix and linzagolix) suggest that they are effective in the relief of endometriosis-associated pain, and hence a strong recommendation was formulated. The evidence remains limited regarding dosage or duration of treatment and no specific GnRH antagonist can be recommended over another in relieving endometriosis-associated pain. Like, GnRH agonists, there is evidence of considerable side effects with these drugs, and they should be discussed with the patient when offering this treatment.

1263 Similar as for GnRH agonists, the GDG recommends that in young women and adolescents, GnRH 1264 antagonist should be used after careful consideration and discussion with a practitioner in a

- secondary or tertiary care setting, considering potential side effects and long-term health risks (e.g.,bone health).
- 1267 Further information
- 1268 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question1269 II.2)

1270 II.2.e. Aromatase inhibitors

1271 II.2.e.1 Efficacy

1272 The most recent systematic review available on aromatase inhibitors for the treatment of 1273 endometriosis-associated pain was published in 2011. Ferrero et al included 7 studies, 2 of which were from the authors' own group (Ferrero, et al., 2011). The minimum number of individuals in each 1274 trial was 10. The review found that treatment with oral letrozole plus norethisterone acetate (NEA) 1275 1276 or desogestrel, or anastrozole as vaginal suppository (250µg daily) or orally (1mg daily) in combination with OCP resulted in a significant decrease of endometriosis-associated pain in 1277 premenopausal women. The same appears to be true for letrozole plus either NEA or triptorelin, 1278 although letrozole plus triptorelin resulted in more side effects than NEA. The authors concluded 1279 that aromatase inhibitors should be investigated long-term to see if they are superior to currently 1280 available endocrine therapies in terms of improvement of pain, adverse effects, and patient 1281 1282 satisfaction.

1283 One RCT and one prospective cohort study were published after the inclusion deadline for the 1284 review of Ferrero and colleagues. The RCT included 51 women with pelvic endometriosis and 1285 endometriotic pain (dyspareunia, dysmenorrhea, pelvic pain) score of 5 or more (for at least one of 1286 these endometriotic pain), after laparoscopic diagnosis and conservative laparoscopic surgery. 1287 Patients were treated for 4 months with letrozole plus OCP (n=25) or only OCP (n=26) 1288 (Almassinokiani, *et al.*, 2014). The study showed a decline in VAS score, the score of dyspareunia, 1289 dysmenorrhea, and pelvic pain, but reported no difference between the groups.

The prospective cohort study assessed the impact of 3 months aromatase inhibition (letrozole 5mg/d) together with progestin add-back on ovarian endometrioma size and symptoms (Agarwal and Foster, 2015). The study compared the size of 14 endometriomas in 8 consecutive women before and after treatment. The mean endometrioma diameter decreased 50% from 4.6±1.6 cm to 2.3±1.6 cm (mean ± SD). The study also reported a reduction in patient reported symptom endpoints of the Biberoglu and Behrman scale, with mean dyspareunia score decreasing from 2 to 0 and mean dyspareunia and non-menstrual pelvic pain scores decreasing from 1 to 0.

1297 II.2.e.2. Safety and availability

We acknowledge that aromatase inhibitors are not available (even off-label) in some countries. The 1298 most common third-generation aromatase inhibitors letrozole and anastrozole are reversible 1299 1300 inhibitors of the enzyme aromatase, competing with androgens for aromatase binding sites. The side effects are mostly hypoestrogenic in nature and include vaginal dryness, hot flushes, and 1301 1302 diminished bone mineral density. Due to the reduction of estrogen-driven negative feedback at the hypothalamic pituitary axis, aromatase inhibitors are used for ovulation induction. Therefore, 1303 1304 pregnancies with higher rates of multiples are a potential complication of this treatment. Earlier reports of increased cardiovascular risks have not been substantiated. 1305

1306 Recommendations

It is recommended to prescribe women with endometriosis-associated pain refractory to other medical or surgical treatment, aromatase inhibitors in combination with oral hormonal contraceptive pills, progestogens, GnRH agonists or GnRH antagonists, as they reduce endometriosis-associated pain.

 $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

1308 Justification

- The evidence consists of a systematic review from 2011, including mostly non-randomized controlled studies and case reports in women with rectovaginal endometriosis or women that are
- refractory to previous surgical and medical treatment, and 2 more recent studies. Evidence on the
- 1312 long-term effects of aromatase inhibitors is lacking. Due to the severe side effects (vaginal dryness,
- 1313 hot flushes, diminished bone mineral density), aromatase inhibitors should only be prescribed to
- 1314 women after all other options for medical or surgical treatment are exhausted. Considering these
- aspects, aromatase inhibitors should be preserved for women with endometriosis-associated pain
- 1316 refractory to other medical or surgical treatment (strong recommendation).
- Medical treatments adjunct to surgery to improve surgical outcomes, or to prevent recurrence are
 described in sections II.4 and chapter IV, respectively.
- 1319 Further information
- 1320 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 1321 II.2).
- 1322 References
- Agarwal SK, Foster WG. Reduction in Endometrioma Size with Three Months of Aromatase Inhibition and Progestin Add-Back. *Biomed Res Int* 2015;2015: 878517.
- Almassinokiani F, Almasi A, Akbari P, Saberifard M. Effect of Letrozole on endometriosis-related pelvic pain.
 Med J Islam Repub Iran 2014;28: 107.
- 1327Andres Mde P, Lopes LA, Baracat EC, Podgaec S. Dienogest in the treatment of endometriosis: systematic1328review. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2015;292: 523-529.
- Brown J, Crawford TJ, Datta S, Prentice A. Oral contraceptives for pain associated with endometriosis.
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018;5: Cd001019.
- Brown J, Kives S, Akhtar M. Progestagens and anti-progestagens for pain associated with endometriosis.
 Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2012.
- Brown J, Pan A, Hart RJ. Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone analogues for pain associated with endometriosis.
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010: Cd008475.
- 1335 Donnez J, Taylor HS, Taylor RN, Akin MD, Tatarchuk TF, Wilk K, Gotteland JP, Lecomte V, Bestel E. Treatment 1336 of endometriosis-associated pain with linzagolix, an oral gonadotropin-releasing hormone-antagonist: a 1337 randomized clinical trial. *Fertil Steril* 2020;114: 44-55.
- 1338 Dragoman MV, Gaffield ME. The safety of subcutaneously administered depot medroxyprogesterone acetate 1339 (104mg/0.65mL): A systematic review. *Contraception* 2016;94: 202-215.
- 1340 Ferrero S, Gillott DJ, Venturini PL, Remorgida V. Use of aromatase inhibitors to treat endometriosis-related 1341 pain symptoms: a systematic review. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2011;9: 89.
- 1342 Grandi G, Barra F, Ferrero S, Sileo FG, Bertucci E, Napolitano A, Facchinetti F. Hormonal contraception in 1343 women with endometriosis: a systematic review. *Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care* 2019;24: 61-70.
- Hee L, Kettner LO, Vejtorp M. Continuous use of oral contraceptives: an overview of effects and side-effects.
 Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2013;92: 125-136.
- 1346Jensen JT, Schlaff W, Gordon K. Use of combined hormonal contraceptives for the treatment of1347endometriosis-related pain: a systematic review of the evidence. *Fertil Steril* 2018;110: 137-152.e131.
- Lan S, Ling L, Jianhong Z, Xijing J, Lihui W. Analysis of the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system in
 women with endometriosis. *J Int Med Res* 2013;41: 548-558.
- Leone Roberti Maggiore U, Remorgida V, Scala C, Tafi E, Venturini PL, Ferrero S. Desogestrel-only contraceptive pill versus sequential contraceptive vaginal ring in the treatment of rectovaginal endometriosis infiltrating the rectum: a prospective open-label comparative study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2014;93: 239-247.
- 1354 Margatho D, Carvalho NM, Bahamondes L. Endometriosis-associated pain scores and biomarkers in users of 1355 the etonogestrel-releasing subdermal implant or the 52-mg levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system for 1356 up to 24 months. *Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care* 2020;25: 133-140.
- 1357 Momoeda M, Harada T, Terakawa N, Aso T, Fukunaga M, Hagino H, Taketani Y. Long-term use of dienogest 1358 for the treatment of endometriosis. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* 2009;35: 1069-1076.
- Muzii L, Di Tucci C, Achilli C, Di Donato V, Musella A, Palaia I, Panici PB. Continuous versus cyclic oral
 contraceptives after laparoscopic excision of ovarian endometriomas: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;214: 203-211.

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Endometriosis: diagnosis and management: NICE guideline
 NG73. . <u>https://www.niceorguk/guidance/ng73/evidence</u> 2017;September 2017: 191-208.
- Osuga Y, Seki Y, Tanimoto M, Kusumoto T, Kudou K, Terakawa N. Relugolix, an oral gonadotropin-releasing
 hormone receptor antagonist, reduces endometriosis-associated pain in a dose-response manner: a
 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Fertil Steril* 2020.
- Petraglia F, Hornung D, Seitz C, Faustmann T, Gerlinger C, Luisi S, Lazzeri L, Strowitzki T. Reduced pelvic pain
 in women with endometriosis: efficacy of long-term dienogest treatment. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2012;285: 167173.
- Sauerbrun-Cutler MT, Alvero R. Short- and long-term impact of gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogue
 treatment on bone loss and fracture. *Fertil Steril* 2019;112: 799-803.
- 1372 Strowitzki T, Faustmann T, Gerlinger C, Seitz C. Dienogest in the treatment of endometriosis-associated pelvic
 1373 pain: a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*1374 2010;151: 193-198.
- Tang H, Wu R, Li X, Zhou Y, Liu Z, Wang C, Chen Y, Zhang F. Curative effect of 1.88-mg and 3.75-mg
 gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonist on stage III-IV endometriosis: Randomized controlled study. J
 Obstet Gynaecol Res 2017;43: 1550-1554.
- Taylor HS, Giudice LC, Lessey BA, Abrao MS, Kotarski J, Archer DF, Diamond MP, Surrey E, Johnson NP, Watts
 NB *et al.* Treatment of Endometriosis-Associated Pain with Elagolix, an Oral GnRH Antagonist. *N Engl J Med* 2017;377: 28-40.
- 1381 Vercellini P, Barbara G, Somigliana E, Bianchi S, Abbiati A, Fedele L. Comparison of contraceptive ring and 1382 patch for the treatment of symptomatic endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2010;93: 2150-2161.
- 1383 Vercellini P, Frontino G, De Giorgi O, Pietropaolo G, Pasin R, Crosignani PG, Continuous use of an oral 1384 contraceptive for endometriosis-associated recurrent dysmenorrhea that does not respond to a cyclic pill 1385 regimen. *Fertil Steril* 2003;80: 560-563.
- 1386 Vercellini P, Trespidi L, Colombo A, Vendola N, Marchini M, Crosignani PG. A gonadotropin-releasing hormone
 1387 agonist versus a low-dose oral contraceptive for pelvic pain associated with endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 1388 1993;60: 75-79.
- Wu D, Hu M, Hong L, Hong S, Ding W, Min J, Fang G, Guo W. Clinical efficacy of add-back therapy in treatment of endometriosis: a meta-analysis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2014;290: 513-523.
- 1391

ORAFIEC

1392 II.3. Surgical treatment

1393 Surgical treatment to eliminate endometriotic lesions and divide adhesions has long been an 1394 important part of the management of endometriosis. Historically, surgical approaches were 1395 achieved at open surgery, but in recent decades, laparoscopy has dominated. Elimination of 1396 endometriosis may be achieved by excision, diathermy, or ablation/vaporisation. Division of 1397 adhesions aims to restore pelvic anatomy. In addition, some clinicians use interruption of pelvic 1398 nerve pathways with the intention of improving pain control.

1399

1400 PICO QUESTION: IS SURGERY EFFECTIVE FOR TREATMENT OF PAIN ASSOCIATED WITH 1401 ENDOMETRIOSIS?

1402

1403 A non-randomized report showed that laparoscopy and laparotomy were equally effective in the 1404 treatment of chronic pelvic pain related to severe endometriosis (Crosignani, *et al.*, 1996).

1405 II.3.a. Surgery versus diagnostic laparoscopy/medical treatment

The efficacy of laparoscopic treatment of endometriosis has been compared against diagnostic 1406 laparoscopy or medical treatment. A recent Cochrane review identified 4 RCTs (Abbott, et al., 2004, 1407 Healey, et al., 2010, Jarrell, et al., 2005, Tutunaru, et al., 2006) that compared surgical treatment of 1408 endometriosis with diagnostic laparoscopy only (Bafort, et al., 2020b). An additional study, also 1409 included in the Cochrane review, compared laparoscopic surgery with diagnostic laparoscopy 1410 followed by medical treatment (GnRH agonist) for 12 months (Lalchandani, et al., 2003). The 1411 reviewers concluded that they were uncertain of the effect of laparoscopic surgery on overall pain 1412 score and quality of life due to low or very low quality of these studies. In the five included trials 1413 the method of treatment was either excision, coagulation, or laser vaporisation of endometriotic 1414 lesions. A study included in the previous version of the Cochrane review by Sutton *et al* (n=63), 1415 included laparoscopic uterosacral nerve ablation (LUNA) in addition to laser vaporisation of 1416 endometriotic lesions and adhesiolysis in the treatment arm (Sutton, et al., 1994). They found that 1417 laparoscopic surgery was better than diagnostic laparoscopy in reducing overall pain at 6 months. 1418 Abbott et al randomised 39 women with endometriosis to immediate excision or diagnostic 1419 1420 laparoscopy (or delayed excision) groups and found that a significantly greater number of women in the immediate excision reported overall pain improvement at 6 months (Abbott, et al., 2004). 1421 Jarrell et al (n=16, excision vs diagnostic laparoscopy) showed again that surgery was more 1422 effective than diagnostic laparoscopy in reducing overall pain at 6 months (mean difference [MD] 1423 0.90; 95%Cl 0.31 to 1.49) and 12 months (MD 1.65; 95%Cl 1.11 to 2.19)(Jarrell, et al., 2005). It is worth 1424 1425 noting that there were relatively few patients with stage III/IV endometriosis in these trials. The studies included in this review reported no major complications. When different types of pain were 1426 considered, including pelvic pain, dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and dyschezia, there was 1427 insufficient evidence to determine which pain type responded best to laparoscopic surgery (Bafort, 1428 *et al.*, 2020b). 1429

1430 II.3.a.1 Impact of surgery on QoL

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis reported on the impact of surgery for endometriosis 1431 on major domains of QoL as assessed by SF-36, SF-12, EHP-30 or EQ-5D (Arcoverde, et al., 2019). 1432 Of the 38 included studies 8 including 983 patients with all types of endometriosis with follow-up 1433 of 3-37 months analysed the effect of surgery. Three studies with 269 patients were meta-analysed 1434 for Mental Component Score (MCS) and Physical Component Score (PCS), surgery significantly 1435 1436 improved MCS (OR 0.21, 95%Cl 0.05-0.38), but not PCS (Abbott, et al., 2004, Abbott, et al., 2003, Soto, 1437 et al., 2017). A fourth RCT by Vercellini et al with 180 patients showed significant improvement of health related QoL, psychiatric profile and sexual satisfaction scores (Vercellini, et al., 2003). Two 1438 studies using EQ-5D including 443 patients showed improvements in all domains, except anxiety 1439

(M F, *et al.*, 2017, Roman, 2010). One study looked at benefit of laparoscopic surgery in 161 women
with minimal endometriosis and found significant improvement in both PCS (49.4 ± 9.8 vs 52.3 ± 7.8;
p=0.002) and MCS (40.6 ± 12.21 vs 45.0 ± 11.3; p<0.001), but only 16% of women had a 5 point of more
improvement in their scores (Valentin, *et al.*, 2017).

Franck *et al.* carried out a systematic review of the studies which reported quality of sexual life (QoSL) before and after laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis (Franck, *et al.*, 2018). They could not perform a meta-analysis due to heterogeneity between the 12 included studies. They did however note that six of the seven validated questionnaires used in the 12 studies identified improvements in sexual function following laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis regardless of location, severity of the disease and hormonal treatment.

1450 Recommendations

It is recommended to offer surgery as one of the options to reduce endometriosis-associated pain. $\oplus\oplus\odot\odot$

- 1451 Justification
- Although summarized in a Cochrane review, there are only a few small trials comparing pain outcomes after diagnostic laparoscopy and laparoscopic interventions, and meta-analysis could not be performed. This limits the group to make any valid conclusions on the benefit of surgery for the treatment of endometriosis-associated pain.
- 1456 Before and after studies assessing the effect of surgical intervention on pain and quality of life have
- been summarized in another review, reporting that surgery for endometriosis resulted in overall
- improvement in most health domains of health related QoL, with the greatest improvement found in the Bodily Pain domain (Arcoverde, *et al.*, 2019). A similar conclusion was reported for quality of sexual life (Franck, *et al.*, 2018). It must be considered that surgical trials mostly use a follow up of
- 1461 6 to 12 months, although some studies followed up patients up to 3 years. Surgery for 1462 endometriosis is considered a relatively safe procedure, based on studies showing low numbers 1463 of (severe) complications (Bafort, *et al.*, 2020a, Byrne, *et al.*, 2018b, Chapron, *et al.*, 1998). Considering 1464 these data, a strong recommendation was formulating stating that clinicians should offer surgical
- 1465 treatment as one of the options to relief endometriosis-associated pain.
- Laparoscopy is usually associated with less pain, shorter hospital stay, quicker recovery and better cosmesis, hence it is usually preferred to open surgery. If the relevant experience with laparoscopy is not available, the patient should be referred to a centre of expertise.
- 1469 Specific data and recommendations on surgery for subtypes of endometriosis are discussed 1470 below.
- 1471 Research recommendation
- 1472 More data are need of the effect of surgery in different subtypes via longitudinal population 1473 studies.
- 1474 Further information
- 1475 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question1476 II.3).

1477 II.3.b. Ablation versus excision of endometriosis

A systematic review and meta-analysis (Pundir, *et al.*, 2017) identified three RCTs (Barton-Smith, 2010, Healey, *et al.*, 2010, Wright, *et al.*, 2005) comparing excision with ablation of endometriosis. The study by Wright *et al* was not included in the meta-analysis because of incomplete data but showed that excision and ablation equally improved pelvic pain associated with mild endometriosis (Wright, *et al.*, 2005). Meta-analysis of the other two RCTs showed that laparoscopic excision was significantly superior to ablation in reducing symptoms of EHP-30 core pain score, dyschezia and chronic pelvic pain (Pundir, *et al.*, 2017). There was also a trend in reduction of dysmenorrhea and 1485 dyspareunia scores after excision compared to ablation, but this did not reach statistical
1486 significance. One of these three RCTs later published their 5 year follow up data and it showed that
1487 excision was better than ablation in treating deep dyspareunia (Healey, *et al.*, 2014).

1488 Another systematic review and meta-analysis was published recently, aiming to update the literature on the surgical management of minimal to mild endometriosis (Burks, et al., 2021). The 1489 study identified four RCTs (Healey, et al., 2010, Radosa, et al., 2010, Riley, et al., 2019, Wright, et al., 1490 2005), out of which three were compared and analysed for meta-analysis (Healey, et al., 2010, Riley, 1491 et al., 2019, Wright, et al., 2005). The review examined mean reduction of visual analogue scale 1492 (VAS) score from baseline to 12 months postoperative, or mean VAS score at 12 months 1493 postoperative for dysmenorrhea, dyschezia, dyspareunia and concluded that there are no 1494 significant differences between excision and ablation groups with regards to improving pain 1495 measured with the above parameters. 1496

1497 Recommendations

When surgery is performed, clinicians may consider excision instead of ablation of endometriosis to reduce endometriosis-associated pain.

- 1498 Justification
- 1499 The evidence for ablation versus excision is based on studies that include women with 1500 heterogeneous forms of endometriosis. These studies excluded women with deep endometriosis,
- in which ablation is not usually applied anyway.

1502 II.3.c. Superficial peritoneal endometriosis

1503 Some consider superficial peritoneal endometriosis (SPE) as a separate entity than ovarian 1504 endometriomas and deep endometriosis. However, others argue that they are frequently found 1505 together, and are likely to be different forms of the same condition.

There are no trials specifically studying the effect of surgery for SPE on pain symptoms. Some studies included only women with ASRM stage I and II and majority of these may have SPE. However, ASRM I and II disease may also have women with ovarian endometriomas smaller than 1cm or deep endometriosis, hence it would be impossible to generalise the results of these studies to women with SPE only.

1511 Research recommendation

1512 The GDG recommends sufficiently powered prospective, randomised and ideally blinded studies

1513 to unequivocally determine whether surgical treatment of superficial peritoneal endometriosis

- 1514 improves short and long-term clinical outcomes such as a reduction in pain symptoms and
- 1515 improvement in quality of life.

1516 II.3.d. Surgical interruption of pelvic nerve pathways

The effectiveness of surgical interruption of pelvic nerve pathways in primary and secondary 1517 dysmenorrhea was analysed in a Cochrane review that included six RCTs on women with 1518 endometriosis (Proctor, et al., 2005). Three of these RCTs evaluated the effect of laparoscopic 1519 1520 uterosacral nerve ablation (LUNA) together with conservative laparoscopic surgery for 1521 endometriosis(Johnson, et al., 2004, Sutton, et al., 2001, Vercellini, et al., 2003); the other three 1522 (Candiani, et al., 1992, Tjaden, et al., 1990, Zullo, et al., 2003) studied the effects of presacral neurectomy (PSN) (two at laparotomy, one at laparoscopy) in addition to conservative surgery for 1523 endometriosis. The RCTs on LUNA showed that this technique did not offer any additional benefit 1524 as an adjunct to conservative surgery one year after surgery. The assessment at 6 months did not 1525 show any benefit either, but this included one additional trial studying patients who had fibroids. 1526 1527 There were significant benefits of PSN at 6 months (1 RCT) and 12 months (2 RCTs). One of the RCTs included in the Cochrane review above reported 24-month follow-up results of PSN in addition to 1528 laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis compared to laparoscopic surgery only for the treatment 1529

- of severe dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and pelvic pain due to endometriosis (Zullo, *et al.*, 2004). Frequency and severity of dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and chronic pelvic pain; and quality of life were evaluated. PSN group had better improvement of dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, pelvic pain, and quality of life compared to laparoscopic surgery only.
- However, PSN is associated with increased risk of adverse effects such as bleeding, constipation, urinary urgency and painless first stage of labour (Proctor, *et al.*, 2005). The data suggest that the effect of PSN may be specific to midline pain only.
- A more recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 7 controlled studies -including the 3 RCTs summarized in Proctor *et al* - reported on treatment failure and complications. They concluded that whilst PSN may be beneficial in selected patients with midline pain, based on a lower risk of treatment failure in these patient (RR 0.43; 95%CI 0.30 to 0.60), the published data come from older and low-quality studies (Miller, *et al.*, 2020). As endometriosis surgery improved in the recent decades the place of PSN needs to be confirmed in patients who undergo radical excision of deep endometriosis.

1544 Conclusion

1545 It can be concluded that LUNA is not beneficial as an additional procedure to conventional 1546 laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis, as it offers no additional benefit over surgery alone.

PSN is beneficial for treatment of endometriosis-associated midline pain as an adjunct to conventional laparoscopic surgery, but it should be stressed that PSN requires a high degree of skill and is associated with an increased risk of adverse effects such as intraoperative bleeding, and postoperative constipation, urinary urgency and painless first stage of labour.

1551 II.3.e. Surgery for ovarian endometrioma

1552 To our knowledge, there are no RCTs comparing cystectomy versus no treatment in women with 1553 endometrioma and measuring the effect on pain symptoms.

1554 II.3.e.1 Surgical technique

A Cochrane review by Hart and co-workers (Hart, *et al.*, 2008) reviewed two RCTs comparing laparoscopic excision of ovarian endometriotic cysts (3 cm or larger) to drainage and coagulation by bipolar diathermy (Alborzi, *et al.*, 2004, Beretta, *et al.*, 1998). Both studies demonstrated lower recurrence of dysmenorrhea and dyspareunia after cystectomy compared to drainage and coagulation only. There were fewer cyst recurrences with the excisional approach. Need for further surgery and recurrence of non-menstrual pain were less likely after cystectomy (Hart, *et al.*, 2008).

- An additional RCT, published after the Cochrane review, randomized 90 women to cystectomy or CO2 laser vaporization. The trial showed that recurrence of cysts was more common at 12 months, but not at 60 months, after laser vaporization, and that the time to recurrence was shorter, compared to cystectomy (Carmona, *et al.*, 2011). In a retrospective study of 125 women, Candiani *et al.* showed that recurrence rates after an average of 29-month follow up were similar after CO2 fibre laser vaporization and cystectomy for endometriomas (Candiani, *et al.*, 2020). The most important indicator for recurrence was endometriomas larger than 5 cm (OR 2.21; 95%Cl 1.19 to 3.32).
- A small multicentre RCT (n=51) compared stripping and combined excision/ablation techniques for the treatment of bilateral ovarian endometriomas larger than 3 cm (Muzii, *et al.*, 2016). Similar recurrence rates were observed for the two techniques at 6-month follow-up. Recurrence rates were 5.9% for the stripping technique versus 2.0% for the combined technique (OR 3.00; 95%CI 0.24 to 157.5).
- A recent RCT compared four groups of women with endometrioma who underwent drainage (with bipolar coagulation) or cystectomy with or without oxidized regenerated cellulose (ORC, Surgicel) for haemostasis to study effect on ovarian reserve and endometrioma recurrence rates (Shaltout, *et al.*, 2019). They found that use of oxidized regenerated cellulose reduced recurrence rates with
- 1577 the lowest recurrences seen in the cystectomy + ORC group followed by drainage + ORC.

1578 Two RCTs looked at direct stripping of endometrioma at the original adhesion site compared to circular excision at the initial adhesion site followed by stripping (Mossa, et al., 2010, Muzii, et al., 1579 2005). Muzzi et al found that it was easier to remove the cyst with the circular excision technique 1580 but duration of operation, intraoperative complications and postoperative endometrioma 1581 recurrence rates were similar (Muzii, et al., 2005). Mossa et al showed that initial circular excision 1582 followed by stripping was quicker, had shorter haemostasis times and had higher complete 1583 excision rates (Mossa, et al., 2010). However, the recurrence rates were not different. The average 1584 1585 cyst size was bigger in the direct stripping group and blinding was unclear, hence the results should 1586 be interpreted with caution.

A prospective cohort study was conducted, and postoperative follow-up visits were scheduled every 3 months to identify pain and/or endometrioma recurrence for a minimum of 3 years (Porpora, *et al.*, 2010). Dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and chronic pelvic pain recurred in 14.5%, 6%, and 5.4% of women, respectively. Ovarian endometrioma recurred in 9.6% of cases.

The risk of ovarian failure after bilateral ovarian endometrioma removal is reported to be 2.4% 1591 (Busacca, et al., 2006). The impact of ovarian surgery on ovarian reserve has been assessed as a 1592 secondary outcome in several of the above-mentioned studies. In comparison of AFC and ovarian 1593 1594 volume at 6-month follow-up, AFC was similar, but ovarian volume was lower in ovaries where endometrioma were treated with a combined excision/ablation technique compared to stripping 1595 (Muzii, et al., 2016). Shaltout and colleagues reported a similar impact of drainage or cystectomy 1596 (with or with ORC) on ovarian reserve, but also reported that drainage + ORC has the least impact 1597 on AMH, and that drainage had a significantly higher impact of AFC compared to cystectomy + ORC 1598 (Shaltout, et al., 2019). A prospective study showed that surgery for recurrent endometriomas is 1599 more harmful to healthy ovarian tissue and ovarian reserve than first surgery as demonstrated by 1600 removal of larger ovarian tissue at histology and a trend towards lower lower AFC at follow up 1601 1602 (Muzii, et al., 2015).

1603 Recommendations

When performing surgery in women with ovarian endometrioma, clinicians should perform cystectomy instead of drainage and coagulation, as cystectomy reduces recurrence of endometrioma and endometriosis-associated pain. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

1604

When performing surgery in women with ovarian endometrioma, clinicians can consider both cystectomy and laser vaporization, as both techniques appear to have similar recurrence rates beyond the first year after surgery. Early post-surgical recurrence rates may be lower after cystectomy.

1605

When performing surgery for ovarian endometrioma, specific caution should be used to minimize ovarian damage. $\oplus OOO$

1606 Justification

1607 Cystectomy is probably superior to drainage and coagulation in women with ovarian 1608 endometrioma (≥ 3cm) regarding the recurrence of endometriosis-associated pain and the 1609 recurrence of endometrioma (Hart, *et al.*, 2008), which supports the formulation of a strong 1610 recommendation. Longer follow-up data show similar recurrence rates for both techniques.

1611 Whilst superiority of excision over drainage and coagulation/ablation can be expected, possible 1612 difficulties in removal of very small endometriomas should be kept in mind due to lack of a clear 1613 surgical plane. With regards to ovarian reserve, data show that ovarian surgery may have an impact 1614 on ovarian reserve, but there are data comparing impact of different techniques should be 1615 interpreted with caution. Surgery for recurrent endometriomas should be reconsidered with 1616 caution.

- For the comparison of cystectomy and laser vaporization, one RCT and one retrospective study were available (Candiani, *et al.*, 2020, Carmona, *et al.*, 2011), both concluding that there are similar recurrence rates beyond the first year for the treatment of endometriomas both techniques, Carmona *et al* also reported that the recurrence rates may be lower after cystectomy in the first year. A weak recommendation was formulated.
- 1622 In the included studies, patients were included with endometriomas and endometriosis-associated
- 1623 symptoms (pain and/or infertility). The guideline group would like to clarify that in women with a
- diagnosed endometrioma and pain symptoms, deep endometriosis is not rarely detected during
- surgery. Although not discussed, nor considered in most of the studies, this is to be considered in
- 1626 clinical practice. Information on diagnosis of deep endometriosis is covered in chapter I. Treatment
- 1627 for asymptomatic endometriosis is covered in chapter VIII.

1628 II.3.f. Surgery for deep endometriosis

- 1629 Deep endometriosis (DE) extends beneath the peritoneum and may affect the uterosacral ligaments, pelvic side walls, rectovaginal septum, vagina, bowel, bladder, or ureter. Excision of 1630 1631 these nodules is usually performed when surgical treatment is chosen. Colorectal involvement is not rare with deep endometriosis, Deep endometriosis involving the bowel has been reported to 1632 be 5-12% of women affected by endometriosis (Wills, et al., 2008). The term 'bowel endometriosis' 1633 1634 is used when endometrial-like glands and stroma infiltrate the wall of the gastro-intestinal tract (Chapron, et al., 2003). In case of bowel infiltration, about 90% is localized on the sigmoid colon or 1635 the rectum. Other locations such as small bowel, appendix, and cecum are less frequent. Colorectal 1636 involvement could lead to change in bowel habits, such as constipation, diarrhoea, tenesmus, 1637 1638 dyschezia, and rectal bleeding. These symptoms may vary depending on location and menstrual 1639 cycle (Kaufman, et al., 2011). Therefore, precise diagnosis about presence, location, and extent of 1640 endometriosis is necessary to plan surgical treatment.
- 1641 Treatment approaches for colorectal endometriosis include superficial shaving, discoid resection, 1642 and segmental resection of the bowel to remove the deep endometriosis nodules. Many case 1643 series have been published for these methods since the late 1980s.
- A systematic review and meta-analysis by Arcoverde *et al* analysed 8 articles which included 673 patients with deep endometriosis some including bowel endometriosis and 22 articles with 1580 patients with bowel endometriosis (Arcoverde, *et al.*, 2019). In the DE analysis, 3 articles (Angioni, *et al.*, 2015, Hong, *et al.*, 2014, Mabrouk, *et al.*, 2011) which used SF-36 and one study (Garry, *et al.*, 2000) which used SF12 included 504 patients. HRQoL scores improved significantly in all domains, with the highest improvement in bodily pain. Two studies which used either EHP-30 (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2013) or EHP-5 (De la Hera-Lazaro, *et al.*, 2016) showed improvement in all domains.
- A systematic review by Meuleman and co-workers looked at 49 papers on DE with colorectal 1651 1652 involvement, including laparoscopic, laparotomic, transvaginal or combined approaches 1653 (Meuleman, et al., 2011b). Although less than 50% of these pain-reporting studies had a median follow-up of more than 2 years, improvement of pain and digestive symptoms after surgery for 1654 1655 colorectal endometriosis was reported. They found that pain and quality of life improvement was reported in most studies, the complication rate was 0-3% and the recurrence rate was 5-25%. 1656 1657 However, they noted that most data were collected retrospectively, and study designs and 1658 reporting methods were variable. As it was impossible to make comparisons between different surgical techniques, a checklist was developed to standardise the reports of surgical trials for deep 1659 endometriosis (Meuleman, et al., 2011b). 1660
- Another systematic review by De Cicco and co-workers included 34 articles on bowel resection for colorectal endometriosis (De Cicco, *et al.*, 2011). This review found excellent pain relief in most studies. They concluded that segmental bowel resection for deep endometriosis with colorectal involvement seemed to be a widely acceptable option. The decision to perform resection seemed to be based on preference rather than data; complication rates were similar to resections for other indications, and data on sexual dysfunction were lacking. They suggested that to permit metaanalysis, journals should adopt a standard way of reporting indications, surgery, outcome, size, and

1668 localisation of nodules. The common use of bowel resection may be due to bowel surgeons who 1669 are used to resections for cancer treatment (De Cicco, *et al.*, 2011).

1670 More recently Arcoverde et al analysed articles which reported HRQoL after surgery for bowel 1671 endometriosis (Arcoverde, et al., 2019). Majority of these articles were published after the reviews by Meuleman et al and De Cicco et al (De Cicco, et al., 2011, Meuleman, et al., 2011b). In 12 studies 1672 which included 750 patients using SF-36 or SF-12 data, pooled results showed significant 1673 1674 improvement of HRQoL in all 8 domains, MCS, PCS and total score (Arcoverde, et al., 2019). Four studies which used endometriosis specific EHP-30 (Kent, et al., 2016, Meuleman, et al., 2011a, 1675 Meuleman, et al., 2014) or EHP5 (Bailly, et al., 2013) showed improvement in most domains studied. 1676 Studies which used specific urinary or gastrointestinal QoL guestionnaires showed significant 1677 1678 improvements as well.

- 1679 The largest multicentre prospective case series to date published (BSGE Endometriosis Centres data, (Byrne, et al., 2018a)) reported the 6, 12 and 24-month follow up outcome on nearly 5000 1680 women undergoing laparoscopic excision of deep rectovaginal endometriosis. This showed 1681 significant reductions in premenstrual, menstrual, and non-cyclical pelvic pain, deep dyspareunia, 1682 dyschezia, low back pain and bladder pain. In addition, there were significant reductions in voiding 1683 1684 difficulty, bowel frequency, urgency, incomplete emptying, constipation and passing blood. These reductions were maintained at 2 years, except for voiding difficulty. Global quality of life 1685 significantly improved from a median retreatment score of 55/100 to 80/100 at 6 months. There 1686 1687 was a significant improvement in quality of life in all measured domains and in quality-adjusted life years. These improvements were sustained at 2 years. All analgesia use was reduced and, in 1688 particular, opiate use fell from 28.1% prior to surgery to 16.1% at 6 months. The overall incidence of 1689 complications was 6.8% (321/4721). Gastrointestinal complications (enterotomy, anastomotic leak 1690 or fistula) occurred in 52 (1.1%) operations and of the urinary tract (ureteric/ bladder injury or leak) 1691 1692 in 49 (1.0%) procedures (Byrne, et al., 2018a).
- Only one retrospective study reported outcome of patients with bowel endometriosis in whom a 1693 resection was not performed. Stepniewska *et al.* studied 155 patients: 60 underwent a segmental 1694 resection, 40 had no bowel resection, and 55 patients had deep endometriosis without bowel 1695 involvement (Stepniewska, et al., 2010). Apart from significant lower recurrence rates and higher 1696 1697 pregnancy rates in the group of patients with a segmental resection, there also was a significant regression of pain scores in that group compared to the group that had no bowel resection, 1698 because of lack of consent. Therefore, possibility of bowel resection should be discussed upfront 1699 1700 with the patient.
- 1701 Recommendations

Clinicians can consider performing surgical removal of deep endometriosis, as it may reduce endometriosis-associated pain and improves quality of life. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

1702

The GDG recommends that women with deep endometriosis are referred to a centre of expertise.

1703

The GDG recommends that patients undergoing surgery particularly for deep endometriosis are informed on potential risks, benefits, and long-term effect on quality of life.

GPP

1704 Justification

Overall, data show that surgery improves pain and quality of life in women with deep endometriosis. Still, the literature regarding treatment and outcome of deep endometriosis surgery should be interpreted with caution. It is of paramount importance that type of study, surgical approach, surgical technique, and the way outcome is measured is taken into account. There is a lack of consistency in the way the studies reported outcome, and the systematic review on this topic was based on small studies and case reports. These limitations are reflected in the evidence level. As surgery in women with deep endometriosis is possibly associated with significant intraoperative and postoperative complication rates, the recommendation was formulated as a weak recommendation and complemented with a GPP suggestion that such surgery is ideally performed in a centre of expertise, and only after the patient is informed on potential risks, benefits, and long-term effects.

1716 Further information

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (questionII.3).

1719 II.3.f.1. Surgical approach for bowel endometriosis

In 2007, a systematic review reported outcome of laparoscopic colorectal resection for endometriosis as an alternative to laparotomy (Darai, *et al.*, 2007). With a conversion rate of 7.8%, this review showed feasibility and safety of a laparoscopic approach with markedly improvement of pain and gynaecological and digestive symptoms. A relatively small RCT (26 patients in each group) showed that laparoscopy was as effective as laparotomy for colorectal resection for endometriosis, in improving pain symptoms and quality of life (Darai, *et al.*, 2010b).

1726 In another study, the same authors retrospectively studied 29 patients who underwent radical en 1727 bloc hysterectomy and colorectal resection (Darai, *et al.*, 2010a). Thirteen patients had an open 1728 approach and 16 were done laparoscopically. In both groups there was a significant improvement 1729 of dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, asthenia, and quality of life. A laparoscopic approach had better 1730 short-term outcomes. Although this study advocates a laparoscopic approach, with comparable

1731 efficacy, it can be questioned whether hysterectomy is the treatment of choice.

1732 Discoid excision

In 4 medium-sized non-comparative prospective studies (patient range n=25 to n=111) outcome of 1733 discoid excision of rectal endometriosis was evaluated (Ercoli, et al., 2017, Roman, et al., 2015, 1734 Roman, et al., 2017, Spagnolo, et al., 2014). Spagnolo et al. studied 36 patients and reported outcome 1735 of 25 patients (11 patients were lost to follow-up) (Spagnolo, et al., 2014). Median follow-up was 7 1736 months. Discoid excision had no impact on urodynamic or anorectal function, but pain scores 1737 1738 improved postoperatively. Ercoli et al. prospectively studied 33 patients and reported outcome in 30 patients, who underwent so-called laparoscopic robotic-assisted rectal nodulectomy (Ercoli, et 1739 al., 2017). After mean follow-up of 27.6 months mean VAS-scores decreased significantly for both 1740 dysmenorrhea, and dyspareunia, and dyschezia, and dysuria, and chronic pelvic pain. Two 1741 prospective studies from the same group reported outcome of discoid excision with staplers 1742 (Roman, et al., 2015, Roman, et al., 2017). Improvement of gastro-intestinal function and pain scores 1743 were observed in both studies. Although the authors concluded that discoid excision is a valuable 1744 alternative to colorectal resection in both papers, no direct comparison was made to this technique. 1745

1746 Segmental resection

Twelve other studies (1 RCT, 7 prospective, 4 retrospective) reported outcome of pain in patients 1747 (n=7 to n=900) after colorectal resection for deep endometriosis (Bassi, et al., 2011, Garavaglia, et al., 1748 2018, Kent, et al., 2016, Lyons, et al., 2006, Mabrouk, et al., 2012, Meuleman, et al., 2011a, Ribeiro, et 1749 al., 2014, Riiskjaer, et al., 2018, Roman, et al., 2013, Ruffo, et al., 2014, Silveira da Cunha Araujo, et al., 1750 1751 2014, Touboul, et al., 2015). In all of these studies, significant improvement of all variables studied 1752 was reported. All pain-related VAS scores concerning dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, dyschezia, dysuria, (chronic) pelvic pain, and bodily pain significantly decreased in the postoperative course. 1753 Postoperative follow-up ranged from 1 year to more than 4 years. Moreover, improvement of 1754 gastro-intestinal symptoms, guality of life, sexual function, and fertility rates were also observed in 1755 1756 these studies. In view of this, many authors concluded that laparoscopic colorectal resection improves outcome. One retrospective study further investigated the role of a radical (24 patients) 1757 versus a symptom-guided approach (51 patients) to treat rectal endometriosis in a before-after 1758 1759 study design setting (Roman, et al., 2013). In both study arms, there was a significant improvement in bowel function scores (KESS, GIQLI, and FIQL), and the authors concluded that a conservative 1760

approach should be chosen whenever possible. In fact, this study does not conflict with previous studies regarding radicality of treatment. Radical resection of all endometriosis nodules does not mean that a conservative attitude towards surgical technique/options could be maintained. A least traumatic, but radical resection with a more tailored-approach/patient-centred approach with perioperative decision making is preferred.

1766 Shaving versus discoid excision vs segmental resection

This review also included studies comparing different surgical techniques to treat bowel endometriosis (Arcoverde, *et al.*, 2019). Debate in literature exist whether shaving, discoid excision, or segmental resection with anastomosis should be used for colorectal endometriosis. Moreover, the use of electrocautery or laser is also matter of debate and is beyond the scope of this chapter. A total of 8 studies were included. In many of these studies, patient selection is questionable, because it is not always clear that both surgical options would be feasible in the presented cohort of patients.

1774 Shaving vs segmental resection

1775 In 2 studies, segmental resection *versus* more conservative-like approaches such as shaving were compared (Bourdel, et al., 2018, Roman, et al., 2018). Roman et al. performed the only published 1776 randomized controlled trial in literature with direct comparison of 2 techniques for rectal 1777 endometriosis up to 15cm in 60 patients (Roman, et al., 2018). In a multicentre study, patients were 1778 randomized to receive either segmental resection, or conservative surgery. Primary endpoint was 1779 the proportion of patients experiencing one of the following symptoms at 24 months follow-up: 1780 constipation, frequent bowel movements, defecation pain, anal incontinence, dysuria, or bladder 1781 atony requiring self-catherization. At intention-to-treat analysis, there were no significant 1782 1783 differences in functional gastrointestinal or urinary outcomes. The authors concluded that conservative surgery is feasible for large nodules of the rectum. However, this rather small study 1784 could not draw conclusions on small nodules (<20mm). Of note, temporary stoma rate was around 1785 60% in both study arms. Bourdel et al. retrospectively analysed 195 patients with endometriosis of 1786 the rectovaginal septum (>2 cm in diameter). A total of 172 patients underwent rectal shaving and 1787 23 had a segmental resection (Bourdel, et al., 2018). Mean VAS scores dropped from 5.5 to 2.3 1788 (p<0.001) for shaving and from 7.3 to 2 (p<0.001) for resection, respectively. Moreover, the authors 1789 observed significant improvement of dysmenorrhea, but no differences in quality of life. They 1790 concluded that whenever possible, shaving is the preferred technique to apply. 1791

1792 Discoid excision vs segmental resection

In three studies, discoid excision versus segmental resection (1 prospective, 1 case-control, and 1 1793 retrospective study) was compared (Fanfani, et al., 2010, Hudelist, et al., 2018, Roman, et al., 2010). 1794 Hudelist et al. compared 32 discoid excisions with 102 segmental resections for rectosigmoidal 1795 endometriosis up to 25cm from the anal verge (Hudelist, et al., 2018). They showed improvement 1796 of pain and fertility in both cohorts, with equal postoperative morbidity. Roman et al. studied 41 1797 patients with rectal endometriosis retrospectively. Sixteen patients underwent nodule excision and 1798 25 had a resection (Roman, et al., 2010). After a mean follow-up of 26 (12-53) months they observed 1799 no significant differences in improvement of pain, but worse functional outcome after resection. 1800 Fanfani et al. mainly studied feasibility of discoid excision with a stapler compared to segmental 1801 resection (Fanfani, et al., 2010). Although they observed improvement of endometriosis-related 1802 symptoms, no data on pain was reported. 1803

1804 It has been suggested that discoid resection should be the first choice in rectal endometriosis 1805 patients with unifocal endometriotic lesions less then 3 cm, while segmental resection should be 1806 chosen in high bowel lesions, and when the discoid resection is not feasible (de Almeida, *et al.*, 1807 2014).

1808 Shaving vs discoid excision vs segmental resection

In 3 retrospective studies, comparison was made between 3 surgical techniques (Abo, *et al.*, 2018, Afors, *et al.*, 2016, Mabrouk, *et al.*, 2018). Abo *et al.* studies 364 patients but only reported short-term
postoperative outcome without comparing pain scores or recurrence rates (Abo, *et al.*, 2018).

1812 Another study by Mabrouk et al. included 392 patients with rectosigmoid endometriosis. Shaving was performed in 76%, discoid excision in 8%, and resection in 16%, respectively (Mabrouk, et al., 1813 2018). After mean follow of 43 months (12-163), there were significant less complications in the 1814 shaving group (5.4%), versus discoid excision (9.1%), and resection (17.7%), respectively (p=0.004). 1815 However, no significant difference was observed in recurrence rates. The authors concluded that 1816 conservative surgery (shaving) is associated with fewer short-term complications and similar 1817 1818 recurrence rates. Although this seems to be an attractive conclusion, the retrospective nature of the study will have inherent selection bias and compared groups were rather small. Afors et al. 1819 1820 studied 92 patients with bowel endometriosis and compared shaving (n=47), discoid excision (n=15), 1821 and segmental resection (n=30) (Afors, et al., 2016). Follow-up was minimum 24 months and the authors observed higher recurrence of dysmenorrhea and/or dyspareunia, and a higher re-1822 1823 intervention rate. They concluded that shaving should be avoided in big nodules, because relative risk was 2.5 for bowel resection for nodules >3 cm. A recent meta-analysis corroborates this 1824 observation in an elegant way. Risk of histologically proven recurrence for colorectal endometriosis 1825 1826 was significantly lower after both segmental resection and discoid excision compared to rectal shaving. The authors concluded that this important message should guide decision making in the 1827 1828 choice for the most appropriate surgical management.

In summary, literature is unambiguous regarding some aspects of treatment of women with 1829 colorectal endometriosis. It should be done in a multidisciplinary setting with a minimally invasive 1830 1831 approach aiming to radically remove all endometriosis lesions. Apart from significant improvement of pain, radical treatment of deep endometriosis also positively impacts fertility outcomes (Daraï, 1832 et al, 2017). For lesions on the sigmoid colon, a segmental resection should be performed. For deep 1833 endometriosis involving the rectum, a more tailored approach can be chosen. A laparoscopic 1834 approach is preferred, because it is associated with better postoperative recovery, shorter hospital 1835 1836 stay, and better cosmetic outcome. If relevant laparoscopic experience is not available, it is 1837 recommended to refer the patient to an expert centre.

1838 II.3.f.2. Complications of surgery for bowel endometriosis

Surgery for deep endometriosis appears possible and effective, but this is associated with significant complication rates, particularly when rectal surgery is required. The reported total intraoperative complication rate was 2.1%, and the total postoperative complication rate was 13.9% (9.5% minor, 4.6% major) (Kondo, *et al.*, 2011). There is an ongoing debate about the indication for shaving nodules as opposed to segmental resection (Donnez and Squifflet, 2010, Meuleman, *et al.*, 2011b).

The reported recurrence rates following surgery for colorectal endometriosis in the studies with longer than 2 years follow up were 5–25% (Meuleman, *et al.*, 2011b); the recurrence rates were higher in studies that reported symptomatic recurrence than in studies that reported histological recurrence (De Cicco. *et al.*, 2011).

1849 Surgical treatment of bladder endometriosis is usually excision of the lesion and primary closure 1850 of the bladder wall. Ureteral lesions may be excised after stenting the ureter; however, in the 1851 presence of intrinsic lesions or significant obstruction segmental excision with end-to-end 1852 anastomosis or reimplantation may be necessary.

1853 II.3.f.3. Surgery for posterior compartment endometriosis excluding bowel endometriosis.

1854 The reviewed papers relate to endometriosis of the uterosacral ligaments, rectovaginal septum, 1855 vaginal and recto-cervical endometriosis, posterior compartment cul-de-sac.

1856 *Endometriosis of the uterosacral ligaments and vagina*

These two locations of deep endometriosis are of great clinical value because they can be diagnosed during a pelvic assessment. One historic case series reports pain score at baseline and 12-month follow-up for 28 women who had complete excision of uterosacral ligament endometriosis along with excision of all of all other endometriotic lesions, including vaginal endometriosis (Chapron and Dubuisson, 1996). No complications were reported. Sixteen out of 19 1862 women with dysmenorrhoea and 16 out of 17 women with deep dyspareunia improved. Chronic1863 pelvic pain improved in seven out of nine cases.

Angioli *et al.* describe a three-step vagino-laparoscopic approach to treatment of vaginal endometriosis (Angioli, *et al.*, 2014). The authors reported no major complications but superficial vascular lesions in two cases (5.9%), ureteral stenosis two weeks after surgery in one patient (2.9%), and bowel obstruction for paralytic ileus in one patient (2.9%). A de novo endometrioma was found at 12 months after surgery and a recurrent endometrioma was evident at 24 months. For all symptoms evaluated, there was a significant improvement within 3 months after surgery (p<0.05) and no statistically significant difference during follow-up (at 3, 6, 12 and 24 months).

1871 Endometriosis of the cul-de-sac

1872 Reich et al reported a series of 100 women with cul-de-sac obliteration from retro-cervical deep fibrotic endometriosis and described their operating technique (Reich, et al., 1991). Forty-one of the 1873 1874 46 women with pain had reported improvement, (48 partial, 52 complete). Hong et al. reported the quality of life and pain outcomes for 390 patients with histologically proven deep in the cul-de-sac 1875 endometriosis who underwent laparoscopic excision (Douglasectomy) in a non-randomised 1876 comparative study (Hong, et al., 2014). Results are stratified by whether concurrent a hysterectomy 1877 1878 was done or not. The VAS score for pain decreased significantly after surgery in both groups (follow up time not stated), but the non-hysterectomised women (who according to the authors 1879 1880 had a higher disease burden) had fewer significant improvements in the SF-36 subscales.

1881 Surgical treatment of bladder endometriosis is usually excision of the lesion and primary closure 1882 of the bladder wall. Ureteral lesions may be excised after stenting the ureter; however, in the 1883 presence of intrinsic lesions or significant obstruction segmental excision with end-to-end 1884 anastomosis or reimplantation may be necessary.

1885 Conclusion

1886 Due to the heterogeneity of patient populations, surgical approaches, preferences, and 1887 techniques, the GDG decided not to make any conclusions or recommendations on the techniques 1888 to be applied for treatment of pain associated with deep endometriosis.

1889 II.3.g. Nerve-sparing laparoscopy

A systematic review of four RCTs comparing conventional to nerve-sparing operative laparoscopy in painful deep endometriosis investigates the rate of urinary retention, defined as the need to selfcatheterise at discharge and 90 days after surgery for painful deep endometriosis (de Resende, *et al.*, 2017). The relative risk of requiring self-catheterization at discharge after nerve sparing surgery compared to the conventional technique was 0.19 (95%CI 0.03 to 1.17). Based on two studies, common RR for persistent urinary retention (after 90 days) was 0.16 (95%CI 0.03 to 0.84].

Since then, an additional cohort study was published on 34 women who had laparoscopic surgery for posterior compartment endometriosis (Uccella, *et al.*, 2018) reported no cases of selfcatheterization at 6-and 12-month follow-up and urinary function was not impaired by surgery. Median VAS score levels of pelvic pain were significantly decreased after surgery both at 6 (median 3, range 0-7 and 2, 0-7, respectively) and at 12 months (3, 0-8 and 2, 0-7), compared to preoperative levels (9, 1-10 and 3, 0-7, respectively) (p < 0.0001).

1902 Research recommendation

1903 The GDG recommends that nerve-sparing laparoscopy should be performed in centres of 1904 expertise and that data are collected in a standardised fashion to assess its potential benefits and 1905 risks.

1906 II.3.h. Hysterectomy for endometriosis-associated pain

1907 There are no RCTs on hysterectomy (with or without oophorectomy) for the treatment of 1908 endometriosis-associated pain; most published articles are retrospective case series, and there are

ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021_DRAFT FOR REVIEW

- 1909 only a few prospective studies. A non-systematic review by Martin concluded that hysterectomy for chronic non-specified pelvic pain associated with endometriosis was a successful approach in 1910 many women (Martin, 2006). It also stated that some women did not obtain any relief of pain after 1911 hysterectomy and suggested focused prospective research to determine specific response 1912 patterns. This article listed several difficulties in evaluating hysterectomy for endometriosis-1913 associated pain, including lack of differentiation between cyclical and non-cyclical pain, difficulty 1914 in establishing whether endometriosis is the cause of pain or a co-incidental finding in a woman 1915 with chronic pelvic pain, and high variability in the rates of success among the studies. 1916
- The conclusions of this review were supported by two further publications. Shakiba et al found that 1917 women who underwent hysterectomy with or without removal of the ovaries were significantly less 1918 likely to require further surgery, compared to those who underwent conservative surgery (Shakiba, 1919 et al., 2008). A population-based study from Sweden also showed that hysterectomy with 1920 1921 preservation or removal of ovaries resulted in a significant and long-lasting reduction in the pain symptoms (Sandström, et al., 2020). 1922
- Other important aspects to consider are effective removal of endometriotic lesions and removal of 1923 ovaries. Many clinicians believe that surgical castration would lead to regression of remaining 1924 1925 endometriotic lesions. Furthermore, hysterectomy with ovarian conservation was reported to have a 6-fold risk for development of recurrent pain and an 8.1-times greater risk of reoperation (Martin, 1926 2006, Namnoum, et al., 1995). This would need to be weighed against the need for hormone 1927
- replacement and potential long-term impact of oophorectomy. 1928

1929 Recommendations

	Clinicians can consider hysterectomy with or without removal of the ovaries and all visible endometriosis lesions, in those women who no longer wish to conceive and failed to respond to more conservative treatments. Women should be informed that hysterectomy will not necessarily cure the symptoms or the disease.	@@ 00
--	--	--------------

1930

When a decision is made whether to remove the ovaries, the long-term	
consequences of early menopause and possible need for hormone replacement	GPP
herapy should be considered.	

1931

The GDG recommends that when hysterectomy is performed, a total hysterectomy	CDD
is preferred.	GPP

Justification 1932

.

Hysterectomy for endometriosis-associated pain seems to be effective for relieving symptoms and 1933 significantly reduces the need for re-operation. It should be considered that hysterectomy, 1934 especially when combined with bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, is not an option for women still 1935 wishing to conceive. Additionally, hysterectomy with bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy may have a 1936 significant long-term impact and may create a need for hormone replacement therapy. 1937

- The GDG stresses that women with endometriosis may still experience pain symptoms after 1938 hysterectomy, due to residual endometriosis and/or adenomyosis. 1939
- The GDG recommends that when hysterectomy is performed, a total hysterectomy (i.e., removal 1940 of uterus and cervix) is preferred. This recommendation is based on a possible increased risk of 1941 prolapse with subtotal hysterectomy. 1942
- 1943

1944 II.3.i Patient selection for surgery

1945 1946

NARRATIVE QUESTION: IS THERE A SUBGROUP OF WOMEN WITH CONFIRMED ENDOMETRIOSIS WHO RESPOND BETTER TO SURGERY THAN OTHERS?

1947

1948 There are few studies addressing this question. A recent systematic review identified papers that reported on the prognostic factors which were associated with a clinically meaningful reduction in 1949 endometriosis-associated pain after laparoscopic surgery (Ball, et al., 2021) and included two 1950 retrospective (Chopin, et al., 2005, Ghai, et al., 2020), and three prospective studies (Abbott, et al., 1951 2003, Banerjee, et al., 2006, Milingos, et al., 2006). Four of the five included studies indicated that 1952 stronger pain relief after endometriosis surgery was related to more severe disease prior to surgery 1953 (Banerjee, et al., 2006, Chopin, et al., 2005, Ghai, et al., 2020, Milingos, et al., 2006). There is a 1954 knowledge gap on this specific question and further research is required. 1955

- 1956 Research recommendation:
- 1957 Studies should evaluate factors that can be assessed prior to surgery and can predict a clinically
- meaningful improvement of pain symptoms. Such prognostic markers can be used to selectpatients that may benefit from endometriosis surgery.
- 1960 References
- Abbott J, Hawe J, Hunter D, Holmes M, Finn P, Garry R. Laparoscopic excision of endometriosis: a randomized,
 placebo-controlled trial. *Fertil Steril* 2004;82: 878-884.
- Abbott JA, Hawe J, Clayton RD, Garry R. The effects and effectiveness of laparoscopic excision of endometriosis: a prospective study with 2-5 year follow-up. *Hum Reprod* 2003;18: 1922-1927.
- Abo C, Moatassim S, Marty N, Saint Ghislain M, Huet E, Bridoux V, Tuech JJ, Roman H. Postoperative complications after bowel endometriosis surgery by shaving, disc excision, or segmental resection: a threearm comparative analysis of 364 consecutive cases. *Fertil Steril* 2018;109: 172-178.e171.
- Afors K, Centini G, Fernandes R, Murtada R, Zupi E, Akladios C, Wattiez A. Segmental and Discoid Resection
 are Preferential to Bowel Shaving for Medium-Term Symptomatic Relief in Patients With Bowel Endometriosis.
 J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2016;23: 1123-1129.
- 1971 Alborzi S, Momtahan M, Parsanezhad ME, Dehbashi S, Zolghadri J, Alborzi S. A prospective, randomized study 1972 comparing laparoscopic ovarian cystectomy versus fenestration and coagulation in patients with 1973 endometriomas. *Fertility and sterility* 2004;82: 1633-1637.
- Angioli R, De Cicco Nardone C, Cafa EV, Plotti F, Muzii L, Montera R, Guzzo F, Luvero D, Terranova C. Surgical
 treatment of rectovaginal endometriosis with extensive vaginal infiltration: results of a systematic three-step
 vagino-laparoscopic approach. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2014;173: 83-87.
- 1977 Angioni S, Pontis A, Dessole M, Surico D, De Cicco Nardone C, Melis I. Pain control and quality of life after 1978 laparoscopic en-block resection of deep infiltrating endometriosis (DIE) vs. incomplete surgical treatment with 1979 or without GnRHa administration after surgery. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2015;291: 363-370.
- Arcoverde FVL, Andres MP, Borrelli GM, Barbosa PA, Abrao MS, Kho RM. Surgery for Endometriosis Improves
 Major Domains of Quality of Life: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2019;26:
 266-278.
- Bafort C, Beebeejaun Y, Tomassetti C, Bosteels J, Duffy JM. Laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2020a;10: Cd011031.
- Bafort C, Beebeejaun Y, Tomassetti C, Bosteels J, Duffy JMN. Laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis.
 Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2020b.
- 1987 Bailly E, Margulies AL, Letohic A, Fraleu-Louer B, Renouvel F, Panel P. [Evolution of symptoms and quality of 1988 life of patients after surgery of digestive endometriosis]. *Gynecol Obstet Fertil* 2013;41: 627-634.
- Ball E, Karavadra B, Kremer-Yeatman BJ, Mustard C, Lee KM, Bhogal S, Dodds J, Horne AW, Allotey J, Rivas
 C. Systematic review of patient-specific pre-operative predictors of pain improvement to endometriosis
 surgery. *Reproduction and Fertility* 2021;2: 69-80.
- Banerjee S, Ballard K, Lovell D, Wright J. Deep and superficial endometriotic disease: the response to radical laparoscopic excision in the treatment of chronic pelvic pain. *Gynecological Surgery* 2006;3: 199-205.
- Barton-Smith P. An investigation of the surgical treatment of endometriosis [doctoral thesis] *Guildford, UK: University of Surrey*; 2010;Available at: <u>http://ethos.bl.uk</u>. Accessed May 8, 2017.

- Bassi MA, Podgaec S, Dias JA, Jr., D'Amico Filho N, Petta CA, Abrao MS. Quality of life after segmental resection
 of the rectosigmoid by laparoscopy in patients with deep infiltrating endometriosis with bowel involvement. J
 Minim Invasive Gynecol 2011;18: 730-733.
- Beretta P, Franchi M, Ghezzi F, Busacca M, Zupi E, Bolis P. Randomized clinical trial of two laparoscopic
 treatments of endometriomas: cystectomy versus drainage and coagulation. *Fertility and sterility* 1998;70:
 1176-1180.
- Bourdel N, Comptour A, Bouchet P, Gremeau AS, Pouly JL, Slim K, Pereira B, Canis M. Long-term evaluation of painful symptoms and fertility after surgery for large rectovaginal endometriosis nodule: a retrospective study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2018;97: 158-167.
- Burks C, Lee M, DeSarno M, Findley J, Flyckt R. Excision versus Ablation for Management of Minimal to Mild Endometriosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2021;28: 587-597.
- Busacca M, Riparini J, Somigliana E, Oggioni G, Izzo S, Vignali M, Candiani M. Postsurgical ovarian failure after laparoscopic excision of bilateral endometriomas. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2006;195: 421-425.
- Byrne D, Curnow T, Smith P, Cutner A, Saridogan E, Clark TJ. Laparoscopic excision of deep rectovaginal
 endometriosis in BSGE endometriosis centres: a multicentre prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open* 2018a;8:
 e018924.
- Byrne D, Curnow T, Smith P, Cutner A, Saridogan E, Clark TJ, Centres BE. Laparoscopic excision of deep
 rectovaginal endometriosis in BSGE endometriosis centres: a multicentre prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open* 2018 2018b;8: e018924.
- 2015 Candiani GB, Fedele L, Vercellini P, Bianchi S, Di Nola G. Presacral neurectomy for the treatment of pelvic pain 2016 associated with endometriosis: a controlled study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1992;167: 100-103.
- Candiani M, Ottolina J, Schimberni M, Tandoi I, Bartiromo L, Ferrari S. Recurrence Rate after "One-Step" CO(2)
 Fiber Laser Vaporization versus Cystectomy for Ovarian Endometrioma: A 3-Year Follow-up Study. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 901-908.
- Carmona F, Martínez-Zamora MA, Rabanal A, Martínez-Román S, Balasch J. Ovarian cystectomy versus laser
 vaporization in the treatment of ovarian endometriomas: a randomized clinical trial with a five-year follow-up.
 Fertility and sterility 2011;96: 251-254.
- 2023 Chapron C, Dubuisson JB. Laparoscopic treatment of deep endometriosis located on the uterosacral ligaments. *Hum Reprod* 1996;11: 868-873.
- Chapron C, Dubuisson JB, Chopin N, Foulot H, Jacob S, Vieira M, Barakat H, Fauconnier A. [Deep pelvic
 endometriosis: management and proposal for a 'surgical classification']. *Gynecol Obstet Fertil* 2003;31: 197-2027
 206.
- Chapron C, Querleu D, Bruhat MA, Madelenat P, Fernandez H, Pierre F, Dubuisson JB. Surgical complications
 of diagnostic and operative gynaecological laparoscopy: a series of 29,966 cases. *Hum Reprod* 1998;13: 867 872.
- Chopin N, Vieira M, Borghese B, Foulot H, Dousset B, Coste J, Mignon A, Fauconnier A, Chapron C. Operative
 management of deeply infiltrating endometriosis: results on pelvic pain symptoms according to a surgical
 classification. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2005;12: 106-112.
- 2034 Crosignani PG, Vercellini P, Biffignandi F, Costantini W, Cortesi I, Imparato E. Laparoscopy versus laparotomy 2035 in conservative surgical treatment for severe endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 1996;66: 706-711.
- 2036 Darai E, Ballester M, Chereau E, Coutant C, Rouzier R, Wafo E. Laparoscopic versus laparotomic radical en bloc 2037 hysterectomy and colorectal resection for endometriosis. *Surg Endosc* 2010a;24: 3060-3067.
- 2038 Darai E, Bazot M, Rouzier R, Houry S, Dubernard G. Outcome of laparoscopic colorectal resection for 2039 endometriosis. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 2007;19: 308-313.
- Daraï E, Cohen J, Ballester M. Colorectal endometriosis and fertility. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2017;209:
 86-94.
- Darai E, Dubernard G, Coutant C, Frey C, Rouzier R, Ballester M. Randomized trial of laparoscopically assisted
 versus open colorectal resection for endometriosis: morbidity, symptoms, quality of life, and fertility. *Ann Surg* 2010b;251: 1018-1023.
- de Almeida A, Fernandes LF, Averbach M, Abrão MS. Disc resection is the first option in the management of
 rectal endometriosis for unifocal lesions with less than 3 centimeters of longitudinal diameter. *Surg Technol Int* 2014;24: 243-248.
- 2048 De Cicco C, Corona R, Schonman R, Mailova K, Ussia A, Koninckx P. Bowel resection for deep endometriosis: 2049 a systematic review. *Bjog* 2011;118: 285-291.
- De la Hera-Lazaro CM, Munoz-Gonzalez JL, Perez RO, Vellido-Cotelo R, Diez-Alvarez A, Munoz-Hernando L,
 Alvarez-Conejo C, Jimenez-Lopez JS. Radical Surgery for Endometriosis: Analysis of Quality of Life and
 Surgical Procedure. *Clin Med Insights Womens Health* 2016;9: 7-11.

- de Resende JAJ, Cavalini LT, Crispi CP, de Freitas Fonseca M. Risk of urinary retention after nerve-sparing
 surgery for deep infiltrating endometriosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurourol Urodyn* 2017;36:
 57-61.
- Donnez J, Squifflet J. Complications, pregnancy and recurrence in a prospective series of 500 patients operated on by the shaving technique for deep rectovaginal endometriotic nodules. *Hum Reprod* 2010;25: 1949-1958.
- Ercoli A, Bassi E, Ferrari S, Surico D, Fagotti A, Fanfani F, De Cicco F, Surico N, Scambia G. Robotic-Assisted
 Conservative Excision of Retrocervical-Rectal Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis: A Case Series. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2017;24: 863-868.
- Fanfani F, Fagotti A, Gagliardi ML, Ruffo G, Ceccaroni M, Scambia G, Minelli L. Discoid or segmental rectosigmoid resection for deep infiltrating endometriosis: a case-control study. *Fertil Steril* 2010;94: 444-449.
- Franck C, Poulsen MH, Karampas G, Giraldi A, Rudnicki M. Questionnaire-based evaluation of sexual life after laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2018;97: 1091-1104.
- Garavaglia E, Inversetti A, Ferrari S, De Nardi P, Candiani M. Are symptoms after a colorectal segmental resection in deep endometriosis really improved? The point of view of women before and after surgery. J *Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol* 2018;39: 248-251.
- Garry R, Clayton R, Hawe J. The effect of endometriosis and its radical laparoscopic excision on quality of life indicators. *Bjog* 2000;107: 44-54.
- Ghai V, Jan H, Shakir F, Kent A. Identifying Preoperative Factors Associated with Nonresponders in Women Undergoing Comprehensive Surgical Treatment for Endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 141-147.
- Hart RJ, Hickey M, Maouris P, Buckett W. Excisional surgery versus ablative surgery for ovarian endometriomata. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008.
- Healey M, Ang WC, Cheng C. Surgical treatment of endometriosis: a prospective randomized double-blinded trial comparing excision and ablation. *Fertil Steril* 2010;94: 2536-2540.
- Healey M, Cheng C, Kaur H. To excise or ablate endometriosis? A prospective randomized double-blinded trial after 5-year follow-up. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2014;21: 999-1004.
- Hong DG, Kim JY, Lee YH, Chong GO, Cho YL, Lee YS. Safety and effect on quality of life of laparoscopic
 Douglasectomy with radical excision for deeply infiltrating endometriosis in the cul-de-sac. *J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A* 2014;24: 165-170.
- Hudelist G, Aas-Eng MK, Birsan T, Berger F, Sevelda U, Kirchner L, Salama M, Dauser B. Pain and fertility
 outcomes of nerve-sparing, full-thickness disk or segmental bowel resection for deep infiltrating
 endometriosis-A prospective cohort study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2018;97: 1438-1446.
- Jarrell J, Mohindra R, Ross S, Taenzer P, Brant R. Laparoscopy and reported pain among patients with endometriosis. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can* 2005;27: 477-485.
- Johnson NP, Farquhar CM, Crossley S, Yu Y, Van Peperstraten AM, Sprecher M, Suckling J. A double-blind randomised controlled trial of laparoscopic uterine nerve ablation for women with chronic pelvic pain. *Bjog* 2004;111: 950-959.
- Kaufman LC, Smyrk TC, Levy MJ, Enders FT, Oxentenko AS. Symptomatic intestinal endometriosis requiring surgical resection: clinical presentation and preoperative diagnosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2011;106: 1325-1332.
- Kent A, Shakir F, Rockalt T, Haines P, Pearson C, Rae-Mitchell W, Jan H. Laparoscopic Surgery for Severe
 Rectovaginal Endometriosis Compromising the Bowel: A Prospective Cohort Study. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2016;23: 526-534.
- Kondo W, Bourdel N, Tamburro S, Cavoli D, Jardon K, Rabischong B, Botchorishvili R, Pouly J, Mage G, Canis M. Complications after surgery for deeply infiltrating pelvic endometriosis. *Bjog* 2011;118: 292-298.
- Lalchandani S, Baxter A, Phillips K. A prospective randomised comparison of laparoscopic treatment and treatment with gonadotrophin releasing hormone analogue in patients with mild to moderate endometriosis. *International journal of obstetrics & gynecology* 2003;83: 48.
- Lyons SD, Chew SS, Thomson AJ, Lenart M, Camaris C, Vancaillie TG, Abbott JA. Clinical and quality-of-life outcomes after fertility-sparing laparoscopic surgery with bowel resection for severe endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2006;13: 436-441.
- M F A, Narwani H, Shuhaila A. An evaluation of quality of life in women with endometriosis who underwent primary surgery: a 6-month follow up in Sabah Women & Children Hospital, Sabah, Malaysia. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2017;37: 906-911.
- Mabrouk M, Montanari G, Guerrini M, Villa G, Solfrini S, Vicenzi C, Mignemi G, Zannoni L, Frasca C, Di Donato N
 et al. Does laparoscopic management of deep infiltrating endometriosis improve quality of life? A prospective
 study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2011;9: 98.

- 2110 Mabrouk M, Raimondo D, Altieri M, Arena A, Del Forno S, Moro E, Mattioli G, Iodice R, Seracchioli R. Surgical, 2111 Clinical, and Functional Outcomes in Patients with Rectosigmoid Endometriosis in the Gray Zone: 13-Year
- 2112 Long-Term Follow-up. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2018.
- Mabrouk M, Spagnolo E, Raimondo D, D'Errico A, Caprara G, Malvi D, Catena F, Ferrini G, Paradisi R, Seracchioli
 R. Segmental bowel resection for colorectal endometriosis: is there a correlation between histological pattern
 and clinical outcomes? *Hum Reprod* 2012;27: 1314-1319.
- 2116 Martin DC. Hysterectomy for treatment of pain associated with endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2117 2006;13: 566-572.
- 2118 Meuleman C, Tomassetti C, D'Hoore A, Buyens A, Van Cleynenbreugel B, Fieuws S, Penninckx F, Vergote I,
- 2119 D'Hooghe T. Clinical outcome after CO(2) laser laparoscopic radical excision of endometriosis with colorectal
- wall invasion combined with laparoscopic segmental bowel resection and reanastomosis. *Hum Reprod* 2121 2011a;26: 2336-2343.
- Meuleman C, Tomassetti C, D'Hoore A, Van Cleynenbreugel B, Penninckx F, Vergote I, D'Hooghe T. Surgical
 treatment of deeply infiltrating endometriosis with colorectal involvement. *Hum Reprod Update* 2011b;17: 311 326.
- Meuleman C, Tomassetti C, Wolthuis A, Van Cleynenbreugel B, Laenen A, Penninckx F, Vergote I, D'Hoore A,
 D'Hooghe T. Clinical outcome after radical excision of moderate-severe endometriosis with or without bowel
 resection and reanastomosis: a prospective cohort study. *Ann Surg* 2014;259: 522-531
- Milingos S, Protopapas A, Kallipolitis G, Drakakis P, Loutradis D, Liapi A, Antsaklis A, Endometriosis in patients with chronic pelvic pain: is staging predictive of the efficacy of laparoscopic surgery in pain relief? *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2006;62: 48-54.
- Miller LE, Bhattacharyya R, Miller VM. Clinical Utility of Presacral Neurectomy as an Adjunct to Conservative
 Endometriosis Surgery: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Studies. *Sci Rep* 2020;10: 6901.
- Mossa B, Ebano V, Tucci S, Rega C, Dolce E, Frega A, Marziani R. Laparoscopic surgery for the management of ovarian endometriomas. *Medical science monitor* 2010;16: MT45-50.
- Muzii L, Achilli C, Bergamini V, Candiani M, Garavaglia E, Lazzeri L, Lecce F, Maiorana A, Maneschi F, Marana R
 et al. Comparison between the stripping technique and the combined excisional/ablative technique for the
 treatment of bilateral ovarian endometriomas: a multicentre RCT. *Hum Reprod* 2016;31: 339-344.
- Muzii L, Achilli C, Lecce F, Bianchi A, Franceschetti S, Marchetti C, Perniola G, Panici PB. Second surgery for
 recurrent endometriomas is more harmful to healthy ovarian tissue and ovarian reserve than first surgery.
 Fertility and sterility 2015;103: 738-743.
- Muzii L, Bellati F, Palaia I, Plotti F, Manci N, Zullo MA, Angioli R, Panici PB. Laparoscopic stripping of endometriomas: a randomized trial on different surgical techniques. Part I: clinical results. *Hum Reprod* 2005;20: 1981-1986.
- Namnoum AB, Hickman TN, Goodman SB, Gehlbach DL, Rock JA. Incidence of symptom recurrence after
 hysterectomy for endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 1995;64: 898-902.
- Porpora MG, Pallante D, Ferro A, Crisafi B, Bellati F, Benedetti Panici P. Pain and ovarian endometrioma
 recurrence after laparoscopic treatment of endometriosis: a long-term prospective study. *Fertil Steril* 2010;93:
 716-721.
- Proctor M, Latthe P, Farquhar C, Khan K, Johnson N. Surgical interruption of pelvic nerve pathways for primary
 and secondary dysmenorrhoea. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005.
- Pundir J, Omanwa K, Kovoor E, Pundir V, Lancaster G, Barton-Smith P. Laparoscopic Excision Versus Ablation
 for Endometriosis-associated Pain: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2017;24: 747-756.
- Radosa MP, Bernardi TS, Georgiev I, Diebolder H, Camara O, Runnebaum IB. Coagulation versus excision of primary superficial endometriosis: a 2-year follow-up. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2010;150: 195-198.
- Reich H, McGlynn F, Salvat J. Laparoscopic treatment of cul-de-sac obliteration secondary to retrocervical
 deep fibrotic endometriosis. *J Reprod Med* 1991;36: 516-522.
- Ribeiro PA, Sekula VG, Abdalla-Ribeiro HS, Rodrigues FC, Aoki T, Aldrighi JM. Impact of laparoscopic colorectal
 segment resection on quality of life in women with deep endometriosis: one year follow-up. *Qual Life Res* 2014;23: 639-643.
- Riiskjaer M, Forman A, Kesmodel US, Andersen LM, Ljungmann K, Seyer-Hansen M. Pelvic Pain and Quality of
 Life Before and After Laparoscopic Bowel Resection for Rectosigmoid Endometriosis: A Prospective,
 Observational Study. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2018;61: 221-229.
- Riley KA, Benton AS, Deimling TA, Kunselman AR, Harkins GJ. Surgical Excision Versus Ablation for Superficial
 Endometriosis-Associated Pain: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2019;26: 71-77.
- Roman H, Abo C, Huet E, Bridoux V, Auber M, Oden S, Marpeau L, Tuech JJ. Full-Thickness Disc Excision in
 Deep Endometriotic Nodules of the Rectum: A Prospective Cohort. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2015;58: 957-966.

- Roman H, Bubenheim M, Huet E, Bridoux V, Zacharopoulou C, Darai E, Collinet P, Tuech JJ. Conservative
 surgery versus colorectal resection in deep endometriosis infiltrating the rectum: a randomized trial. *Hum Reprod* 2018;33: 47-57.
- Roman H, Darwish B, Bridoux V, Chati R, Kermiche S, Coget J, Huet E, Tuech JJ. Functional outcomes after
 disc excision in deep endometriosis of the rectum using transanal staplers: a series of 111 consecutive patients.
 Fertil Steril 2017;107: 977-986.e972.
- Roman H, Loisel C, Resch B, Tuech JJ, Hochain P, Leroi AM, Marpeau L. Delayed functional outcomes
 associated with surgical management of deep rectovaginal endometriosis with rectal involvement: giving
 patients an informed choice. *Hum Reprod* 2010;25: 890-899.
- Roman H, Vassilieff M, Tuech JJ, Huet E, Savoye G, Marpeau L, Puscasiu L. Postoperative digestive function
 after radical versus conservative surgical philosophy for deep endometriosis infiltrating the rectum. *Fertil Steril* 2013;99: 1695-1704.
- Roman JD. Surgical treatment of endometriosis in private practice: cohort study with mean follow-up of 3
 years. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2010;17: 42-46.
- Ruffo G, Scopelliti F, Manzoni A, Sartori A, Rossini R, Ceccaroni M, Minelli L, Crippa S, Partelli S, Falconi M. Longterm outcome after laparoscopic bowel resections for deep infiltrating endometriosis: a single-center
 experience after 900 cases. *Biomed Res Int* 2014;2014: 463058.
- 2185 Sandström A, Bixo M, Johansson M, Bäckström T, Turkmen S. Effect of hysterectomy on pain in women with 2186 endometriosis: a population-based registry study. *Bjog* 2020;127: 1628-1635.
- 2187 Shakiba K, Bena JF, McGill KM, Minger J, Falcone T. Surgical treatment of endometriosis: a 7-year follow-up 2188 on the requirement for further surgery. *Obstet Gynecol* 2008;111: 1285-1292.
- Shaltout MF, Elsheikhah A, Maged AM, Elsherbini MM, Zaki SS, Dahab S, Elkomy RO. A randomized controlled
 trial of a new technique for laparoscopic management of ovarian endometriosis preventing recurrence and
 keeping ovarian reserve. J Ovarian Res 2019;12: 66.
- Silveira da Cunha Araujo R, Abdalla Ayroza Ribeiro HS, Sekula VG, da Costa Porto BT, Ayroza Galvao Ribeiro
 PA. Long-term outcomes on quality of life in women submitted to laparoscopic treatment for bowel
 endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2014;21: 682-688.
- Soto E, Luu TH, Liu X, Magrina JF, Wasson MN, Einarsson JI, Cohen SL, Falcone T. Laparoscopy vs. Robotic
 Surgery for Endometriosis (LAROSE): a multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. *Fertil Steril* 2017;107: 996 1002.e1003.
- Spagnolo E, Zannoni L, Raimondo D, Ferrini G, Mabrouk M, Benfenati A, Villa G, Bertoldo V, Seracchioli R.
 Urodynamic evaluation and anorectal manometry pre- and post-operative bowel shaving surgical procedure
 for posterior deep infiltrating endometriosis: a pilot study. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2014;21: 1080-1085.
- 2201 Stepniewska A, Pomini P, Guerriero M, Scioscia M, Ruffo G, Minelli L. Colorectal endometriosis: benefits of 2202 long-term follow-up in patients who underwent laparoscopic surgery. *Fertil Steril* 2010;93: 2444-2446.
- Sutton C, Pooley AS, Jones KD, Dover RW, Haines P. A prospective, randomized, double-blind controlled trial
 of laparoscopic uterine nerve ablation in the treatment of pelvic pain associated with endometriosis.
 Gynaecological endoscopy 2001;10: 217-222.
- Sutton CJ, Ewen SP, Whitelaw N, Haines P. Prospective, randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of laser
 laparoscopy in the treatment of pelvic pain associated with minimal, mild, and moderate endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 1994;62: 696-700.
- Tjaden B, Schlaff WD, Kimball A, Rock JA. The efficacy of presacral neurectomy for the relief of midline dysmenorrhea. *Obstetrics and gynecology* 1990;76: 89-91.
- Touboul C, Ballester M, Dubernard G, Zilberman S, Thomin A, Darai E. Long-term symptoms, quality of life,
 and fertility after colorectal resection for endometriosis: extended analysis of a randomized controlled trial
 comparing laparoscopically assisted to open surgery. *Surg Endosc* 2015;29: 1879-1887.
- Tutunaru D, Vladareanu R, Dumitrascu M, Alexandru B. Placebo effect of diagnostic laparoscopy alone in mild endometriosis. *J Gynaecol Obstet* 2006;2: 144.
- Uccella S, Gisone B, Serati M, Biasoli S, Marconi N, Angeretti G, Gallotta V, Cardinale S, Rausei S, Dionigi G *et al.* Functional outcomes of nerve-sparing laparoscopic eradication of deep infiltrating endometriosis: a prospective analysis using validated questionnaires. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2018;298: 639-647.
- Valentin L, Canis M, Pouly JL, Lasnier C, Jaffeux P, Aublet-Cuvelier B, Bourdel N. SF-36 preoperative interest
 of predicting improvement of quality of life after laparoscopic management of minimal endometriosis. J
 Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod 2017;46: 137-142.
- Vercellini P, Aimi G, Busacca M, Apolone G, Uglietti A, Crosignani PG. Laparoscopic uterosacral ligament
 resection for dysmenorrhea associated with endometriosis: results of a randomized, controlled trial. *Fertil Steril* 2003;80: 310-319.

- Vercellini P, Frattaruolo MP, Somigliana E, Jones GL, Consonni D, Alberico D, Fedele L. Surgical versus lowdose progestin treatment for endometriosis-associated severe deep dyspareunia II: effect on sexual functioning, psychological status and health-related quality of life. *Hum Reprod* 2013;28: 1221-1230.
- Wills HJ, Reid GD, Cooper MJ, Morgan M. Fertility and pain outcomes following laparoscopic segmental bowel resection for colorectal endometriosis: a review. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2008;48: 292-295.
- Wright J, Lotfallah H, Jones K, Lovell D. A randomized trial of excision versus ablation for mild endometriosis.
 Fertil Steril 2005;83: 1830-1836.
- Zullo F, Palomba S, Zupi E, Russo T, Morelli M, Cappiello F, Mastrantonio P. Effectiveness of presacral neurectomy in women with severe dysmenorrhea caused by endometriosis who were treated with laparoscopic conservative surgery: a 1-year prospective randomized double-blind controlled trial. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2003;189: 5-10.
- Zullo F, Palomba S, Zupi E, Russo T, Morelli M, Sena T, Pellicano M, Mastrantonio P. Long-term effectiveness
 of presacral neurectomy for the treatment of severe dysmenorrhea due to endometriosis. *JAm Assoc Gynecol Laparosc* 2004;11: 23-28.
- 2239

ORAFICAR

2240 II.4. Medical therapies adjunct to surgery

The question on whether medical therapies are effective as an adjunct to surgical therapy considers both therapies to improve immediate surgical outcomes, and therapies aimed at secondary prevention, being prevention of recurrence of disease and/or symptoms.

A previous good practice point in this respect was proposed: *The GDG recommends that clinicians clearly distinguish adjunctive short-term (< 6 months) hormonal treatment after surgery from longterm (> 6 months) hormonal treatment; the latter is aimed at secondary prevention.*

The evidence and recommendations are therefore separated into 'therapies to improve immediate surgical outcomes' and 'therapies for secondary prevention'. The latter is discussed in chapter IV. Endometriosis and recurrence.

- 2250
- 2251 PICO QUESTION: ARE MEDICAL THERAPIES EFFECTIVE AS AN ADJUNCT TO SURGICAL THERAPY?
- 2252

The Cochrane review considered both pre- and postoperative treatment in relation to the management of cysts, pain, and infertility (Yap, *et al.*, 2004) was updated in 2020 (Chen, *et al.*, 2020).

2255 II.4.a Preoperative medical treatment

With regards to preoperative treatment, the updated review shows no benefit with regards to pain, dysmenorrhea, or dyspareunia recurrence. With regards to disease recurrence, no new data were included compared to the previous version of the review. Chen *et al* reports uncertainty regarding a difference in pelvic pain recurrence at 12 months or less (dichotomous) between presurgical medical hormonal suppression and surgery alone (RR 1.10; 95%CI 0.72 to 1.66; 1 RCT; n=262) (Chen, *et al.*, 2020). The same statement was formulated for dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and disease recurrence.

2263 Recommendations

It is not recommended to prescribe preoperative hormonal treatment to improve the immediate outcome of surgery for pain in women with endometriosis.

⊕⊕00

2264 Justification

The guideline group confirms the recommendation from the guideline (Dunselman, *et al.*, 2014). Considering this (strong) recommendation, the GDG acknowledges that in clinical practice, surgeons prescribe preoperative medical treatment with GnRH agonists as this can facilitate surgery due to reduced inflammation, vascularisation of endometriosis lesions and adhesions. However, there are no controlled studies supporting this. From a patient perspective, medical treatment should be offered before surgery to women with painful symptoms in the waiting period before the surgery can be performed, with the purpose of reducing pain before, not after, surgery.

2272 Further information

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question II.4).

2275 II.4.b Postoperative medical treatment

The review from Chen 2020, presents the data for pain and disease recurrence in the short-term (≤ 12 months) and similar to the previous guideline, the data summarized for ≤ 12 months are considered relevant to assess the efficacy of postoperative medical treatment to improve immediate surgical outcomes (Chen, *et al.*, 2020).

The interventions included were GnRH agonists, danazol, letrozole, OCP, and progestogens. Compared to surgery alone, postsurgical medical therapy may decrease pain recurrence at 12 months or less (RR 0.70; 95%Cl 0.52 to 0.94; 5 RCTs; 657 patients) (Chen, *et al.*, 2020). With regards to disease recurrence, there may be a decrease in favour of postsurgical medical therapy, compared to no therapy (RR 0.30; 95%Cl 0.17 to 0.54; 4 RCTs; 433 patients).

2285 Recommendation

Women may be offered postoperative hormonal treatment to improve the immediate outcome of surgery for pain in women with endometriosis. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

2286 Justification

Based on the current evidence from the Cochrane review by Chen *et al*, the GDG concluded that there is only a very moderate benefit of postoperative hormonal therapy (within 6 months after surgery) if this treatment is prescribed with the sole aim of improving the outcome of surgery. Furthermore, there is inconsistency between the studies on whether postoperative hormonal treatment has a favourable effect on pain recurrence or disease recurrence after surgery. With no proven harm, postoperative hormonal therapy may be prescribed for other indications, such as contraception or secondary prevention (weak recommendation).

Medical therapies aimed at prevention of recurrence after surgery (secondary prevention) are discussed in chapter IV. Endometriosis recurrence.

2296 Further information

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question II.4)

2299 References

- Chen I, Veth VB, Choudhry AJ, Murji A, Zakhari A, Black AY, Agarpao C, Maas JW. Pre- and postsurgical medical
 therapy for endometriosis surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2020;11: Cd003678.
- Dunselman GA, Vermeulen N, Becker C, Calhaz-Jorge C, D'Hooghe T, De Bie B, Heikinheimo O, Horne AW,
 Kiesel L, Nap A *et al.* ESHRE guideline: management of women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2014;29: 400-
- 2304 412.
- Yap C, Furness S, Farquhar C. Pre and post operative medical therapy for endometriosis surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2004: CD003678.
- 2307

2308 II.5. Medical versus surgical treatment for endometriosis

PICO QUESTION: ARE SURGICAL THERAPIES MORE EFFECTIVE THAN MEDICAL THERAPIES FOR
 WOMEN WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS WITH PAIN SYMPTOMS?

The question on whether surgical therapies are more effective than medical therapies for endometriosis-associated pain is an important clinical question. However, it has not been fully addressed in research.

Our literature search retrieved one RCT and one cohort study from the same research team. In the 2315 RCT, 154 patients were followed up for 12 months after choosing hormonal treatment (progestin) 2316 or surgery for deep dyspareunia and rectovaginal endometriotic lesions. The trial showed that both 2317 2318 treatment options were effective (Vercellini, et al., 2012). The cohort study included 87 women with a diagnosis of DE and indication for surgical excision of intestinal endometriosis. Of the women, 50 2319 2320 opted for medical treatment (OCP [n=12] or progestin [n=38]) while 37 had surgery. Six women in the medical therapy group requested surgery because of drug inefficacy (n=3) or intolerance (n=3). 2321 Seven major complications were observed in the surgery group (19%). At 12-month follow-up, 39 2322 (78%) women in the medical therapy group were satisfied with their treatment, compared with 28 2323 (76%) in the surgery group (adjusted OR 1.37; 95%Cl 0.45 to 4.15; intention-to-treat analysis). 2324 Corresponding figures at final follow-up assessment were 72% in the former group and 65% in the 2325 latter one (adjusted OR 1.74; 95%CI 0.62 to 4.85) (Vercellini, et al., 2018). Based on the high 2326 satisfaction in both groups, the authors advocated for a shared-decision approach. 2327

For endometrioma, there are no randomised studies that compare surgery to treatment with medication, but a protocol for an RCT to answer this question was recently published. The results of the trial will provide evidence for future recommendations on whether surgical or medical therapies are more effective for endometrioma-associated pain (van Barneveld, *et al.*, 2020).

2332 Recommendations

The GDG recommends that clinicians take a shared decision-making approach and take individual preferences, side effects, individual efficacy, costs, and availability into consideration when choosing between hormonal and surgical treatments for endometriosis-associated pain.

GPP

2333 Justification

2311

There is no conclusive evidence to make any definite recommendation on whether medical therapies or surgery are more effective for relieving pain in women with endometriosis. Surgery is a potential 'instant' treatment, but surgical complications are possible and often give only temporary pain relief with a considerable risk of recurrence. Medical management does not require general anaesthesia and hospitalization, but it can be associated with short and long-term side effects and patients may need to use medical treatments for a long period.

2340 Research recommendation

The GDG recommends sufficiently powered randomized clinical trials in different countries and cultural backgrounds to directly compare the risks, costs, and clinical outcomes of laparoscopy and empirical treatment. These studies are ideally performed in subgroups of women with superficial, deep endometriosis or endometrioma.

2345 Further information

2346 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question2347 II.5)

2348

2349 References

van Barneveld E, Veth VB, Sampat JM, Schreurs AMF, van Wely M, Bosmans JE, de Bie B, Jansen FW, Klinkert
ER, Nap AW *et al.* SOMA-trial: surgery or medication for women with an endometrioma? Study protocol for a
randomised controlled trial and cohort study. *Hum Reprod Open* 2020;2020: hoz046.

Vercellini P, Frattaruolo MP, Rosati R, Dridi D, Roberto A, Mosconi P, De Giorgi O, Cribiu FM, Somigliana E.
 Medical treatment or surgery for colorectal endometriosis? Results of a shared decision-making approach.
 Hum Reprod 2018;33: 202-211.

Vercellini P, Somigliana E, Consonni D, Frattaruolo MP, De Giorgi O, Fedele L. Surgical versus medical
 treatment for endometriosis-associated severe deep dyspareunia: I. Effect on pain during intercourse and
 patient satisfaction. *Hum Reprod* 2012;27: 3450-3459.

2359

ORAF FOR REVIEW

2360 II.6. Non-medical management strategies

Non-medical managements strategies are widely used by women with endometriosis. In a recent questionnaire study, it was shown that 62.5% of Swiss, Austrian, and German endometriosis patients used complementary and alternative medicine (CAM). The study also reported a link between higher usage of CAM and dissatisfaction with health care (Schwartz, *et al.*, 2019).

- Amour *et al.* provided a description of 'self-management strategies' highlighting that at least 70% of people with endometriosis use heat, diet, meditation, breathing, non-prescribed drugs and alcohol (Armour, *et al.*, 2019b).
- 2368 Cox *et al* also noted a large uptake of complementary therapies and concluded that people with 2369 endometriosis have a high need for 'regaining control' and develop self-management strategies 2370 (Cox, *et al.*, 2003).
- 2371 Such data show that there is a place for non-surgical and non-pharmacological alternatives for 2372 women diagnosed with endometriosis. The interventions and approaches will depend on the 2373 impact of the conditions, the patients' priorities and preferences and the availability of services.
- Greco *et al* described several different treatments such as Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS), psychological and physical therapies being offered to adolescents with endometriosis in Boston, though they did not evaluate the outcomes (Greco, 2003).
- 2377 Self-help groups can improve quality of life in a group of people where 9 out of the 171 chronic 2378 pain sufferers were specifically diagnosed with endometriosis (Barlow, *et al.*, 2005).
- Even with the large uptake, there are very little studies evaluating the efficacy and safety of nonmedical management strategies in women with endometriosis. This is also reflected in 2 key priorities (or 'unanswered research questions') identified in the James Lind Alliance Priority Setting Partnership for Endometriosis (Horne, *et al.*, 2017).
- What is the most effective way of managing the emotional and/or psychological and/or
 fatigue impact of living with endometriosis (including medical, non-medical, and self management methods)?
- What are the most effective non-surgical ways of managing endometriosis-related pain and/or symptoms (medical/non-medical)?
- The previous version of this ESHRE guideline concluded that the limited research and papers did 2388 2389 not support the use of nutritional, alternative and complimentary therapies (Dunselman, et al., 2014). This chapter elaborates on recent data for non-medical management strategies for relieving 2390 endometriosis-associated pain, and improving quality of life by including more recent studies on 2391 acupuncture, physical therapies, psychological interventions, electrotherapy and traditional 2392 Chinese medicine and nutrition. Especially on psychological therapy and exercise, studies have 2393 emerged over recent years. We did not identify evidence in women with endometriosis for other 2394 alternative or complementary therapies. 2395
- Non-medical management strategies for endometriosis-associated infertility are discussed in chapter III.5.
- 2398

PICO QUESTION: WHAT NON-MEDICAL MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES ARE EFFECTIVE FOR SYMPTOMS ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS (PAIN AND QUALITY OF LIFE)?

2401 II.6.a. Acupuncture

Acupuncture is considered a complementary and non-invasive treatment. It is integrated in Chinese medicine whereas in western medicine we apply a different theory and outcomes and most often classify it as CAM.

A Cochrane review in 2011 found only 1 single study that met the inclusion criteria (Xiang, *et al.*, 2002, Zhu, *et al.*, 2011). The RCT compared auricular acupuncture to Chinese herbs in 67 women

ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021_DRAFT FOR REVIEW

with endometriosis and reported a significant reduction in pain scores for patients with severe dysmenorrhea receiving acupuncture compared to Chinese herbs. However, no difference was seen in mild to moderate dysmenorrhea. The review concluded that there was insufficient highquality evidence to recommend acupuncture for patients with endometriosis. They also established that a trail would need several hundred patients to reach a clinically credible estimate of efficacy.

A meta-analysis from 2016 included 2 randomised controlled trials and 1 case report describing 2 2413 adolescents with endometriosis (Lund and Lundeberg, 2016). One included RCT (cross-over trial) 2414 compared 'sham' acupuncture (non-specific acupuncture points) with verum acupuncture 2415 (Chinese approach) and included 101 women with endometriosis and a VAS pain score of ≥ 5 2416 divided into 2 groups (Rubi-Klein, et al., 2010). They received 10 treatments over 5 weeks and they 2417 had a break of 2 menstrual cycles before they crossed over. Patients receiving verum acupuncture 2418 2419 reported significantly less pain and improved psychological well-being compared to the 'sham' group. However, 18 patients dropped out and there was no blinding. The other RCT included a very 2420 small sample of 18 adolescent (13-22-year-olds) comparing Japanese acupuncture (smaller 2421 2422 needles and herbs) with sham acupuncture (not penetrating the skin) (Wayne, et al., 2008). They concluded that Japanese acupuncture is a safe and effective adjunct therapy for endometriosis-2423 related pain. 2424

Another review by Xu et al also included the study of Wayne et al in addition to 9 small Chinese 2425 studies of which 3 were not peer reviewed publications (Xu, et al., 2017). According to the authors, 2426 only one study included a placebo group and blinding but the sample was too small to draw any 2427 conclusions. The included studies compared Chinese acupuncture to Chinese medicine, sham 2428 acupuncture, and Western medicine. The reviewers were able to perform a meta-analysis for the 2429 effect on pain (based on 6 studies) and concluded that there was consistent evidence to support 2430 acupuncture to alleviate dysmenorrhea and pain (VAS) regardless of the comparison. Meta-2431 analysis for quality-of-life outcomes was not feasible due to the variation between the studies. 2432 Overall, it was a safe treatment with little or no reported adverse effects and there are grounds to 2433 believe that acupuncture could be used as an adjunct to alleviate pain in women with 2434 endometriosis. 2435

In summary and based on the current literature, no recommendation can be made about the useof acupuncture to improve quality of life and reduce pain in women with endometriosis.

Although summarized in several meta-analyses, the studies on acupuncture in women with endometriosis are small, non-specific, and non-blinded. The papers included had mixed outcomes and different types of acupuncture making it difficult to evaluate them. Furthermore, questions may be raised regarding the placebo groups as any needle to skin intervention provides sensory stimulation and it is not possible to present a valid inert placebo.

- 2443 Considering these aspects, only one small, non-specific, and non-blinded studies of low quality 2444 could be included for supporting a recommendation on acupuncture.
- 2445 It was therefore concluded that based on the current literature, no recommendation can be made2446 about the use of acupuncture to improve quality of life and reduce pain in women with2447 endometriosis.
- 2448 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (questionII.6)

II.6.b Physical therapies

2452 II.6.b.1 Physiotherapy, massage, and trigger point release therapy

Physiotherapy is not 'a treatment' in itself but a profession addressing human movement and function affected by injury or disease. Consequently, approaches and therapeutic options may vary.

2455 Pelvic health physiotherapists (often based in Women's health settings) may focus specifically on

pelvic floor dysfunction, such as bladder, bowel, sexual and musculoskeletal issues. 2456 Physiotherapists are likely to support women with activity management such as exercises, pacing 2457 strategies and goal setting. When working with persistent pelvic pain conditions, it becomes more 2458 important to identify fears, beliefs and other psychological issues including social barriers. 2459 Physiotherapists working in pain management are likely to have developed further skills in 2460 behavioural approaches and multidisciplinary working focussing less on the end organ or tissue 2461 2462 dysfunction, and more on responses in the nervous system and quality of life. As such, it is very 2463 difficult to extract specific components of physiotherapy treatments as the human interaction, 2464 communication skills and patient centred care will affect all interventions.

It is commonly assumed that physiotherapist can 'release' tight muscles and thereby reduce pain using passive approaches such as massage and trigger point release therapy. However, a literature review of trigger point manual therapy (TPMT) for reducing chronic noncancer pain found 2 pelvic pain trials that met the inclusion criteria (Denneny, *et al.*, 2019). These studies did not demonstrate any significant reduction in pain compared to general massage (as control intervention), and overall, the review concluded that trigger point therapy cannot be recommended for chronic pain.

In a review about physiotherapy in women with pelvic pain, it was concluded that
recommendations for physiotherapy should be given with caution. The review found six RCTs with
significant heterogeneity and often combined with psychological and medical management
making it impossible to establish the 'stand alone' value of physiotherapy input. (Loving, *et al.*, 2012).

- Two studies were retrieved evaluating manipulations and massage for relief of endometriosisassociated pain, but both were of too low quality to support any recommendations (Darai, *et al.*,
- 2477 2015, Valiani, *et al.*, 2010).

2478 II.6.b.2 Exercise

Exercise has a large range of benefits including improvement in mental health and decreased risk of a large number of medical conditions as described and recommended by WHO (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity). Supporting patients staying active and exercising are key elements of pain management programmes (British Pain Society, 2019) for people with persistent pain conditions, but the research into the specific effects on exercise on endometriosis has not been well documented.

A Cochrane review on dysmenorrhea (not specific for endometriosis) found low-quality evidence suggesting that exercise, performed at least three times per week for about 45 to 60 minutes, regardless of intensity, may provide a clinically significant reduction in menstrual pain intensity of around 25 mm on a 100 mm VAS. Given the overall health benefits of exercise, and the relatively low risk of side effects reported in the general population, women may consider using exercise, either alone or in conjunction with other treatments (Armour, *et al.*, 2019a).

- Bonocher et al could not make any firm recommendations from their literature review on 2491 endometriosis and physical exercises as included studies reported a mixture of outcomes. They 2492 primarily examined the risk of recurrence of endometriosis and were not able to draw any 2493 conclusion regarding pain relief or quality of life measures. The 6 studies included were poor 2494 quality, did not include any randomised controlled trials and 4 were case studies (Bonocher, et al., 2495 2014). One of the included studies, looked at various forms of physical activity in a retrospective 2496 study and concluded that there is a link between increased physical activity and less effectiveness 2497 from medication. They theorised that it may be related to the pain-relieving effect of exercise itself 2498 which meant patients found the medication did not have the same effectiveness (Koppan, et al., 2499 2500 2010).
- Awad *et al* looked at posture, stretch and relaxation classes but demonstrated only a trend towards pain relief with no control group (Awad, *et al.*, 2017). Goncalves *et al* used yoga as the primary intervention, in a small sample of 16 patients doing yoga and 12 patients receiving medication and one individual physiotherapy session per week (Goncalves, *et al.*, 2017). The study did show that the yoga group improved more in terms of pain relief and quality of life, but 12 patients dropped out as they could not commit to the 2 months of 4 weekly hours of yoga. The improvements may also be related to the effect of being in a group (Goncalves, *et al.*, 2016).

- It was encouraging that it demonstrated that following people with endometriosis over the years demonstrate that over 80% report improvement in symptoms but the variety of activity that were reported means no recommendations or conclusions can be drawn from that study. Carpenter *et al* similarly found that patients taking danazol reported less side-effects when they exercised, but no change in reported pain levels (Carpenter, *et al.*, 1995).
- 2513 Conclusion
- In summary and based on the current literature, no recommendation can be made about physical
 therapies or exercise and their benefit with regards to improving quality of life and reducing pain in
 women with endometriosis
- Overall, evidence is very poor for benefit of physiotherapy in women with pelvic pain, and adverse events are unclear. Additionally, it is very difficult to extract specific components of physiotherapy interventions as the human interaction, communication skills and patient centred care will affect all interventions. As such, no recommendation was formulated on physiotherapy, massage, and trigger point release therapy.
- For exercise and activity, there is also insufficient literature to make a firm conclusion of its benefit for relieving chronic pelvic pain or endometriosis-related pain. However, exercise and activity are
- 2524 considered part of a healthy lifestyle in general. The GDG decided a cautious recommendation,2525 with a note on the need for further studies.
- 2526 Further information
- 2527 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 2528 II.7)

II.6.c Electrotherapy

- A Cochrane review on Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain (not endometriosis specific) concluded that published literature on the subject lacks the methodological rigour or robust reporting needed to make confident assessments of the role of TENS in chronic pain management. (Nnoaham and Kumbang, 2008).
- 2534 One RCT looked at electrotherapy using self-applied TENS and acupuncture-like TENS for 2535 treatment of chronic pelvic pain and deep dyspareunia in women with deep endometriosis. (Mira, 2536 *et al.*, 2015). It demonstrated that both groups had significant improvements in terms of stress 2537 reduction and improvements in quality of life apart from sexual function on EHP-30.
- Bi *et al* treated 83 women with endometriosis with neuromuscular electrical stimulation and compared their outcomes after 10 weeks to 71 patients on a waiting list (Bi and Xie, 2018). No improvements were detected after 5 weeks, but after 10 weeks there was a statistically significant difference in pain on a numerical scale, Endometriosis Symptom Severity Scale and SF-36 in favour of the treatment group.
- Thabet *et al* examined the effect of pulsed high-intensity laser therapy (3 sessions per week for 8 weeks) compared to sham laser treatment, both in addition to standard hormonal treatment in 2 groups of 20 women with endometriosis (Thabet and Alshehri, 2018). 85% of patients in the active treatment group reported 'complete' or 'excellent' pain relief, and there was a significant increase
- in quality of life on Endometriosis Health profile (EHP-5).
- For all 3 studies, the conclusions should be considered with caution based on the design of the studies and the small number of patients included.
- In summary, no recommendation can be made based on these studies regarding electrotherapy and the effect on quality of life or pain in women with endometriosis.
- 2552 Further information
- 2553 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question2554 II.6).

2555 II.6.d Psychological interventions

Overall, 4 papers (3 reviews and 1 RCT) were included that considered the impact of psychological interventions for symptoms associated with endometriosis (and/or in addition to surgery/other medical treatment). Trials were designed with different methodologies and based on different psychological frameworks and types of intervention. Although it is possible to investigate the validated outcomes (e.g., pain, quality of life, infertility, anxiety, and depression), it is also difficult to separate effects, as these outcomes may overlap and interact.

2562 The three reviews did not yield conclusive findings. Buggio et al., in a narrative review, discussed the importance of integrating psychological interventions, including psychotherapy, in 2563 endometriosis treatment (among diet, dietary supplements, physical exercise, osteopathy, 2564 2565 massage, acupuncture, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, and Chinese herbal medicine. 2566 sexual therapy) (Buggio, et al., 2017). The authors suggest that women may benefit from 2567 supportive-expressive psychotherapeutic interventions (either individual or in group) aimed at facilitating the expression of deepest thoughts and feelings about endometriosis, as well as at 2568 2569 empowering their female identity. Van Niekerk et al. did a systematic review, with narrative data synthesis, on psychological interventions for endometriosis-related symptoms. They found 11 full-2570 text studies that met the inclusion criteria, although the overall quality of studies was found to be 2571 'weak', with a 'high' risk of bias (Van Niekerk, et al., 2019). Evans et al. did a systematic review on 2572 psychological and mind-body interventions for endometriosis. They included 12 full-text studies, 2573 which overlap with the studies included by Van Niekerk, with exception of two qualitative studies. 2574 The reviewers also note that no study has used gold-standard methodology, thus limiting the 2575 2576 validity.

As no meta-analysis was performed, relevant individual studies included in the review are described below (Beissner, *et al.*, 2017, Hansen, *et al.*, 2017, Lorençatto, *et al.*, 2007, Meissner, *et al.*, 2010, Meissner, *et al.*, 2016).

The first study was of moderate quality and randomized patients with a history of endometriosis and chronic pelvic pain to either psychotherapy with somatosensory stimulation or waiting list control for 3 months (Meissner, *et al.*, 2016). In comparison with waiting list controls, treated patients showed improvements after 3 months in maximal and average global pain, pelvic pain, dyschezia, physical quality of life and mental quality of life. Improvements in the intervention group remained stable at 6 and 24 months, and control patients showed comparable symptom relief after delayed intervention.

Beissner *et al.* conducted a randomized controlled trial, including 67 patients with severe endometriosis-associated pain randomly allocated to a novel combination of psychotherapy and somatosensory stimulation (35 patients) or waiting list control (32 patients) (Beissner, *et al.*, 2017). Resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging was used to assess brain connectivity of these patients at baseline, after 3 months of therapy, and after 6 months. The analysis focused on the hippocampus. Regression analysis showed that reduction in connectivity predicted therapyinduced improvement in patients' anxiety.

Another study included in this review supported multidisciplinary group interventions in reducing pain and depression (Lorençatto, *et al.*, 2007). This was supported by Hansen *et al* who looked at long term outcomes after a 10-week psychological mindfulness-based programme. They found sustainable improvements on almost all scales of the endometriosis specific questionnaire EHP-30 and the generic form SF-36 in a six-year follow-up on the pilot study with 10 women (Hansen, *et al.*, 2017).

Two additional studies were retrieved from the literature. Friggi Sebe Petrelluzzi *et al.* studied 26 women with endometriosis and chronic pelvic pain. Participants took part in a therapeutic protocol involving physical and psychological therapy of 2.5-h sessions, once a week for 10 weeks. (Friggi Sebe Petrelluzzi, *et al.*, 2012). Treatment was effective in reducing perceived stress, normalizing cortisol levels, increasing vitality and improving physical functioning, but no control group was included. Farshi *et al.* conducted an RCT to determine the effects of selfcare counselling on depression, anxiety and on quality of life with 76 women with endometriosis. Participants were
2607 randomly assigned to either intervention group (seven weekly self-care group counselling sessions) or control group. Participants were interviewed by the researcher before and after 4 2608 weeks using BDI, STAI and SF-36 Quality of Life Questionnaire. Women in the counselling group 2609 showed significant lower anxiety values and a significantly higher quality of life after the 2610 intervention, compared to the control group. However, participants were included up to 5 years 2611 after their (laparoscopic) diagnosis, the majority indicated their post endometriosis treatment 2612 condition as "recovered" and no current symptoms were collected; thus limiting the significance of 2613 the found efficacy. 2614

In summary, no recommendations can be made regarding the effectiveness of psychological
approaches to improve pain and quality of life in women with endometriosis. However, it is vital
that clinicians are aware of the psychological impact of living with pain, infertility and functional
pelvic issues and consider what access there is to psychological support.

Overall, 2 reviews and 2 additional studies were included that considered the impact of 2619 psychological interventions for symptoms associated with endometriosis (and/or in addition to 2620 surgery/other medical treatment). The findings in both reviews regarding the effectiveness of 2621 psychological and mind-body interventions for endometriosis-related symptoms remain 2622 2623 inconclusive. Mostly, the studies were of low quality. Trials were designed with different methodologies and based on different psychological frameworks and types of intervention. 2624 Although it is possible to investigate the various outcomes (e.g., pain, quality of life, infertility, 2625 anxiety, and depression) separately, it is also difficult to separate effects, as these outcomes may 2626 overlap and interact. 2627

2628 Further information

2629 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 2630 II.6)

2631 II.6.e Nutrition and Traditional Chinese Medicine

2632 II.6.e.1. Nutrition

There has been much postulation that diet may affect endometriosis symptoms, which may be based on observation that diet can affect several processes such as inflammation, prostaglandin metabolism and estrogen activity. Still, there are very limited studies, of limited quality, evaluating the benefit of dietary interventions and their effect on endometriosis symptoms.

2637 A review by Hansen et al, included six studies reporting that omega-3 fatty acids have a positive effect on dysmenorrhoea with reduced pain intensity, duration, and lower use of painkillers 2638 (Hansen and Knudsen, 2013). In the review of Huijs and Nap, 4 studies were included, all showing 2639 2640 significantly decreased pain scores after use of fatty acids, which were not found in controls (Huijs and Nap, 2020). With regards to vitamin D, the review included 2 studies with opposite results. A 2641 small more recent RCT comparing the effect of a vitamin D supplement, fish oil (Omega-3 fatty 2642 acids supplement) and placebo, on pain scores, reported a significant improvement in pain scores 2643 after vitamin D supplementation, but reported a similar effect in the placebo group (Nodler, et al., 2644 2020). A more modest improvement was observed in patients receiving fish oil. 2645

- The review of Huijs and Nap. further reported that antioxidants, gluten, and soy were not well studied. They concluded that nutrients with direct or indirect anti-inflammatory properties might have an effect on endometriosis-related pain, but evidence is not yet available for development of a specific endometriosis diet (Huijs and Nap, 2020).
- When looking at the literature for diet it must be kept in mind that women with endometriosis may change their diets to ameliorate the symptoms. With regards to dietary intake, the study of Savaris *et al* found a significantly lower intake of poly unsaturated fatty acids and a significantly higher intake of fibre in women with endometriosis (Savaris and do Amaral, 2011). In the same study, the authors did not find any difference in antioxidants in the diet of women with or without endometriosis, whereas Mier-Cabrera in a reasonable sized study (n=163) found lower dietary intake of antioxidants A, C and E in women with endometriosis (Mier-Cabrera, *et al.*, 2009).

- 2657 The study of Schink et al, provides a detailed and differentiated analysis of the nutrient intake in women with endometriosis and controls, as well as information on food intolerances, allergies, and 2658 gastrointestinal symptoms. The study showed a higher prevalence of food intolerances (25.6% vs 2659 7,7%) and allergies (57% vs 31%) and gastrointestinal symptoms (77% vs 29%) compared to controls. 2660 The nutrient intake of patients with endometriosis also differed significantly compared to controls 2661 with lower intake of animal proteins, vitamin C, vitamin B12 and magnesium. The authors suggested 2662 that a dietary intervention by a professional nutritionist may help to reduce disease burden in 2663 women with endometriosis (Schink, et al., 2019). 2664
- Finally, the data of a qualitative study provides insight in the motivation of women with endometriosis (n=12) to make and maintain dietary changes (Vennberg Karlsson, *et al.*, 2020). The participants made individual dietary changes, mainly consisting of excluding or decreasing their intake of gluten, dairy products and increasing their intake of carbohydrates, and increasing fruit, vegetables, and fish. From a thematic analysis, the authors concluded that the participants experienced decreased symptoms of endometriosis (pain and fatigue) and gained a greater understanding of their bodies after making individual dietary changes.

2672 II.6.e.2. Traditional Chinese Medicine

- The evidence for Chinese Medicine (CM) from the reviewed literature was not robust and studies were generally poorly constructed. There is the associated problem with European clinicians applying CM therapy in a Western medical setting. Only two studies were reviewed as they were better quality, but both had a high dropout rate, thus rendered the study by Flower *et al* too small to apply any statistical analysis (Flower, *et al.*, 2011). The second study did not find any significant difference between the pain scores in the two groups CM and diet however there was no blinding
- 2679 and no placebo (Zhao, *et al.*, 2013)
- 2680

In summary, based on the current literature, no recommendation can be made about the use of nutrition or Traditional Chinese Medicine to improve quality of life and reduce pain in women with endometriosis. Based on a few studies clinicians may suggest fish oils as an alternative to more harmful anti-inflammatories.

- The literature and research into Chinese Medicine are primarily concerned with interventions and outcomes that are not commonly used in Western medicine. The studies are very heterogeneous and no recommendations can be made. With regards to nutrition, data are summarized in well constructed systematic review, but the included data is derived from small studies without proper controls, limiting meta-analysis and any firm conclusions.
- 2690 Further information
- 2691 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 2692 II.6)
- 2693 Overall recommendation

The GDG recommends that clinicians discuss non-medical strategies to address quality of life and psychological well-being in women managing symptoms of endometriosis. However, no recommendations can be made for any specific nonmedical intervention (Chinese medicine, nutrition, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy, exercise, and psychological interventions) to reduce pain or improve quality of life measures in women with endometriosis, as the potential benefits and harms are unclear.

GPP

2694 Justification

Though there is a lack of research specifically addressing the impact of non-medical strategies in the treatment of endometriosis-related symptoms, more studies are emerging. It seems evident that women are searching for alternative ways of managing and coping without or alongside surgical and pharmacological interventions.

- 2699 Women diagnosed with a condition with an unclear aetiology and prognosis can experience life 2700 changing consequences reporting pelvic pain, painful periods and subfertility often needing long term support to manage and cope (NICE, 2017). Given the lack of literature mentioned above, it 2701 2702 would seem reasonable to draw on some of the recommendations in chronic pelvic pain. EAU guidelines (2018) strongly recommend the provision of a multidisciplinary approach to pain 2703 management in the gynaecological aspect of the management of chronic pelvic pain. It is important 2704 that women with endometriosis have options addressing psychological, sexual, and physical 2705 factors to improve quality of life even when pain cannot be reduced. No specific pain management 2706 2707 programmes for endometriosis have been identified, and the very limited literature supporting specific programmes for pelvic pain do not include any trials but show a trend of improvements in 2708 both pain and quality of life measures in small samples pre- and post intervention. 2709
- This highlights the importance of giving the woman the opportunity to gain information about nonmedical strategies in specialist pain management services with the expertise in managing complex abdomino-pelvic pain, and the potential benefits of local support groups which is also recommended by NICE (2017).
- 2714 Research recommendation
- 2715 Adequately designed trials are needed to define the potential benefits of non-medical
- interventions (nutrition, Chinese medicine, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy, exercise,
- and psychological interventions) in endometriosis.
- Further research into such interventions for women with endometriosis that employ evidencebased protocols with high intervention integrity is recommended.
- 2720 References
- Armour M, Ee CC, Naidoo D, Ayati Z, Chalmers KJ, Steel KA, de Manincor MJ, Delshad E. Exercise for dysmenorrhoea. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019a.
- Armour M, Sinclair J, Chalmers KJ, Smith CA. Self-management strategies amongst Australian women with endometriosis: a national online survey. *BMC Complement Altern Med* 2019b;19: 17.
- Awad E, Ahmed HAH, Yousef A, Abbas R. Efficacy of exercise on pelvic pain and posture associated with endometriosis: within subject design. *J Phys Ther Sci* 2017;29: 2112-2115.
- Barlow JH, Wright CC, Turner AP, Bancroft GV. A 12-month follow-up study of self-management training for
 people with chronic disease: are changes maintained over time? *Br J Health Psychol* 2005;10: 589-599.
- Beissner F, Preibisch C, Schweizer-Arau A, Popovici RM, Meissner K. Psychotherapy With Somatosensory
 Stimulation for Endometriosis-Associated Pain: The Role of the Anterior Hippocampus. *Biol Psychiatry* 2017;84:
 734-742.
- Bi XL, Xie CX. Effect of neuromuscular electrical stimulation for endometriosis-associated pain: A retrospective study. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2018;97: e11266.
- Bonocher CM, Montenegro ML, Rosa ESJC, Ferriani RA, Meola J. Endometriosis and physical exercises: a systematic review. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2014;12: 4.
- 2736British Pain Society. Guidelines for Pain Management Programmes for adults. An evidence based review2737preparedonbehalfoftheBritishPainSociety.
- 2738 <u>https://wwwbritishpainsocietyorg/static/uploads/resources/files/Guidelines_for_PMP_01082019_xc33xiN</u>
 2739 <u>pdf</u> 2019.
- Buggio L, Barbara G, Facchin F, Frattaruolo MP, Aimi G, Berlanda N. Self-management and psychologicalsexological interventions in patients with endometriosis: strategies, outcomes, and integration into clinical
 care. *Int J Womens Health* 2017;9: 281-293.
- 2743 Carpenter SE, Tjaden B, Rock JA, Kimball A. The effect of regular exercise on women receiving danazol for 2744 treatment of endometriosis. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1995;49: 299-304.
- 2745 Cox H, Henderson L, Wood R, Cagliarini G. Learning to take charge: women's experiences of living with 2746 endometriosis. *Complement Ther Nurs Midwifery* 2003;9: 62-68.
- Darai C, Deboute O, Zacharopoulou C, Laas E, Canlorbe G, Belghiti J, Zilberman S, Ballester M, Darai E. Impact
 of osteopathic manipulative therapy on quality of life of patients with deep infiltrating endometriosis with
 colorectal involvement: results of a pilot study. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2015;188: 70-73.
- Denneny D, Frawley HC, Petersen K, McLoughlin R, Brook S, Hassan S, Williams AC. Trigger Point Manual
 Therapy for the Treatment of Chronic Noncancer Pain in Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2019;100: 562-577.

- 2753Dunselman GA, Vermeulen N, Becker C, Calhaz-Jorge C, D'Hooghe T, De Bie B, Heikinheimo O, Horne AW,2754Kiesel L, Nap A *et al.* ESHRE guideline: management of women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2014;29: 400-
- 2755 412.
- Flower A, Lewith GT, Little P. A feasibility study exploring the role of Chinese herbal medicine in the treatment of endometriosis. *J Altern Complement Med* 2011;17: 691-699.
- Friggi Sebe Petrelluzzi K, Garcia MC, Petta CA, Ribeiro DA, de Oliveira Monteiro NR, Cespedes IC, Spadari RC.
 Physical therapy and psychological intervention normalize cortisol levels and improve vitality in women with
 endometriosis. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol* 2012;33: 191-198.
- 2761 Goncalves AV, Barros NF, Bahamondes L. The Practice of Hatha Yoga for the Treatment of Pain Associated 2762 with Endometriosis. *J Altern Complement Med* 2017;23: 45-52.
- Goncalves AV, Makuch MY, Setubal MS, Barros NF, Bahamondes L. A Qualitative Study on the Practice of Yoga
 for Women with Pain-Associated Endometriosis. *J Altern Complement Med* 2016;22: 977-982.
- Greco CD. Management of adolescent chronic pelvic pain from endometriosis: a pain center perspective. J
 Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2003;16: S17-19.
- Hansen KE, Kesmodel US, Kold M, Forman A. Long-term effects of mindfulness-based psychological
 intervention for coping with pain in endometriosis: a six-year follow-up on a pilot study. *Nordic Psychology*2017;69: 100-109.
- Hansen SO, Knudsen UB. Endometriosis, dysmenorrhoea and diet. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2013;169:
 162-171.
- Horne AW, Saunders PTK, Abokhrais IM, Hogg L. Top ten endometriosis research priorities in the UK and Ireland. *Lancet* 2017;389: 2191-2192.
- Huijs E, Nap A. The effects of nutrients on symptoms in women with endometriosis: a systematic review.
 Reprod Biomed Online 2020;41: 317-328.
- Koppan A, Hamori J, Vranics I, Garai J, Kriszbacher I, Bodis J, Rebek-Nagy G, Koppan M. Pelvic pain in
 endometriosis: painkillers or sport to alleviate symptoms? *Acta Physiol Hung* 2010;97: 234-239.
- Lorençatto C, Vieira MJ, Marques A, Benetti-Pinto CL, Petta CA. [Evaluation of pain and depression in women
 with endometriosis after a multi- professional group intervention]. *Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992)* 2007;53: 433438.
- Loving S, Nordling J, Jaszczak P, Thomsen T. Does evidence support physiotherapy management of adult female chronic pelvic pain? A systematic review. *Scand J Pain* 2012;3: 70-81.
- Lund I, Lundeberg T. Is acupuncture effective in the treatment of pain in endometriosis? *J Pain Res* 2016;9:
 157-165.
- 2785 Meissner K, Bohling B, Schweizer-Arau A. Long-term effects of traditional Chinese medicine and 2786 hypnotherapy in patients with severe endometriosis--a retrospective evaluation. *Forsch Komplementmed* 2787 2010;17: 314-320.
- 2788 Meissner K, Schweizer-Arau A, Limmer A, Preibisch C, Popovici RM, Lange I, de Oriol B, Beissner F. 2789 Psychotherapy With Somatosensory Stimulation for Endometriosis-Associated Pain: A Randomized 2790 Controlled Trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2016;128: 1134-1142.
- 2791 Mier-Cabrera J, Aburto-Soto T, Burrola-Mendez S, Jimenez-Zamudio L, Tolentino MC, Casanueva E, 2792 Hernandez-Guerrero C. Women with endometriosis improved their peripheral antioxidant markers after the 2793 application of a high antioxidant diet. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2009;7: 54.
- Mira TA, Giraldo PC, Yela DA, Benetti-Pinto CL. Effectiveness of complementary pain treatment for women
 with deep endometriosis through Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS): randomized controlled
 trial. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2015;194: 1-6.
- Nnoaham KE, Kumbang J. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008: Cd003222.
- 2799 Nodler JL, DiVasta AD, Vitonis AF, Karevicius S, Malsch M, Sarda V, Fadayomi A, Harris HR, Missmer SA. 2800 Supplementation with vitamin D or ω -3 fatty acids in adolescent girls and young women with endometriosis 2801 (SAGE): a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2020;112: 229-236.
- Rubi-Klein K, Kucera-Sliutz E, Nissel H, Bijak M, Stockenhuber D, Fink M, Wolkenstein E. Is acupuncture in addition to conventional medicine effective as pain treatment for endometriosis? A randomised controlled cross-over trial. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2010;153: 90-93.
- 2805 Savaris AL, do Amaral VF. Nutrient intake, anthropometric data and correlations with the systemic antioxidant 2806 capacity of women with pelvic endometriosis. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2011;158: 314-318.
- 2807 Schink M, Konturek PC, Herbert SL, Renner SP, Burghaus S, Blum S, Fasching PA, Neurath MF, Zopf Y. Different 2808 nutrient intake and prevalence of gastrointestinal comorbidities in women with endometriosis. *J Physiol*
- 2809 *Pharmacol* 2019;70.

- 2810 Schwartz ASK, Gross E, Geraedts K, Rauchfuss M, Wolfler MM, Haberlin F, von Orelli S, Eberhard M, Imesch P, 2811 Imphurn B et al. The use of home remedies and complementary health approaches in endometriosis. Reprod 2812 Biomed Online 2019;38: 260-271.
- Thabet AAE, Alshehri MA. Effect of Pulsed High-Intensity Laser Therapy on Pain, Adhesions, and Quality of 2813 2814 Life in Women Having Endometriosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Photomed Laser Surg 2018;36: 363-369.

Valiani M, Ghasemi N, Bahadoran P, Heshmat R. The effects of massage therapy on dysmenorrhea caused by 2815 2816 endometriosis. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2010;15: 167-171.

- 2817 Van Niekerk L. Weaver-Pirie B. Matthewson M. Psychological interventions for endometriosis-related symptoms: a systematic review with narrative data synthesis. Arch Womens Ment Health 2019;22: 723-735. 2818
- 2819 Vennberg Karlsson J, Patel H, Premberg A. Experiences of health after dietary changes in endometriosis: a 2820 qualitative interview study. BMJ Open 2020;10: e032321.
- 2821 Wayne PM, Kerr CE, Schnyer RN, Legedza AT, Savetsky-German J, Shields MH, Buring JE, Davis RB, Conboy LA, Highfield E et al. Japanese-style acupuncture for endometriosis-related pelvic pain in adolescents and 2822 young women: results of a randomized sham-controlled trial. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2008;21: 247-257. 2823
- Xiang D, Situ Y, Liang X, Cheng L, Zhang G. Ear acupuncture therapy for 37 cases of dysmenorrhea due to 2824 endometriosis. J Tradit Chin Med 2002;22: 282-285. 2825
- 2826 Xu Y, Zhao W, Li T, Zhao Y, Bu H, Song S. Effects of acupuncture for the treatment of endometriosis-related 2827 pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2017;12: e0186616.
- Zhao RH, Liu Y, Tan Y, Hao ZP, Meng QW, Wang R, Long D, Ding YF, Song DR, Xu C et al. Chinese medicine 2828
- improves postoperative quality of life in endometriosis patients: a randomized controlled trial. Chin J Integr 2829 2830 Med 2013;19: 15-21.
- Zhu X, Hamilton KD, McNicol ED. Acupuncture for pain in endometriosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011: 2831 2832 Cd007864.

JRAFFORR

2833

III. Treatment of endometriosis-associated infertility

2836 Women with endometriosis are confronted with one or both of two major problems: 2837 endometriosis associated pain, infertility, or both. For clarity, the GDG decided to separately 2838 discuss the evidence on pain as the outcome in chapter II; infertility as an outcome is addressed 2839 in this chapter.

For the literature searches, the outcomes included were live birth rate, pregnancy rate, multiple pregnancy rate, miscarriage rate, ectopic pregnancy, teratogenicity, and side effects of treatment. It should be noted that although live birth rate is the most relevant outcome, most studies only report on (biochemical or clinical) pregnancy rates. An increase in pregnancy rate could be an indication of live birth rate but does not necessarily translate to an increase in this outcome.

This chapter deals with treatments (medical, surgical, non-pharmacological) for endometriosisassociated infertility, that is, treatments that improve the spontaneous pregnancy rate. Medically assisted reproduction and adjunctive treatments are discussed in section III.4. The impact of endometriosis on pregnancy and obstetric outcome will also be discussed, as well as indications for ART after surgery, and indications for fertility preservation.

2850 III.1. Medical treatment

2851 **PICO** QUESTION: ARE HORMONAL/MEDICAL THERAPIES EFFECTIVE FOR TREATMENT OF 2852 ENDOMETRIOSIS-ASSOCIATED INFERTILITY?

2853 Ill.1.a. Ovarian suppression

The question as to whether hormonal therapy has any role in the treatment of endometriosis associated infertility has been thoroughly evaluated in a systematic Cochrane review (Hughes, *et al.*, 2007). The review does not evaluate individual hormonal treatments used in the treatment of pain associated with endometriosis but considers as a group all therapies that result in ovarian suppression. Thus, strictly speaking, the assessment is confined to the role of ovarian suppression as a therapeutic modality to improve fertility.

- In the analysis evaluating the effect on (clinical) pregnancy rate after the use of any ovulation 2860 suppression agent versus placebo or no treatment 12 trials were included. The review reported 88 2861 2862 pregnancies in 420 women who received an ovarian suppression agent compared with 84 2863 pregnancies in 413 women receiving no treatment or placebo, and thus concluded that there is no evidence of benefit on pregnancy outcomes, although data on live birth are not available. The OR 2864 2865 for pregnancy across trials was 0.97 (95%CI 0.68 to 1.37) for all women randomized, and 1.02 (95%CI 2866 0.69 to 1.50) for women clearly identified as subfertile (80 pregnancies in 287 women receiving 2867 treatment vs 73 in 270 controls) omen receiving placebo or no treatment). Furthermore, also other 2868 comparisons (all ovarian suppression agents versus placebo or no treatment, all drugs with the exception of danazol versus placebo or no treatment, danazol versus other ovarian suppression, 2869 GnRH agonists versus oral contraceptives) failed to show any differences in pregnancy rate, even 2870 2871 though the authors stated that there is a reasonable body of evidence with little inconsistency and minimal evidence of heterogeneity. The published evidence does not report on more severe 2872 2873 disease, as well as on live birth since surrogate markers were evaluated only. Similarly, there is a significant lack of reported data on adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as miscarriage and ectopic 2874 pregnancy. Most included articles were published before 2000, but also at a revision in April 2009 2875 2876 no new relevant data were identified, and the review was therefore closed and will no longer be 2877 updated.
- Thus, it is clear that as sole treatment for endometriosis-associated infertility, recognized therapies that suppress ovulation in general are ineffective and should not be used.

2880 Recommendations

In infertile women with endometriosis, clinicians should not prescribe ovarian suppression treatment to improve fertility. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

2881 Justification

Based on the results of the Cochrane review, suppression of ovarian function (by means of
danazol, GnRH agonists, progestogens, OCP) to improve fertility in women with endometriosis is
not effective and should not be offered for this indication alone (strong recommendation).

2885 It should be noted that several patients included in the Hughes review had undergone surgical
2886 treatment before randomization for ovarian suppression or no treatment. This observation
2887 complicates any recommendations regarding ovarian suppression and post-surgical ovarian
2888 suppression, discussed in the following section.

2889 Further information

2890 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question2891 III.1)

2892 III.1.b. Hormonal or medical therapies as an adjunct to surgical therapy

- 2893 Although ovarian suppression in general does not appear to have an advantage on subsequent fertility as pointed out above, and surgery does increase natural fertility (see III.1.a), it is still of 2894 interest to evaluate whether in the perioperative period ovarian suppression may have an added 2895 2896 benefit. The effectiveness of medical therapies for hormonal suppression before, after, or both before and after therapeutic surgery for endometriosis for increasing pregnancy rates (next to for 2897 improving painful symptoms and reducing disease recurrence) has been assessed in a Cochrane 2898 review by Chen and colleagues (Chen, et al., 2020), which included a total of 25 trials in 3378 women 2899 with endometriosis. This review replaces the one by Furness et al cited in the previous version of 2900 this guideline, and it considered RCTs on any form of systemic medical therapy for hormonal 2901 suppression (GnRH agonist, danazol, OCP, progestogens, gestrinone or combinations) at any 2902 dosage for a period of at least three months before or after surgery. 2903
- The effect of pre-surgical (hormonal suppression) medical therapy for the improvement of pregnancy rates - as compared to surgery alone - was found to be uncertain (RR 1.18, 95%Cl 0.97 to 1.45), as it was based on only one RCT (n=262) of very low quality (Chen, *et al.*, 2020).
- The difference in pregnancy rate between postsurgical and presurgical medical hormonal suppression therapy in the review by Chen *et al* was found to be uncertain (RR 1.08, 95%CI 0.90 to 1.30: 1 RCT, 273 patients). The evidence suggests that if the pregnancy rate is assumed to be 60% among women with postsurgical medical hormonal suppression alone, the chance following presurgical medical hormonal suppression would be between 54% and 78%. No trials were identified to compare pre- and postsurgical medical therapy with surgery alone or post-surgical medical therapy (Chen, *et al.*, 2020).
- The review by Chen *et al* concludes that surgery plus medical therapy probably increases pregnancy rate compared to surgery plus placebo or no medical therapy (RR 1.19, 95%Cl 1.02 to 1.38; 11 RCTs, 955 patients; l2=27%). This suggests that if the chance of pregnancy following surgery is 34%, the chance following surgery and postsurgical medical therapy would be between 35% and 48% (Chen, *et al.*, 2020). The review included studies assessing pregnancy rates after natural conception and MAR, they did not report on time to pregnancy, nor on the duration of hormonal treatment.
- 2921 Recommendations

Women seeking pregnancy should not be prescribed postoperative hormonal suppression with the sole purpose to enhance future pregnancy rates. $\Phi\PhiOO$

2922

Those women who cannot attempt to or decide not to conceive immediately after surgery should be offered hormonal therapy as it does not negatively impact their fertility and improves the immediate outcome of surgery for pain. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

2923 Justification

Although the review by Chen concludes that there is moderate quality evidence supporting 2924 postsurgical medical therapy for improving pregnancy rates, this evidence should be interpreted 2925 with caution. Firstly, the review provides indirect evidence for the current question, as the meta-2926 analysis includes studies reporting on pregnancy rates after both spontaneous conception and 2927 2928 MAR, while the PICO focusses specifically on natural conception rates. The evidence was downgraded for indirectness. Secondly, rather than pregnancy rates, the total time to pregnancy 2929 should be considered as the primary outcome. Chen et al acknowledges that women with 2930 subfertility due to endometriosis may not accept treatment that may reduce or delay their chance 2931 of conceiving after a surgical treatment. It is clear that a delayed start of attempted conception due 2932 to hormonal suppression should be considered in decision-making. Thirdly, the GDG challenges 2933 the conclusion of the review and considers the reported RR of 1.19 (1.02 to 1.38), should be 2934 interpreted as evidence of no harm of ovarian suppression after surgery rather than benefit. Finally, 2935 2936 the GDG questions the quality of some of the included studies in the review.

Based on these considerations, the GDG considered that ovarian suppression after surgical treatment for endometriosis should not be prescribed to improve pregnancy rates (strong recommendation). The GDG also considered that ovarian suppression after surgical treatment does probably not have a negative effect on the chances of pregnancy, and therefore, it should be prescribed for pain management, or in women that cannot attempt to conceive immediately after surgery, but not with the sole aim of improving pregnancy rates (strong recommendation).

2943 Further information

2944 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 2945 III.1)

2946 III.1.c. Other medical treatments

As endometriosis is associated with inflammation, anti-inflammatory drugs are potentially of 2947 interest to be evaluated as an alternative approach. The effects of pentoxifylline, which has anti-2948 inflammatory properties, in subfertile premenopausal women were evaluated in a Cochrane 2949 systematic review of 2009 with update (and closure) in 2011 for the management of endometriosis 2950 (Lu, et al., 2012). In this review, based on three RCTS in 67 patients, there was no evidence of an 2951 increase in clinical pregnancies in the pentoxifylline group compared with placebo (OR 1.54; 95%CI 2952 0.89 to 266), no trials reported the effects of pentoxifylline on the odds of live birth rate, 2953 2954 improvement of endometriosis-related symptoms, or adverse events.

Since endometriosis is an estrogen-dependent disease, Alborzi et al. performed a RCT to assess 2955 the effect of the anti-estrogen letrozole on natural pregnancy rates after surgical treatment of 2956 endometriosis (Alborzi, et al., 2011). This study included 144 infertile women, randomised into 3 2957 groups: group 1 (47 cases) received letrozole for 2 months, group 2 (40 patients) received triptorelin 2958 for 2 months and group 3 (57 patients, control group) did not receive any medication. All patients 2959 2960 were followed up for at least for 12 months after restoration of a regular cycle. Pregnancy rates were similar in all groups (23.4%, 27.5% and 28.1%, resp.), the authors concluded that there was no 2961 2962 benefit of the administration of letrozole to improve pregnancy rates. Of note, it is not stated whether some patients received medically assisted reproduction treatment during the follow-up 2963 period. Also, the use of letrozole for the purpose of ovulation induction was not examined. 2964

2965

2966 Recommendation

In infertile women with endometriosis, clinicians should not prescribe pentoxifylline, other anti-inflammatory drugs or letrozole outside ovulation-induction to improve natural pregnancy rates.

000

2967 Justification

2968 Studies show no benefit of pentoxifylline, postoperative aromatase inhibitor (letrozole), or 2969 postoperative GnRH agonist (triptorelin) to improve pregnancy rates in women with endometriosis. 2970 Therefore, the intervention is not recommended (strong recommendation).

2971 Further information

2972 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 2973 III.1)

2974 References

Alborzi S, Hamedi B, Omidvar A, Dehbashi S, Alborzi S, Alborzi M. A comparison of the effect of short-term aromatase inhibitor (letrozole) and GnRH agonist (triptorelin) versus case control on pregnancy rate and symptom and sign recurrence after laparoscopic treatment of endometriosis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2011;284: 105-110.

2979 Chen I, Veth VB, Choudhry AJ, Murji A, Zakhari A, Black AY, Agarpao C, Maas JW. Pre- and postsurgical medical 2980 therapy for endometriosis surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2020;11: Cd003678.

Hughes E, Brown J, Collins JJ, Farquhar C, Fedorkow DM, Vanderkerchove P. Ovulation suppression for endometriosis for women with subfertility. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007.

Lu D, Song H, Li Y, Clarke J, Shi G. Pentoxifylline for endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012;1: 2984 Cd007677.

2985

RAFFE

2986 III.2. Surgical treatment

2989

PICO QUESTION: IN WOMEN WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS, IS SURGERY EFFECTIVE TO INCREASE THE CHANCE OF NATURAL PREGNANCY?

The question on whether surgery is effective to increase the chance of natural pregnancy was covered in a recent Cochrane review (Bafort, *et al.*, 2020). Based on moderate quality evidence from 3 RCTs, the review concluded that laparoscopic surgery increases viable intrauterine pregnancy rates confirmed by ultrasound compared to diagnostic laparoscopy only (OR 1.89; 95%Cl 1.25 to 2894 2.86).

- A similar conclusion was formulated from a recent network meta-analysis showing that pregnancy rate was significantly increased following surgical laparoscopy compared with placebo (OR 1.63; 95%CI 1.13 to 2.35) (Hodgson, *et al.*, 2020).
- Jin *et al* reported that live birth rate was significantly increased after laparoscopic surgery (relative risk [RR] 1.52; 95%Cl 1.26 to 1.84, 4 studies; 741 patients) (Jin and Ruiz Beguerie, 2014)

3000 III.2.a Peritoneal endometriosis

Although the Cochrane review does not specifically address endometriosis subtypes, it could only identify and include trials on rASRM stage I/II endometriosis (Bafort, *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, their findings could be extrapolated to peritoneal endometriosis (or at least the absence of large endometrioma and/or deep lesions with extensive adhesions). Although laparoscopic surgery was found to increase (natural) viable intrauterine pregnancy rates, no data were found on live birth rates. It should also be noted that none of the studies discussed were stratified according to the Endometriosis fertility Index (EFI).

3008 III.2.b. Ovarian endometriosis

- 3009 We did not find any RCTs comparing fertility outcomes after surgery for endometrioma in 3010 comparison with expectant management.
- A review by Alborzi *et al* reported that, based on the combined results of 8 studies, the pregnancy rate after surgery for endometrioma was 43.8% (95%Cl 22.5 to 66.4) and showed this was not significantly different from other treatments, such as surgery combined with ART, ART only or aspiration ± sclerotherapy + ART (Alborzi, *et al.*, 2019).
- Surgical treatment of endometriomas is mainly performed by 2 types of procedures: cystectomy (excision of the cyst wall) and ablation (destruction of the inner surface of the cyst wall in situ). Regarding surgical technique, a review from 2013 reported that pregnancy rates were higher in patients that underwent cystectomy when compared to fenestration/coagulation (RR 2.64; 95%CI 1.49 to 4.69) and compared to laser vaporization (RR 0.92; 95%CI 0.30 to 2.80) (Dan and Limin, 2013).
- A recent comparative study reported pregnancy rates that were similar after laparoscopic stripping technique (72.2%) or cyst vaporization with CO₂ fibre laser (74.3%). However, spontaneous pregnancy rate was higher after laparoscopic stripping (55.5% vs 35.9%) (Candiani, *et al.*, 2020).
- 3023 It should be noted that none of the studies discussed were stratified according to the EFI.

3024 III.2.c. Deep endometriosis

In a systematic review by Meuleman *et al.*, it was shown that only a minority of surgical studies on deep endometriosis (with bowel involvement) report on postoperative pregnancy rates (37%, 18/49 studies). Unfortunately, in most studies, the number of patients wishing to conceive prior to or after surgery is not clear, the distinction between active child wish, passive child wish, completed child wish and absent child wish is not made and likewise the mean period for conception following surgery and the spontaneous/assisted reproduction nature and outcome of the pregnancies are

3031 often not reported. The review of Cohen et al. reported the preoperative and postoperative spontaneous pregnancy rates in women with DE with and without bowel involvement. In women 3032 without bowel involvement, there were no data on preoperative pregnancy rates, but 3033 postoperative pregnancy rates were 50.5% (95%Cl 46.8 to 54.1). In women with DE and bowel 3034 involvement, the postoperative spontaneous pregnancy rate was 28.6% (95%Cl 25 to 32.3) (Cohen, 3035 et al., 2014). Similar data were reported by Iversen et al, who also reported a difference based on 3036 the study types, spontaneous pregnancy rate was 49% (n=136) and 21% (n=184) in 4 retrospective 3037 and 3 prospective studies respectively (Iversen, et al., 2017). 3038

Vercellini *et al.* focused on spontaneous pregnancy rates after surgery for rectovaginal and rectosigmoid endometriosis in women that were infertile before surgery. Based on 11 studies, a mean postoperative conception rate (infertile and spontaneous PR) of 24% (95%CI 20 to 28%; 123/510) was reported, while the mean postoperative conception rate was 39% (95%CI 35 to 43%; 223/571) when preoperative fertility status and IVF performance were not considered (OR 0.50, 95%CI 0.38 to 0.65%)(Vercellini, *et al.*, 2012).

Again, it should be noted that none of the studies discussed were stratified according to the EFI.

3046 Recommendations

Operative laparoscopy could be offered as a treatment option for endometriosisassociated infertility in rASRM stage I/II endometriosis as it improves the rate of ongoing pregnancy. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

3047

Clinicians may consider operative laparoscopy for the treatment of endometriomaassociated infertility as it may increase their chance of natural pregnancy, although no data from comparative studies exist. $\oplus OOO$

3048

Although no compelling evidence exists that operative laparoscopy for DE improves fertility, operative laparoscopy may represent a treatment option in symptomatic $\oplus OOO$ patients wishing to conceive.

3049

The GDG recommends that the decision to perform surgery should be guided by the presence or absence of pain symptoms, patient age and preferences, history of previous surgery, presence of other infertility factors, ovarian reserve, and estimated EFI.

3050 Justification

In the review of Bafort *et al.*, surgery in women with rASRM stage I/II endometriosis improved the rate of ongoing pregnancy. The GDG formulated a weak recommendation to offer operative laparoscopy. However, the GDG also acknowledges that data on live birth rates and direct comparison with medically assisted reproduction are lacking (Bafort, *et al.*, 2020).

- Similar considerations were made for endometrioma and deep endometriosis surgery; with a lack
 of comparative studies evaluation spontaneous conception after surgery compared to no surgery,
 no strong recommendations could be formulated.
- 3058 The GDG added clarification that the decision to perform surgery should be guided by other factors.
- The role of diagnostic laparoscopy in the context of the fertility work-up will be covered in the ESHRE Guideline on Unexplained infertility (in development).
- 3061

- 3062 Research recommendations
- 3063 In patients without a clear indication for ART, the value of surgery for ovarian and deep 3064 endometriosis and its effect on natural pregnancy rates should be evaluated. Such studies should 3065 consider patient age, endometrioma bilaterality and size, and previous surgeries.
- 3066 Further information
- 3067 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question3068 III.2)
- 3069 References
- Alborzi S, Zahiri Sorouri Z, Askari E, Poordast T, Chamanara K. The success of various endometrioma treatments in infertility: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Reprod Med Biol* 2019;18: 312-322.
- Bafort C, Beebeejaun Y, Tomassetti C, Bosteels J, Duffy JMN. Laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis.
 Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2020.
- Candiani M, Ottolina J, Schimberni M, Tandoi I, Bartiromo L, Ferrari S. Recurrence Rate after "One-Step" CO(2)
 Fiber Laser Vaporization versus Cystectomy for Ovarian Endometrioma: A 3-Year Follow-up Study. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 901-908.
- Cohen J, Thomin A, Mathieu D'Argent E, Laas E, Canlorbe G, Zilberman S, Belghiti J, Thomassin-Naggara I,
 Bazot M, Ballester M *et al.* Fertility before and after surgery for deep infiltrating endometriosis with and without
 bowel involvement: a literature review. *Minerva Ginecol* 2014;66: 575-587.
- 3081 Dan H, Limin F. Laparoscopic ovarian cystectomy versus fenestration/coagulation or laser vaporization for the
 3082 treatment of endometriomas: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2013;76:
 3083 75-82.
- Hodgson RM, Lee HL, Wang R, Mol BW, Johnson N. Interventions for endometriosis-related infertility: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril* 2020,113: 374-382.e372.
- 3086 Iversen ML, Seyer-Hansen M, Forman A. Does surgery for deep infiltrating bowel endometriosis improve 3087 fertility? A systematic review. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2017;96: 688-693.
- Jin X, Ruiz Beguerie J. Laparoscopic surgery for subfertility related to endometriosis: a meta-analysis. *Taiwan* J Obstet Gynecol 2014;53: 303-308.
- Vercellini P, Barbara G, Buggio L, Frattaruolo MP, Somigliana E, Fedele L. Effect of patient selection on estimate of reproductive success after surgery for rectovaginal endometriosis: literature review. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2012;24: 389-395.
- 3093

RA

III.3 Assessing the need for assisted reproduction after surgery 3094

NARRATIVE QUESTION: WHICH PATIENTS NEED TREATMENT WITH ASSISTED REPRODUCTION 3095 **TECHNOLOGY AFTER SURGERY?** 3096

3097

3098 Before and after surgery for endometriosis, those individuals who wish to become pregnant should be counselled objectively on their subsequent chances of achieving a pregnancy. To this purpose, 3099 the Endometriosis Fertility Index (EFI) was developed (Adamson and Pasta, 2010) as an end-of-3100 3101 surgery scoring system that predicts non-ART pregnancy rates (natural conception or IUI) after surgery. It was derived from prospective analysis of clinical data and has since been (externally) 3102 validated in over 30 studies, of which the majority were evaluated in a meta-analysis (Vesali, et al., 3103 2020) confirming its good performance despite substantial heterogeneity between studies. By 3104 scoring patient-related factors (age, duration of subfertility and history of prior pregnancy) and 3105 3106 surgical factors ('least function score' of the tubes and ovaries, endometriosis lesion and total score 3107 as extracted from the rASRM staging) factors, a score between 0 and 10 is generated. This score is strongly correlated with postoperative non-ART pregnancy rates and can therefore be used to 3108

counsel patients on their reproductive options, although it assumes normal gamete function. Its 3109 high reproducibility (Tomassetti, et al., 2020) further supports its use as an important clinical 3110 decision tool. When used as a system to decide on postoperative ART, healthcare costs have also 3111 been shown to be reduced through optimal patient selection (Ferrier, et al., 2020). 3112

Additionally, as it has been shown that the EFI can be estimated accurately prior to surgery, it EFI 3113

- could be used as an instrument to guide joint physician-patient decision-making between surgery, 3114
- ART, or other fertility management options for the individualized treatment of women with 3115 endometriosis-related infertility (Tomassetti, et al., 2021), although this is the only study up to date 3116
- 3117 on this subject.
- Conclusion 3118

Women should be counselled of their chances of becoming pregnant after surgery. To identify 3119 patients that may benefit from ART after surgery, the Endometriosis Fertility Index (EFI) should be 3120

used as it is validated, reproducible and cost-effective. The results of other fertility investigations 3121 such as their partner's sperm analysis should be taken into account. 3122

- Research recommendation 3123
- It is suggested that the EFI is used for better patient phenotyping in studies on surgical treatment 3124 and/or the place of MAR in endometriosis-related infertility. The role of the EFI as a pre-surgical 3125
- triage tool should be validated. 3126

3127 References

- 3128 Adamson GD, Pasta DJ. Endometriosis fertility index: the new, validated endometriosis staging system. Fertil 3129 Steril 2010;94: 1609-1615.
- Ferrier C, Boujenah J, Poncelet C, Chabbert-Buffet N, Mathieu D'Argent E, Carbillon L, Grynberg M, Darai E, 3130 3131 Bendifallah S. Use of the EFI score in endometriosis-associated infertility: A cost-effectiveness study. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2020;253: 296-303. 3132
- Tomassetti C, Bafort C, Meuleman C, Welkenhuysen M, Fieuws S, D'Hooghe T. Reproducibility of the 3133 Endometriosis Fertility Index: a prospective inter-/intra-rater agreement study. Bjog 2020;127: 107-114. 3134
- 3135 Tomassetti C, Bafort C, Vanhie A, Meuleman C, Fieuws S, Welkenhuysen M, Timmerman D, Van Schoubroeck D. D'Hooghe T. Estimation of the Endometriosis Fertility Index prior to operative laparoscopy. Hum Reprod 3136 2021;36: 636-646. 3137
- Vesali S, Razavi M, Rezaeinejad M, Maleki-Hajiagha A, Maroufizadeh S, Sepidarkish M. Endometriosis fertility 3138 index for predicting non-assisted reproductive technology pregnancy after endometriosis surgery: a 3139
- systematic review and meta-analysis. Bjog 2020;127: 800-809. 3140
- 3141

3142 III.4. Medically assisted reproduction

3143 PICO QUESTION: IS MEDICALLY ASSISTED REPRODUCTION EFFECTIVE FOR INFERTILITY 3144 ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS?

3145 III.4.a. Intrauterine insemination in women with endometriosis

There are very few studies assessing the efficacy of intrauterine insemination (IUI), with or without 3146 ovarian stimulation (OS), in women with endometriosis. In one RCT live birth rates were compared 3147 in women with minimal to mild endometriosis; 53 patients underwent ovarian stimulation with 3148 gonadotrophins and IUI treatment and 50 expectant management. The live birth rate was 5.6-times 3149 higher in the treated couples than in the control group (95%Cl 1.18 to 17.4) (Tummon, et al., 1997). In 3150 3151 an initially randomized and subsequently longitudinal study, Nulsen and co-workers compared gonadotrophins + IUI with urine LH-timed IUI alone. In 57 couples with minimal or mild 3152 endometriosis the biochemical pregnancy rate (PR) was 5.1-times higher than with IUI alone (95%CI 3153 1.1 to 22.5) (Nulsen, et al., 1993). 3154

Indirect evidence can be derived from studies comparing the outcomes of IUI in women with endometriosis to couples with (unexplained) infertility.

In a cohort study, Omland and colleagues compared one cycle of clomiphene citrate + HMG/FSH 3157 against HMG/FSH with artificial insemination with partner's sperm (IUI with or without 3158 intraperitoneal insemination) in couples with unexplained infertility (119 couples) or with stage I/II 3159 endometriosis (49 couples, diagnostic laparoscopy only). PRs were significantly higher in the 3160 women with unexplained infertility (33.6% vs 16.3%) (Omland, et al., 1998). In a case control study, 3161 PRs following OS + homologous insemination were as high in women with stage I/II endometriosis 3162 within 6 months of surgical treatment as in women with unexplained infertility (PR/cycle 20 vs. 3163 3164 20.5%) (Werbrouck, et al., 2006).

In a retrospectively analysis of 65 patients with surgically confirmed ASRM stages III/IV endometriosis with at least one patent tube, IUI with OS up to a maximum of six cycles compared to three times IUI without OS followed by up to three times IUI with OS significantly increased cumulative ongoing pregnancy rate (40.0% vs 15.6%) (van der Houwen, *et al.*, 2014).

Kim and co-workers, in an RCT, compared the use of long OS protocol (LP) and ultralong OS protocol (ULP) of GnRH agonist prior to IUI in 80 women (all stages of endometriosis). No difference in the clinical PR was found between protocols in women with minimal or mild endometriosis. In women with stage III/IV endometriosis, the clinical PR per cycle was significantly higher in the ULP group (50.0% (10/20)) compared with the LP group (19.0% (4/21)) (Kim, *et al.*, 1996).

3174 Recommendations

In infertile women with AFS/ASRM stage I/II endometriosis, clinicians may perform intrauterine insemination (IUI) with ovarian stimulation, instead of expectant management or IUI alone, as it increases pregnancy rates.

3175

Although the value of IUI in infertile women with AFS/ASRM stage III/IV endometriosis with tubal patency is uncertain, if performed, the use of ovarian stimulation could be considered.

⊕000

3176 Justification

3177 In women with AFS/ASRM stage I/II endometriosis, IUI with ovarian stimulation may be effective

in increasing live birth rate, compared with expectant management and effective in increasing

biochemical pregnancy rate, compared to IUI alone (weak recommendation). In these women, clinicians may consider performing intrauterine insemination with ovarian stimulation within 6

- months after surgical treatment, since pregnancy rates are similar to those achieved in unexplained
 infertility (Werbrouck, *et al.*, 2006).
- All studies in endometriosis mostly used gonadotrophin for OS. Anti-estrogen therapy (clomiphene citrate and letrozole) could be an option, based on indirect evidence from studies of unexplained infertility (Danhof, *et al.*, 2018, Diamond, *et al.*, 2015), but anti-estrogen therapy for OS prior to IUI has not been studied in women with endometriosis.
- Although one small sized RCT suggests higher clinical pregnancy rate with prolonged GnRH agonist suppression prior to IUI (Kim, *et al.*, 1996), this approach cannot be recommended due to the relatively low success rate of IUI after such a prolonged treatment and the associated side effects.
- In patients with moderate to severe endometriosis, the benefit of ovarian stimulation with IUI is unclear as only retrospective low evidence data are available (weak recommendation).
- 3193 Research recommendations
- 3194 Studies should clarify whether IUI with or without ovarian stimulation is a relevant option for women
- with (different subtypes of) endometriosis. Also, the value of EFI to predict the relevance of IUI
- could be further investigated.
- 3197 Further information
- 3198 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question
- 3199 III.4)

3200 III.4.b. Assisted reproductive technology in women with endometriosis.

To our knowledge, there are currently no randomised trials evaluating the efficacy of ART versus no intervention in women with endometriosis. Indirect evidence can be derived from studies comparing the outcomes of ART in women with endometriosis to women without endometriosis.

- In a systematic review and meta-analysis from 2013, Harb and colleagues included 27 3204 observational studies and a total of 8984 women and reported significantly lower fertilization rates 3205 (relative risk [RR] 0.93; 95%CI 0.87 to 0.99; 7 studies; 2044 patients), with no significant reduction in 3206 implantation, clinical pregnancy, or live birth rates in women with ASRM stage I/II endometriosis 3207 3208 compared to women without endometriosis. In women with stage III/IV endometriosis, a reduced implantation rate (RR 0.79; 95%Cl 0.67 to 0.93; 8 studies; 923 patients) and clinical pregnancy rate 3209 (RR 0.79; 95%Cl 0.69 to 0.91; 14 studies; 521 patients) was observed, and a trend towards reduced 3210 live birth rates (RR 0.86; 95%Cl 0.68 to 1.08; 9 studies; 312 patients). 3211
- Another systematic review and meta-analysis made similar conclusions based on similar studies 3212 3213 (Hamdan, et al., 2015). They investigated the influence of endometriosis on ART outcomes reported no difference in live birth rates per woman when comparing women with versus without 3214 endometriosis (odds ratio [OR] 0.94; 95%CI 0.84 to 1.06; 13 studies; 12,682 patients). The clinical 3215 pregnancy rates (OR 0.78, 95%Cl 0.65 tot 0.94; 24 studies; 20757 patients) and the mean number of 3216 oocytes retrieved per cycle (mean difference [MD] -1.98; 95%Cl -2.87 to -1.09; 17 studies; 17593 3217 3218 cycles) were lower in patients with endometriosis. Subgroup analysis revealed that all of the outcomes were comparable in women with stage I/II endometriosis and no endometriosis; live 3219 birth rate (OR 0.96; 95%CI 0.82 to 1.12; 8 studies; 4,157 patients), clinical pregnancy rate (OR 0.84; 3220 95%CI 0.69 to 1.03; 15 studies; 9,692 patients), and mean number of oocytes retrieved per cycle (MD 3221 3222 -0.58; 95%Cl, 21.16 to 0.01; 11 studies). In contrast, in women with stage III/IV endometriosis a significantly lower mean number of oocytes retrieved (MD 21.76; 95%CI 22.73 to 0.79; 14 cycles; 9172 3223 patients), pregnancy rate (OR 0.60; 95%Cl 0.44 to 0.81; 15 studies; 9,471 patients) and live birth rate 3224 (OR 0.77; 95%Cl 0.64 to 0.92; 8 studies) were reported. 3225

A total of 347,185 autologous fresh and frozen cycles from The Society for Assisted Reproductive Technologies (SART) database were analysed to assess the impact of endometriosis (alone or in combination with other infertility diagnoses) on ART outcomes (Senapati, *et al.*, 2016). The diagnosis of endometriosis was associated with a significant decrease in live birth rate (risk ratio [RR] 0.94;

- 95%Cl 0.91 to 0.97), lower oocyte yield (RR 0.91; 95%Cl 0.91 to 0.92), and lower implantation rates (RR 0.94; 95%Cl 0.93 to 0.96) after ART. However, the association of endometriosis and ART outcomes was confounded by other infertility diagnoses. Endometriosis, when associated with other alterations in the reproductive tract, had the lowest chance of live birth. In contrast, for the minority of women who have endometriosis in isolation, the live birth rate is similar or slightly higher compared with other infertility diagnoses.
- In a more recent retrospective single centre cohort study comparing 1268 patients with endometriosis and unexplained infertility after a first embryo transfer, a 24% reduction in the likelihood of a live birth was demonstrated (OR 0.76; 95%CI 0.59 to 0.98) with an increasing effect associated with the severity of the disease (Muteshi, *et al.*, 2018). Compared to women with unexplained subfertility, those with endometriosis had fewer oocytes retrieved, lower blastocyst transfer and a significantly reduced implantation rate.
- Murta and colleagues conducted a retrospective study from 1995 to 2011 of patients undergoing 3242 27294 ART cycles using data of the Latin American Registry maintained by the Latin America 3243 Network of Assisted Reproduction (REDLARA) (Murta, et al., 2018). A total of 7496 patients with 3244 endometriosis only, tubal factor, and unexplained infertility were included in the study. Patients 3245 3246 were divided into two groups: endometriosis group, comprising 1749 patients who underwent ART due to endometriosis only and control group, with 5747 patients subjected to ART due to tubal 3247 factor or unexplained infertility. They concluded that endometriosis does not affect the outcome 3248 of patients subjected to ART and although patients with endometriosis present lower number of 3249 oocytes and higher cancelation rate, these shortcomings do not reduce pregnancy and live birth 3250 3251 rates.
- The impact of endometrioma on ART reproductive outcomes was summarized in a recent review (Alshehre, *et al.*, 2020). The number of oocytes (weighted means difference; WMD -2.25; 95%CI 3.43 to -1.06) and the number of MII oocytes retrieved (WMD -4.64; 95%CI 5.65 to -3.63) were significantly lower in women with endometrioma versus controls (women without endometrioma and/or tubal or male-factor infertility). All other outcomes, including gonadotrophin dose and duration, the total number of embryos and high-quality embryos, CPR, IR and LBR were similar in women with endometrioma and controls.

3259 III.4.b.1 Type of OS protocol

Several trials and studies evaluated GnRH agonist versus GnRH antagonist ovarian stimulation 3260 protocols in women with endometriosis. An RCT including 246 women with stage I/II endometriosis 3261 and endometrioma showed that the implantation rate and clinical PR after OS in a GnRH antagonist 3262 cycle were not inferior to those for a GnRH agonist protocol (Pabuccu, et al., 2007). An observational 3263 retrospective analysis of 1180 cycles with the propensity score matching failed to demonstrate a 3264 difference in clinical PR between GnRH agonist and GnRH antagonist protocols in patients with 3265 stage I-IV endometriosis (Rodriguez-Purata, et al., 2013). No difference in ongoing PR was observed 3266 between long GnRH agonist and GnRH antagonist protocols in patients who previously underwent 3267 3268 laparoscopic endometrioma resection surgery (Bastu, et al., 2014). Using a retrospective analysis of 284 IVF cycles, women with endometriosis experienced higher pregnancy and live birth rates after 3269 fresh embryo transfer but not after frozen cycle when long GnRH agonist protocols were compared 3270 to GnRH antagonist protocols (Kolanska, et al., 2017). The cumulative live birth rates per cycle were 3271 not different between the two groups. Comparison of long GnRH agonist and GnRH antagonist ART 3272 protocols was further conducted in an observational retrospective cohort study including 386 3273 women subdivided into two groups (endometriosis stage I/II and endometriosis stage III/IV) 3274 (Drakopoulos, et al., 2018). A tendency toward higher biochemical and clinical pregnancy and live 3275 birth rates (42.8% vs. 26.7%) was noted in favour of GnRH agonist in patients with stage I/II 3276 endometriosis whereas no difference was observed in the endometriosis stage III/IV group. 3277

3278 III.4.b.2 MAR and risks

In a systematic review, low quality evidence suggested that ovarian stimulation with IUI might increase the risk of recurrence whereas moderate quality evidence suggested that ovarian stimulation for ART did not increase the risk of recurrence or worsen pain symptoms (Somigliana,

- *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, the effect on endometriomas seems minimal. ART and endometriosis recurrence are discussed in section IV.1.c.
- In a series of 214 women with endometriomas undergoing oocyte retrieval for IVF/ICSI under antibiotic prophylaxis, no pelvic abscess was recorded (Benaglia, *et al.*, 2008).

3286 Recommendations

ART can be performed for infertility associated with endometriosis, especially if tubal function is compromised, if there is male factor infertility, in case of low EFI and/or if other treatments have failed. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

3287

A specific protocol for ART in women with endometriosis cannot be recommended. Both antagonist and agonist protocols can be offered based on patients' and physicians' preferences as no difference in pregnancy or live birth rate has been demonstrated. $\oplus OOO$

3288

3289

In women with endometrioma, clinicians may use antibiotic prophylaxis at the time of oocyte retrieval, although the risk of ovarian abscess formation following follicle aspiration is low.

3290 Justification

- Overall, in infertile women, most of the evidence does not demonstrate a negative impact of endometriosis (compared to non-endometriosis patients) on live birth rate after ART, even if the ovarian response and clinical pregnancy rates are lower. Therefore, ART may be effective for endometriosis-associated endometriosis, and is recommended (weak recommendation) in women with other infertility factors. The severity extent of the disease might play a role with stage III-IV endometriosis potentially decreasing the live birth rate. The available evidence failed to demonstrate that a specific IVF protocol should be favoured in patients with endometriosis.
- From a systematic review including moderate quality evidence, ART was not associated with increased endometriosis recurrence rate. A weak recommendation was formulated to inform and/or reassure patients. The use of antibiotic prophylaxis at the time of oocyte retrieval in women with endometriomas seems reasonable and is recommended as a good practice point.
- 3302 There is no evidence on whether IUI or IVF is superior in women with endometriosis.

3303 Research recommendations

- Studies evaluating IUI and ART should report clinically relevant outcomes (live birth rates and
 cumulative data), and ideally perform subgroup analysis by stage of endometriosis and type of
 disease.
- Further studies of both medical and surgical treatments for endometriosis-associated infertility are
 required to clarify the relative effectiveness of treatments, in particular trials comparing ART and
 IUI to other treatments.
- The impact of the extent of disease on the outcome of ART should be further studied, as it could provide data for selection of patients that could benefit from ART.
- 3312 Further information
- 3313 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question3314 III.4).

- 3315 References
- Alshehre SM, Narice BF, Fenwick MA, Metwally M. The impact of endometrioma on in vitro fertilisation/intra-
- 3317 cytoplasmic injection IVF/ICSI reproductive outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Gynecol
 3318 Obstet 2020.
- Bastu E, Yasa C, Dural O, Mutlu MF, Celik C, Ugurlucan FG, Buyru F. Comparison of ovulation induction protocols after endometrioma resection. *Jsls* 2014;18.
- Benaglia L, Somigliana E, Iemmello R, Colpi E, Nicolosi AE, Ragni G. Endometrioma and oocyte retrievalinduced pelvic abscess: a clinical concern or an exceptional complication? *Fertil Steril* 2008;89: 1263-1266.
- Danhof NA, van Wely M, Repping S, Koks C, Verhoeve HR, de Bruin JP, Verberg MFG, van Hooff MHA, Cohlen
 BJ, van Heteren CF *et al.* Follicle stimulating hormone versus clomiphene citrate in intrauterine insemination
 for unexplained subfertility: a randomized controlled trial. *Hum Reprod* 2018;33: 1866-1874.
- Diamond MP, Legro RS, Coutifaris C, Alvero R, Robinson RD, Casson P, Christman GM, Ager J, Huang H, Hansen
 KR *et al.* Letrozole, Gonadotropin, or Clomiphene for Unexplained Infertility. *N Engl J Med* 2015;373: 1230-1240.
- 3328 Drakopoulos P, Rosetti J, Pluchino N, Blockeel C, Santos-Ribeiro S, de Brucker M, Drakakis P, Camus M,
 3329 Tournaye H, Polyzos NP. Does the type of GnRH analogue used, affect live birth rates in women with
 andometriosis undergoing IVF/ICSI treatment, according to the rAFS stage? *Gynecol Endocrinol* 2018;34: 8843331 889.
- Hamdan M, Omar SZ, Dunselman G, Cheong Y. Influence of endometriosis on assisted reproductive technology outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2015;125: 79-88.
- Kim CH, Cho YK, Mok JE. Simplified ultralong protocol of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonist for
 ovulation induction with intrauterine insemination in patients with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 1996;11: 398 402.
- Kolanska K, Cohen J, Bendifallah S, Selleret L, Antoine JM, Chabbert-Buffet N, Darai E, d'Argent EM. Pregnancy
 outcomes after controlled ovarian hyperstimulation in women with endometriosis-associated infertility: GnRH agonist versus GnRH-antagonist. J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod 2017;46: 681-686.
- Murta M, Machado RC, Zegers-Hochschild F, Checa MA, Sampaio M, Geber S. Endometriosis does not affect live birth rates of patients submitted to assisted reproduction techniques: analysis of the Latin American Network Registry database from 1995 to 2011. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 2018;35: 1395-1399.
- 3343 Muteshi CM, Ohuma EO, Child T, Becker CM. The effect of endometriosis on live birth rate and other 3344 reproductive outcomes in ART cycles: a cohort study. *Hum Reprod Open* 2018;2018: hoy016.
- Nulsen JC, Walsh S, Dumez S, Metzger DA. A randomized and longitudinal study of human menopausal gonadotropin with intrauterine insemination in the treatment of infertility. *Obstet Gynecol* 1993;82: 780-786.
- 3347 Omland AK, Tanbo T, Dale PO, Abyholm T. Artificial insemination by husband in unexplained infertility 3348 compared with infertility associated with peritoneal endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 1998;13: 2602-2605.
- Pabuccu R, Onalan G, Kaya C. GnRH agonist and antagonist protocols for stage I-II endometriosis and endometrioma in in vitro fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles. *Fertil Steril* 2007;88: 832-839.
- Rodriguez-Purata J, Coroleu B, Tur R, Carrasco B, Rodriguez I, Barri PN. Endometriosis and IVF: are agonists
 really better? Analysis of 1180 cycles with the propensity score matching. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 2013;29: 859 862.
- 3354 Senapati S, Sammel MD, Morse C, Barnhart KT. Impact of endometriosis on in vitro fertilization outcomes: an 3355 evaluation of the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technologies Database. *Fertil Steril* 2016;106: 164-171.e161.
- 3356 Somigliana E, Vigano P, Benaglia L, Busnelli A, Paffoni A, Vercellini P. Ovarian stimulation and endometriosis 3357 progression or recurrence: a systematic review. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2019;38: 185-194.
- Tummon IS, Asher LJ, Martin JS, Tulandi T. Randomized controlled trial of superovulation and insemination for infertility associated with minimal or mild endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 1997;68: 8-12.
- van der Houwen LE, Schreurs AM, Schats R, Heymans MW, Lambalk CB, Hompes PG, Mijatovic V. Efficacy and
 safety of intrauterine insemination in patients with moderate-to-severe endometriosis. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2014;28: 590-598.
- 3363 Werbrouck E, Spiessens C, Meuleman C, D'Hooghe T. No difference in cycle pregnancy rate and in cumulative
- 3364 live-birth rate between women with surgically treated minimal to mild endometriosis and women with 3365 unexplained infertility after controlled ovarian hyperstimulation and intrauterine insemination. *Fertil Steril*
- 3365unexplained infer33662006;86: 566-571.
- 3367

3368 III.5. Medical therapies as an adjunct to MAR

3371

PICO QUESTION: ARE MEDICAL THERAPIES EFFECTIVE AS AN ADJUNCT TO MAR FOR ENDOMETRIOSIS ASSOCIATED INFERTILITY?

The role of medically assisted reproduction (MAR) in the treatment of endometriosis-associated 3372 infertility is addressed in the previous section and its role is well established. It has been proposed, 3373 following numerous non-randomized studies, that medical treatment of endometriosis prior to ART 3374 may result in improved outcome, either because of improving oocyte quality or endometrial 3375 receptivity. The specific question of GnRH agonist pre-treatment has been addressed in an older 3376 Cochrane review (Sallam, et al., 2006) that - based on three included studies in a total of 228 3377 patients - concluded that prolonged downregulation for 3-6 months with a GnRH agonist in 3378 women with endometriosis increases the odds of clinical pregnancy by more than 4-fold. 3379

- 3380 In sharp contrast, the updated version of this Cochrane review (Georgiou, et al., 2019), including 8 parallel-design RCTs involving a total of 640 participants, concluded that the effect of GnRH 3381 agonist pre-treatment (for at least 3 months) was very uncertain, both on live birth rate as primary 3382 outcome, as well as on secondary outcomes (clinical pregnancy rate, multiple pregnancy rate, 3383 miscarriage rate, mean number of oocytes and mean number of embryos). All studies included in 3384 this review have compared long-term GnRH agonist versus no pre-treatment. The authors 3385 acknowledged the very low quality of data, particularly for reporting live birth rate. Compared to 3386 the previous version of the review, the outcome of live birth now includes only one new 3387 unpublished trial (NCT01581359) and excludes a previously included RCT (Dicker, et al., 1992) as 3388 this paper does not truly report on live birth as per the definition of the international glossary on 3389 infertility and fertility care (Georgiou, et al., 2019). For the outcome of clinical pregnancy rate, the 3390 review includes three new RCTs, leading to the results being closer to the line of no effect. Further, 3391 subgroup analysis by endometriosis severity highlighted the uncertainty of the effect, and 3392 subgroup analysis by previous history of surgery was not possible due to a lack of data. 3393
- A more recent RCT investigating the effect of ultralong administration of GnRH agonist, after cauterisation by diathermy of stage I/II endometriosis and before ART, failed to demonstrate a beneficial effect on implantation rate, clinical PR, or embryo quality (Kaponis, *et al.*, 2020).
- A meta-analysis of studies comparing different GnRH agonist protocols (short, long, ultralong) reported that based on evidence from RCTs, a GnRH agonist ultra-long protocol could improve clinical pregnancy rates, especially in patients with stages III-IV endometriosis (RR 2.04, 95%CI 1.37 to 3.04; 2 RCTs; 152 patients). However, when considering RCTs and observational studies (n=21), the different down-regulation protocols provided no significant difference in improving clinical outcomes (implantation rate, fertilization rate, clinical pregnancy rate) in patients with endometriosis (Cao, *et al.*, 2020).
- Pre-treatment with continuous combined oral contraceptive (OCP) for 6-8 weeks as compared to no pre-treatment before ART was only evaluated in a pilot two-centre trial, that indirectly suggested a potential beneficial effect on clinical pregnancy rate (de Ziegler, *et al.*, 2010), however this study was not randomized.
- In a RCT including 68 women with stage III/IV, administration of dienogest (DNG) during 12 weeks 3408 before IVF vs no pre-treatment lower cumulative pregnancy rate and live birth rate in the DNG 3409 group (Tamura, et al., 2019). In a non-inferiority randomized clinical trial including 450 women with 3410 stage III/IV randomized to medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) + hMG, dydrogesterone + hMG, or 3411 progesterone + hMG. The number of oocytes retrieved was higher in the MPA + hMG group but no 3412 3413 significant differences in fertilization or clinical pregnancy rate were observed. (Guo, et al., 2020). In a retrospective study including 151 patients with endometriosis and a previous failed IVF cycle, 3414 3 months DNG pre-treatment prior to IVF versus no pre-treatment significantly increased 3415 cumulative implantation, clinical pregnancy, and live birth rates. (Barra, et al., 2020). 3416
- 3417 There are no studies comparing the effect of different medical therapies for pre-treatment prior to3418 ART.

3419

Recommendations

The administration of GnRH agonist prior to ART treatment to improve live birth rate in infertile women with endometriosis is not recommended, as the benefit is $\oplus OOO$ uncertain.

3420

There is insufficient evidence to recommend prolonged administration of the COC/progestogens as a pre-treatment to ART to increase live birth rates. \oplus OOO

3421 Justification

Based on the updated Cochrane review (Georgiou, *et al.*, 2019), the merit of 3–6 months GnRH agonist administration to women with endometriosis prior to ART compared to no pre-treatment is uncertain and requires further high-quality trials to determine its impact. A study confirming this conclusion was recently accepted for publication (Tomassetti C., *et al.*, 2021). With uncertain benefit, the administration of GnRH agonist prior to ART treatment cannot be recommended.

3427 The data concerning the use of COC or progestogens as a pre-treatment before ART for improving

- ART outcomes are very limited and do not allow to draw any conclusion. This does not preclude use of COC for planning purposes.
- 3430 Further information
- 3431 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question3432 III.5)
- 3433 References
- Barra F, Laganà AS, Scala C, Garzon S, Ghezzi F, Ferrero S. Pretreatment with dienogest in women with endometriosis undergoing IVF after a previous failed cycle. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2020;41: 859-868.
- Cao X, Chang HY, Xu JY, Zheng Y, Xiang YG, Xiao B, Geng XJ, Ni LL, Chu XY, Tao SB *et al.* The effectiveness of
 different down-regulating protocols on in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer in endometriosis: a meta-analysis.
 Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2020;18: 16.
- 3439 de Ziegler D, Gayet V, Aubriot FX, Fauque P, Streuli I, Wolf JP, de Mouzon J, Chapron C. Use of oral
 3440 contraceptives in women with endometriosis before assisted reproduction treatment improves outcomes.
 3441 *Fertil Steril* 2010;94: 2796-2799.
- Dicker D, Goldman JA, Levy T, Feldberg D, Ashkenazi J. The impact of long-term gonadotropin-releasing
 hormone analogue treatment on preclinical abortions in patients with severe endometriosis undergoing in
 vitro fertilization-embryo transfer. *Fertil Steril* 1992;57: 597-600.
- Georgiou EX, Melo P, Baker PE, Sallam HN, Arici A, Garcia-Velasco JA, Abou-Setta AM, Becker C, Granne IE.
 Long-term GnRH agonist therapy before in vitro fertilisation (IVF) for improving fertility outcomes in women
 with endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2019;2019.
- 3448 Guo H, Li J, Shen X, Cong Y, Wang Y, Wu L, Li B, Gao H, Ma M, Zhang W *et al.* Efficacy of Different Progestins 3449 in Women With Advanced Endometriosis Undergoing Controlled Ovarian Hyperstimulation for in vitro 3450 Fertilization-A Single-Center Non-inferiority Randomized Controlled Trial. *Frontiers in endocrinology* 2020;11.
- Kaponis A, Chatzopoulos G, Paschopoulos M, Georgiou I, Paraskevaidis V, Zikopoulos K, Tsiveriotis K,
 Taniguchi F, Adonakis G, Harada T. Ultralong administration of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists
 before in vitro fertilization improves fertilization rate but not clinical pregnancy rate in women with mild
 endometriosis: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. *Fertility and sterility* 2020;113: 828-835.
- NCT01581359. The effect of pre-treatment with GnRH analogues prior in vitro fertilization in patients with endometriosis (ENDOFIV) [A comparative study, randomized, blinded, about the effect of pre-treatment with GnRH analogues versus placebo in infertile patients with endometriosis undergoing in vitro fertilization treatment]. . *clinicaltrialsgov/ct2/show/record/NCT01581359 (first received 20 April 2012)*.
- 3459 Sallam HN, Garcia-Velasco JA, Dias S, Arici A. Long-term pituitary down-regulation before in vitro fertilization 3460 (IVF) for women with endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006: Cd004635.
- 3461 Tamura H, Yoshida H, Kikuchi H, Josaki M, Mihara Y, Shirafuta Y, Shinagawa M, Tamura I, Taketani T, Takasaki
- 3462 A *et al.* The clinical outcome of Dienogest treatment followed by in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer in
- infertile women with endometriosis. *J Ovarian Res* 2019;12: 123.

Tomassetti C., Beukeleirs T, Conforti A, Debrock S, Peeraer K, Meuleman C, T. DH. The Ultra-long Study: a randomized controlled trial evaluating long-term GnRH downregulation prior to ART in women with endometriosis. *Human Reproduction (accepted for publication)* 2021.

3467

RAFE

3468 III.6. Surgical therapies as an adjunct to MAR

PICO QUESTION: ARE SURGICAL THERAPIES EFFECTIVE AS AN ADJUNCT PRIOR TO MAR FOR ENDOMETRIOSIS-ASSOCIATED INFERTILITY?

3471

3472 It was mentioned (section III.2) that surgery could have a beneficial effect on spontaneous 3473 pregnancy rates in women with endometriosis. Thus, one could speculate that surgical treatment 3474 of endometriosis prior to treatment with MAR could be effective in improving reproductive 3475 outcome.

This section is subdivided into surgical therapy for peritoneal endometriosis, for ovarian endometrioma (ablation, cystectomy, aspiration) and for deep endometriosis prior to MAR.

3478 III.6.a. Surgery prior to MAR in women with peritoneal endometriosis

In a review and meta-analysis of Hamdan et al, 12 studies were included evaluating ART outcomes 3479 after surgery for endometriosis. The duration from surgical treatment to ART was not specified in 3480 the studies (Hamdan, et al., 2015b). The reviewers stated that the effect of surgery would have been 3481 best assessed between women with endometriosis who had received surgical treatment and those 3482 who had not received the treatment. However, there was only one study published with this 3483 comparison. In a group of 399 women with minimal to mild endometriosis, all visible endometriosis 3484 was completely removed prior to ART. In the control group (262 women) only a diagnostic 3485 3486 laparoscopy was performed. In the group in which surgery had taken place prior to ART, significant higher implantation, pregnancy, and live birth rates (OR 1.47, 95%Cl 1.01 to 2.13) were found. 3487 Moreover, the investigators reported a shorter time to first pregnancy and a higher cumulative 3488 pregnancy rate after surgical removal of endometriosis prior to ART (Opoien, et al., 2011). 3489

The review by Hamdan further included indirect evidence from studies comparing outcomes in 3490 women with surgically treated stage I/II endometriosis and controls (women with no 3491 endometriosis). The reviewers found no difference in the live birth rate (OR 0.88, 95%CI 0.76 to 1.02, 3492 4 studies, 3492 patients), but reported a lower clinical pregnancy rate (OR 0.69; 95%Cl 0.50 to 0.96; 3493 g studies; 4888 patients) and a lower mean number of oocytes retrieved per cycle (mean difference 3494 22.37; 95%CI 23.55 to 21.20; 11 studies; 3909 cycles) in women with surgically treated stage I/II 3495 endometriosis (Hamdan, et al., 2015b). In women with stage I/II endometriosis that did not have 3496 surgery (or where it was not reported in the study), the review reported no differences in LBR, CPR 3497 or mean number of oocytes retrieved compared to women without endometriosis. 3498

3499 Recommendation

Clinicians are not recommended to routinely perform surgery prior to ART to improve live birth rates in women with stage I/II endometriosis, as the potential $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ benefits are unclear.

3500 Justification

The evidence regarding surgery prior to treatment with ART in women with stage I/II endometriosis is of low quality and based on a single retrospective study. Although this study suggests that surgery may have a beneficial effect on ART outcomes, the GDG considered more data are needed to confirm the benefit of surgery for peritoneal disease for improving ART outcomes, and to be able to recommended it in routine practice. A strong recommendation stating that laparoscopy should not be routinely performed prior to ART with the aim of improving ART outcomes was formulated.

3508 Further information

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question III.6)

3511 III.6.b. Surgery prior to MAR in women with ovarian endometrioma

Two systematic reviews and meta-analyses have evaluated the impact of endometrioma surgery on ART outcomes. Hamdan *et al.* have observed that surgical treatment of endometrioma before ART had no impact on live birth rate compared to conservative management (5 studies including 655 women) (Hamdan, *et al.*, 2015a). Similarly clinical pregnancy rate, mean number of oocytes retrieved and cancellation rate per cycle did not differ between the two groups. However surgical treatment induced a reduced antral follicle count and required higher dose of FSH for ovarian stimulation suggesting a negative impact on the ovarian reserve.

The second, more recent systematic review and meta-analysis also failed to demonstrate a significant beneficial effect of surgery on live birth rate (OR 1.08; 95%CI 0.80 to 1.45; 7 studies) (Nickkho-Amiry, *et al.*, 2018).

- In women who had surgical treatment of one ovary, a lower number of oocytes was retrieved from 3522 the surgically treated ovary compared to the contralateral normal ovary without endometrioma in 3523 the same patient. (MD 22.59; 95%Cl 24.13 to 21.05; 4 studies, 222 cycles). The heterogeneity of data 3524 did not allow determining the effect of the size of the endometrioma) (Hamdan, et al., 2015a). The 3525 influence of the size of unoperated endometrioma on ART response was evaluated in a prospective 3526 study – not included in the review- of 64 women with unilateral endometrioma (Coccia, et al., 2014). 3527 A lower number of oocytes were retrieved from the ovary with an endometrioma compared to the 3528 healthy contralateral ovary. Endometrioma of ≥30 mm was shown to represent the most important 3529 3530 negative factor associated with the total number of follicles and oocytes retrieved.
- In a recent retrospective cohort study, ART outcomes were compared in a group of 26 women who underwent 44 ART cycles in the presence of ovarian endometrioma and a surgery group consisting of 53 women who underwent 58 ART cycles after laparoscopic removal of ovarian endometrioma(s). Cystectomy significantly increased the risk of cycle cancellation due to poor ovarian response and/or failed oocyte retrieval 13.7% versus 0%). There was no difference in the live birth rate per embryo transfer in both groups (23.7% versus 26.1%) (Şükür, *et al.*, 2020).
- The effect of different surgical techniques has been evaluated only in small studies without 3537 showing a clear benefit for a specific approach. A meta-analysis could not be performed due to 3538 heterogeneity between groups (Hamdan, et al., 2015a). Cystectomy has the advantage of reducing 3539 the risk of recurrence (see chapter IV). A systematic review and meta-analysis evaluating the effect 3540 of sclerotherapy has shown a higher number of oocytes retrieved compared with laparoscopic 3541 3542 cystectomy, with similar clinical pregnancy rates (Cohen, et al., 2017). A recent retrospective study compared outcomes in 37 women who underwent ethanol sclerotherapy for endometrioma before 3543 ART with those in 37 women undergoing ART only. Ethanol sclerotherapy increased the chance of 3544 a live birth (OR 2.68; 95%Cl 1.13 to 6.36) (Miquel, et al., 2020) 3545

3546 Recommendations

Clinicians are not recommended to routinely perform surgery for ovarian endometrioma prior to ART to improve live birth rates, as the current evidence shows no benefit and surgery is likely to have a negative impact on ovarian reserve.

⊕⊕⊖⊖

3547

Surgery for endometrioma prior to ART can be considered to improve GPP endometriosis-associated pain or accessibility of follicles.

3548 Justification

Based on two systematic reviews and meta-analyses, surgical removal of endometrioma before ART does not appear to improve the live birth rate while it is likely reducing ovarian reserve. As such, a strong recommendation was formulated against surgery with the sole aim to improve ART outcomes. Additionally, a good practice point was formulated stating that surgery can be performed for other indications.

- 3554 When surgical resection of endometrioma prior to ART is necessary, no specific techniques can be 3555 recommended. Ovarian cystectomy has the potential of reducing the risk of recurrence. The clinical 3556 evidence and recommendations on surgery for pain in women with ovarian endometrioma are 3557 discussed in section II.3.d.
- 3558 Further information
- 3559 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question3560 III.6)
- 3561 Research recommendation

RCTs are required to answer the question whether surgery for endometrioma prior to ART improves reproductive outcomes. A proposal for such study has been published (Maheshwari, *et al.*, 2020).

3565 III.6.c. Surgery prior to MAR in women with deep endometriosis

3566 Surgical therapy for deep endometriosis is predominantly performed because of pain rather than 3567 infertility, hence randomized studies focusing the direct effect of surgery on the reproductive 3568 outcomes of ART are non-existent.

- One prospective cohort study in which women with deep endometriosis could choose between surgery prior to ART or ART directly reports higher pregnancy rates after surgery and ART (Bianchi, *et al.*, 2009). However, the numbers of live births did not differ between groups.
- A retrospective matched cohort study comparing first-line surgery before ART with first-line ART in patient with colorectal endometriosis-associated endometriosis has observed higher cumulative live birth rates after surgery in the whole study population as well as in women with good ART prognosis (<35 years old, AMH >2 ng/mL and no adenomyosis) as well as in women with AMH serum level <2 ng/mL (Bendifallah, *et al.*, 2017).
- Further evidence can be derived from the review by Hamdan, comparing ART outcomes in women with ASRM stage III/IV attempting ART pregnancy after surgery versus women without endometriosis. This indirect evidence showed that women with surgically treated ASRM stage III/IV endometriosis still had a lower live birth rate (OR 0.78; 95%CI 0.65 to 0.95; 3 studies; 2550 patients), lower clinical pregnancy rate (OR 0.53; 95%CI 0.33 to 0.84; 6 studies; 3470 patients,) and a lower mean number of oocytes retrieved per cycle (mean difference 22.46; 95%CI 23.42 to 21.51; 8 studies; 3582 studies; 3592 cycles) compared to women without endometriosis (Hamdan, *et al.*, 2015b).
- Pregnancy and delivery rates after surgery for deep endometriosis in women with previous failed 3584 IVF cycles were evaluated in two retrospective studies. In 78 symptomatic infertile women with a 3585 mean of 6.6 failed IVF cycles (including frozen cycles), 33 women (42.3%) had a live birth after deep 3586 endometriosis surgery (9% naturally and the remaining after ART) (Soriano, et al., 2016). In the 3587 3588 second study including 73 infertile women with 2 or more unsuccessful IVF cycles, biochemical pregnancy rate was 43.8% after resection of endometriosis (83.6% of patients with stage III-IV) with 3589 a mean time from surgery to pregnancy of 11.1 months (Breteau, et al., 2020). In that group, 21.8% 3590 were natural pregnancies, 71.7% were obtained by ART and 3.1% by intrauterine insemination (data 3591 were missing for one patient). 3592

3593 Recommendations

The decision to offer surgical excision of deep endometriosis lesions prior to ART should be guided mainly by pain symptoms and patient preference as its effectiveness on reproductive outcome is uncertain due to lack of randomized studies.

000⊕

3594 Justification

From the literature, there is no evidence from randomized controlled trials to recommend performing surgical excision of deep nodular endometriotic lesions prior to ART to improve

- reproductive outcomes. However, these women often suffer from pain, requiring surgical treatment. The GDG strongly recommends basing a decision to perform surgery on pain symptoms and patient preferences. In symptomatic infertile women with previous failed ART and deep endometriosis, surgical removal of the lesions may be (re)considered.
- 3601 More information on surgery for pain in women with deep endometriosis, risk of surgery and 3602 complication rates, is discussed in section II.3.f.
- 3603 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 11.6)
- 3606 References
- Bendifallah S, Roman H, Mathieu d'Argent E, Touleimat S, Cohen J, Darai E, Ballester M. Colorectal endometriosis-associated infertility: should surgery precede ART? *Fertil Steril* 2017;108: 525-531.e524.
- Bianchi PH, Pereira RM, Zanatta A, Alegretti JR, Motta EL, Serafini PC. Extensive excision of deep infiltrative
 endometriosis before in vitro fertilization significantly improves pregnancy rates. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2009;16: 174-180.
- Breteau P, Chanavaz-Lacheray I, Rubod C, Turck M, Sanguin S, Pop I, Resch B, Roman H. Pregnancy Rates
 After Surgical Treatment of Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis in Infertile Patients With at Least 2 Previous In Vitro
 Fertilization or Intracytoplasmic Sperm Injection Failures. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 1148-1157.
- Coccia ME, Rizzello F, Barone S, Pinelli S, Rapalini E, Parri C, Caracciolo D, Papageorgiou S, Cima G, Gandini L.
 Is there a critical endometrioma size associated with reduced ovarian responsiveness in assisted reproduction
 techniques? *Reprod Biomed Online* 2014;29: 259-266.
- 3618 Cohen A, Almog B, Tulandi T. Sclerotherapy in the management of ovarian endometrioma: systematic review 3619 and meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril* 2017;108: 117-124.e115.
- Hamdan M, Dunselman G, Li TC, Cheong Y. The impact of endometrioma on IVF/ICSI outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2015a;21: 809-825.
- Hamdan M, Omar SZ, Dunselman G, Cheong Y. Influence of endometriosis on assisted reproductive technology outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2015b;125: 79-88.
- 3624 Maheshwari A, Healey J, Bhattacharya S, Cooper K, Saraswat L, Horne AW, Daniels J, Breeman S, Brian K, 3625 Burns G *et al.* Surgery for women with endometrioma prior to in vitro fertilisation: proposal for a feasible 3626 multicentre randomised clinical trial in the UK. *Hum Reprod Open* 2020;2020: hoaa012.
- 3627 Miquel L, Preaubert L, Gnisci A, Resseguier N, Pivano A, Perrin J, Courbiere B. Endometrioma ethanol 3628 sclerotherapy could increase IVF live birth rate in women with moderate-severe endometriosis. *PLoS One* 3629 2020;15: e0239846.
- Nickkho-Amiry M, Savant R, Majumder K, Edi-O'sagie E, Akhtar M. The effect of surgical management of endometrioma on the IVF/ICSI outcomes when compared with no treatment? A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2018;297: 1043-1057.
- 3633 Opoien HK, Fedorcsak P, Byholm T, Tanbo T. Complete surgical removal of minimal and mild endometriosis 3634 improves outcome of subsequent IVF/ICSI treatment. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2011;23: 389-395.
- Soriano D, Adler I, Bouaziz J, Zolti M, Eisenberg VH, Goldenberg M, Seidman DS, Elizur SE. Fertility outcome of
 laparoscopic treatment in patients with severe endometriosis and repeated in vitro fertilization failures. *Fertil Steril* 2016;106: 1264-1269.
- 3638 Şükür YE, Özmen B, Yakıştıran B, Atabekoğlu CS, Berker B, Aytaç R, Sönmezer M. Endometrioma surgery is 3639 associated with increased risk of subsequent assisted reproductive technology cycle cancellation; a 3640 retrospective cohort study. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2020: 1-4.
- 3641

3642 III.7. Non-Pharmacological treatment strategies

3643 PICO QUESTION: WHAT NON-MEDICAL MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES ARE EFFECTIVE FOR 3644 INFERTILITY ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS?

3645

Flower *et al* performed a systematic literature review looking at Chinese medicine post-surgically and were only able to include two studies. This review did not find any improvement in pregnancy rates with the use of Chinese medicine (Flower, *et al.*, 2012).

- 2649 Zhu *et al.* studied in a three-arm-trial the combination of laparoscopy with oral contraceptives (OCP) 2650 versus OCP with herbal medicines versus laparoscopy only. The OCP was administrated for 63 2651 days, herbal medicine for 30 days, with a follow-up period of 14 months for achieving pregnancy (2652 12 months in the laparoscopy-only group). The herbal medicine and/or OCP treatment did not 2653 increase the chance of getting pregnant after surgery (pregnancy rates (PR) 30.77% for OCP + herbal 2654 medicine, 38.46% for OCP, 46015% for laparoscopy-only). The authors concluded that it is better to 2655 conceive straight after surgery (Zhu, *et al.*, 2014).
- In another study by Ding *et al.* Chinese medicine was compared to hormonal treatment (12.5mg mifepristone orally every day) for six months with a follow-up of one year. The 80 patients were divided into two different groups "exactly according to the random principle" but is not described in detail. The study did not demonstrate any difference in pregnancy rate (52.5% with Chinese medicine versus 37.5% with hormone treatment) (Ding and Lian, 2015).
- Zhao et al. included 202 women with endometriosis, laparoscopically and histological verified at 3661 3662 six different hospitals in China. The women were randomised through 'central randomisation' to either Chinese medicine (CM) mixtures (two different types according to whether the woman was 3663 pre-or post-ovulatory) or placebo (with similar dosage, appearance, colour, weight, taste, smell, 3664 package and codes compared to CM). Treatment and placebo where started at 1-5 days after 3665 3666 surgery. The clinical pregnancy rate (CPR) and live birth rate (LBR) were significant increased in the 3667 CM group (LBR: 34,7% (35/101)) compared to placebo (LBR: 20.8% (21/101)). This study is promising, but symptoms such as 'blood stasis' and 'Shen deficiency' as well as the exact ingredients of the 3668 Chinese herbs may be difficult to apply in western medicine. 3669
- Mier-Cabrera *et al* compared vitamin C and E with placebo and measured oxidative stress markers believed to be linked to fertility. However, there was no increase in the pregnancy rate (Mier-Cabrera, *et al.*, 2008).
- All studies but Zhao *et al.* reported no harm, but the definition of "no harm" was seldom described and differed between the studies. Zhao *et al.* described that 48 adverse events occurred in 202 patients, of which 28 in the CM-group. Of these, only five cases of mild diarrhoea and one case of nausea were considered to be related to CM.
- 3677 Conclusion

Regarding non-medical strategies on infertility, there is no clear evidence that any non-medical interventions for women with endometriosis will be of benefit to increase the chance of pregnancy. No recommendation can be made to support any non-medical interventions (nutrition, Chinese medicine, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy, exercise, and psychological interventions) to increase fertility in women with endometriosis. The potential benefits and harms are unclear.

- 3683 Justification
- Only small studies of low quality could be identified investigating surgery and medication and/or CM to improve subfertility.
- Though there is a lack of research specifically addressing the impact of non-medical strategies in the treatment of endometriosis-related symptoms, more studies are emerging. It seems evident that patients are searching for alternative ways of managing and coping without or alongside surgical and pharmacological interventions.
 - ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021 DRAFT FOR REVIEW

- 3690 Research recommendation
- Adequately designed trials are needed to define the magnitude of the benefit of non-medical
 interventions (nutrition, Chinese medicine, electrotherapy, acupuncture, physiotherapy, exercise,
 and psychological interventions) in endometriosis.
- Further research into non-medical interventions for women with endometriosis that employ evidence-based protocols with high intervention integrity is recommended.
- 3696 Further information
- 3697 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 3698 III.7).
- 3699 References
- Ding Z, Lian F. Traditional Chinese medical herbs staged therapy in infertile women with endometriosis: a clinical study. *Int J Clin Exp Med* 2015;8: 14085-14089.
- Flower A, Liu JP, Lewith G, Little P, Li Q. Chinese herbal medicine for endometriosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012: Cd006568.
- 3704 Mier-Cabrera J, Genera-Garcia M, De la Jara-Diaz J, Perichart-Perera O, Vadillo-Ortega F, Hernandez-Guerrero
- C. Effect of vitamins C and E supplementation on peripheral oxidative stress markers and pregnancy rate in women with endometriosis. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2008;100: 252-256.
- 3707Zhu S, Liu D, Huang W, Wang Q, Wang Q, Zhou L, Feng G. Post-laparoscopic oral contraceptive combined3708with Chinese herbal mixture in treatment of infertility and pain associated with minimal or mild endometriosis:

RAFIE

- a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Complement Altern Med* 2014;14: 222.
- 3710

3711 III.8. Fertility Preservation

3712 PICO QUESTION: IS ENDOMETRIOSIS AN INDICATION FOR FERTILITY PRESERVATION (OVARIAN 3713 TISSUE / OOCYTES)?

3714

Patients with severe endometriosis, particularly bilateral endometriomas, are at high risk of POI and lower AMH levels. Surgical treatment can further impact on ovarian reserve and AMH levels. The relevance of pre-treatment AMH levels to predict the chance of future pregnancy or the need for fertility preservation is unclear, as studies reporting on this have made conflicting conclusions.

A previous ESHRE guideline focusing on fertility preservation, considers that benign diseases could be an indication for fertility preservation, but it does not address whether endometriosis is an indication for fertility preservation. The guideline did state that if AMH levels are measured in women with endometriosis, the levels should be assessed after surgery based on the significant negative impact surgery may have (ESHRE Guideline Group on Female Fertility Preservation, *et al.*, 2020).

A recent large retrospective study by Cobo et al. described the outcome of fertility preservation 3725 using vitrified oocytes in 485 patients with endometriomas of at least 1cm and an AFC of at least 3 3726 and found oocyte survival rates after warming of 83.2% and a cumulative LBR of 46.4%. This led 3727 3728 them to conclude that fertility preservation is a valid treatment option in endometriosis (Cobo, et al., 2020). Of importance is the high rate of women coming back to thaw their gametes (43%), 3729 although this does not equal systematically recommending oocyte banking (Somigliana and 3730 Vercellini, 2020). This high rate and the short period of time between storing and thawing (mean 1.5 3731 years) suggest that a large proportion of the included women did not undergo proper fertility 3732 preservation but, conversely, the oocyte freezing was part of a strategy of infertility treatment 3733 (Cobo, et al., 2020). Further, a small retrospective study by Kim et al. has shown that the number of 3734 oocytes retrieved was significantly lower in the patients with endometrioma undergoing fertility 3735 preservation compared with that in infertile patients without endometrioma (5.4 ± 3.8 versus 8.1 ± 3736 4.8; P=0.045). 3737

When ovarian stimulation is not possible or declined by the patient, and surgery is performed for large endometrioma(s), the preservation of ovarian tissue can be an alternative option for fertility preservation, although data in women with endometriosis are scarce (Donnez, *et al.*, 2018).

3741 Recommendations

In case of extensive ovarian endometriosis, clinicians should discuss the pros and cons of fertility preservation with women with endometriosis. The true benefit of fertility preservation in women with endometriosis remains unknown. $\oplus OOO$

3742 Justification

Oocyte cryopreservation is expensive and exposes women to some clinical risks. Although the 3743 study of Cobo et al. shows the feasibility of fertility preservation (oocyte freezing) in women with 3744 ovarian endometriosis, still many questions (e.g. (cost-)effectiveness) remain unanswered, and 3745 there is currently insufficient data to support fertility preservation for all women with endometriosis. 3746 It is acknowledged that for some women with endometriosis, fertility preservation may increase 3747 their future chances of pregnancy, but there is no evidence on criteria to select those women. 3748 Based on these considerations, the GDG formulated a strong recommendation for counselling and 3749 information provision. 3750

For further advise on fertility preservation in women with benign diseases, the ESHRE guideline can
be consulted (ESHRE Guideline Group on Female Fertility Preservation, *et al.*, 2020).

- 3753 Research recommendation
- 3754 Studies should focus on identification of women with endometriosis who have higher chances of
- 3755 becoming infertile in the future due to endometriosis or endometriosis surgery (and/or who will

- need ART anyway). These women would have a true benefit from fertility preservation and this 3756 evidence would support a future recommendation supporting FP in selected women with 3757 endometriosis. 3758
- 3759 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 3760 3761 III.8)
- 3762 References
- 3763 Cobo A, Giles J, Paolelli S, Pellicer A, Remohí J, García-Velasco JA. Oocyte vitrification for fertility preservation 3764 in women with endometriosis: an observational study. Fertil Steril 2020;113: 836-844.
- 3765 Donnez J, Garcia-Solares J, Dolmans MM. Ovarian endometriosis and fertility preservation: a challenge in 2018. 3766 Minerva Ginecol 2018;70: 408-414.
- ESHRE Guideline Group on Female Fertility Preservation, Anderson RA, Amant F, Braat D, D'Angelo A, Chuva 3767 de Sousa Lopes SM, Demeestere I, Dwek S, Frith L, Lambertini M et al. ESHRE guideline: female fertility 3768 preservation. *Hum Reprod Open* 2020;2020: hoaa052. 3769
- 3770 Somigliana E, Vercellini P. Fertility preservation in women with endometriosis: speculations are finally over,
- the time for real data is initiated. Fertil Steril 2020;113: 765-766. 3771
- 3772

usi

3773 III.9 Impact of endometriosis on pregnancy and pregnancy outcome

3774 NARRATIVE QUESTION: WHAT IS THE IMPACT OF ENDOMETRIOSIS ON 3775 PREGNANCY AND OBSTETRIC OUTCOME?

3776 III.9.a. Effect of pregnancy on endometriotic lesions

It is not uncommon for women with endometriosis to be advised that becoming pregnant might be 3777 a useful strategy to manage symptoms and reduce disease progression, as 'pseudopregnancy' 3778 induced through hormonal therapies has a positive effect on symptoms. However, the scanty 3779 low/moderate quality data available as reviewed by Leeners et al, show that the behaviour of 3780 3781 endometriotic lesions during pregnancy seems to be variable, ranging from complete disappearance to increased growth. Although endometriotic lesions in pregnancy may present a 3782 decidual reaction similar to changes in the eutopic endometrium, not all endometriotic lesions 3783 seem to decidualize during pregnancy as atrophia, fibrosis and necrosis are also possible (Leeners, 3784 et al., 2018, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). 3785

3786 The decidualization of an endometrioma in pregnancy may in some cases resemble malignant ovarian tumours posing a clinical diagnostic dilemma, although the true incidence of this 3787 phenomenon is uncertain (prevalence 0-12%, 17 studies reporting 60 cases) [Leone Roberti 3788 Maggiore, 2016 #563]. First-line management in these cases can be done by serial monitoring (with 3789 ultrasound, or MRI if necessary) and expectant management [Leone Roberti Maggiore, 2016 #563]. 3790 When a malignancy is suspected and surgery is considered necessary, a minimally invasive 3791 laparoscopic approach is recommended not later than 23 weeks of pregnancy; these cases should 3792 be referred to a tertiary centre with combined experience in gynaecology, oncology, gynaecologic 3793 ultrasound, and endometriosis (Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). 3794

This lead Leeners *et al.* to conclude that pregnancy does not seem to systematically result in benefits for women with endometriosis, and women should not be advised to discontinue periodic evaluations and/or medical treatment after parturition.

3798 Recommendations

Patients should not be advised to become pregnant with the sole purpose of treating endometriosis, as pregnancy does not always lead to improvement of symptoms or reduction of disease progression. $\Theta O O O$

3799

Endometriomas may change in appearance during pregnancy. In case of finding an atypical endometrioma during ultrasound in pregnancy, it is recommended to refer the patient to a centre with appropriate expertise. $\oplus OOO$

3800 Justification

Although this is considered as a narrative question, recommendations were formulated on safety aspects. The first strong recommendation is based on the evidence summarized in high quality systematic reviews, showing a variable impact of pregnancy on endometriotic lesions. Patients are being advised to become pregnant to cure their endometriosis, and the data clearly indicate that this advise is incorrect. The GDG therefore considered it relevant and important to recommend that women with endometriosis should not be advised to become pregnant with the sole purpose of treating endometriosis.

For the second (strong) recommendation, there are data showing that endometrioma may change appearance during pregnancy, but that this is often unknown and not recognized. As this may lead

to surgical intervention and termination of pregnancy, the GDG formulated a recommendation for

3811 referral to a centre with expertise.

- 3812 Research recommendation
- 3813 Observational studies to assess natural evolution of pre-existing endometrioma or other
- 3814 endometriosis lesions during pregnancy.

III.9.b. Possible complications during pregnancy from a pre-existing endometriosis lesion

3817 Ill.9.b.1. Endometrioma

3818 Complications deriving from ovarian endometriotic cysts, such as infected, enlarged, and ruptured 3819 endometrioma, represent rare events but they should be considered in the differential diagnosis 3820 of pelvic pain during pregnancy (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016). Conservative and 3821 observational management is mostly advisable, although surgery may be necessary in case of 3822 acute abdomen due to torsion or cyst rupture (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016).

3823 III.9.b.2. Gastro-intestinal

3824 Spontaneous intestinal perforation is a serious complication, requiring urgent surgical treatment. It has been hypothesized that extensive decidualization might weaken the bowel wall, or that 3825 adhesions might cause traumas during uterine growth (Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016, Leone 3826 3827 Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2017). During and after pregnancy (mainly in the third trimester) in women with endometriosis, only a small number of cases have been described that were located in the 3828 ileum, appendix, caecum, sigmoid and rectum (Glavind, et al., 2018, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 3829 2016). Non-specific symptoms (acute abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting) were experienced in 3830 3831 94% of the patients (Leone RM 2016). Less than half of these cases had a preoperative diagnosis of endometriosis, and continuation of the pregnancy has been feasible (Glavind, et al., 2018). 3832

3833 III.9.b.3. Urinary system

- 3834 Uro(hemo)peritoneum is very rare: only 2 cases have been reported (Chiodo, *et al.*, 2008, Leone
- 3835 Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2015).

3836 Ill.9.b.4. Uterus

Spontaneous uterine rupture is also very rare and has been described in 3 cases, all with a history
of endometriosis surgery. These ruptures were located in the posterior wall of the uterus at the
lower segment level in all cases (Berlac, *et al.*, 2017, Chester and Israfil-Bayli, 2015, Fettback, *et al.*,
2015, Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016).

3841 III.9.b.5. Vascular: Spontaneous Hemoperitoneum in Pregnancy (SHiP)

Although the etiology of Spontaneous Hemoperitoneum in Pregnancy (SHiP) is still mysterious, its 3842 occurrence seems to be increased in endometriosis. The bleeding arises from pelvic endometriotic 3843 implants or ruptured vessels most often situated on the posterior uterine surface or in the 3844 parametrium. It occurs mostly in the third trimester of pregnancy (up to 42 days postpartum) and is 3845 associated with high maternal and perinatal morbidity/mortality (Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 3846 2016, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2017, Lier, et al., 2017). Neither the stage of endometriosis nor 3847 3848 the previous surgical eradication of endometriotic lesions were associated with the severity of SHiP (Lier, et al., 2017). The usual clinical presentation includes acute abdominal pain, hypovolemic 3849 3850 shock, and signs of fetal distress (Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et 3851 al., 2017, Lier, et al., 2017) and leads in approximatively 94,5% of cases to emergency explorative laparotomy mostly combined with caesarean section (Lier, et al., 2017). 3852

3853 Conclusion

Complications related directly to pre-existing endometriosis lesions are rare, but probably underreported. Such complications may be related to their decidualisation, adhesion formation/stretching and endometriosis-related chronic inflammation (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016). Although rare, they may represent life-threatening situations that may require surgical management.

- 3859 Research recommendation
- 3860There is a need for prospective, well-designed studies to assess: the impact of surgery on3861subsequent pregnancy evolution, disease phenotype and presence of adenomyosis on these2862rare complications
- 3862 rare complications.

3863 III.9.c. Impact of endometriosis on early pregnancy (1st trimester)

3864 III.9.c.1. Miscarriage

- The systematic review of Leone Roberti Maggiore *et al.* concluded that there was some evidence suggesting a possible association between endometriosis and spontaneous miscarriage, although the important methodological concerns regarding the included studies lead the authors to retain this as a controversial conclusion (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016).
- 3869 After this systematic review, other retrospective studies have been published on the subject with 3870 conflicting results.
- 3871 Santulli *et al.* retrospectively compared previously pregnant women with (284) or without 3872 endometriosis (466) and their previous miscarriage rate: this was significantly higher in women with 3873 endometriosis compared with the controls (number of pregnancies : 139/478 [29%] versus 187/964 3874 [19%], respectively). The same results were found in a subgroup analysis among women with or 3875 without a previous history of infertility (53% versus 30%). Further, they observed that this association 3876 was consistent in a sub-analysis for different endometriosis phenotypes (and somewhat higher for 3877 cases of superficial endometriosis) (Santulli, *et al.*, 2016).
- Kohl Schwartz *at al.*, in a retrospective observational study found a higher miscarriage rate in women with endometriosis (35.8%; 95%Cl 29.6% to 42.0%; n=940) compared with disease-free control women (22.0%; 95%Cl 16.7% to 27.0%). This difference was significant in the subfertile group women (50.0% [40.7%–59.4%]) vs. (25.8%; 95%Cl 8.5% to 41.2%), but no difference appeared in the subgroup of fertile women (24.5%; 95%Cl 16.3% to 31.6%) vs. disease-free controls (21.5%; 95%Cl 15.9% to 6.8%). The higher miscarriage rate was observed in women with supposed milder forms (rASRM 1/II 42.1%; 95%Cl 32.6% to 51.4%) (Kohl Schwartz, *et al.*, 2017).
- In a large Scottish national population-based cohort study using record linkage to determine pregnancy outcomes in women with endometriosis versus controls Scotland, Saraswat at al., analysed a cohort of 14 655 women. On multivariable analysis, after adjusting for age, parity, socioeconomic status and year of delivery, the women with endometriosis (86/5375; 1.6%) compared to those without endometriosis (51/8240; 0.6%), presented a significantly higher risk miscarriage with adjusted OR 1.76 (95%Cl 1.44 to 2.15)(Saraswat, *et al.*, 2017).
- Finally, a more recent systematic review by Horton *et al.* focusing on the association of adenomyosis and endometriosis with fertility, obstetric, and neonatal outcomes of women through both assisted reproduction and natural conception, as well as the impact of endometriosis disease subtypes on different stages of the reproductive process -found an increased risk of miscarriage in both adenomyosis and endometriosis (OR 3.40; 95%Cl 1.41 to 8.65 and OR 1.30; 95%Cl 1.25 to 1.35, respectively) (Horton, *et al.*, 2019).
- In conclusion, the data on miscarriage rate in women with endometriosis versus controls aresomewhat conflicting, although most studies and systematic reviews observe an increased risk.

3899 III.9.c.2. Ectopic pregnancy

- Recently, Yong *et al.*, considering 15 studies in a meta-analysis including both cohort studies and case-control studies, observed, despite the high heterogeneity among studies, a possible evidence of an association between endometriosis and ectopic pregnancy (OR 2.16 to 2.66). There were insufficient data to make any conclusions with respect to anatomic characteristics of endometriosis (e.g., stage) or mode of conception (e.g., ART vs spontaneous)(Yong, *et al.*, 2020).
- 3905 Recommendations

Clinicians should be aware that there may be an increased risk of first trimester miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy in women with endometriosis. $\Phi\PhiOO$

3906 Justification

Both miscarriage rate and ectopic pregnancy rate are increased in women with endometriosis versus controls, although this is based on low/moderate quality data. Therefore, higher vigilance is required in case of symptoms suggestive of miscarriage or ectopic pregnancy, such as vaginal bleeding and abdominal pain in the first trimester of pregnancy (strong recommendation).

3911 Research recommendation

Larger studies on the evolution of early pregnancy in women with endometriosis versus controls
 are necessary, particularly with more precise phenotyping including adenomyosis, the role of
 surgery prior to conception and the mode of conception.

III.g.d. Impact of endometriosis on 2nd and 3rd trimester pregnancy and neonatal
 outcome

There have been many studies in the literature showing an association between endometriosis and adverse outcome of pregnancy (maternal, fetal and neonatal) that are summarized below, often with conflicting results. The overall low quality of the evidence, its extreme heterogeneity, mixed disease phenotype studied, potential association/confounding with adenomyosis, mixed modes of conception (non-ART and ART), choice of controls and methodology used should lead to a cautious interpretation of these findings (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016). A selection of outcomes is discussed below.

3924 III.9.d.1. Gestational diabetes (GDM)

In a systematic review and meta-analysis of 33 studies including 3280488 women, Lalani *et al* reported higher odds of gestational diabetes (24 studies, OR 1.26; 95%Cl 1.03 to 1.55) (Lalani, *et al.*, 2018). On the contrary, a subgroup analysis (natural conceptions and ART pregnancies) could not confirm this association (Lalani, *et al.*, 2018). Taking into account the modest effect sizes, the authors conclude that the findings are difficult to interpret considering the observational nature of included studies. Indeed, also other meta-analysis) (Leone Roberti Maggiore, *et al.*, 2016, Perez-Lopez, *et al.*, 2018) Horton *et al.* could not confirm this association (Horton, *et al.*, 2019).

3932 III.9.d.2. Preterm birth / premature rupture of membranes

Fetuses and neonates of women with endometriosis were more likely to have premature rupture 3933 of membranes (OR 2.33; 95%CI 1.39 to 3.90; 7 studies) as well as preterm birth (OR 1.70; 95%CI 1.40 to 3934 2.06; 23 studies) (Lalani, et al., 2018). The latter association was also observed in both women with 3935 3936 natural conception and ART (Lalani, et al., 2018][Horton, 2019 #544). Despite these findings, it should be considered that the identified studies are characterized by marked differences in exposure 3937 categorizations, analytic approaches, disease phenotypes, potential confounding with 3938 adenomyosis, choice of controls and general methodological design, making it difficult to draw 3939 definite conclusions (Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). 3940

3941 III.9.d.3. Placenta praevia

Compared to women without endometriosis, a higher incidence of placenta praevia has been 3942 reported in women with endometriosis, despite the very different study designs employed (OR 3.3; 3943 95%Cl 2.37 to 4.63, 18 studies) (Lalani, et al., 2018, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). This 3944 association was consistent after subgroup analysis in natural conceptions and ART pregnancies 3945 (Lalani, et al., 2018). Horton et al. made a similar conclusion (OR 3.09, CI 2.04–4.68, 9 studies) (Horton, 3946 et al., 2019). A possible explanation might be the abnormal frequency and amplitude of uterine 3947 3948 contractions observed in women with endometriosis, leading to anomalous blastocyst implantation (Kunz, et al., 2000, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). 3949

3950 III.9.d.4. Hypertensive disorders and pre-eclampsia

In a systematic review of 13 studies including 39816 pregnancies with endometriosis diagnosed by 3951 biopsy and 2831065 without endometriosis, Perez-Lopez et al did not find any significant difference 3952 in the incidence of pre-eclampsia, eclampsia and HELLP syndrome, nor they did any difference in 3953 pregnancies achieved spontaneously or by ART (Perez-Lopez, et al., 2018). Leone Roberti Maggiore 3954 et al also did not find an association between endometriosis and hypertensive disorders / pre-3955 eclampsia (Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). Different results have been reported by Lalani et 3956 al, who found pooled results showing higher odds of pre-eclampsia (OR 1.18; 95%Cl 1.01 to 1.39; 13 3957 studies), gestational hypertension and/or pre-eclampsia (OR 1.21; 95%Cl 1.05 to 1.39 ; 24 studies), 3958 without any significant difference between spontaneous and ART pregnancies (Lalani, et al., 2018). 3959 Horton et al. reported higher odds of pre-eclampsia (OR 1.18; 95%Cl 1.03 to 1.36; 11 studies) (Horton, 3960 *et al.*, 2019). 3961

3962 III.9.d.5. Stillbirth

Women with endometriosis were more likely to experience stillbirth (OR 1.29; 95%Cl 1.10 to 1.52; 7 studies) (Lalani, *et al.*, 2018), The OR for intra-uterine death was similar in the Horton paper (OR 1.25; 95%Cl 1.08 to 1.45; 5 studies) (Horton, *et al.*, 2019).

3966 III.g.d.6. Caesarean section

The incidence of caesarean section was found to be higher in women with endometriosis who 3967 become pregnant (OR 1.86; 95%Cl 1.51 to 2.29; 6 studies) (Lalani, et al., 2018) possibly due to the 3968 higher incidence of malpresentation and labour dystocia observed in these women, as well as the 3969 potential influence of previous surgery on the mode of delivery (Lalani, et al., 2018, Leone Roberti 3970 Maggiore, et al., 2016). Interestingly, endometriosis was not found to be associated with higher 3971 caesarean section rate in pregnancies achieved by ART (Lalani, et al., 2018). The meta-analysis by 3972 Horton et al. also reported an increase in caesarean section rate (OR 1.98; 95%CI 1.64 to 2.38; 10 3973 studies) in studies combining ART and natural conception pregnancies, and in studies reporting 3974 only on natural conception (OR 1.82; 95%Cl 1.56 to 2.13; 2 studies) (Horton, et al., 2019). 3975

3976 III.9.d.7. Obstetric haemorrhages (abruptio placentae, ante- and post-partum bleeding)

The systematic review by Leone Roberti Maggiore did not observe an increased incidence of 3977 placental abruption or ante-partum hemorrhage in women with endometriosis versus controls, 3978 Lalani et al found an association between endometriosis and higher risk of ante-partum 3979 hemorrhage (OR 1.69; 95%Cl 1.38 to 2.07; 5 studies) but not placental abruption (OR 1.46; 95%Cl 0.98 3980 to 2.19; 12 studies). The risk of placental abruption was increased in women with endometriosis in 3981 the other meta-analysis (OR 1.87; 95%Cl 1.65 to 2.13; 8 studies) (Horton, et al., 2019). With regards to 3982 post-partum hemorrhage, Lalani et al and Horton et al concluded that the risk is not increased in 3983 3984 women with endometriosis (both after natural and in ART conception) (Lalani, et al., 2018, Leone Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016). 3985

3986 III.g.d.8. Small for gestational age, admission to NICU, neonatal death

Women with endometriosis were more likely to have babies small for gestational age (IUGR<10th%) 3987 (OR 1.28; 95%Cl 1.11 to 1.49; 19 studies), neonatal death (OR 1.78; 95%Cl 1.46 to 2.16; 3 studies), while 3988 the only difference of the subgroups of spontaneous vs ART gestations was only in the incidence 3989 of NICU admission (OR 0.81; 95%Cl 0.28 to 2.36; 1 study) (Lalani, et al., 2018). Some evidence 3990 suggestive of endometriosis with IUGR has been described in other systematic reviews (Leone 3991 Roberti Maggiore, et al., 2016), while recently Horton et al reported higher odds of neonatal 3992 admission following delivery in women with endometriosis (OR 1.29; 95%CI 1.07 to 1.55; 5 studies), 3993 but no increased risk of SGA (Horton, et al., 2019). 3994

3995 Recommendations

Clinicians should be aware of endometriosis-associated complications in pregnancy, although these are rare. As these findings are based on low/moderate quality studies, these results should be interpreted with caution and currently do not warrant increased antenatal monitoring or dissuade women from becoming pregnant.

 $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

3996 Justification

While several studies have reported a higher morbidity in 2nd/3rd trimester of pregnancy and delivery to be associated with endometriosis, these findings are based on low/moderate quality studies. The discrepancies between the meta-analyses, which are largely based on similar studies but use different inclusion criteria and divergent sub-analysis, limits the implications for clinical practice. Although clinicians should be aware of these potential risks, these findings do currently not warrant increased antenatal monitoring in individuals with endometriosis, as studies on appropriate interventions for risk reduction are lacking.

- 4004 Research recommendation
- 4005 Prospective observational studies are needed in pregnant women with endometriosis versus
- 4006 controls to better define obstetric risks for women with endometriosis and the potential usefulness
- 4007 of interventions to prevent them.
- 4008 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (questionIII.9)
- 4011 References
- 4012 Berlac JF, Hartwell D, Skovlund CW, Langhoff-Roos J, Lidegaard O. Endometriosis increases the risk of 4013 obstetrical and neonatal complications. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2017;96: 751-760. doi: 710.1111/aogs.13111.
- 4013 obstetrical and neona 4014 Epub 12017 Mar 13111.
- 4015 Chester JM, Israfil-Bayli F. Endometriosis: a possible cause of uterine rupture in labour? *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2015;35: 638. doi: 610.3109/01443615.01442014.01989823. Epub 01442014 Dec 01443617.
- 4017 Chiodo I, Somigliana E, Dousset B, Chapron C. Urohemoperitoneum during pregnancy with consequent fetal 4018 death in a patient with deep endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2008;15: 202-204. doi: 4019 210.1016/j.jmig.2007.1009.1004.
- Fettback PB, Pereira RM, Domingues TS, Zacharias KG, Chamie LP, Serafini PC. Uterine rupture before the
 onset of labor following extensive resection of deeply infiltrating endometriosis with myometrial invasion. *Int* J Gynaecol Obstet 2015;129: 268-270. doi: 210.1016/j.ijg0.2015.1001.1007. Epub 2015 Mar 1024.
- 4023 Glavind MT, Mollgaard MV, Iversen ML, Arendt LH, Forman A. Obstetrical outcome in women with 4024 endometriosis including spontaneous hemoperitoneum and bowel perforation: a systematic review. *Best* 4025 *Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 2018;51: 41-52.
- Horton J, Sterrenburg M, Lane S, Maheshwari A, Li TC, Cheong Y. Reproductive, obstetric, and perinatal
 outcomes of women with adenomyosis and endometriosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2019;25: 592-632.
- Kohl Schwartz AS, Wolfler MM, Mitter V, Rauchfuss M, Haeberlin F, Eberhard M, von Orelli S, Imthurn B, Imesch
 P, Fink D *et al.* Endometriosis, especially mild disease: a risk factor for miscarriages. *Fertil Steril* 2017;108: 806814.e802. doi: 810.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.1008.1025.
- 4032 Kunz G, Beil D, Huppert P, Leyendecker G. Structural abnormalities of the uterine wall in women with 4033 endometriosis and infertility visualized by vaginal sonography and magnetic resonance imaging. *Hum Reprod* 4034 2000;15: 76-82.
- Lalani S, Choudhry AJ, Firth B, Bacal V, Walker M, Wen SW, Singh S, Amath A, Hodge M, Chen I. Endometriosis and adverse maternal, fetal and neonatal outcomes, a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod* 2018;33: 1854-1865.
- Leeners B, Damaso F, Ochsenbein-Kolble N, Farquhar C. The effect of pregnancy on endometriosis-facts or fiction? *Hum Reprod Update* 2018;24: 290-299.
- Leone Roberti Maggiore U, Ferrero S, Mangili G, Bergamini A, Inversetti A, Giorgione V, Vigano P, Candiani M. A systematic review on endometriosis during pregnancy: diagnosis, misdiagnosis, complications and outcomes. *Hum Reprod Update* 2016;22: 70-103.

- Leone Roberti Maggiore U, Inversetti A, Schimberni M, Vigano P, Giorgione V, Candiani M. Obstetrical complications of endometriosis, particularly deep endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2017;108: 895-912.
- Leone Roberti Maggiore U, Remorgida V, Sala P, Vellone VG, Biscaldi E, Ferrero S. Spontaneous uroperitoneum and preterm delivery in a patient with bladder endometriosis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2015;22: 923-924.
- Lier MCI, Malik RF, Ket JCF, Lambalk CB, Brosens IA, Mijatovic V. Spontaneous hemoperitoneum in pregnancy (SHiP) and endometriosis - A systematic review of the recent literature. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2017;219: 57-65.
- Perez-Lopez FR, Villagrasa-Boli P, Munoz-Olarte M, Morera-Grau A, Cruz-Andres P, Hernandez AV.
 Association Between Endometriosis and Preterm Birth in Women With Spontaneous Conception or Using
 Assisted Reproductive Technology: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies. *Reprod Sci* 2018;25: 311-319.
- Santulli P, Marcellin L, Menard S, Thubert T, Khoshnood B, Gayet V, Goffinet F, Ancel PY, Chapron C. Increased
 rate of spontaneous miscarriages in endometriosis-affected women. *Hum Reprod* 2016;31: 1014-1023. doi:
 1010.1093/humrep/dew1035. Epub 2016 Mar 1019.
- 4058 Saraswat L, Ayansina DT, Cooper KG, Bhattacharya S, Miligkos D, Horne AW, Bhattacharya S. Pregnancy 4059 outcomes in women with endometriosis: a national record linkage study. *Bjog* 2017;124: 444-452.
- 4060 Yong PJ, Matwani S, Brace C, Quaiattini A, Bedaiwy MA, Albert A, Allaire C. Endometriosis and Ectopic 4061 Pregnancy: A Meta-analysis. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 352-361.e352.
- 4062

or and the second secon
⁴⁰⁶³ IV. Endometriosis recurrence

4064 Recurrence in endometriosis has been defined as recurrence of pain (dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, 4065 or pelvic pain), as clinical (pelvic fibrotic areas or tender nodules) or radiological detection of 4066 recurrent endometriosis lesions, or as repeat rise of the marker CA-125 after surgery (Ceccaroni, *et 4*067 *al.*, 2019). Recently, recurrence was defined as lesion recurrence on reoperation or imaging after 4068 previous complete excision of the disease (International working group of AAGL ASRM ESGE 4069 ESHRE and WES, *et al.*, 2021).

- Endometriosis recurrence rates vary widely in the literature, ranging from 0% to 89.6% (Ceccaroni, *et al.*, 2019). This variety can be attributed to different definitions, but also to the length of followup, the study design and the sample size, the type and stage of disease, the type of surgery and the postoperative medical treatment (Ceccaroni, *et al.*, 2019).
- 4074 Risk factors for recurrence include surgery-associated variables (presence and extent of 4075 adhesions, radicality of surgery) and patient-related factors (positive family history, lower age at 4076 surgery) (Ceccaroni, *et al.*, 2019).
- 4077 This chapter describes interventions aimed at prevention of recurrence, and the management of 4078 recurrent endometriosis.
- 4079
- 4080 IV.1 Prevention of recurrence of endometriosis
- Interventions for secondary prevention are defined as those aimed at stopping or slowing the progress of the disease after the diagnosis has been established. In the context of this guideline, secondary prevention was defined as prevention of the recurrence of pain symptoms (dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, non-menstrual pelvic pain) or the recurrence of disease (recurrence of endometriosis lesions documented by ultrasound for ovarian endometrioma or by laparoscopy for all endometriosis lesions) in the long-term (more than 6 months after surgery).
- 4087

4088 PICO QUESTION: IS THERE A ROLE FOR SECONDARY PREVENTION OF RECURRENCE OF DISEASE 4089 AND PAINFUL SYMPTOMS IN PATIENTS TREATED FOR ENDOMETRIOSIS?

4090 IV.1.a. Surgical technique for prevention of recurrence

In women operated on for an endometrioma (≥3 cm), clinicians should perform ovarian cystectomy,
instead of drainage and electrocoagulation, for the secondary prevention of endometriosisassociated dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and non-menstrual pelvic pain (Hart, *et al.*, 2008, Hart, *et*al., 2005).

There are currently no studies allowing firm conclusions on the effect on recurrence for different surgical techniques for deep endometriosis.

4097 Recommendations

When surgery is indicated in women with an endometrioma, clinicians should perform ovarian cystectomy, instead of drainage and electrocoagulation, for the secondary prevention of endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, and non-menstrual pelvic pain. However, the risk of reduced ovarian reserve should be taken into account.

 $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

4098 Justification

4099 Cystectomy is probably superior to drainage and coagulation in women with ovarian 4100 endometrioma (≥ 3cm) with regard to the recurrence of endometriosis-associated pain and the

- recurrence of endometrioma. A strong recommendation was formulated in favour of cystectomy.
 Whenever ovarian surgery is performed, the impact on ovarian reserve (i.e., the risk) should be
 carefully considered against the benefit.
- 4104 Further information
- 4105 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question4106 IV.1)

4107 IV.1.b. Medical therapies for prevention of recurrence

- Hormonal treatment after surgery aimed at secondary prevention should be distinguished from
 adjunctive short-term (< 6 months) hormonal treatment after surgery aimed at improving the
 immediate outcomes of surgery. Postoperative adjunctive hormonal therapy within 6 months after
 surgery is discussed in section II.4 Medical therapies adjunct to surgery.
- Two aspects are to be considered, the type of medical therapy and the subtype of endometriosis.

4113 IV.1.b.1 Type of medical therapy

- In the review by Chen *et al*, data on long-term (13-24 months) pain and disease recurrence are summarized and considered relevant for the assessment of interventions aimed at secondary prevention. The review reported uncertainty about the effect of postsurgical medical therapy (GnRH agonists or OCP) on pain recurrence compared to surgery alone (RR 0.70; 95%Cl 0.47 to 1.03; 3 RCTs; n=312). With regards to disease recurrence, the review showed that there may be a reduction of disease recurrence in favour of postsurgical hormonal therapy (OCP, GnRH agonists, danazol) compared to no postsurgical medical therapy (RR 0.40; 95%Cl 0.27 to 0.58; 4 RCTs; n=571).
- 4121 Another recent review made a similar conclusion (based on similar studies) (Zakhari, *et al.*, 2020), 4122 but also conducted an analysis per treatment (OCP, progestin, LNG-IUS and GnRH agonist)
- suggesting that the OCP had most overall benefit when compared to the other treatments.

4124 *Hormonal contraceptives*

- In the review of Zakhari *et al*, a subgroup analysis for OCP showed a consistent decreased risk of
 disease recurrence, compared to controls for OCP (RR 0.32; 95%CI 0.23 to 0.44; 6 studies; n=854;
 fixed effect model). OCP was administered continuously in all but one study (Zakhari, *et al.*, 2020).
- A review focusing exclusively on postoperative OCP, showed that in women with surgically treated 4128 4129 endometriosis, including ovarian cystectomy if an endometrioma was present, postoperative OCP for 6 to 24 months can be effective for the prevention of endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea, 4130 but not for non-menstrual pelvic pain or dyspareunia. However, this effect is not sufficiently 4131 substantiated if postoperative OCP are used for only 6 months either cyclically (evidence not 4132 convincing) or continuously (evidence controversial) (Seracchioli, et al., 2009). Since both 4133 continuous and cyclic OCP administration regimens seem to have comparable effects, the choice 4134 of regimen can be made according to patient preferences. The protective effect seems to be 4135 related to the duration of treatment (Seracchioli, et al., 2009). 4136

4137 *Progestogens*

- In women with moderate to severe dysmenorrhea receiving operative laparoscopy for
 endometriosis, recurrence of dysmenorrhea was lower in the group with a levonorgestrelreleasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) postoperatively than in the control group receiving
 expectant management (Abou-Setta, *et al.*, 2006, Abou-Setta, *et al.*, 2013).
- A more recent meta-analysis on the topic included 7 studies: 4 randomized controlled trials with 212 patients, 1 prospective cohort study with 88 patients, and 2 retrospective studies with 191 patients (Song, *et al.*, 2018). The meta-analysis showed that LNG-IUS was significantly effective in reducing pain after surgery (MD 12.97; 95%CI 5.55 to 20.39), with a comparable effect to GnRH agonist (MD 0.16; 95%CI 2.02 to 1.70). LNG-IUS was also effective in decreasing the recurrence rate (RR 0.40; 95%CI 0.26 to 0.64), with an effect comparable to OCP (OR 1.00; 95%CI 0.25 to 4.02) and danazol (RR 0.30; 95%CI 0.03 to 2.81). Furthermore, patients' satisfaction with LNG-IUS was

significantly higher than that with OCP (OR 8.60; 95%Cl 1.03 to 71.86). However, vaginal bleeding
was significantly higher in the LNG-IUS group than in the gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist
group (RR 27.0; 95%Cl 1.71 to 425.36).

A retrospective study comparing postoperative treatment with dienogest (n=130), LNG-IUS (n=72) or no treatment (n=83), confirmed the efficacy of the LNG-IUS for postoperative pain control and prevention of recurrence (6, 12 and 24 months), but could not make a conclusion on the superiority of LNG-IUS compared to dienogest (Lee, *et al.*, 2018).

In the review of Zakhari et al, a subgroup analysis for progestogen included a single small study 4156 showing a non-significant decreased risk of disease recurrence, compared to controls for (RR 0.17, 4157 95%Cl 0.02 to 1.36, 32 patients). (Zakhari, et al., 2020). In a study by Trivedi et al, 98 patients suffering 4158 from minimal, mild, moderate or severe endometriosis, with or without infertility, who had 4159 4160 undergone laparoscopy, were treated with dydrogesterone 10 mg/day (or 20 mg/day in severe cases) orally from day 5 to day 25 of each cycle for 3 to 6 months. Pelvic pain, dysmenorrhea and 4161 dyspareunia improved significantly after the first cycle of treatment. By the end of the sixth cycle, 4162 the reduction in pelvic pain, dysmenorrhea and dyspareunia was 95%, 87% and 85%, respectively. 4163 A total of 21.1% of the patients were considered cured and 66.7% showed improvement (Trivedi, et 4164 4165 *al.*, 2007).

4166 GnRH agonists

In the review of Zakhari *et al*, a subgroup analysis for GnRH agonist reported a significant decreased risk of disease recurrence, compared to controls for (RR 0.33; 95%Cl 0.51 to 0.87; 7 studies; 929 patients) (Zakhari, *et al.*, 2020).

4169 patients) (Zakhari, *et al.*, 2020).

4170 IV.1.b.2 Endometriosis subtype

4171 Although most studies and reviews on postoperative medical therapy evaluated its effect in an 4172 unselected population of women with endometriosis, few studies have specifically evaluated the 4173 benefit of medical therapies in women surgically treated for endometrioma or deep endometriosis.

4174 Ovarian endometrioma

- In a review by Vercellini, two studies specifically evaluating the effect of postoperative hormonal contraceptives on endometrioma recurrence were summarized (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2010). Based on the pooled results, the reviewers reported that a recurrent endometrioma developed in 26/250 women who regularly used oral contraceptive postoperatively (10%; 95%CI 7 to 15%) compared with 46/115 who did not use oral contraceptive (40%; 95%CI 31 to 50%), with a common OR of 0.16 (95%CI 0.04 to 0.65) (Seracchioli, *et al.*, 2010, Vercellini, *et al.*, 2008, Vercellini, *et al.*, 2010).
- 4181 Another review summarized the data for continuous versus cyclic postoperative hormonal therapy. 4182 In a meta-analysis of 2 studies, they reported endometrioma recurrence in 6/102 women with 4183 continuous use versus 12/103 women with cyclic contraceptive use (RR 0.53; 95%Cl 0.22 to 1.31) 4184 (Muzii, *et al.*, 2016)

4185 *Deep endometriosis*

Available data about usage of hormonal treatments for prevention of deep endometriosis 4186 recurrence are less robust whereas long-term administration of postoperative hormonal 4187 treatments seems to prevent recurrence of endometriosis-associated symptoms (Koga, et al., 4188 2015). The review refers to a single prospective study showing an overall recurrence rate of 7% after 4189 surgical management of deep endometriosis in 500 women with a follow-up of 2 to 6 years. The 4190 rate of recurrence was lower in women who conceived after pregnancy and used postpartum 4191 progestogens compared to those who had abandoned treatment but did not become pregnant 4192 (Donnez and Squifflet, 2010). 4193

4195

Recommendations

Clinicians should consider prescribing combined hormonal contraceptives for prevention of endometrioma recurrence after cystectomy in women not $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ immediately seeking conception.

4196

Clinicians should consider prescribing the postoperative use of a levonorgestrelreleasing intrauterine system (52 mg LNG-IUS) or a combined hormonal contraceptive for at least 18–24 months for the secondary prevention of endometriosis-associated dysmenorrhea.

4197

After surgical management of ovarian endometrioma in women not immediately seeking conception, clinicians are recommended to offer long-term hormonal treatment for the secondary prevention of endometrioma and endometriosis-associated related symptom recurrence.

4198

For the recurrence prevention of deep endometriosis and associated symptoms, long-term administration of postoperative hormonal treatment can be considered.

4199 Justification

Even if efficacy of OCP is documented for dysmenorrhea, it is not confirmed for non-menstrual pelvic pain or dyspareunia. Still, if they do not wish to conceive, women can use regular oral contraceptives for prevention of endometriosis recurrence. For LNG-IUS, evidence shows a positive effect on postoperative pain, disease recurrence, and patients' satisfaction after surgery for endometriosis-associated pain.

Still, there is no overwhelming evidence to support particular treatments over others with the aim 4205 of secondary prevention of the disease and of symptoms recurrence (in particular dysmenorrhea). 4206 Combined oral contraceptives, preferably in a continuous regimen, and progestins can be 4207 considered feasible options as first-line treatments. For both OCP and LNG-IUS, strong 4208 recommendations in favour of postoperative therapy were formulated. Still, the choice of 4209 4210 intervention should be discussed and decided taking into account patient preferences, costs, availability, and side effects. When prescribing such treatment, there contraceptive properties 4211 should be considered and weighed against the wishes of the women to become pregnant. 4212

4213 Although reviews and studies show a benefit of postoperative medical therapy for women with 4214 endometriosis, data specified per subtype are scarce. For ovarian endometrioma, a strong 4215 recommendation in favour was considered justified, while for deep endometriosis, only a weak 4216 recommendation could be formulated.

4217 Further information

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question IV.1)

4220 IV.1.c. ART and endometriosis recurrence

The available evidence on the impact of ovarian stimulation on the progression of endometriosis or its recurrence was recently summarized in a systematic review (Somigliana, *et al.*, 2019). Based on 11 case reports and 5 observational studies, the review concluded that: ART does not increase the risk of endometriosis recurrence. Based on low to very low-quality evidence and therefore less reliable, the reviewer further reported that (i) the impact of ART on ovarian endometriomas, if present at all, is mild, (ii) IUI may increase the risk of endometriosis recurrence and (iii) deep endometriosis might progress with ovarian stimulation. 4228

8 Recommendations

4229 Justification

From a systematic review including moderate quality evidence, ART was not associated with increased endometriosis recurrence rate, and therefore should not be withheld from women with endometriosis requiring ART to achieve pregnancy. Patients with endometriosis can be reassured

- 4233 regarding the safety of ART.
- 4234 Further information
- 4235 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4236 IV.1)
- 4237 References
- 4238 Abou-Setta AM, Al-Inany HG, Farquhar CM. Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine device (LNG-IUD) for 4239 symptomatic endometriosis following surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006: Cd005072.
- 4240 Abou-Setta AM, Houston B, Al-Inany HG, Farquhar C. Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine device (LNG-IUD) 4241 for symptomatic endometriosis following surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013: Cd005072.
- 4242 Ceccaroni M, Bounous VE, Clarizia R, Mautone D, Mabrouk M. Recurrent endometriosis: a battle against an 4243 unknown enemy. *Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care* 2019: 1-11.
- 4244 Donnez J, Squifflet J. Complications, pregnancy and recurrence in a prospective series of 500 patients 4245 operated on by the shaving technique for deep rectovaginal endometriotic nodules. *Hum Reprod* 2010;25: 4246 1949-1958.
- 4247 Hart RJ, Hickey M, Maouris P, Buckett W. Excisional surgery versus ablative surgery for ovarian 4248 endometriomata. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008.
- 4249 Hart RJ, Hickey M, Maouris P, Buckett W, Garry R. Excisional surgery versus ablative surgery for ovarian 4250 endometriomata. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2005: Cd004992.
- International working group of AAGL ASRM ESGE ESHRE and WES, Johnson N, Petrozza J, Tomassetti C,
 Abrao MS, Einarsson JI, AW H, Lee TTM, Missmer S, Vermeulen N *et al.* An International Glossary on
 Endometriosis *(submitted for publication)* 2021.
- 4254 Koga K, Takamura M, Fujii T, Osuga Y. Prevention of the recurrence of symptom and lesions after conservative 4255 surgery for endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2015;104: 793-801.
- Lee KH, Jung YW, Song SY, Kang BH, Yang JB, Ko YB, Lee M, Han HY, Yoo HJ. Comparison of the efficacy of diegnogest and levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system after laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* 2018;44; 1779-1786.
- 4259 Muzii L, Di Tucci C, Achilli C, Di Donato V, Musella A, Palaia I, Panici PB. Continuous versus cyclic oral 4260 contraceptives after laparoscopic excision of ovarian endometriomas: a systematic review and metaanalysis. 4261 *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;214: 203-211.
- Seracchioli R, Mabrouk M, Frasca C, Manuzzi L, Savelli L, Venturoli S. Long-term oral contraceptive pills and postoperative pain management after laparoscopic excision of ovarian endometrioma: a randomized controlled trial. *Fertil Steril* 2010;94: 464-471.
- Seracchioli R, Mabrouk M, Manuzzi L, Vicenzi C, Frasca C, Elmakky A, Venturoli S. Post-operative use of oral
 contraceptive pills for prevention of anatomical relapse or symptom-recurrence after conservative surgery
 for endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2009;24: 2729-2735.
- 4268 Somigliana E, Vigano P, Benaglia L, Busnelli A, Paffoni A, Vercellini P. Ovarian stimulation and endometriosis 4269 progression or recurrence: a systematic review. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2019;38: 185-194.
- 4270 Song SY, Park M, Lee GW, Lee KH, Chang HK, Kwak SM, Yoo HJ. Efficacy of levonorgestrel releasing 4271 intrauterine system as a postoperative maintenance therapy of endometriosis: A meta-analysis. *Eur J Obstet* 4272 *Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2018;231: 85-92.
- 4273 Trivedi P, Selvaraj K, Mahapatra PD, Srivastava S, Malik S. Effective post-laparoscopic treatment of 4274 endometriosis with dydrogesterone. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 2007;23 Suppl 1: 73-76.
- 4275 Vercellini P, Somigliana E, Daguati R, Vigano P, Meroni F, Crosignani PG. Postoperative oral contraceptive 4276 exposure and risk of endometrioma recurrence. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2008;198: 504.e501-505.

- 4277 Vercellini P, Somigliana E, Vigano P, De Matteis S, Barbara G, Fedele L. Post-operative endometriosis 4278 recurrence: a plea for prevention based on pathogenetic, epidemiological and clinical evidence. *Reprod* 4279 *Biomed Online* 2010;21: 259-265.
- Zakhari A, Delpero E, McKeown S, Tomlinson G, Bougie O, Murji A. Endometriosis recurrence following postoperative hormonal suppression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2020.
- 4282

backton

4283 IV.2 Treatment of recurrent endometriosis

4284 PICO QUESTION: HOW SHOULD PATIENTS WITH REOCCURRING ENDOMETRIOSIS OR RECURRING
 4285 SYMPTOMS BE MANAGED? IS REPETITIVE SURGERY EFFECTIVE FOR SYMPTOMS ASSOCIATED WITH
 4286 ENDOMETRIOSIS?

4287 IV.2.a. Medical treatment for recurrent endometriosis

- 4288 Medical treatment of recurrent endometriosis after surgery has been described in few RCTs and 4289 uncontrolled observational studies.
- In an RCT, 242 women with recurrent pelvic pain within 1 year following laparoscopic surgery were randomized to dienogest) or depot leuprolide acetate, there was no difference between VAS scores for pelvic pain, back pain, dyspareunia or endometrioma size between the 2 treatment at 12 weeks follow-up. Dienogest and depot leuprolide acetate showed a different side effect profile; fewer hot flushes and vaginal dryness with dienogest, less vaginal bleeding and weight gain with leuprolide acetate (Abdou, *et al.*, 2018).
- Another RCT compared 6-month treatment with desogestrel or OCP in 40 women with recurrent dysmenorrhea and/or pelvic pain after conservative surgery. Both treatments resulted in a significant decrease of VAS scores at 6 months compared to baseline. There was no difference between the treatments with regards to efficacy. Breakthrough bleeding was more often reported with desogestrel, while weight gain was reported with OCP (Razzi, *et al.*, 2007).
- In the RCT by Vercellini and colleagues, 90 women with recurrent moderate or severe pelvic pain after conservative surgery for symptomatic endometriosis, were randomised to 6-month treatment with cyproterone acetate or a continuous monophasic OCP (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2002). The study showed no difference in efficacy for cyproterone acetate versus a continuous monophasic OCP. In both groups, about 70% of patients were satisfied with the treatment.
- 4306 In the study of Koshiba *et al*, dienogest treatment immediately after recurrence was effective in 4307 controlling disease progression. The study consisted of a small cohort of 11 patients with 4308 endometrioma recurrence that received dienogest, of which 7 patients were followed up for 24 4309 months and in four of them (57.1%) complete resolution of recurrent endometrioma was achieved 4310 (Koshiba, *et al.*, 2018).
- In the study from Lee, 121 women with surgically confirmed endometriosis and previous 4311 cystectomy treated with dienogest (2mg) at detection of recurrence of symptoms (dysmenorrhea 4312 or pelvic pain) (n=33) or disease (n=88) (new endometrioma of minimum 2cm) (Lee, et al., 2018). 4313 Dienogest was effective in reducing the size of endometriomas (2.74±1.53 at 24 weeks versus 4314 4315 3.77±1.59 at baseline) and for symptomatic relief (VAS score 2.32 ± 0.95 at 24 weeks versus 5.01 ± 1.71 at baseline). Medical treatment for recurrent symptoms after medical treatment was described 4316 by Hornstein *et al.* In a trial, 36 women with recurring endometriosis symptoms after 3 or 6 months 4317 nafarelin treatment were retreated with nafarelin (200µg twice daily for 3 months). The study 4318 reported improvements for dysmenorrhea, pelvic pain, tenderness, induration, and dyspareunia. 4319 4320 Symptoms worsened after the end of the 3 months nafarelin treatment, but dysmenorrhea and pelvic tenderness remained improved compared to the start of retreatment (Hornstein, et al., 1997). 4321

4322 IV.2.b. Surgical treatment for recurrent endometriosis

To our knowledge, there are no studies reporting on the efficacy and safety of surgical treatment for recurrent endometriosis apart from one small, uncontrolled study. In the study by Candiani *et al*, surgery for recurrent endometriosis was performed in 42 women (Candiani, *et al.*, 1991). During a mean follow-up 41.8 ± 30.3 months, recurrence of dysmenorrhea and pelvic pain were reported in 8 (19%) and 7 (17%) of the women, respectively. A third surgery was performed in 6 (14%) women after reappearance of symptoms or clinical signs. The study did not include a control group, and some patients received pre- or postoperative medical treatment.

- 4330 Specifically for endometrioma, a small prospective study (n=11) showed that surgery for recurrent endometriomas is more harmful to healthy ovarian tissue and ovarian reserve than first surgery as 4331 demonstrated by removal of larger ovarian tissue at histology and a trend towards lower AFC (3.5 4332 ± 1.4 after second surgery vs 5.1 ± 2.8 after the first surgery) at follow-up (3 months after surgery) 4333 (Muzii, et al., 2015). 4334
- Recommendations 4335

The GDG recommends that any hormonal treatment or surgery could be offered to 000 treat recurring pain symptoms

4336 Justification

Recurrence of endometriosis is a prevalent clinical observation, but yet, evidence specifically 4337 addressing are scarce and direct evidence of efficacy is only available for GnRH agonists, dienogest 4338 and letrozole. While acknowledging the lack of evidence, it should not be considered directive 4339 towards prioritizing certain treatments over others that have been shown effective in relieving 4340 endometriosis-associated pain. Therefore, the GDG recommends that any hormonal treatment or 4341 4342 surgery could be offered. The benefits, risks and side effects of the different hormonal and surgical treatment are discussed in sections II.2 and II.3, respectively. (Healey, et al., 2010) 4343

- Even if treatment options are available, other causes for the pain symptoms should be investigated, 4344
- particularly if the recurrence of symptoms occurs soon after adequate surgery. 4345
- Further information 4346
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4347 4348 $|V.2\rangle$
- 4349 References
- Abdou AM, Ammar IMM, Alnemr AAA, Abdelrhman AA Dienogest Versus Leuprolide Acetate for Recurrent 4350 Pelvic Pain Following Laparoscopic Treatment of Endometriosis. J Obstet Gynaecol India 2018;68: 306-313. 4351
- Candiani GB, Fedele L, Vercellini P, Bianchi S, Di Nola G. Repetitive conservative surgery for recurrence of 4352 endometriosis. Obstet Gynecol 1991;77: 421-424. 4353
- Healey M, Ang WC, Cheng C. Surgical treatment of endometriosis: a prospective randomized double-blinded 4354 trial comparing excision and ablation. Fertil Steril 2010;94: 2536-2540. 4355
- Hornstein MD, Yuzpe AA, Burry K, Buttram VC, Jr., Heinrichs LR, Soderstrom RM, Steinberger E, Lin JS. 4356 Retreatment with nafarelin for recurrent endometriosis symptoms: efficacy, safety, and bone mineral density. 4357 Fertil Steril 1997;67: 1013-1018. 4358
- Koshiba A, Mori T, Okimura H, Akiyama K, Kataoka H, Takaoka O, Ito F, Matsushima H, Kusuki I, Kitawaki J. 4359 4360 Dienogest therapy during the early stages of recurrence of endometrioma might be an alternative therapeutic 4361 option to avoid repeat surgeries. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2018;44: 1970-1976.
- 4362 Lee KH, Jung YW, Song SY, Kang BH, Yang JB, Ko YB, Lee M, Han HY, Yoo HJ. Comparison of the efficacy of 4363 diegnogest and levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system after laparoscopic surgery for endometriosis. J 4364 Obstet Gynaecol Res 2018;44: 1779-1786.
- Muzii L, Achilli C, Lecce F, Bianchi A, Franceschetti S, Marchetti C, Perniola G, Panici PB. Second surgery for 4365 4366 recurrent endometriomas is more harmful to healthy ovarian tissue and ovarian reserve than first surgery. 4367 Fertility and sterility 2015;103: 738-743.
- 4368 Razzi S, Luisi S, Ferretti C, Calonaci F, Gabbanini M, Mazzini M, Petraglia F. Use of a progestogen only preparation containing desogestrel in the treatment of recurrent pelvic pain after conservative surgery for 4369 4370 endometriosis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2007;135: 188-190.
- Vercellini P, De Giorgi O, Mosconi P, Stellato G, Vicentini S, Crosignani PG. Cyproterone acetate versus a 4371
- continuous monophasic oral contraceptive in the treatment of recurrent pelvic pain after conservative surgery 4372
- for symptomatic endometriosis. Fertil Steril 2002;77: 52-61. 4373
- 4374

4375 V. Endometriosis and adolescence

4376 Limited evidence is available about endometriosis and adolescence. There are no large 4377 epidemiologic studies on endometriosis among adolescents.

In different studies, the incidence of endometriosis in adolescents (defined as girls and young women under the age of 20 years) with chronic pelvic pain is reported to be ranging from 25-73%
(Brosens, *et al.*, 2013, Shah and Missmer, 2011). The true disease prevalence in the general adolescent population remains unknown.

4382 As in adults, the pathophysiology of endometriosis in adolescents is largely unknown. 4383 Endometriosis has been described not only in post-menarchal girls, possibly resulting of 4384 retrograde menstruation, but also in prepubertal but post-thelarchal girls, suggesting multifactorial 4385 peripubertal aetiologies of the disease in the adolescent population (Shah and Missmer, 2011).

- In this chapter, the evidence concerning diagnostic and treatment procedures of endometriosisspecific for adolescents is summarized.
- 4388
- 4389 V.1. Diagnosis

PICO QUESTION: WHICH DIAGNOSTIC PROCEDURES SHOULD BE USED FOR ADOLESCENTS WITH POSSIBLE ENDOMETRIOSIS?

4392 V.1.a. Diagnostic process

In adults, the time between onset of symptoms and diagnosing endometriosis is reported to be 4393 approximately 7 years when onset of disease was in adults and more than 12 years if onset of 4394 disease was in adolescence (Geysenbergh, et al., 2017). The diagnostic process in adolescents may 4395 be more complex and the awareness of endometriosis in adolescents in medical professionals and 4396 caregivers of adolescents is low. Greene and co-workers showed in a study about the diagnostic 4397 experience among 4334 women with surgically confirmed endometriosis that women who first 4398 experienced symptoms as adolescents waited three times as long as those with symptoms first as 4399 adults (6 vs 2 years, p<0.0001), it took a longer period of time before diagnosis was made (5.4 vs 1.9 4400 years, p<0.0001), and they were not taken seriously (65.2% vs 48.9%, OR 1.95, 95%Cl 1.69 to 2.24) or 4401 4402 told that nothing was wrong (69.6% vs 49.8%, OR 2.26, 95%Cl 1.97 to 2,59) more often than women experiencing first symptoms as adults (Greene, et al., 2009). 4403

4404 V.1.b. Risk factors for adolescent endometriosis

405 Conflicting results regarding family history, genital malformations, and age at menarche as risk 4406 factors for adolescents to develop endometriosis have been described . A positive family history 4407 for endometriosis may (Shah and Missmer, 2011) or may not (Vicino, *et al.*, 2010) be associated with 4408 adolescent endometriosis, genital malformations leading to outflow obstructions may (Yang, *et al.*, 4409 2012) or may not (Vicino, *et al.*, 2010) be present more often in adolescents with endometriosis, and 4410 early age of menarche may (Brosens, *et al.*, 2013, Geysenbergh, *et al.*, 2017, Treloar, *et al.*, 2010) or 4411 may not (Chapron, *et al.*, 2011) increase the risk of adolescent endometriosis.

Geysenbergh and co-workers conducted a systematic review to develop a questionnaire in order 4412 4413 to identify adolescents at risk to develop endometriosis. From five studies using questionnaires for identifying adult women with endometriosis, six questions were selected to predict the presence 4414 of endometriosis in adolescents. These questions were: age at menarche (earlier age at menarche 4415 is associated with greater incidence of endometriosis when comparing age at menarche of <10 to 4416 12 years, 95%Cl 1.0 to 1.8; p value test for trend <0.001); cycle length (higher incidence of 4417 4418 endometriosis in case of shorter cycle length during adolescence comparing cycle length <26 to 26-31 days (95%Cl 1.1 to 1.5); presence of dysmenorrhea; type of pelvic pain; presence of menstrual 4419

4420 dyschezia; presence of dysuria. The authors state that this questionnaire should be pilot-tested and validated in a large population-based sample before it can be used for screening (Geysenbergh, 4421 et al., 2017). In a study aimed at finding risk factors for deep endometriosis, Chapron and co-workers 4422 investigated 229 women with histologically confirmed endometriosis. They found that the following 4423 factors, present in adolescence, were more frequent in women with deep endometriosis as 4424 compared to women with superficial or ovarian endometriosis: a positive family history for 4425 endometriosis (p=0.02), non-contraceptive use of oral contraceptives (p=0.001), and absenteeism 4426 from school (p=0.04) (Chapron, et al., 2011). 4427

4428 Recommendations

In adolescents, clinicians should take a careful history to identify possible risk factors for endometriosis, such as a positive family history, obstructive genital $\oplus OOO$ malformations, early menarche, or short menstrual cycle.

4429

Clinicians may consider endometriosis in young women presenting with (cyclical) absenteeism from school, or with use of oral contraceptives for treatment of dysmenorrhea. $\oplus OOO$

4430 Justification

- In adolescents, even more than in adults, there is a long way from onset of symptoms to a diagnosis of endometriosis To facilitate diagnosis or at least further investigation, studies have examined risk
- 44.33 factors and signs in adolescents. Knowledge of these risk factors and signs in adolescents could
- facilitate the diagnostic process and is therefore strongly recommended.

4435 Further information

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question V.1).

4438 V.1.c. Clinical symptoms

4439 Unlike in adults, in whom diagnosis can be made based on pain or infertility, adolescents are most 4440 often diagnosed based on pain symptoms only.

Some authors state that adolescent endometriosis may be distinct from adult endometriosis. It has 4441 been speculated that endometriosis in adolescents may be more progressive than endometriosis 4442 in adults, and that clinical presentation of endometriosis in adolescents has a more varying pattern 4443 as compared to the presentation in adults. This assumption may be corroborated by the findings 4444 reported in a retrospective questionnaire study in over 4000 women with surgically confirmed 4445 endometriosis. Women with onset of symptoms during adolescence more frequently reported 4446 other symptoms over their lifetime compared to onset of symptoms as adults: having menstrual 4447 pain in combination with ovulatory as well as non-menstrual pain (71.7% vs 58.3%), heavy bleeding 4448 (63.5% vs 49.3%), premenstrual spotting (37.2% vs 29.3%), bowel symptoms (99.4% vs 97.5%) and 4449 systemic symptoms including nausea/stomach upset or dizziness/headache during menses 4450 (55.2% vs 34.0%; p<0.0001 for all) (Greene, et al., 2009). 4451

4452 Divasta and co-workers asked adults (n=107) and adolescents (n=295) with endometriosis about their endometriosis-related symptoms. No differences between adolescents and adults in severity 4453 of menstrual pain, taking medication for pain, and experiencing only some relief from hormonal 4454 treatment for pain were reported. There were no differences between adults and adolescents in 4455 urinary and bowel symptoms. Adolescents more often experienced pain from menarche (p=0.002) 4456 4457 than adults. Both adults and adolescents experienced general pelvic pain. Adolescents experienced nausea with their pain more often than adults (p=0.004). From this study it was 4458 concluded that dysmenorrhea and acyclic general pelvic pain are common symptoms of 4459 4460 endometriosis in adults as well as in adolescents, and that nausea in combination with pelvic pain

4461 should perhaps be considered a marker to raise suspicion for endometriosis in adolescents (DiVasta, et al., 2018). Results of a study in which early menstrual characteristics in women 4462 diagnosed with endometriosis were investigated, showed that early dysmenorrhea may be a risk 4463 factor or an early sign of endometriosis (Treloar, et al., 2010). In a small retrospective study among 4464 Italian adolescents with surgically confirmed endometriosis (n=38), all reported having chronic 4465 4466 pelvic pain (Vicino, et al., 2010). However, in a retrospective study among 65 Chinese adolescents in whom endometriosis was surgically confirmed, only 13/65 (20.6%) had chronic pelvic pain, 4467 whereas 45 women (69.2%) had cyclic pelvic pain. 19 women (29.2%) had acute abdominal pain, 4468 4469 gastro-intestinal symptoms (n=19, 29.2%), irregular menses (n=5, 7.7%), and dyspareunia (n=1, 1.5%) (Yang, et al., 2012). In conclusion, whereas in adults dysmenorrhea is one of the leading symptoms, 4470 there may be a more varied clinical presentation of endometriosis in adolescents. 4471

4472 Recommendations

In adolescents, clinicians should take a careful history and consider symptoms of chronic or acyclical pelvic pain, particularly combined with nausea , dysmenorrhea, dyschezia, dysuria, dyspareunia, as well as cyclical pelvic pain, as indicative of the presence of endometriosis.

0000

- 4473 Justification
- From the collected data, it can be concluded that a more varied pain pattern is seen in adolescents
- 4475 with endometriosis as compared to adults. Careful history taking and consideration of the
- 4476 differences between adult and adolescent presentation of endometriosis is strongly
- 4477 recommended.

4478 Further information

4479 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question4480 V.1)

4481 V.1.d. Clinical examination

4482 No evidence was found with regard to clinical examination in adolescents. Whether vaginal 4483 examination and/or rectal examination are acceptable in adolescents should be discussed with 4484 the adolescent and her caregiver and may be depending on age and cultural background.

4485 Recommendations

- In the absence of evidence for adolescents specifically, the recommendations for clinical examination in adults can be applied.
- 4488 Clinical examination, including vaginal examination where appropriate, should be
 4489 considered to identify deep nodules or endometriomas in patients with suspected
 4490 endometriosis, although the diagnostic accuracy is low.
- 4491 In women with suspected endometriosis, further diagnostic steps, including imaging,
 4492 should be considered even if the clinical examination is normal.
- The GDG decided to formulate an additional good practice point clarifying specific considerationsin adolescents.

The GDG recommends that before performing vaginal examination and/or rectal examination in adolescents, the acceptability should be discussed with the adolescent and her caregiver, with consideration of the patient's age and cultural background.

GPP

4496 V.1.e. Imaging

Transvaginal ultrasound is a well-accepted diagnostic tool especially for ovarian endometriosis in adult women, but in adolescents, especially in adolescents with an intact hymen, transvaginal ultrasound should only be carried out after careful consideration with the patient and her caregiver. Alternatives for transvaginal ultrasound may be transabdominal, transperineal or transrectal ultrasound. Based on the age and cultural background of the adolescent, the most appropriate method must be selected.

In their study about Chinese adolescents with endometriosis, Yang and co-workers found a pelvic 4503 mass on ultrasound in 87.3% of women, indicating that ultrasound is a reliable method of diagnosing 4504 endometriosis in adolescents, but it was not clear whether transvaginal or transabdominal 4505 ultrasound was used (Yang, et al., 2012). Martire and co-workers conducted transvaginal or 4506 transrectal ultrasound in 270 adolescents having menstrual bleeding problems, endometriosis 4507 4508 related symptoms or no symptoms at all. 13% of these had signs of endometriosis (signs of ovarian endometriosis 61%, adenomyosis 44%, deep endometriosis 28%, and indirect signs of adnexal 4509 4510 adhesions 50%). The authors conclude that transvaginal and transrectal ultrasound can be used as a non-invasive diagnostic test of endometriosis in adolescents (Martire, et al., 2020). Brosens and 4511 4512 co-workers suggest that transvaginal hydrolaparoscopy may be helpful and less invasive than conventional diagnostic laparoscopy for diagnosing endometriosis in adolescents (Brosens, et al., 4513

- 4514 2013). However, transvaginal hydrolaparoscopy is not widely used.
- 4515 Recommendations

Transvaginal ultrasound is recommended to be used in adolescents in whom it is appropriate, as it is effective in diagnosing ovarian endometriosis. If a transvaginal scan is not appropriate, MRI, transabdominal, transperineal, or transrectal scan may be considered where appropriate.

 $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

4516 Justification

There is no direct evidence for the role of ultrasound in adolescents. In adults, transvaginal ultrasound showed good mean specificity and sensitivity for detection of ovarian cysts with reasonable confidence intervals and heterogeneity (strong recommendation in favour) (Nisenblat, *et al.*, 2016).

In young women, especially those with an intact hymen, a careful approach is recommended, Transvaginal US may still be an option, but patients should be informed on what to expect, and which other options are available to them.

4524 Further information

4525 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4526 V.1).

4527 V.1.f. Laboratory parameters

The usefulness of laboratory parameters in diagnosing endometriomas in adolescents was tested 4528 in a retrospective chart review in 267 women with endometriomas and 235 women with other 4529 benign adnexal cysts. Although significant differences were found in haemoglobin levels, platelets, 4530 platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR), platelet crit (PCT) and CA-125 between adolescents with 4531 endometrioma and adolescents with other benign cysts, the authors conclude that these 4532 parameters showed low diagnostic performance for detecting endometriomas with AUC (Seckin, 4533 et al., 2018). In a study with 147 adolescents with surgically confirmed endometriosis and 10 4534 controls, CA125 levels did not discriminate between cases and controls. Moreover, CA125 levels 4535 did not correlate with different pain types and severity (Sasamoto, et al., 2020). 4536

- 4537
- 4538

4539 Recommendations

Serum biomarkers (e.g., CA-125) are not recommended for diagnosing or ruling out endometriosis in adolescents.

4540 Justification

In adults, clinicians are recommended not to use biomarkers in endometrial tissue, blood,
menstrual or uterine fluids to diagnose endometriosis. In adolescents, data support the same
conclusion for serum biomarkers, and hence assessment of serum biomarkers is not
recommended (strong recommendation).

- 4545 Further information
- 4546 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4547 V.1)

4548 V.1.f. Diagnostic laparoscopy

Using diagnostic laparoscopy, endometriosis in adolescents may look different from adult 4549 endometriosis. In adolescents, there may be a predominance of atypical red or clear lesions as 4550 compared to adults (summarized by (Shah and Missmer, 2011)). In a review of 12 studies about the 4551 description of endometriotic lesions using r-AFS classification, differences between adults and 4552 adolescents are the presence of red, vesicular implants and the rarity of deep (>5 mm) or 4553 adenomyotic type of endometriosis in adolescents. Moreover, progression of disease in the 4554 adolescent seems to be primarily characterized by extensive adhesions and endometrioma 4555 formation (Brosens, *et al.*, 2013). In a retrospective clinical study of 38 women ≤ 21 years of age with 4556 surgically confirmed endometriosis, laparoscopic findings were: stage I: n=7 (18.4%), stage II: n=5 4557 (13.2%), stage III: n=13 (34.2%), stage IV: n=13 (34.2%), Ovarian endometriosis was present in 40.6%, 4558 peritoneal in 29.7% and ovarian plus peritoneal in 29.7% (Vicino, et al., 2010). In a retrospective 4559 analysis of 63 adolescents with endometriosis, 7.9% of women was diagnosed having stage I, 3.2% 4560 having stage II, 52.4% having stage III, and 36.5% having stage IV endometriosis (Yang, et al., 2012). 4561 All rAFS stages of endometriosis can be present in adolescents, as well as peritoneal, ovarian, and 4562 deep endometriosis, although the presence of deep endometriosis may be less frequent in 4563 adolescents. 4564

4565 Recommendations

In adolescents with suspected endometriosis where imaging is negative and medical treatments (with NSAIDs and/or oral contraceptives) have not been successful, diagnostic laparoscopy may be considered. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

4566 Justification

Data in adolescents show that nearly two-thirds of adolescents with CPP or dysmenorrhea have laparoscopic evidence of endometriosis. Laparoscopy to confirm a diagnosis of endometriosis can be considered but should be weighed against the risks of surgery and postoperative complications and can be considered if other diagnostic options cannot be used or have failed, or if medical treatments have not been successful (weak recommendation). Diagnosis can also be confirmed through history and ultrasound, and treatment should not be withheld for adolescents in which laparoscopic diagnosis was not (yet) performed.

- 4574 Clinicians should be aware that all forms of endometriosis have been found in adolescents, 4575 although some reports suggests that peritoneal endometriosis in adolescents may have atypical 4576 appearance.
- 4577 Further information

4578 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4579 IV.1)

4580 V.1.g. Histology

PICO QUESTION: SHOULD DIAGNOSIS OF ENDOMETRIOSIS IN ADOLESCENTS BE CONFIRMED BY HISTOLOGY?

4582 4583

4581

4584 In a systematic review, 15 articles were assessed in which in total 880 adolescents (defined as aged between 10 and 21 years, but within this range different age groups were included) underwent a 4585 4586 laparoscopy (Janssen, et al., 2013). Main symptoms leading to laparoscopic investigation in adolescents were chronic pelvic pain, chronic pelvic pain not responding to NSAIDs or oral 4587 4588 contraceptives, or dysmenorrhea. The overall prevalence of endometriosis visually confirmed at 4589 laparoscopy in all patients in all studies was 62% (543/880; range 25-100%). In girls with CPP 4590 resistant to treatment the prevalence was 75% (237/314), in girls with dysmenorrhea the prevalence was 70% (102/146) and in girls with CPP not resistant to treatment the prevalence was 49% 4591 (204/420). These differences between the subgroups were not statistically significant due to the 4592 large heterogeneity of studies. 4593

In different studies, different classification systems were used. Considering the ASRM classification, 4594 4595 50% of adolescents (175/349) had minimal endometriosis, 27% (69/259) had mild endometriosis, 18% (47/259) had moderate endometriosis and 14% (35/259) had severe endometriosis. The overall 4596 prevalence of ASRM classified moderate to severe endometriosis was 32% (82/259) in all girls, 16% 4597 (17/108) in girls with CPP resistant to treatment, 29% (21/74) in girls with dysmenorrhea and 57% 4598 (44/77) in girls with CPP. The authors concluded that nearly two-thirds of adolescents with CPP or 4599 dysmenorrhea had laparoscopic evidence of endometriosis, including moderate to severe disease 4600 4601 in approximately one-third of those having endometriosis.

The histological analysis of endometriosis biopsies was not documented or performed in 33% (5/15) of studies. If documented, histological confirmation rate was 93% (221/239), varying between 43 and 100% in the different studies. The authors advised to treat adolescents with dysmenorrhea or CPP with an NSAID, if necessary, in combination with oral contraceptives. If pain persists after three to six months, they stated that a definitive diagnosis was recommended, and a laparoscopy was indicated to diagnose or exclude endometriosis.

4608 Recommendations

If a laparoscopy is performed, clinicians should consider taking biopsies to confirm the diagnosis histologically. $\oplus\oplus\odot\odot$

4609

The GDG recommends that laparoscopic identification of endometriotic lesions is confirmed by histology although negative histology does not entirely rule out the disease.

GPP

4610

4611 Justification

4612 Evidence shows that histological confirmation rate of suspected endometriosis at laparoscopy is 4613 high (93%). Also, varying patterns of adolescent endometriosis have been observed. Therefore, if 4614 diagnostic laparoscopy is performed, clinicians should consider to taking biopsies to histologically 4615 confirm the diagnosis (strong recommendation). Diagnostic laparoscopy with histology is 4616 expensive, but accessible and feasible.

In performing histological assessment, it should be considered, as in adults, that negative histologydoes not entirely rule out the disease. This is covered in a good practice point.

4619 Further information

4620 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4621 V.2)

- 4622 References
- 4623 Brosens I, Gordts S, Benagiano G. Endometriosis in adolescents is a hidden, progressive and severe disease 4624 that deserves attention, not just compassion. *Hum Reprod* 2013;28: 2026-2031.
- Chapron C, Lafay-Pillet MC, Monceau E, Borghese B, Ngo C, Souza C, de Ziegler D. Questioning patients about
 their adolescent history can identify markers associated with deep infiltrating endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2011;95: 877-881.
- 4628 DiVasta AD, Vitonis AF, Laufer MR, Missmer SA. Spectrum of symptoms in women diagnosed with 4629 endometriosis during adolescence vs adulthood. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2018;218: 324.e321-324.e311.
- 4630 Geysenbergh B, Dancet EAF, D'Hooghe T. Detecting Endometriosis in Adolescents: Why Not Start from Self-4631 Report Screening Questionnaires for Adult Women? *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2017;82: 322-328.
- 4632 Greene R, Stratton P, Cleary SD, Ballweg ML, Sinaii N. Diagnostic experience among 4,334 women reporting 4633 surgically diagnosed endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2009;91: 32-39.
- Janssen EB, Rijkers AC, Hoppenbrouwers K, Meuleman C, D'Hooghe TM. Prevalence of endometriosis diagnosed by laparoscopy in adolescents with dysmenorrhea or chronic pelvic pain: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* 2013;19: 570-582.
- 4637 Martire FG, Lazzeri L, Conway F, Siciliano T, Pietropolli A, Piccione E, Solima E, Centini G, Zupi E, Exacoustos C.
- 4638 Adolescence and endometriosis: symptoms, ultrasound signs and early diagnosis. *Fertil Steril* 2020;114: 1049-4639 1057.
- 4640 Nisenblat V, Bossuyt PMM, Farquhar C, Johnson N, Hull ML. Imaging modalities for the non-invasive diagnosis 4641 of endometriosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016.
- 4642 Sasamoto N, DePari M, Vitonis AF, Laufer MR, Missmer SA, Shafrir AL, Terry KL. Evaluation of CA125 in relation 4643 to pain symptoms among adolescents and young adult women with and without surgically-confirmed 4644 endometriosis. *PLoS One* 2020;15: e0238043.
- 4645 Seckin B, Ates MC, Kirbas A, Yesilyurt H. Usefulness of hematological parameters for differential diagnosis of 4646 endometriomas in adolescents/young adults and older women. *Int J Adolesc Med Health* 2018.
- 4647 Shah DK, Missmer SA. Scientific investigation of endometriosis among adolescents. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 4648 2011;24: S18-19.
- 4649Treloar SA, Bell TA, Nagle CM, Purdie DM, Green AC. Early menstrual characteristics associated with4650subsequent diagnosis of endometriosis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2010;202: 534.e531-536.
- 4651 Vicino M, Parazzini F, Cipriani S, Frontino G. Endometriosis in young women: the experience of GISE. *J Pediatr* 4652 *Adolesc Gynecol* 2010;23: 223-225.
- 4653 Yang Y, Wang Y, Yang J, Wang S, Lang J. Adolescent endometriosis in China: a retrospective analysis of 63 4654 cases. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2012,25: 295-299.
- 4655

4656 V.2. Treatment

4657 PICO QUESTION: WHAT IS THE BEST TREATMENT FOR ADOLESCENTS WITH (SUSPECTED) 4658 ENDOMETRIOSIS?

4659 V.2.a Medical treatment

High quality evidence about the efficacy of medical treatment of endometriosis in adolescents is
scarce. The efficacy of NSAIDs or other analgesics in adolescents with endometriosis-related pain
is not well established, because clinical studies have mostly been conducted in adult women.

In a randomized, double blind placebo-controlled study 76 adolescents with moderate to severe dysmenorrhea were randomized between ethinyl estradiol 20 microgram/levonorgestrel 100 microgram (OCP) and placebo. OCP users reported a lower score (less pain) on the Moos menstrual Distress score (mean score 3.1 ± 3.2 versus 5.8 ± 4.5; 95 Cl difference 0.88-4.53), lower worst pain (p=0.02) and a lower analgesic use (p=0.05) after three months compared to the placebo group (Davis, *et al.*, 2005).

4669 Yoost and co-workers investigated the effect on pain of the levonorgestrel containing intra uterine 4670 system (LNG-IUS). In a small retrospective chart study of 14 adolescents with histologically proven 4671 endometriosis, they showed that 13 experienced resolution of pain in the months after positioning 4672 the LNG-IUS. The results of this study have to be interpreted with caution, because almost all 4673 participants were using other hormonal medication together with the LNG-IUS to suppress 4674 endometriosis-related pain symptoms (Yoost, *et al.*, 2013).

In a prospective open label study in 97 adolescents with clinically suspected or surgically 4675 confirmed endometriosis, the effect of dienogest on pain scores using the visual analogue scale 4676 (VAS), guality of life measured with EHP-30 and lumbar spine bone mineral density (BMD) after one 4677 year were investigated. Mean VAS at baseline was 64.3 mm (SD 19.1 mm). After 24 weeks of 4678 4679 treatment, the mean VAS score was 9.0 mm (SD 13.9 mm) and 81% of participants experienced a reduction in VAS of ≥30%. EHP-30 scores improved in all items assessed. Lumbar spine BMD 4680 4681 decreased 1.2% (SD 2.3%) after one year. The authors concluded that dienogest is as effective for endometriosis-associated pain in adolescents as in adults (Ebert, et al., 2017). 4682

Gonadotropin Releasing Hormone (GnRH) agonists are frequently used in adults having 4683 4684 endometriosis related pain. Because of its wide range of short-term side effects including mood swings, hot flushes, weight gain, and long-term side effects, for example probably partly 4685 irreversible effects on BMD, they are predominantly prescribed after first line of hormonal 4686 4687 treatment has failed. As adolescents are in the critical time window for the attainment of peak bone mass, it is particularly important to address this effect on BMD if GnRH agonists are considered for 4688 4689 use in adolescents. In a number of articles, the group of Gallagher and co-workers have reported 4690 about their investigations on the effectiveness and safety of GnRH agonists in adolescents.

In a randomized, double blind placebo-controlled trial, 50 adolescents with surgically confirmed 4691 endometriosis were treated for one year with GnRH agonists 11.25 mg/three months. Most of the 4692 participants had been treated with other hormonal medication before. They were randomized 4693 4694 between add-back therapy consisting of norethindrone acetate 5 mg daily (NA) plus conjugated equine estrogens 0.625 mg daily (CEE) (combined with add-back), or NA plus placebo. Quality of 4695 Life (QoL) was assessed using the SF-36, Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) and Beck Depression 4696 4697 Inventory II (BDI). After one year of treatment, QoL was improved in both groups as compared to baseline, whereas adolescents using GnRH agonists and combined add-back had a better QoL 4698 than adolescents using GnRH agonists with add-back of NA only. Scores on MRS and BSI did not 4699 change (Gallagher, et al., 2017). 4700

4701The same group showed in a similar study design in 65 adolescents that after 12 months total body4702bone mineral content and BMD had increased in the NA plus CEE group (bone mineral content4703+37g, p<0.001 and BMD +0.012 g/cm2, p=0.05), but not in those receiving NA plus placebo (bone</td>

4704 mineral content p=0.19 and BMD p=0.95) (DiVasta, et al., 2015). This suggests that with regard to BMD, GnRH agonists use is safe as long as add-back therapy is provided, preferably combined. 4705

4706 Finally, a retrospective follow-up study was undertaken in the same study group, aimed at identifying short term, long term, and irreversible side effects. Of 51 women who had been treated 4707 with GnRH agonists with the two different regimens of add-back (NA plus CEE or NA plus placebo) 4708 during their adolescence, 25 responded to the questionnaire. 96% reported short term side effects 4709 (during treatment); 80% reported long term side effects (lasting > 6 months after stopping 4710 treatment), and 45% reported side effects they considered irreversible, including memory loss, 4711 insomnia, and hot flashes. 48% of women rated GnRH agonists plus add-back as the most effective 4712 hormonal medication for treating endometriosis pain. More subjects who received a combined 4713 add-back regimen versus standard one drug add-back would recommend GnRH agonists to 4714 others and felt it was the most effective hormonal medication (Gallagher, et al., 2018). 4715

4716 Recommendations

In adolescents with (severe dysmenorrhea and/or) endometriosis-associated pain, clinicians should prescribe oral contraceptives or progestogens (systemically or via LNG-IUS) as first line hormonal therapy because they may be effective and safe. However, it is important to note that some progestogens may decrease bone mineral density.

000

4717

The GDG recommends clinicians consider NSAIDs as treatment for endometriosis-GPP associated pain in adolescents with (suspected) endometriosis, especially if first line hormonal treatment is not an option.

4718

In adolescents with laparoscopically confirmed endometriosis and associated pain	
in whom oral contraceptives or progestogen therapy failed, clinicians may consider	A OOO
prescribing GnRH agonists for up to 1 year, as they are effective and safe when	0000
combined with add-back therapy.	

4719

The GDG recommends that in young women and adolescents, GnRH agonists should be used after careful consideration and discussion with a practitioner in a GPP secondary or tertiary care setting, considering potential side effects and long-term health risks.

4720 Justification

Studies on the medical treatment of endometriosis-associated pain are mostly performed in adults. 4721 In adolescents, we summarized studies evaluating the use of oral contraceptives, progestogens, 4722 and GnRH agonists, from which it can be concluded, also considering indirect data from adults, that 4723 these treatments are effective and safe. Considering the possible side effects with regards to BMD 4724 and other long term health risks, the GDG recommends prescribing oral contraceptives or 4725 progestogens as first line (strong recommendation), and GnRH agonist as second line treatment 4726 (weak recommendation). 4727

4728 Although there are no studies evaluating NSAIDs in adolescents with endometriosis-associated pain, data from adults and clinical expertise support a good practice point to consider 4729 recommending NSAIDs as an additional treatment option. 4730

Further information 4731

Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4732 V.2)

4734 V.2.b Surgical treatment

In two studies, symptom relief after surgery was described as well as recurrence of symptoms 4735 4736 (Roman, 2010, Yeung, et al., 2011). In a prospective observational case series, 17 adolescents with 4737 rASRM stage I-III endometriosis underwent complete laparoscopic excision of all present 4738 endometriosis. Dysmenorrhea, dyschezia, constipation, tender examination, painful exercise, intestinal cramping, and bladder pain decreased significantly after surgical treatment. After a 4739 follow-up period of in average 23.1 months (max 66 months), 8/17 (47.1%) had a subsequent 4740 laparoscopy for persistent pain, but in none of these patients endometriosis was found visually or 4741 histologically at relaparoscopy (Yeung, et al., 2011). Lower numbers of recurrent symptoms were 4742 found in a comparative cohort study of 20 adolescents with rASRM stage I to IV endometriosis 4743 undergoing electrical excision of endometriosis (all patients), and additional ovarian cystectomy 4744 4745 (2/20 patients, 10%). Dysmenorrhea and pelvic pain symptoms decreased significantly and quality of life increased after surgery. 2/20 (10%) adolescents underwent a second laparoscopy because 4746 of pain within two years after first surgical treatment, but no recurrent endometriosis was found 4747 (Roman, 2010). 4748

In two other studies there was a focus on recurrence of endometriosis, but not on initial symptom 4749 relief after surgery (Lee, et al., 2017, Tandoi, et al., 2011). In a study of Lee and co-workers, 4750 recurrence after laparoscopic ovarian endometriosis cyst enucleation was investigated. 4751 Recurrence was defined as the sonographic presence of a cyst mass >20 mm after initial surgery. 4752 After follow-up of 47.3 (±44.3; 3-161) months, 17 (16.2%) adolescents had a cyst recurrence. Based 4753 on individual preference, some adolescents used COC or GnRH agonist after surgery, with a mean 4754 duration of 5.5 (± 1.6) months. No risk factors for recurrence were identified, including the use of 4755 postoperative hormonal suppression therapy (Lee, et al., 2017). Recurrence rates, defined as 4756 endometriosis related symptoms or ultrasound diagnosis of ovarian or pelvic endometriosis after 4757 4758 initial surgery, were reported in a retrospective cohort study of Tandoi et al. Fifty-seven adolescents (rASRM I-II 14 (24%), rASRM stage III-IV 43 (76%)) underwent conservative laparoscopic 4759 or laparotomic surgery for endometriosis and had a follow-up of at least five years. 32 adolescents 4760 4761 experienced a recurrence (56%, 95%CI 43 to 68%). Part of the adolescents used COC after surgery: 27 (47%) did not use COC, 14 (25%) used COC during less than 12 months, 16 (28%) longer than 12 4762 months. No risk factors for recurrence were identified (Tandoi, et al., 2011). 4763

4764 Recommendations

In adolescents with endometriosis, clinicians may consider surgical removal of endometriosis lesions to manage endometriosis-related symptoms, however symptom recurrence rates may be considerable, especially when surgery is not followed by hormonal treatment. $\oplus OOO$

4765

The GDG recommends that if surgical treatment is indicated in adolescents with endometriosis, it should be performed laparoscopically by an experienced surgeon, and, if possible, complete laparoscopic removal of all present endometriosis should be performed.

GPP

4766 Justification

Only small studies providing low quality evidence were identified about surgical treatment of endometriosis in adolescents, therefore the results have to be interpreted with caution (Lee, *et al.*, 2017, Roman, 2010, Tandoi, *et al.*, 2011, Yeung, *et al.*, 2011). The studies summarized evidence with regards to the relief of painful symptoms, but also on the recurrence rates. Overall, based on limited data, laparoscopy seems to be temporarily beneficial for pain relief. However, in a decision to proceed to surgery, the risks of surgery and postoperative complications, and considerable recurrence rates should be considered against the relative benefit of surgical treatment.

4774 Further information

4775 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4776 V.2)

4777 IV.2.c Combined medical and surgical treatment.

4778 Seo *et al* studied the effect of long-term treatment with GnRH agonists and COC after conservative 4779 surgery for endometriosis in 34 adolescents. In this retrospective cohort study, adolescents 4780 underwent adhesiolysis, stripping and enucleation of ovarian cysts, excision of concurrent deep 4781 endometriosis and fulguration of peritoneal endometriosis. Post-surgery, patients were treated 4782 with GnRH agonists for 5.4 ± 1.2 months and subsequently with COC during 47.9 ± 29.3 months. 4783 Recurrence, defined as sonographically observed presence of ovarian cysts ≥2 cm, was present in 4784 2/34 (5.8%) of adolescents after a median of 41 (6-159) months (Seo, *et al.*, 2017).

4785 Doyle and co-workers investigated how endometriosis rASRM stages developed in time in a population of 90 adolescents with rASRM stages I-III. They had persistent endometriosis symptoms 4786 after medical treatment for endometriosis and therefore underwent laparoscopy including lesion 4787 4788 destruction by CO₂ laser or electrocautery and adhesiolysis. After surgical treatment adolescents were treated by COC (82/90, 91%), progestogen (11/90, 12%) and/or GnRH agonists plus add-back 4789 (70/90, 78%). A second laparoscopy was performed because of increasing pain despite medical 4790 treatment after 29 (6-112) months. In 63 adolescents (70%), the same rASRM stage was found, in 17 4791 (19%), the rASRM stage improved one stage, in 1 (1%) rASRM improved two stages, and in 9 (10%), 4792 rASRM stage worsened one stage. The authors concluded that after combined surgical and 4793 hormonal treatment, progression of disease may be retarded in adolescents. However, in this study 4794 all adolescents underwent a second laparoscopy because of increasing pain symptoms despite 4795 the use of hormonal medication (Doyle, et al., 2009). 4796

4797 Recommendations

In adolescents with endometriosis, clinicians should consider postoperative hormonal therapy, as this may suppress recurrence of symptoms. $\oplus OOO$

4798 Justification

The recommendation to consider postoperative hormonal therapy is based on two retrospective studies showing benefit in adolescents on recurrence and disease progression (Doyle, *et al.*, 2009, Seo, *et al.*, 2017). The combination of surgical and medical treatment is expensive, but it is highly accepted by patients and doctors, and in line with management in adults. A strong recommendation in favour of postoperative hormonal therapy was formulated.

4804 Further information

- 4805 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4806 V.2).
- 4807 References
- AB08 Davis AR, Westhoff C, O'Connell K, Gallagher N. Oral contraceptives for dysmenorrhea in adolescent girls: a randomized trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;106: 97-104.
- 4810 DiVasta AD, Feldman HA, Sadler Gallagher J, Stokes NA, Laufer MR, Hornstein MD, Gordon CM. Hormonal
 4811 Add-Back Therapy for Females Treated With Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonist for Endometriosis: A
 4812 Randomized Controlled Trial. *Obstet Gynecol* 2015;126: 617-627.
- 4813 Doyle JO, Missmer SA, Laufer MR. The effect of combined surgical-medical intervention on the progression 4814 of endometriosis in an adolescent and young adult population. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2009;22: 257-263.

4815 Ebert AD, Dong L, Merz M, Kirsch B, Francuski M, Bottcher B, Roman H, Suvitie P, Hlavackova O, Gude K *et al.*4816 Dienogest 2 mg Daily in the Treatment of Adolescents with Clinically Suspected Endometriosis: The VISanne
4817 Study to Assess Safety in ADOlescents. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2017;30: 560-567.

4818 Gallagher JS, Feldman HA, Stokes NA, Laufer MR, Hornstein MD, Gordon CM, DiVasta AD. The Effects of 4819 Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonist Combined with Add-Back Therapy on Quality of Life for 4820 Adolescents with Endometriosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2017;30: 215-222.

- 4821 Gallagher JS, Missmer SA, Hornstein MD, Laufer MR, Gordon CM, DiVasta AD. Long-Term Effects of 4822 Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonists and Add-Back in Adolescent Endometriosis. J Pediatr Adolesc 4823 Gynecol 2018;31: 376-381.
- Lee SY, Kim ML, Seong SJ, Bae JW, Cho YJ. Recurrence of Ovarian Endometrioma in Adolescents after 4824 Conservative, Laparoscopic Cyst Enucleation. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2017;30: 228-233. 4825
- 4826 Roman JD. Adolescent endometriosis in the Waikato region of New Zealand--a comparative cohort study with 4827 a mean follow-up time of 2.6 years. Aust NZJ Obstet Gynaecol 2010;50: 179-183.
- 4828 Seo JW, Lee DY, Yoon BK, Choi D. The Efficacy of Postoperative Cyclic Oral Contraceptives after Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonist Therapy to Prevent Endometrioma Recurrence in Adolescents. J 4829 4830 Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2017;30: 223-227.
- 4831 Tandoi I, Somigliana E, Riparini J, Ronzoni S, Vigano P, Candiani M. High rate of endometriosis recurrence in 4832 young women. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2011;24: 376-379.
- Yeung P, Jr., Sinervo K, Winer W, Albee RB, Jr. Complete laparoscopic excision of endometriosis in teenagers: 4833 is postoperative hormonal suppression necessary? Fertil Steril 2011;95: 1909-1912, 1912.e1901. 4834
- Yoost J, LaJoie AS, Hertweck P, Loveless M. Use of the levonorgestrel intrauterine system in adolescents with 4835 endometriosis. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2013;26: 120-124. 4836

4837

e:

4838 V.3. Fertility preservation

4839 PICO QUESTION: IS ENDOMETRIOSIS IN ADOLESCENTS AN INDICATION FOR FERTILITY 4840 PRESERVATION (OVARIAN TISSUE / OOCYTES)?

There is a lack of robust evidence concerning the usefulness of fertility preservation in women with endometriosis, let alone adolescents with endometriosis. Data about women with endometriosis who actually underwent fertility preservation are very scarce. Women with endometriosis may benefit from fertility preservation as they have an increased risk of premature ovarian exhaustion, and approximately half of them will face subfertility.

- In opinion papers of Somigliana *et al* and of Carillo *et al*, it was speculated that for those with bilateral ovarian endometriomas and those operated unilaterally with a contralateral recurrence, fertility preservation may be particularly indicated (Carrillo, *et al.*, 2016, Somigliana, *et al.*, 2015). The role of a woman's age needs specific attention, as young women may have a larger risk of recurrence, and they are more likely to postpone pregnancy. In women with a lower age, it is expected that the quality of the banked oocytes or ovarian fragments will be higher than in older women (Somigliana, *et al.*, 2015).
- In a large retrospective cohort study, 485 out of 1044 (46.5%) women with endometriosis who had 4854 vitrified oocytes returned for a fertility treatment. Their mean age was 35.7 ± 3.7 years, they had 7.1 4855 ± 6.5 retrieved oocytes per cycle, and storage time was 1.7 ± 0.4 years. Clinical live birth ratio (CLBR) 4856 per patient was 46.4%. CLBR was statistically higher in women < 35 years of age as compared to 4857 women > 35 years. Women ≤ 35 years who had not undergone ovarian surgery before fertility 4858 preservation had a higher CLBR than women who underwent unilateral surgery and women who 4859 underwent bilateral surgery, respectively. In women older than 35 years, surgery had no influence 4860 4861 on CLBR. Based on these results, the authors suggest that fertility preservation may be beneficial for women with endometriosis and that if fertility preservation is considered in young women with 4862 4863 endometriosis, it should be done before ovarian surgery is carried out (Cobo, et al., 2020).
- 4864 Clinical, logistic, and financial aspects need to be further investigated before fertility preservation 4865 can be advised for adolescents with endometriosis.
- 4866 Recommendations

The GDG recommends that adolescents with endometriosis are informed of the potential detrimental effect of ovarian endometriosis and surgery on ovarian reserve and future fertility.

GPP

4867

4841

Fertility preservation options exist and the GDG recommends that adolescents are informed about them, although the true benefit, safety, and indications in adolescents with endometriosis remain unknown.

4868 Justification

4869 There are no studies evaluating the efficacy, or relevance of fertility preservation, namely oocyte 4870 cryopreservation, in adolescents with endometriosis. Data in adults are scarce as well (see section III.8). Still, clinicians can discuss fertility preservation in selected patients, such as those at risk of 4871 ovarian damage, which can include, but are not limited to, those with bilateral ovarian 4872 4873 endometriomas or those with unilaterally operated endometrioma with a contralateral recurrence. Individual counselling may be offered taking into account age, risk of premature ovarian 4874 insufficiency because of the presence of endometriomas per se or because of surgery, and the 4875 4876 success rates and risks of fertility preservation. If fertility preservation is carried out in young women 4877 (<35 years), it is suggested that fertility preservation precedes ovarian surgery. However, until now it is unclear how to identify women who will benefit from fertility preservation to render oocyte 4878 vitrification cost beneficial. 4879

4880 Further information

4881 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 4882 V.3)

- 4883 References
- 4884 Carrillo L, Seidman DS, Cittadini E, Meirow D. The role of fertility preservation in patients with endometriosis. *J* 4885 *Assist Reprod Genet* 2016;33: 317-323.
- 4886 Cobo A, Giles J, Paolelli S, Pellicer A, Remohí J, García-Velasco JA. Oocyte vitrification for fertility preservation 4887 in women with endometriosis: an observational study. *Fertil Steril* 2020;113: 836-844.
- 4888 Somigliana E, Vigano P, Filippi F, Papaleo E, Benaglia L, Candiani M, Vercellini P. Fertility preservation in women 4889 with endometriosis: for all, for some, for none? *Hum Reprod* 2015;30: 1280-1286.



VI. Endometriosis and menopause

4892 Due to the steroid-dependent nature of the disease, most women with endometriosis experience 4893 regression of disease after menopause. Still, a number of women experience endometriosis-4894 related symptoms after natural or surgical menopause (i.e., after bilateral oophorectomy). 4895 Additionally, women with a history of endometriosis may experience worsening of symptoms and 4896 reactivation of residual disease with the use of hormonal therapies aimed at relieving 4897 postmenopausal complaints.

This chapter explores the connection between endometriosis and menopause, discussing whether
endometriosis can still be active after menopause and whether women with a history of
endometriosis are at higher risk of experiencing menopause-related major health concerns.
Furthermore, the treatment of postmenopausal symptoms in women with a history of
endometriosis, and surgical treatment of endometriosis in postmenopausal women are discussed.

4903 VI.1. Endometriosis in postmenopausal women

4904 NARRATIVE QUESTION: IS ENDOMETRIOSIS STILL ACTIVE AFTER MENOPAUSE?

4905

There are very scarce data on the prevalence of endometriosis in menopause. In four narrative 4906 reviews, the incidence of endometriosis in postmenopausal women was estimated to range from 4907 2-5% (Bendon and Becker, 2012, Oxholm, et al., 2007, Polyzos, et al., 2011, Streuli, et al., 2017), 4908 referring primarily to three, very old articles (Henriksen, 1955, Punnonen, et al., 1980, Ranney, 1971). 4909 A more recent retrospective cohort study also described a 4% prevalence of postmenopausal 4910 4911 endometriosis (Matalliotakis, et al., 2019). Because endometriosis is a steroid dependent disease, postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy (HRT) is believed to stimulate the growth of 4912 endometriosis, especially estrogen-only therapies, although it is also described in women 4913 receiving combined HRT (Gemmell, et al., 2017). However, endometriosis has also been reported in 4914 postmenopausal women wo do not use hormone therapy, which underlines the complex 4915 pathogenesis of this disease. Whether this is a result of extra-ovarian estrogen production (e.g., 4916 skin, fat tissue etc.) or lesion-specific production of estrogen due to local overexpression of 4917 aromatase and other steroidogenic genes and proteins is currently unclear (Attar and Bulun, 2006, 4918 Noble, et al., 1996). 4919

4920 Conclusion

4921 Clinicians should be aware that endometriosis, however rare, can still be active after menopause.

- 4922 References
- 4923Attar E, Bulun SE. Aromatase and other steroidogenic genes in endometriosis: translational aspects. Hum4924Reprod Update 2006;12: 49-56.
- 4925 Bendon CL, Becker CM. Potential mechanisms of postmenopausal endometriosis. *Maturitas* 2012;72: 214-219.
- 4926 Gemmell LC, Webster KE, Kirtley S, Vincent K, Zondervan KT, Becker CM. The management of menopause in 4927 women with a history of endometriosis: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* 2017;23: 481-500.
- 4928 Henriksen E. Endometriosis. *Am J Surg* 1955;90: 331-337.
- 4929 Matalliotakis M, Matalliotaki C, Trivli A, Zervou MI, Kalogiannidis I, Tzardi M, Matalliotakis I, Arici A, Goulielmos 4930 GN. Keeping an Eye on Perimenopausal and Postmenopausal Endometriosis. *Diseases* 2019;7.
- 4931 Noble LS, Simpson ER, Johns A, Bulun SE. Aromatase expression in endometriosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*4932 1996;81: 174-179.
- 4933Oxholm D, Knudsen UB, Kryger-Baggesen N, Ravn P. Postmenopausal endometriosis. Acta Obstet Gynecol4934Scand 2007;86: 1158-1164.
- 4935 Polyzos NP, Fatemi HM, Zavos A, Grimbizis G, Kyrou D, Velasco JG, Devroey P, Tarlatzis B, Papanikolaou EG.
 4936 Aromatase inhibitors in post-menopausal endometriosis. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2011;9: 90.
- 4937 Punnonen R, Klemi PJ, Nikkanen V. Postmenopausal endometriosis. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1980;11:
 4938 195-200.

- 4939 Ranney B. Endometriosis. 3. Complete operations. Reasons, sequelae, treatment. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 4940 1971;109: 1137-1144.
- 4941 Streuli I, Gaitzsch H, Wenger JM, Petignat P. Endometriosis after menopause: physiopathology and 4942 management of an uncommon condition. *Climacteric* 2017;20: 138-143.

4943

bart

4944 VI.2. Treatment of endometriosis in postmenopausal women

Regarding treatment of symptoms in postmenopausal women one should keep in mind the potential increased risk of underlying malignancy in this population and the uncertainty of the diagnosis, as pain symptoms may present differently in this group of women compared to premenopausal women.

4949

4950 PICO QUESTION: IS SURGICAL TREATMENT EFFECTIVE AND SAFE IN WOMEN WITH A HISTORY OF 4951 ENDOMETRIOSIS?

4952

One should keep in mind the potential risk of underlying malignancy and the uncertainty of the diagnosis when postmenopausal women present with (chronic) pelvic pain. Hormone therapy approaches are more limited compared to premenopausal women due to the low systemic estrogen levels. Therefore, in review articles on this subject, it is suggested that first line treatment for endometriosis in postmenopausal patients should be surgical (Oxholm, *et al.*, 2007, Pavone and Bulun, 2012, Polyzos, *et al.*, 2011). Also, there are very little options available for medical treatment - besides using NSAIDs - due to the naturally low levels of estrogen in postmenopausal women.

4960 VI.2.a. Surgical treatment

4961 We identified five cohort studies on surgery in postmenopausal endometriosis patients: three 4962 studies described a cohort of postmenopausal women who presented with pain and subsequently 4963 underwent surgery whilst two retrospective cohort studies reported on women in whom 4964 endometriosis was identified based on histology.

4965 VI.2.a.1. Efficacy of surgery in postmenopausal women

A prospective cohort by Redwine et al. included 75 women with previous BSO who received 4966 4967 excision of histologically confirmed endometriosis as treatment for pain (Redwine, 1994). The control group consisted of women with biopsy-proven endometriosis who did not have previous 4968 BSO, hysterectomy or ovarian remnant syndrome. Women treated surgically for endometriosis 4969 following BSO were significantly older (37.8 ± 8.1 versus 31.3 ± 6.9 years; p<0.001) and tended to 4970 have intestinal involvement (risk ratio 2.3, 95%CI 1.5 to 3.5). Most women had a marked alleviation of 4971 pain after excision of endometriosis, although only 13 patients underwent a re-operation due to 4972 pelvic pain. No malignancy was found in this study. 4973

4974 Behera *et al.* described a retrospective cohort of 124 women with chronic pelvic pain after 4975 hysterectomy and BSO (Behera, *et al.*, 2006). They all underwent laparoscopy and if any 4976 abnormalities were visualized, they were resected. The most common histopathologic findings 4977 included adhesions (in 94% of patients), adnexal remnants (26%), and endometriosis (15%). 4978 Laparoscopic treatment of any pelvic pathologic condition improved pain symptoms in the majority 4979 of women (58.9%) (follow-up of less than one to six years). In 2 women (1.4%) a malignancy of the 4980 bowel was found.

4981 Clayton *et al.* described a case series of five women with recurrent pain after BSO and 4982 hysterectomy who had residual endometriosis managed by laparoscopic excision (Clayton, *et al.*, 4983 1999). Four of the women had bowel endometriosis. Immunohistochemistry showed positive 4984 immunoreactivity for estrogen and progesterone receptors in all patients, suggesting that the 4985 endometriosis was active and responsive to exogenous estrogen. The women had improved pain 4986 symptoms at 4 months after surgery (one patient was lost to follow-up).

4987 VI.2.a.2. Risk of malignant transformation in postmenopausal women

4988 Consideration of the possibility of malignancy should be taken in postmenopausal women with 4989 endometriosis irrespective of symptoms. This may require transvaginal ultrasound scan or MRI or 4990 further imaging studies and/or the surgical exploration of the area. 4991 A retrospective cohort study identified 72 postmenopausal patients with histologically confirmed 4992 endometriosis, of which 57 had endometriomas (Morotti, *et al.*, 2012). In 35% of these 4993 endometriomas a (pre)malignancy was found. Only 14 women (16.7%) had a previously known 4994 history of endometriosis. The indications for surgery were ovarian cyst (31 patients, 43.0%), ovarian 4995 or endometrial (pre)cancer (25 patients, 35%), or other, mostly benign indications. In none of the 4996 women pain was the indication for surgery.

Sun *et al.* described a retrospective cohort study of postmenopausal patients in whom endometriosis was histologically confirmed (Sun, *et al.*, 2013). Of these 69 women, 45 (65%) were referred with an abdominal mass without symptoms, only 8 women presented with abdominal pain. In 62 women an endometrioma was found and 10 women (14%) had a coexisting ovarian, endometrial, or cervical malignancy.

In conclusion, there is not enough data to accurately estimate the risk of malignancy in postmenopausal women with a history of endometriosis, as data are limited to surgically induced menopause. Women after natural menopause are generally older, and consequently their general risk of malignancy will be higher. The risk of malignancy in premenopausal women with endometriosis is covered in Chapter X.

5007 Recommendations

Clinicians may consider surgical treatment for postmenopausal women presenting with signs of endometriosis and/or pain to enable histological confirmation of the diagnosis of endometriosis. $\oplus OOO$

5008

The GDG recommends that clinicians acknowledge the higher risk of malignancy in postmenopausal women If a pelvic mass is detected, the work-up and treatment should be performed according to national oncology guidelines.

GPP

5009 Justification

5010 The available, poor quality evidence from cohort studies show that surgical treatment can improve 5011 pain in postmenopausal women with endometriosis. In postmenopausal women with 5012 endometriosis, and specifically endometrioma, there seems to be a significant proportion with 5013 concordant malignancy. The GDG suggests (weak recommendation) to consider laparoscopy to 5014 treat pain and enable confirmation of the diagnosis of endometriosis.

5015 There are no data on complications of surgery in postmenopausal women, but surgery for 5016 endometriosis is considered a relatively safe procedure (see section II.3.a). The benefits of surgical 5017 treatment with regards to pain symptoms and to reduce the risk of future malignancy, seem to 5018 outweigh the possible complications of surgery.

5019 Further information

5020 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5021 VI.2)

5022 VI.2.b. Medical treatment

5023 In cases where surgery is not feasible, or symptoms persist or recur after surgery, medical 5024 treatment of endometriosis-associated symptoms may be indicated. However, similar to surgery, 5025 there is very little data on medical treatment for endometriosis in postmenopausal women.

5026 Estrogen is one of the predominant drivers of endometriotic growth. As such, in postmenopausal 5027 women on HRT, one of the first therapeutic steps should be to discontinue HRT whilst considering 5028 the likely recurrence of menopausal vasomotor symptoms.

5029 Theoretically, aromatase inhibitors (AIs) are able to block extraovarian estrogen production which 5030 is the main estrogen source for postmenopausal women. In addition, P450 aromatase - the central

5031 enzyme converting androgens into estriol and estradiol - appears to be overexpressed in endometriotic tissue, although no data are available in tissue from postmenopausal women 5032 (Pavone and Bulun, 2012). Als have been shown effective to reduce endometriosis-associated pain 5033 in premenopausal women with severe endometriosis (see also section II.2.e). Specifically in 5034 postmenopausal women, only case reports on treatment with AIs are available. Two reviews 5035 (Pavone, 2012 #188, Polyzos, et al., 2011) describe six case reports to date, which mention that the 5036 administration of an Als for 4-18 months improved pain and reduced the size of endometriotic 5037 lesions. One patient reported hot flushes and in one case AI-associated bone loss after nine months 5038 5039 of treatment with anastrozole was reported. Although data are very limited, Als represent a medical alternative to surgery for the treatment of postmenopausal endometriosis. 5040

5041 Recommendations

For postmenopausal women with endometriosis-associated pain, clinicians may consider aromatase inhibitors as a treatment option especially if surgery is not feasible $\oplus OOO$

5042 Justification

- Although evidence is limited to case reports in postmenopausal women, the efficacy of AIs can be
- 5044 deduced from studies in premenopausal women. Based on the biological aspects, AIs are probably
- 5045 the most appropriate medical treatment for endometriosis-related pain symptoms in
- postmenopausal women and could be considered a treatment option, for instance when surgery
- 5047 is not feasible or insufficient (weak recommendation).

5048 Research recommendation

- 5049 More evidence is need on the efficacy and safety (bone health) of aromatase inhibitors or other 5050 medical treatments in postmenopausal women with endometriosis-related pain symptoms.
- 5051 Further information
- 5052 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5053 VI.2)
- 5054 References
- 5055 Behera M, Vilos GA, Hollett-Caines J, Abu-Rafea B, Ahmad R. Laparoscopic findings, histopathologic 5056 evaluation, and clinical outcomes in women with chronic pelvic pain after hysterectomy and bilateral 5057 salpingo-oophorectomy. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2006;13: 431-435.
- 5058 Clayton RD, Hawe JA, Love JC, Wilkinson N, Garry R. Recurrent pain after hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-5059 oophorectomy for endometriosis: evaluation of laparoscopic excision of residual endometriosis. *Br J Obstet* 5060 *Gynaecol* 1999;106: 740-744.
- 5061Morotti M, Remorgida V, Venturini PL, Ferrero S. Endometriosis in menopause: a single institution experience.5062Arch Gynecol Obstet 2012;286: 1571-1575.
- 5063 Oxholm D, Knudsen UB, Kryger-Baggesen N, Ravn P. Postmenopausal endometriosis. *Acta Obstet Gynecol* 5064 *Scand* 2007;86: 1158-1164.
- Pavone ME, Bulun SE. Aromatase inhibitors for the treatment of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril* 2012;98: 1370-1379.
- Polyzos NP, Fatemi HM, Zavos A, Grimbizis G, Kyrou D, Velasco JG, Devroey P, Tarlatzis B, Papanikolaou EG.
 Aromatase inhibitors in post-menopausal endometriosis. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2011;9: 90.
- 5068Redwine DB. Endometriosis persisting after castration: clinical characteristics and results of surgical5069management. Obstet Gynecol 1994;83: 405-413.
- 5070 Sun PR, Leng JH, Jia SZ, Lang JH. Postmenopausal endometriosis: a retrospective analysis of 69 patients 5071 during a 20-year period. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 2013;126: 4588-4589.
- 5072
- 5073 VI.3. Menopausal symptoms in women with a history of endometriosis

5074 PICO QUESTION: IS HORMONAL TREATMENT EFFECTIVE AND SAFE FOR RELIEF OF MENOPAUSAL 5075 SYMPTOMS IN WOMEN WITH A HISTORY OF ENDOMETRIOSIS?

5076

5077 This chapter evaluates whether hormonal treatment (HRT) in postmenopausal women with a 5078 history of endometriosis is effective and safe. Efficacy is assessed by the impact of treatment on 5079 menopausal symptoms and menopause-related quality of life, while safety is assessed by the risk 5080 of recurrence of disease or associated symptoms, and incidence of cancer. A distinction is made 5081 between natural and surgical menopause.

5082 VI.3.a. HRT for menopausal symptoms in women with a history of endometriosis

No studies were available specifically evaluating the efficacy of HRT in reducing menopausal 5083 symptoms or improving menopause-related quality of life in women with a history of 5084 endometriosis. Deduced from the recommendations for postmenopausal women in general, as 5085 summarized by the International Menopause Society (IMS), North American Menopause Society 5086 (NAMS) and the European Menopause and Andropause Society (EMAS), HRT is considered the 5087 5088 most effective therapy for vasomotor symptoms and urogenital atrophy, with possible beneficial effects on other menopause-related complaints and quality of life (Baber, et al., 2016, The ESHRE 5089 5090 Guideline Group on POI, et al., 2016).

5091 VI.3.b. HRT and recurrence of endometriosis in women after natural menopause

Although the literature search included women with endometriosis after both surgical menopause and natural menopause, no evidence could be retrieved on the latter. The recommendations on surgical menopause could be extrapolated to women with endometriosis and natural menopause, bearing in mind the differences between both patient groups (e.g., age, gradual vs. abrupt onset of menopausal symptoms).

5097 VI.3.c. HRT and recurrence of endometriosis in women after surgical menopause

5098 The management of menopause in women with a history of endometriosis has been summarized 5099 in a systematic review, which included only two randomized trials and 4 observational studies 5100 (Gemmell, *et al.*, 2017), all focusing on patients after surgically induced menopause (Fedele, *et al.*, 5101 1999, Matorras, *et al.*, 2002).

The systematic review concluded, consistently with an older Cochrane review (Al Kadri, et al., 5102 2009), that there appeared to be a small association between the treatment with HRT and 5103 recurrence of endometriosis, although none of the studies found a statistically significant 5104 difference between treatment and control groups. In the RCT of Matorras et al., 115 patients 5105 received continuous transdermal estrogen plus cyclical oral progesterone, and 57 received no 5106 hormonal treatment. After 45 months, 4 of the patients in the treated arm and none in the non-5107 treated arm reported recurrence of pain. The authors found recurrence of the endometriosis in two 5108 of these four patients with recurrent pain and these two patients had to be re-operated (Matorras, 5109 et al., 2002). Based on 13 case reports and case series, the review counted 17 cases of recurrent 5110 endometriosis in postmenopausal women taking some form of HRT (Gemmell, et al., 2017). 5111 However, lack of information about the completeness of surgery limits the interpretation of these 5112 findings. Indeed, persistent macroscopic implants following surgery are more likely associated to 5113 a recurrence of pain if stimulated by a cyclical administration of combined estrogen-progestogen 5114 regime. 5115

5117 VI.3.d. HRT and risk of malignancy

The systematic review by Gemmell *et al* performed an extensive search on the topic of malignancy. 5118 Regarding the risks of treatment with HRT in women with a history of endometriosis they found a 5119 5120 few case reports of malignancy, mostly in women who received estrogen-only HRT. In this systematic review they reported a total of 25 patients with malignant transformation of 5121 5122 endometriotic lesions from case reports and case series. Nineteen of these 25 women received unopposed estrogens. Although data are very scarce and regarded as low quality, it seems 5123 advisable to consider using continuous combined estrogen-progestogen or tibolone regimes in 5124 women requiring HRT over unopposed estrogen (Gemmell, et al., 2017). 5125

5126 VI.3.e. Regimen of HRT in women with a history of endometriosis

5127 Evidence is limited with regards to the regimen of HRT in women with endometriosis (Baber, *et al.*, 5128 2016). Considering responsiveness of ectopic endometrial tissue to sex steroids, it seems advisable 5129 to use continuous EP in those patients requiring HRT, in order to limit any abnormal estrogen-5130 induced endometriosis proliferation in persistent endometriosis tissue.

5131 Tibolone could be an alternative for combined HRT as this molecule has a typically estrogenic 5132 effect on vasomotor symptoms and bone, yet a progestogenic-like effect on the endometrium. In 5133 a small RCT, 10 women received continuous transdermal estrogen plus cyclical oral progestogen, 5134 and 11 women were randomized to tibolone. After 12 months, 4 patients in the first group and 1 in 5135 the second experienced moderate pelvic pain (Fedele, *et al.*, 1999). The authors concluded that 5136 Tibolone might be a safe alternative for combined HRT. Additionally, one case report described a 5137 woman with recurrent disease after using Tibolone (Sundar, *et al.*, 2007).

Phytoestrogens are non-steroidal plant-derived compounds, structurally similar to endogenous 5138 estrogens, but capable of showing both estrogenic and antiestrogenic effects. Among these, soy 5139 isoflavone supplements are commonly seen as a safer alternative to HRT, particularly in women 5140 with estrogen-dependent conditions (Chen, et al., 2019). Evidence from published human trials 5141 reveals that soy isoflavone treatment does not stimulate proliferation in the endometrium during 5142 short-term treatment for at least 2 years (North American Menopause Society, 2011). Endometrial 5143 safety in long-term users is unknown. The effect of isoflavone supplement in postmenopausal 5144 women with endometriosis has not been properly investigated. Notably, one case report showed 5145 that five-year use of a highly concentrated isoflavone supplement was associated with florid 5146 recurrence of endometriosis and ureteral malignant Müllerian carcinosarcoma (Noel, et al., 2006). 5147 This report raises further concerns over the use of phytoestrogens in postmenopausal women with 5148 a history of endometriosis (Cotroneo and Lamartiniere, 2001), despite some clinical and animal 5149 literature suggesting a reduced risk of endometriosis with dietary isoflavones (Tsuchiya, et al., 2007, 5150 Yavuz, et al., 2007). 5151

5152 Recommendations

Clinicians may consider combined HRT or tibolone for the treatment of postmenopausal symptoms in women (both after natural and surgical menopause) $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ with a history of endometriosis.

5153

Clinicians should avoid prescribing estrogen-only regimens for the treatment of vasomotor symptoms in postmenopausal women with a history of endometriosis, as these regimens may be associated with a higher risk of malignant transformation $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

5154

The GDG recommends that clinicians continue to treat women with a history of endometriosis after surgical menopause with combined estrogen-progestogen or tibolone, at least up to the age of natural menopause.

5155 Justification

- Efficacy of HRT for the relief of menopausal symptoms in women with endometriosis has not been 5156 studied but can be deduced from studies in the general population concluding that HRT is the 5157 effective treatment for relieving vasomotor symptoms and urogenital atrophy, with possible 5158 beneficial effects on other menopause-related complaints and quality of life. The impact of HRT 5159 on recurrence of endometriosis (2 small RCTs, 4 observational studies and 33 case reports) was 5160 recently summarized in a systematic review, showing a possibly increased risk. For malignancy, 5161 very few cases have been reported for combined HRT or tibolone. Considering the benefits and 5162 risks, combined HRT or tibolone can be considered for the treatment of postmenopausal 5163 5164 symptoms in women with a history of endometriosis (weak recommendation).
- As the reported cases of malignancy could mainly be linked to unopposed estrogens, the risks for estrogen-only regimens seem to outweigh the benefits, and their use should be avoided (strong recommendation).
- 5168 Further information
- 5169 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5170 VI.3)
- 5171 References
- Al Kadri H, Hassan S, Al-Fozan HM, Hajeer A. Hormone therapy for endometriosis and surgical menopause.
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009: Cd005997.
- 5174 Baber RJ, Panay N, Fenton A. 2016 IMS Recommendations on women's midlife health and menopause 5175 hormone therapy. *Climacteric* 2016;19: 109-150.
- 5176 Chen L-R, Ko N-Y, Chen K-H. Isoflavone Supplements for Menopausal Women: A Systematic Review. 5177 *Nutrients* 2019;11: 2649.
- 5178 Cotroneo MS, Lamartiniere CA. Pharmacologic, but not dietary, genistein supports endometriosis in a rat 5179 model. *Toxicol Sci* 2001;61: 68-75.
- 5180 Fedele L, Bianchi S, Raffaelli R, Zanconato G. Comparison of transdermal estradiol and tibolone for the 5181 treatment of oophorectomized women with deep residual endometriosis. *Maturitas* 1999;32: 189-193.
- 5182 Gemmell LC, Webster KE, Kirtley S, Vincent K, Zondervan KT, Becker CM. The management of menopause in 5183 women with a history of endometriosis: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* 2017;23: 481-500.
- 5184 Matorras R, Elorriaga MA, Pijoan JI, Ramon O, Rodriguez-Escudero FJ. Recurrence of endometriosis in women 5185 with bilateral adnexectomy (with or without total hysterectomy) who received hormone replacement therapy. 5186 *Fertil Steril* 2002;77: 303-308.
- 5187 Noel JC, Anaf V, Fayt I, Wespes E. Ureteral mullerian carcinosarcoma (mixed mullerian tumor) associated with 5188 endometriosis occurring in a patient with a concentrated soy isoflavones supplementation. *Arch Gynecol* 5189 *Obstet* 2006;274: 389-392.
- North American Menopause Society. The role of soy isoflavones in menopausal health: report of The North
 American Menopause Society/Wulf H. Utian Translational Science Symposium in Chicago, IL (October 2010).
 Menopause 2011;18: 732-753.
- 5193 Sundar SS, Gornall RJ, Kerr-Wilson R, Swingler GR, Kinder RB, McCarthy K. A case report of recurrent 5194 endometriosis following Tibolone hormone replacement therapy. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2007;27: 433-434.
- 5195 The ESHRE Guideline Group on POI, Webber L, Davies M, Anderson R, Bartlett J, Braat D, Cartwright B, Cifkova 5196 R, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama S, Hogervorst E *et al.* ESHRE Guideline: management of women with premature 5197 ovarian insufficiency¹. *Human Reproduction* 2016;31: 926-937.
- 5198 Tsuchiya M, Miura T, Hanaoka T, Iwasaki M, Sasaki H, Tanaka T, Nakao H, Katoh T, Ikenoue T, Kabuto M *et al.* 5199 Effect of soy isoflavones on endometriosis: interaction with estrogen receptor 2 gene polymorphism. 5200 *Epidemiology* 2007;18: 402-408.
- 5201 Yavuz E, Oktem M, Esinler I, Toru SA, Zeyneloglu HB. Genistein causes regression of endometriotic implants 5202 in the rat model. *Fertil Steril* 2007;88: 1129-1134.
- 5203

5204 VI.4. Menopause-related major health concerns in women with 5205 endometriosis

5206 NARRATIVE QUESTION: ARE WOMEN WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS AT HIGHER RISK OF EXPERIENCING 5207 MENOPAUSE-RELATED MAJOR HEALTH CONCERNS?

5209 Oophorectomy is an important, widely used treatment for endometriosis. Women with 5210 endometriosis are therefore more likely to undergo oophorectomy than women in the general 5211 population and also to undergo this surgery at a much younger age. The resulting surgically 5212 induced early menopause increases the risk of diminished bone density or osteoporosis (Farmer, 5213 *et al.*, 2003) and dementia (Georgakis, *et al.*, 2019), but also could have an effect on other 5214 menopause-related major health concerns.

- A recent review based on an extensive search of articles on the associations between endometriosis and other chronic diseases, concluded that endometriosis patients have a higher risk of developing asthma, some auto-immune diseases and cardiovascular disease (Shigesi, *et al.*, 2019). For this chapter we focused on the menopause-related major health concerns, thus on the higher risk of cardiovascular disease.
- Two large prospective cohort studies have been published on this subject. Mu et al. described a 5220 subgroup of the Nurses' health study II with laparoscopically confirmed endometriosis, which 5221 prospectively included around 5,000 women and compared them to 100,000 women without 5222 endometriosis (Mu, et al., 2016). They found a significantly higher risk of myocardial infarction (RR 5223 1.52), angina (RR 1.91), coronary surgery (RR 1.35) or any of these coronary heart disease endpoints 5224 combined (RR 1.62) in women with a history of endometriosis. These higher risks were independent 5225 of demographic, family history, reproductive and lifestyle confounders. 42% of the association 5226 between endometriosis and coronary heart disease could be explained by a history of 5227 hysterectomy/BSO and earlier age at surgery. In the same cohort of women, they also found a 5228 higher risk for developing hypercholesterolemia (RR 1.25) and for hypertension (RR 1.14) (Mu, et al., 5229 5230 2017).

5231 Conclusion

5208

5232 Clinicians should be aware that women with endometriosis who have undergone an early bilateral 5233 salpingo-oophorectomy as part of their treatment have an increased risk of diminished bone 5234 density, dementia, and cardiovascular disease. It is also important to note that women with 5235 endometriosis have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, irrespective of whether they have 5236 had an early surgical menopause.

- 5237 Further information
- 5238 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5239 VI.4)

5240 References

- 5241 Farmer JE, Prentice A, Breeze A, Ahmad G, Duffy JMN, Watson A, Pick A. Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone 5242 analogues for endometriosis: bone mineral density. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003.
- 5243 Georgakis MK, Beskou-Kontou T, Theodoridis I, Skalkidou A, Petridou ET. Surgical menopause in association 5244 with cognitive function and risk of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. 5245 *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2019;106: 9-19.
- 5246 Mu F, Rich-Edwards J, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Forman JP, Missmer SA. Association Between Endometriosis 5247 and Hypercholesterolemia or Hypertension. *Hypertension* 2017;70: 59-65.
- 5248 Mu F, Rich-Edwards J, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Missmer SA. Endometriosis and Risk of Coronary Heart 5249 Disease. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2016;9: 257-264.
- 5250 Shigesi N, Kvaskoff M, Kirtley S, Feng Q, Fang H, Knight JC, Missmer SA, Rahmioglu N, Zondervan KT, Becker 5251 CM. The association between endometriosis and autoimmune diseases: a systematic review and meta-5252 analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2019;25: 486-503.
- 5253

5254 VII. Extrapelvic Endometriosis

5255 VII.1. Diagnosis

5256 **PICO QUESTION: HOW RELIABLE IS IMAGING FOR DIAGNOSING EXTRAPELVIC ENDOMETRIOSIS?**

5257 VII.1.a. Abdominal wall, umbilical, perineal and inguinal endometriosis

Abdominal wall endometriosis is frequently associated with a gynaecologic procedure such as caesarean delivery, laparoscopy, or abdominal hysterectomy (Andres, *et al.*, 2020, Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Hirata, *et al.*, 2020, Horton, *et al.*, 2008). In a review of 445 cases, the pooled mean time interval between index surgery and clinical presentation of abdominal wall endometriosis was 3.6 years (Horton, *et al.*, 2008).

5263 Caesarean scar endometriosis is the most common abdominal wall endometriotic lesion and is 5264 located near or at the site of the surgical incision. It is estimated to occur in 0.03%–1.5% of women 5265 after caesarean delivery (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Hirata, *et al.*, 2020). Umbilical endometriosis is rare, 5266 estimated to occur in 0.5%–1.0% of all cases of endometriosis (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Hirata, *et al.*, 5267 2020). Episiotomy endometriosis is even less common and is estimated to occur in 0.01%–0.06% of 5268 women after episiotomy (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Hirata, *et al.*, 2020).

- 5269 Scar endometriosis may be identified at transabdominal ultrasonography (TAS), computed 5270 tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in patients who are symptomatic or 5271 asymptomatic (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Hirata, *et al.*, 2020, Yarmish, *et al.*, 2017).
- 5272 The appearance of scar endometriosis at ultrasound, CT, or MRI depends on the phase of the 5273 patient's menstrual cycle, the chronicity of the process, the number of stromal and glandular 5274 elements, and the amount of bleeding and associated inflammation (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Gidwaney, 5275 *et al.*, 2012, Yarmish, *et al.*, 2017).
- 5276 TAS is usually the first imaging examination performed to evaluate focal abdominal or inguinal wall 5277 thickening identified at clinical examination. TAS depicts the extent and nature of such focal lesions 5278 and is useful for establishing or excluding abdominal wall hernia (Gidwaney, *et al.*, 2012).
- 5279 In women with a palpable anterior abdominal or pelvic wall abnormality, CT findings may help 5280 diagnose, exclude, or suggest the presence of a mass and define its extent and nature. CT may be 5281 performed with or without intravenous contrast material, although the use of contrast material 5282 improves its sensitivity and specificity (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Gidwaney, *et al.*, 2012, Yarmish, *et al.*, 5283 2017). The highest reported combined sensitivity of CT imaging for the diagnosis of abdominal wall 5284 endometriosis is (0.69; 95%CI 0.48 to 0.86) and specificity (0.97; 95% C: 0.91 to 1.00) (Yarmish, *et al.*, 5285 2017)
- 5286 In younger patients, MRI is preferred because of its improved tissue characterization and lack of 5287 ionizing radiation. CT and MRI may be used to diagnose or exclude alternative diagnoses in the 5288 anterior abdominal and pelvic wall, including hernia abscess, hematoma from other causes, and 5289 other soft-tissue tumours (Chamie, *et al.*, 2018, Gidwaney, *et al.*, 2012, Yarmish, *et al.*, 2017).
- Recently, for the diagnosis of umbilical endometriosis sensitivity of 87.1% for physical examination,
 76.5% for transabdominal ultrasonography, 75.6% for CT, and 81.8% for MRI was reported (Hirata, *et al.*, 2020).

5294 VII.1.b. Thoracic endometriosis

5295 Diagnosis of thoracic endometriosis syndrome (TES) is usually based on clinical grounds. 5296 Symptoms have a catamenial (cyclical) pattern, occurring between 24h before and 72h after the 5297 onset of menses, and typically recurring (Andres, *et al.*, 2020, Johnson, 2004, Rousset, *et al.*, 2014).

5298 Thoracic endometriosis syndrome includes five well-recognized clinical entities grouped into two 5299 forms, namely the pleural form with catamenial pneumothorax, non-catamenial endometriosis-5300 related pneumothorax, catamenial haemothorax, and the pulmonary form with catamenial 5301 haemoptysis and lung nodules (Joseph and Sahn, 1996, Rousset, *et al.*, 2014, Vigueras Smith, *et al.*, 5302 2020).

5303 Catamenial pneumothorax is defined by at least two episodes of pneumothorax occurring during 5304 this time interval. In a review of Gil and co-workers, data on 490 cases of catamenial pneumothorax 5305 were summarized. Pneumothorax was mainly present in the right lung (456 of 490 cases, 93%) (Gil 5306 and Tulandi, 2019). The right-side predominance of symptoms represents a diagnostic clue 5307 (Johnson, 2004, Rousset, *et al.*, 2014). Diaphragmatic endometriosis and/or nodules (as visualized 5308 by laparoscopy) were observed in 265 of 297 cases (89%) (Gil and Tulandi, 2019).

TES is the term used to refer to the various clinical and radiological manifestations resulting from the presence and cyclical changes of functional endometrial tissue in a thoracic structure (visceral or parietal pleura, lung parenchyma, airways, or diaphragm) (Johnson, 2004, Rousset, *et al.*, 2014). Approximately 90% of patients with thoracic endometriosis syndrome experience catamenial thoracic pain and different entities may be associated . The right hemithorax is involved in more than 90% of all forms (Johnson, 2004, Rousset, *et al.*, 2014).

In a recent systematic review only one study with 33 patients with diaphragmatic endometriosis evaluated the accuracy of MRI for the diagnosis of this condition. This study reported a sensitivity of 83% for MRI when using fat-suppressed T1-weighted sequences for the diagnosis of diaphragmatic endometriosis (Andres, *et al.*, 2020).

5319 Recommendations

Clinicians should be aware of symptoms of extrapelvic endometriosis, such as cyclical shoulder pain, cyclical spontaneous pneumothorax, cyclical cough, or nodules which enlarge during menses.

GPP

5320

It is advisable to discuss diagnosis and management of extrapelvic endometriosis in a multidisciplinary team in a centre with sufficient expertise.

5321 Justification

5322 There is limited evidence on extrapelvic endometriosis. Cyclic pain is the most common presenting 5323 symptom, and the diagnosis is usually made by histological confirmation. Additional imaging and 5324 endoscopic investigations specific to the location may also be used.

- 5325 MRI provides better contrast resolution than CT and TAS and is superior to CT for depicting the 5326 delineation between muscles and abdominal subcutaneous tissues and infiltration of abdominal 5327 wall structures.
- 5328 Diagnosis of thoracic endometriosis syndrome is challenging, as these women's symptoms may 5329 not immediately be attributed to endometriosis, MRI technique provides a good diagnostic 5330 accuracy.
- 5331 As there were no comparative studies identified that compared different imaging modalities, we 5332 are unable to determine which imaging tool is optimal for abdominal or thoracic disease.
- 5333 Further information

5334 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5335 VII.1)

- 5336 References
- Andres MP, Arcoverde FVL, Souza CCC, Fernandes LFC, Abrão MS, Kho RM. Extrapelvic Endometriosis: A
 Systematic Review. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 373-389.
- 5339 Chamie LP, Ribeiro D, Tiferes DA, Macedo Neto AC, Serafini PC. Atypical Sites of Deeply Infiltrative 5340 Endometriosis: Clinical Characteristics and Imaging Findings. *Radiographics* 2018;38: 309-328.
- 5341 Gidwaney R, Badler RL, Yam BL, Hines JJ, Alexeeva V, Donovan V, Katz DS. Endometriosis of abdominal and 5342 pelvic wall scars: multimodality imaging findings, pathologic correlation, and radiologic mimics. *Radiographics* 5343 2012;32: 2031-2043.
- 5344 Gil Y, Tulandi T. Diagnosis and Treatment of Catamenial Pneumothorax: A Systematic Review. *J Minim Invasive* 5345 *Gynecol* 2019.
- Hirata T, Koga K, Kitade M, Fukuda S, Neriishi K, Taniguchi F, Honda R, Takazawa N, Tanaka T, Kurihara M *et*A National Survey of Umbilical Endometriosis in Japan. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 80-87.
- Horton JD, Dezee KJ, Ahnfeldt EP, Wagner M. Abdominal wall endometriosis: a surgeon's perspective and review of 445 cases. *Am J Surg* 2008;196: 207-212.
- 5350 Johnson MM. Catamenial pneumothorax and other thoracic manifestations of endometriosis. *Clin Chest Med* 5351 2004;25: 311-319.
- Joseph J, Sahn SA. Thoracic endometriosis syndrome: new observations from an analysis of 110 cases. *Am J Med* 1996;100: 164-170.
- Rousset P, Rousset-Jablonski C, Alifano M, Mansuet-Lupo A, Buy JN, Revel MP. Thoracic endometriosis syndrome: CT and MRI features. *Clin Radiol* 2014;69: 323-330.
- 5356 Vigueras Smith A, Cabrera R, Kondo W, Ferreira H. Diaphragmatic endometriosis minimally invasive treatment: 5357 a feasible and effective approach. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2020: 1-11.
- 5358 Yarmish G, Sala E, Goldman DA, Lakhman Y, Soslow RA, Hricak H, Gardner GJ, Vargas HA. Abdominal wall
- 5359 endometriosis: differentiation from other masses using CT features, Abdom Radiol (NY) 2017;42: 1517-1523.

RAFFE

5361 VII.2. Treatment

5362 PICO QUESTION: DOES TREATMENT FOR EXTRAPELVIC ENDOMETRIOSIS RELIEVE SYMPTOMS?

5363 VII.2.a. Extrapelvic endometriosis of the abdominal wall, the umbilicus, and the 5364 inguinal region

5365 Treatment of extrapelvic endometriosis of the abdominal wall, the umbilicus or the inguinal region 5366 will depend on the location of the lesions. If complete excision is possible, this is the treatment of 5367 choice; when this is not possible, long-term medical treatment is necessary (Andres, *et al.*, 2020, 5368 Keckstein, *et al.*, 2020, Veeraswamy, *et al.*, 2010). The principles of medical treatment for pelvic 5369 endometriosis will similarly apply for extragenital endometriosis (Hirata, *et al.*, 2020).

- 5370 Appendicular endometriosis is usually treated by appendectomy. Surgical treatment of bladder 5371 endometriosis usually takes the form of excision of the lesion and primary closure of the bladder 5372 wall. Ureteral lesions may be excised after stenting the ureter. In the presence of intrinsic lesions 5373 or significant obstruction, segmental excision with end-to-end anastomosis or reimplantation may 5374 be necessary.
- 5375 Abdominal wall and perineal endometriosis are usually treated by complete excision of the nodule
- (Liang, et al., 1996, Marinis, et al., 2006, Nezhat, et al., 2011, Nissotakis, et al., 2010, Song, et al.,
 2011).Recurrence after resection was 4.3% in an earlier mentioned review of 445 cases of abdominal
 wall endometriosis (Horton, et al., 2008).
- According to Zhu and co-workers there is no difference between the pain relief among patients with abdominal wall endometriosis treated with ultrasound-guided (high-intensity focussed ultrasound) HIFU and surgical excision. The hospital stay was shorter in the HIFU group than in the surgery group. Change in the size of nodules was more remarkable in the group treated with surgery (Zhu, *et al.*, 2017).
- 5384 For umbilical endometriosis, a similar approach can be applied taking into account cosmetic 5385 consequences (Hirata, *et al.*, 2020, Keckstein, *et al.*, 2020). The cumulative recurrence rate was 1.34% 5386 at 6 months, 6.35% at 12 months, and 6.35% at 60 months after surgery performed for umbilical 5387 endometriosis. Medical treatment can be advised for the conservative therapy of umbilical 5388 endometriosis, the efficacy of oral progestins, gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists, and oral 5389 contraceptives was 91.7%, 81.8%, and 57.1%, respectively (Hirata, *et al.*, 2020).
- 5390 In endometriosis of the inguinal region, the proximity to neural structures and femoral vessels 5391 should be considered and a multidisciplinary approach is advised (Hirata, *et al.*, 2020).

5392 VII.2.b. Thoracic and diaphragmatic endometriosis

- Hormonal treatment (OCP or GnRH agonist) has been shown to be effective in a significant proportion of patients, although with high recurrence rates. In cases of recurrent pneumothorax or haemothorax, chemical pleurodesis, pleural abrasion or pleurectomy may be helpful (Gil and Tulandi, 2019, Joseph and Sahn, 1996). Persistent haemoptysis due to parenchymal lesions may be treated by lobectomy or segmentectomy (Gil and Tulandi, 2019, Nezhat, *et al.*, 2014).
- 5398 If diaphragmatic endometriosis is found as the reason for catamenial pneumothorax, consideration 5399 should be given to investigation and treatment of pelvic endometriosis. (Ceccaroni, *et al.*, 2013, Gil 5400 and Tulandi, 2019, Vigueras Smith, *et al.*, 2020).
- According to recent meta-analysis by Ciriaco *et al* on the treatment of thoracic endometriosis syndrome, video-assisted thoracoscopy (VATS) was the preferred surgical technique (84%; 95%CI 66 to 96) (Ciriaco, *et al.*, 2020). Intraoperative evaluation revealed the presence of diaphragmatic anomalies in 84% of cases (95%CI 73 to 93). The overall pooled prevalence of concomitant or staged laparoscopy was 52% (95%CI 18 to 85). Postoperative hormone therapy was heterogeneous with a pooled prevalence of 61% (95%CI 33 to 86). Recurrence of symptoms was documented in 27% of patients (95%CI 20 to 34).

5408 When a patient does not want to undergo thoracic surgery or only incomplete resection is 5409 expected, in case of catamenial pneumothorax, a bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy (BSO) may be 5410 considered in absence of future fertility plans (Keckstein, *et al.*, 2020).

5411 Recommendations

For abdominal extrapelvic endometriosis, surgical removal is the preferred treatment when possible, to relieve symptoms. Hormonal treatment may also be an option when surgery is not possible or acceptable. $\oplus OOO$

5412

For thoracic endometriosis, hormonal treatment can be offered. If surgery is indicated, it should be performed in a multidisciplinary manner involving a thoracic surgeon and/or other relevant specialists. $\oplus OOO$

5413 Justification

5414 Due to the lack of unequivocal evidence regarding the treatment of extrapelvic endometriosis, 5415 clinicians may consider surgical removal of symptomatic extrapelvic endometriosis, when 5416 possible, to relieve symptoms. Both for abdominal and thoracic endometriosis, a weak

- 5417 recommendation was formulated.
- 5418 Further information
- 5419 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5420 VII.2)
- 5421 Research recommendations
- 5422 Prospective studies are needed in the field of extrapelvic endometriosis, especially thoracic 5423 endometriosis.
- 5424 References
- Andres MP, Arcoverde FVL, Souza CCC, Fernandes LFC, Abrão MS, Kho RM. Extrapelvic Endometriosis: A Systematic Review. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 373-389.
- 5427 Ceccaroni M, Roviglione G, Giampaolino P, Clarizia R, Bruni F, Ruffo G, Patrelli TS, De Placido G, Minelli L. 5428 Laparoscopic surgical treatment of diaphragmatic endometriosis: a 7-year single-institution retrospective 5429 review. *Surg Endosc* 2013;27: 625-632.
- 5430 Ciriaco P, Muriana P, Lembo R, Carretta A, Negri G. Treatment of Thoracic Endometriosis Syndrome: A Meta-5431 analysis and Review. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2020.
- 5432 Gil Y, Tulandi T. Diagnosis and Treatment of Catamenial Pneumothorax: A Systematic Review. *J Minim Invasive* 5433 *Gynecol* 2019.
- 5434 Hirata T, Koga K, Kitade M, Fukuda S, Neriishi K, Taniguchi F, Honda R, Takazawa N, Tanaka T, Kurihara M *et* 5435 *al.* A National Survey of Umbilical Endometriosis in Japan. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2020;27: 80-87.
- Horton JD, Dezee KJ, Ahnfeldt EP, Wagner M. Abdominal wall endometriosis: a surgeon's perspective and review of 445 cases. *Am J Surg* 2008;196: 207-212.
- 5438 Joseph J, Sahn SA. Thoracic endometriosis syndrome: new observations from an analysis of 110 cases. *Am J* 5439 *Med* 1996;100: 164-170.
- Keckstein J, Becker CM, Canis M, Feki A, Grimbizis GF, Hummelshoj L, Nisolle M, Roman H, Saridogan E, Tanos
 V *et al.* Recommendations for the surgical treatment of endometriosis. Part 2: deep endometriosis. *Hum Reprod Open* 2020;2020: hoaa002.
- Liang CC, Tsai CC, Chen TC, Soong YK. Management of perineal endometriosis. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1996;53:
 261-265.
- 5445 Marinis A, Vassiliou J, Kannas D, Theodosopoulos TK, Kondi-Pafiti A, Kairi E, Smyrniotis V. Endometriosis 5446 mimicking soft tissue tumors: diagnosis and treatment. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* 2006;27: 168-170.
- 5447 Nezhat C, Hajhosseini B, King LP. Laparoscopic management of bowel endometriosis: predictors of severe 5448 disease and recurrence. *Jsls* 2011;15: 431-438.
- 5449 Nezhat C, Main J, Paka C, Nezhat A, Beygui RE. Multidisciplinary treatment for thoracic and abdominopelvic 5450 endometriosis. *Jsls* 2014;18.
- 5451 Nissotakis C, Zouros E, Revelos K, Sakorafas GH. Abdominal wall endometrioma: a case report and review of 5452 the literature. *Aorn j* 2010;91: 730-742; quiz 743-735.
- 5453 Song JY, Borncamp E, Mehaffey P, Rotman C. Large abdominal wall endometrioma following laparoscopic 5454 hysterectomy. *Jsls* 2011;15: 261-263.
- 5455 Veeraswamy A, Lewis M, Mann A, Kotikela S, Hajhosseini B, Nezhat C. Extragenital endometriosis. *Clin Obstet* 5456 *Gynecol* 2010;53: 449-466.
- 5457 Vigueras Smith A, Cabrera R, Kondo W, Ferreira H. Diaphragmatic endometriosis minimally invasive treatment: 5458 a feasible and effective approach. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2020: 1-11.
- 5459 Zhu X, Chen L, Deng X, Xiao S, Ye M, Xue M. A comparison between high-intensity focused ultrasound and
- 5460 surgical treatment for the management of abdominal wall endometriosis. *Bjog* 2017;124 Suppl 3: 53-58.
- 5461

ORAFIC

5462 VIII. Asymptomatic endometriosis

Asymptomatic endometriosis is defined as the incidental finding of peritoneal, ovarian, or deep endometriosis without pelvic pain and/or infertility. Incidental findings of endometriosis have been reported during different gynaecologic procedures (sterilization, ovarian drilling for PCOS, appendectomy) and examinations (e.g., fertility work-up or general gynaecologic examinations). The exact prevalence of asymptomatic peritoneal endometriosis is unknown, but the presence of endometriosis has been reported in 3 to 45% of women undergoing laparoscopic tubal ligation (Gylfason, *et al.*, 2010, Rawson, 1991).

5470

5474

5471 VIII.1. Treatment

5472 PICO QUESTION: IS TREATMENT BENEFICIAL FOR INCIDENTAL FINDING OF ASYMPTOMATIC 5473 ENDOMETRIOSIS?

5475 By definition, patients with an incidental finding of asymptomatic endometriosis do not have 5476 symptoms of the disease that require treatment. Treatment could however be indicated to prevent 5477 progression of endometriosis.

- 5478 In this respect, it has been shown that the risk that asymptomatic minimal disease will become 5479 symptomatic is low (Moen and Stokstad, 2002).
- To date no clinical trials have been performed to assess whether surgery is beneficial compared to expectant management. Furthermore, as with any surgical procedure, surgical excision or ablation has associated risks, such as damage to adjacent anatomical structures. Therefore, surgical treatment for an incidental finding of asymptomatic endometriosis cannot be recommended.
- 5485 In the absence of evidence of disease progression, medical treatment cannot be recommended 5486 either for asymptomatic disease.

5487 Recommendations

The GDG recommends that clinicians should inform and counsel women about any GPP incidental finding of endometriosis.

5488

The GDG recommends that clinicians should not routinely perform surgical excision/ablation for an incidental finding of asymptomatic endometriosis at the time of surgery.

5489

Clinicians should not prescribe medical treatment in women with incidental finding of endometriosis. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

5490 Justification

5491 Based on the lack of evidence and despite the small risk that asymptomatic minimal disease will 5492 become symptomatic or progress, the conclusion from the GDG is that medical or surgical 5493 treatment of incidental finding of asymptomatic endometriotic lesions is not routinely 5494 recommended (strong recommendation). The GDG recommends that clinicians follow national 5495 guidelines for the management of ovarian cysts detected incidentally on ultrasound scan.

5496 It is considered good practice to inform and counsel patients about any incidental finding of 5497 endometriosis.

5498 Further information

5499 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5500 VIII.1)

- 5501 References
- 5502 Gylfason JT, Kristjansson KA, Sverrisdottir G, Jonsdottir K, Rafnsson V, Geirsson RT. Pelvic endometriosis 5503 diagnosed in an entire nation over 20 years. *Am J Epidemiol* 2010;172: 237-243.
- 5504 Moen MH, Stokstad T. A long-term follow-up study of women with asymptomatic endometriosis diagnosed 5505 incidentally at sterilization. *Fertil Steril* 2002;78: 773-776.
- 5506 Rawson JM. Prevalence of endometriosis in asymptomatic women. J Reprod Med 1991;36: 513-515.



5508 VIII.2. Monitoring

5509 PICO QUESTION: IS LONG TERM MONITORING OF WOMEN WITH ASYMPTOMATIC ENDOMETRIOSIS 5510 BENEFICIAL IN PREVENTING ADVERSE OUTCOMES?

5511

5512 The only rationale for long term monitoring of patients with asymptomatic endometriosis would be 5513 to prevent the progression of disease and development of symptoms and to avoid the possible 5514 malignant transformation.

5515 The conservative management of ovarian masses which have appearances consistent with 5516 endometrioma on ultrasound in asymptomatic premenopausal women is a safe option of 5517 treatment after proper counselling (Alcazar, *et al.*, 2005).

However, in view of other possible negative consequences of endometriosis (e.g., effects on fertility, increased risk of ovarian malignancy), there is a need for RCTs to determine whether surgery or long-term monitoring should be recommended (Maouris, 1991, Pearce, *et al.*, 2012).

5521 A recent prospective study reported that deep endometriosis could significantly impair detrusor

5522 functions. Authors conducted preoperative urodynamic evaluation to assess bladder function in

asymptomatic patients and found that detrusor overactivity was correlated with the presence of

- 5524 deep endometriosis (Serati, *et al.*, 2013).
- 5525 Recommendations

Routine ultrasound monitoring of asymptomatic endometriosis can be considered.

- 5526 Justification
- 5527 Even in the absence of solid data on the benefit of monitoring of asymptomatic endometriosis, the
- 5528 GDG suggests considering US monitoring as it is cost effective and safe (weak recommendation).
- 5529 There is no information as to how often and how long the monitorisation should continue.
- 5530 Further information
- 5531 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5532 VIII.2)
- 5533 References
- Alcazar JL, Castillo G, Jurado M, Garcia GL. Is expectant management of sonographically benign adnexal cysts an option in selected asymptomatic premenopausal women? *Hum Reprod* 2005;20: 3231-3234.
- 5536 Maouris P. Asymptomatic mild endometriosis in infertile women: the case for expectant management. *Obstet* 5537 *Gynecol Surv* 1991;46: 548-551.
- Pearce CL, Templeman C, Rossing MA, Lee A, Near AM, Webb PM, Nagle CM, Doherty JA, Cushing-Haugen
 KL, Wicklund KG *et al.* Association between endometriosis and risk of histological subtypes of ovarian cancer:
 a pooled analysis of case-control studies. *Lancet Oncol* 2012;13: 385-394.
- 5541 Serati M, Cattoni E, Braga A, Uccella S, Cromi A, Ghezzi F. Deep endometriosis and bladder and detrusor 5542 functions in women without urinary symptoms: a pilot study through an unexplored world. *Fertil Steril* 5543 2013;100: 1332-1336.
- 5544

⁵⁵⁴⁵ IX. Primary prevention of endometriosis

5546 Primary prevention is aimed at protecting healthy, asymptomatic women from developing 5547 endometriosis.

Since the cause of endometriosis is unknown, the potential of primary prevention is limited. One of 5548 the risk factors for endometriosis seems to be having a first-degree family member with the 5549 disease, although the specific genetic origin of the association is still unknown. The increased 5550 disease prevalence which has been found in first-degree relatives of women with endometriosis 5551 results in questions from patients and family members on how they can prevent the development 5552 of endometriosis. Therefore, we performed a literature search for interventions that could influence 5553 the development of endometriosis, although not specifically for women with increased risk for 5554 5555 endometriosis. However, interventions for prevention of disease development could be beneficial for these women as well. 5556

- 5557 Prevention of recurrence, or secondary prevention of endometriosis is covered in chapter IV.
- 5558

5559 **PICO** QUESTION: IS THERE A ROLE FOR PRIMARY PREVENTION OF ENDOMETRIOSIS?

- 5560 IX.1 Risk factors and prevention
- 5561 Epidemiological data suggest that early menarche, shorter cycle length, long and heavy menstrual 5562 flow, lean body size and reduced gravidity/parity are associated with increased risk of developing 5563 endometriosis (Parazzini, *et al.*, 2017, Shafrir, *et al.*, 2018). Available data regarding exposure to 5564 environmental pollutants, such as dioxins and polychlorinated biphenyls, do not draw a firm 5565 conclusion about the risk of developing endometriosis later in life (Cano-Sancho, *et al.*, 2019). Nickel 5566 allergy seems to be a risk factor for endometriosis (Yuk, *et al.*, 2015)
- 5567 To date there is no robust evidence supporting a significant association between diet and 5568 endometriosis, although women with endometriosis seem to consume fewer vegetables, fruits 5569 (particularly citrus fruits), dairy products, as well as foods rich of vitamin D and omega-3 5570 polyunsaturated fatty acids and more red meat, coffee and trans fats (Harris, *et al.*, 2018, Nodler, *et al.*, 2019, Parazzini, *et al.*, 2013b).
- 5572 In a review by Hansen *et al* on endometriosis, dysmenorrhea, and diet, one large included 5573 prospective cohort study reported that increased intake of long-chain omega-3 fatty acids lowered 5574 the risk of endometriosis, while increasing trans-unsaturated fatty acid intake increased the risk of 5575 endometriosis, indicating that there may be modifiable risk factors (Hansen and Knudsen, 2013, 5576 Missmer, *et al.*, 2010).
- Women with endometriosis were found to have lower vitamin D status when compared with women without endometriosis, and a negative relationship between vitamin D levels and severity of endometriosis was observed (Qiu, *et al.*, 2020). Recent data provides evidence for an association between alcohol consumption and endometriosis risk (Parazzini, *et al.*, 2013a), but not for tobacco smoking (Bravi, *et al.*, 2014). Although physical activity does not seem to reduce the risk of endometriosis, it may play a positive role in reducing endometriosis-associated pain (Ricci, *et al.*, 2016).
- 5584 When comparing women with surgically diagnosed endometriosis to women without a diagnosis 5585 of endometriosis, there is evidence that current use of oral contraceptives has a protective effect 5586 against the development of endometriosis, but this effect is not observed in past or ever 5587 contraceptive users (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2011). However, the protective effect observed in current 5588 users can be related to the postponement of surgical evaluation due to temporary suppression of 5589 pain (Vercellini, *et al.*, 2011).
- 5590 Recommendations

Although there is no direct evidence of developing endometriosis in the future, women can be advised of aiming for a healthy lifestyle and diet, with reduced Φ alcohol intake and regular physical activity.

@@00

5591

The usefulness of hormonal contraceptives for the primary prevention of endometriosis is uncertain.

5592 Justification

The evidence on a healthy lifestyle and diet, with reduced alcohol intake and regular physical activity for prevention of endometriosis is summarized in systematic reviews and meta-analyses of epidemiological/observational studies. The benefits of a healthy lifestyle are well known, regardless of endometriosis. To the best of our knowledge, the proposal of healthy lifestyle/diet could be considered a feasible and acceptable option.

5598 The evidence on a reduced risk of endometriosis during oral contraceptive use is controversial, as 5599 summarized in systematic reviews and meta-analyses of epidemiological/observational studies. 5600 To date, it is not possible to exclude the possibility that the apparent protective effect of oral 5601 contraceptive against endometriosis is the result of postponement of surgical evaluation due to 5602 temporary suppression of pain symptoms.

- 5603 Further information
- 5604 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5605 IX.1)

5606 References

5607 Bravi F, Parazzini F, Cipriani S, Chiaffarino F, Ricci E, Chiantera V, Vigano P, La Vecchia C. Tobacco smoking and 5608 risk of endometriosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 2014;4: e006325.

Cano-Sancho G, Ploteau S, Matta K, Adoamnei E, Louis GB, Mendiola J, Darai E, Squifflet J, Le Bizec B, Antignac
 JP. Human epidemiological evidence about the associations between exposure to organochlorine chemicals
 and endometriosis: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Environ Int* 2019;123: 209-223.

- Hansen SO, Knudsen UB. Endometriosis, dysmenorrhoea and diet. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2013;169:
 162-171.
- Harris HR, Eke AC, Chavarro JE, Missmer SA. Fruit and vegetable consumption and risk of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod* 2018;33: 715-727.
- 5616 Missmer SA, Chavarro JE, Malspeis S, Bertone-Johnson ER, Hornstein MD, Spiegelman D, Barbieri RL, Willett 5617 WC, Hankinson SE. A prospective study of dietary fat consumption and endometriosis risk. *Hum Reprod* 5618 2010;25: 1528-1535.
- 5619 Nodler JL, Harris HR, Chavarro JE, Frazier AL, Missmer SA. Dairy consumption during adolescence and 5620 endometriosis risk. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2019.
- 5621 Parazzini F, Cipriani S, Bravi F, Pelucchi C, Chiaffarino F, Ricci E, Vigano P. A metaanalysis on alcohol 5622 consumption and risk of endometriosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2013a;209: 106.e101-110.
- Parazzini F, Esposito G, Tozzi L, Noli S, Bianchi S. Epidemiology of endometriosis and its comorbidities. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2017;209: 3-7.
- 5625 Parazzini F, Vigano P, Candiani M, Fedele L. Diet and endometriosis risk: a literature review. *Reprod Biomed* 5626 *Online* 2013b;26: 323-336.
- 5627 Qiu Y, Yuan S, Wang H. Vitamin D status in endometriosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch* 5628 *Gynecol Obstet* 2020;302: 141-152.
- Ricci E, Vigano P, Cipriani S, Chiaffarino F, Bianchi S, Rebonato G, Parazzini F. Physical activity and
 endometriosis risk in women with infertility or pain: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*2016;95: e4957.
- 5632 Shafrir AL, Farland LV, Shah DK, Harris HR, Kvaskoff M, Zondervan K, Missmer SA. Risk for and consequences 5633 of endometriosis: A critical epidemiologic review. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 2018;51: 1-15.
- 5634 Vercellini P, Eskenazi B, Consonni D, Somigliana E, Parazzini F, Abbiati A, Fedele L. Oral contraceptives and 5635 risk of endometriosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2011;17: 159-170.

- 5636 Yuk JS, Shin JS, Shin JY, Oh E, Kim H, Park WI. Nickel Allergy Is a Risk Factor for Endometriosis: An 11-Year
- 5637 Population-Based Nested Case-Control Study. *PLoS One* 2015;10: e0139388.

5638

RAFE

5639 IX.2. Genetic predisposition

5640 Although meta-analyses of genome-wide association studies identified some single nucleotide 5641 polymorphisms associated with endometriosis (Sapkota, *et al.*, 2015, Sapkota, *et al.*, 2017), to date 5642 there is no robust evidence to recommend any genetic test to assess the risk of developing the 5643 disease.

5644 Recommendations

Genetic testing in women with suspected or confirmed endometriosis should only
be performed within a research setting.RESEARCH-
ONLY

5645 Justification

With regards to genetic markers to identify high-risk population for developing endometriosis, the evidence is drawn from systematic reviews and meta-analyses of epidemiological/observational and genome-wide association (GWAS) studies. At this stage, no genetic test could be considered reliable for the diagnosis of endometriosis. As such, genetic testing for identifying a high-risk population for developing endometriosis, should be limited to a research setting.

5651 Further information

- 5652 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question
- 5653 IX.2).

5654 References

Sapkota Y, Fassbender A, Bowdler L, Fung JN, Peterse D, O D, Montgomery GW, Nyholt DR, D'Hooghe TM.
 Independent Replication and Meta-Analysis for Endometriosis Risk Loci. *Twin Res Hum Genet* 2015;18: 518-5657

5658 Sapkota Y, Steinthorsdottir V, Morris AP, Fassbender A, Rahmioglu N, De Vivo I, Buring JE, Zhang F, Edwards 5659 TL, Jones S *et al.* Meta-analysis identifies five novel loci associated with endometriosis highlighting key genes 5660 involved in hormone metabolism. *Nat Commun* 2017;8: 15539.

5661

RAF

5662 X. Endometriosis and cancer

Endometriosis, although non-malignant, shares similar features with cancer, such as resistance to 5663 5664 apoptosis, development of local and distant foci, invasion of other tissues, and chronic inflammatory milieu. The possible link between endometriosis and cancer is a concern for many 5665 clinicians and patients. However, the evidence on this link, and its translation into clinical practice 5666 5667 in terms of information to patients and early detection of cancer, are unclear. In addition, recent publications suggest the presence of somatic cancer-driver mutations in endometriosis lesions 5668 5669 that may be associated with ovarian cancer development and progression. There is concern and 5670 uncertainty also as to whether treatment for endometriosis (hormonal treatment, surgery) may 5671 increase cancer risk. These questions with regards to cancer and endometriosis are discussed 5672 below.

5673

5674 X.1. Link between endometriosis and cancer

5675 PICO QUESTION: ARE ENDOMETRIOSIS PATIENTS AT INCREASED RISK OF CANCER?

5676

5677 Based on a systematic review and meta-analysis of 49 cohort or case-control studies, 5678 endometriosis is associated with a very small and not statistically significant increased risk of 5679 cancer overall (summary relative risk (SRR) 1.07; 95% CI 0.98 to 1.16) (Kvaskoff, *et al.*, 2020).

- 5680 Specifically, endometriosis diagnosis is associated with a higher risk of ovarian cancer (SRR 1.93), particularly the clear-cell (SRR 3.44) and endometrioid histotypes (SRR 2.33), breast cancer (SRR 5681 5682 1.04), and thyroid cancer (SRR 1.39) (Kvaskoff, et al., 2020). The review reported no increased risk of colorectal cancer (SRR 1.00), and a lower risk of cervical cancer (SRR 0.68) in women with 5683 endometriosis. This lower risk of cervical cancer (-32%) could be attributed to higher cervical 5684 surveillance and earlier detection in women with endometriosis. The meta-analysis stresses 5685 several complex methodological issues that must be considered when interpreting findings and 5686 weighing results. Most of the evaluated studies (53%) were rated as having serious or critical risk of 5687 bias, with impactful heterogeneity across studies. 5688
- 5689 Associations with other cancer types either show high potential for bias (endometrial cancer, 5690 cutaneous melanoma) or have been too sparsely documented to make valid conclusions (Kvaskoff, 5691 *et al.*, 2020).
- Very few studies provided estimates by endometriosis subtype. The meta-analysis shows a higher risk of ovarian cancer associated with endometrioma (SRR 5.41), although this result should be interpreted with caution given the probable methodologic bias (Kvaskoff, *et al.*, 2020). Only one study provided estimates by endometriosis subtype for the association with ovarian cancer; endometrioma and superficial peritoneal endometriosis were associated with a higher risk of clearcell and endometriod tumours (and serous tumours for endometrioma), but deep endometriosis was not associated with ovarian cancer risk (Saavalainen, *et al.*, 2018).
- Very few studies reported results by age at diagnosis or menopausal status. The association 5699 between endometriosis and ovarian cancer risk was reported to increase linearly with age at 5700 endometrioma diagnosis in one Japanese prospective cohort study (Kobayashi, et al., 2007), but 5701 5702 the relationship was less clear in a large retrospective Danish study showing stronger associations for the 30-39 and ≥50 years age categories (Mogensen, *et al.*, 2016). In the latter study, a similar 5703 association was reported between age at endometriosis diagnosis and endometrial cancer risk. 5704 The association between endometriosis and breast cancer was stronger in women aged at least 5705 50 years at endometriosis diagnosis in two studies (Bertelsen, et al., 2007, Mogensen, et al., 2016). 5706 The association between endometriosis and breast cancer did not differ according to menopausal 5707 status at breast cancer diagnosis in a prospective cohort study (Farland, et al., 2016), but it was 5708 stronger in premenopausal women in two early population-based case-control studies (Moseson, 5709

- 5710 et al., 1993, Weiss, et al., 1999). Overall, the currently available data is insufficient to make any
- conclusion on the association by age or menopausal status. 5711
- Recommendations 5712

Clinicians should inform women with endometriosis requesting information on their risk of developing cancer that, although endometriosis is associated with a higher risk of ovarian, breast, and thyroid cancer, the increase in risk compared with women in the general population is low (+0.5% to +1.2%).

 $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

Justification 5713

The data show a higher risk of ovarian, breast, and thyroid cancer in women with endometriosis, 5714 although the increase compared to the general population is low. As the risk of developing cancer 5715 is a major concern in some women with endometriosis; a strong recommendation for information 5716

- provision was formulated. Further guidance on how information can be provided is included in the 5717 next section. 5718
- 5719 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5720 5721 X.1)

5722 Research recommendation

Future studies should investigate the association between endometriosis and cancer using a 5723 prospective design, with a long duration of follow-up to take into account the temporality of the association, a population-based sample with standardized collection of data and recognized 5724 5725 criteria for the definition of endometriosis, evaluate potential confounding and mediation, and, also 5726 importantly, explore heterogeneity by reporting associations according to a) endometriosis and 5727 cancer subtypes, and b) patient characteristics (age, menopausal status...). When exploring 5728 endometriosis macro-phenotypes, results from both exclusive and non-exclusive subtypes should 5729 be reported. 5730

5731

NARRATIVE QUESTION: WHAT INFORMATION COULD CLINICIANS PROVIDE TO WOMEN WITH 5732 ENDOMETRIOSIS REGARDING THEIR RISK OF DEVELOPING CANCER? 5733

5734

Based on the currently available evidence, the increase in absolute risk for cancer in women with 5735 endometriosis is very small (Kvaskoff, et al., 2020): 5736

	Absolute risk of developing cancer in a woman's lifetime		Increase in risk in
	All women	Women with endometriosis	endometriosis
Ovarian cancer	1.3 %	2.5 %	+1.2 %
Breast cancer	12.8 %	13.3 %	+0.5 %
Thyroid cancer	1.3 %	1.8 %	+0.5 %

5737

5738 Although endometriosis is associated with the risk of some cancers, given the low absolute risks of ovarian, breast, and thyroid cancer in people with endometriosis relative to people without 5739 (increases of +1.2%, +0.5%, and +0.5%, respectively), and the uncertainty with regards to the risk of 5740 other cancers, endometriosis patients may be reassured that their cancer risk is low and close to 5741 that of people without the disease. 5742

5744 Recommendation

The GDG recommends that clinicians reassure women with endometriosis with regards to their cancer risk and address their concern to reduce their risk by recommending general cancer prevention measures (avoiding smoking, maintaining a healthy weight, exercising regularly, having a balanced diet with high intakes of fruits and vegetables and low intakes of alcohol, and using sun protection).

GPP

5745 Further information

5746 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5747 IX.2)

Absolute risk of developing cancer in a woman's lifetime

5748 Infographic

OVARIAN CANCER: 1,3 in 100 BREAST CANCER: 12,8 in 100 THYROID CANCER: 1,3 in 100 * * * * * * * ****** 4 * * 4 4 ALL WOMEN 4 OVARIAN CANCER: 2,5 in 100 BREAST CANCER: 13,3 in 100 THYROID CANCER: 1,8 in 100 WOMEN WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS ÷ 4 COLORECTAL CANCER : same risk as in women without endometriosis

COLORECTAL CANCER : CERVICAL CANCER: same risk as in women without endometrios lower risk in women with endometriosis

OTHER CANCERS :

insufficient data to make valid conclusions

X.1.a Somatic mutations 5752

NARRATIVE QUESTION: ARE SOMATIC MUTATIONS IN DEEP ENDOMETRIOSIS OF PATIENTS 5753 WITHOUT CANCER PREDICTIVE FOR OVARIAN CANCER DEVELOPMENT AND/OR PROGRESSION? 5754

5755

5756 Endometrioma has been posited as a direct precursor for clear-cell and endometrioid ovarian cancer (Anglesio and Yong, 2017). However, epidemiologic, histologic, genetic, and biochemical 5757 data have been conflicting (Bulun, et al., 2019, Guo, 2020, Kvaskoff, et al., 2020, Vigano, et al., 2006). 5758 Some authors described atypical endometriosis in a spatial and chronological association with 5759 ovarian cancer (Van Gorp, et al., 2004). Although a direct progression has been only rarely 5760 demonstrated, emerging evidence suggests genetic associations between endometriosis and 5761 5762 ovarian cancer. Several genetic studies have shown that endometriotic lesions have mutations or alterations in genes directly related to neoplasms, particularly PTEN, TP53, KRAS, and ARID1A 5763 (Akahane, et al., 2007, Amemiya, et al., 2004, Borrelli, et al., 2016, Er, et al., 2016, Siufi Neto, et al., 5764 2014). 5765

Nevertheless, more recently, the presence of cancer-driver mutations was investigated in various 5766 5767 tissues of patients without cancer (Bulun, et al., 2019, Yong, et al., 2021). Aside from endometrioma (Anglesio, et al., 2015, Suda, et al., 2018), somatic mutations in cancer-associated genes were 5768 observed in a quarter to a third of patients with deep endometriosis - a subtype that rarely 5769 undergoes malignant transformation (Anglesio, et al., 2017, Lac, et al., 2019b); in about 28% of 5770 patients with incisional endometriosis (a iatrogenic form of endometriosis occurring in the resulting 5771 surgical scars of obstetric/ gynaecological procedures) (Lac, et al., 2019b); and in over 50% of 5772 normal endometrium samples (Lac, et al., 2019a). 5773

5774 Conclusion

Based on the limited literature and controversial findings, there is little evidence that somatic 5775 mutations in patients with deep endometriosis may be predictive of development and/or 5776 progression of ovarian cancer 5777

Research recommendation 5778

More research needs to be performed on the mutational and epigenetic profile of ectopic, eutopic, 5779 and normal endometrium from women of different ages and reproductive histories. Among women 5780 with endometriosis, exclusive macro-phenotypes of endometriosis should be investigated. 5781

- 5782 Further information
- Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5783 5784 X.1).

X.1.b Impact of hormonal treatments 5785

PICO QUESTION: DOES THE USE OF HORMONAL TREATMENTS INCREASE THE RISK OF CANCER? 5786 5787

5788 Hormonal treatments (oral contraceptives, progestogens) are recommended for the treatment of 5789 endometriosis-associated pain and are widely used (See chapter II medical treatment for pain). As symptoms often reappear after discontinuation, the treatments are often used long-term, which 5790 5791 may pose patients at risk of safety issues (Ferrero, et al., 2015, Ferrero, et al., 2018).

The neoplastic effects of the oral contraceptive pill (OCP) have been extensively studied. A review 5792 on the safety of medical treatments for endometriosis showed an inverse association between 5793 duration of OCP use and ovarian cancer risk (for women using oral contraception for 4 and 8 years, 5794 the RR was 0.60 and 0.49, respectively) and endometrial cancer risk (for women using oral 5795 contraception for 4 and 8 years, the RR was 0.46 and 0.34, respectively); whereas the use of OCP 5796 was associated with an increased risk in breast cancer (RR between 1.09 and 1.38) and cervical 5797 5798 cancer (RR between 1.1 and 2.2) (Berlanda, et al., 2016).

- 5799 OCP users have a 20% to 30% lower risk of ovarian cancer than never-users (Havrilesky, et al., 2013, Wentzensen, et al., 2016). Furthermore, this risk reduction has been shown to be strengthened with 5800 the length of oral contraceptive use; long-term OCP use (10 years or more) was associated with a 5801 40% lower ovarian cancer risk (HR 0.60; 95% CI 0.47 to 0.76) compared with OCP use for less than 1 5802 year in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study, a large prospective population-based cohort (Michels, 5803 et al., 2018). This lower risk with longer durations of OCP use was observed for all histotypes of 5804 ovarian cancer except for mucinous tumours (Wentzensen, et al., 2016) and across several lifestyle 5805 5806 characteristics (smoking, BMI, physical activity) (Michels, et al., 2018).
- 5807 In the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study, women who have ever used OCPs had a 34% lower risk of 5808 endometrial cancer than women who have never used oral contraceptives and this risk decrease 5809 was more pronounced with long durations of use (HR 0.66; 95%CI 0.56 to 0.78 for \geq 10 years vs. 1 5810 year or less) (Michels, *et al.*, 2018). The strongest risk reductions were observed in those long-term 5811 users of oral contraceptives who were current smokers, obese, or exercised moderately or 5812 infrequently. In an Italian case-control study, OCP use was associated with 36% lower odds of 5813 endometrial cancer (95% CI 0.43-0.96) (Zucchetto, *et al.*, 2009).
- In 2017, a large prospective Danish study reported breast cancer risks associated with OCP (Morch, *et al.*, 2018). Particularly, as compared with women who had never used hormonal contraception, the relative risk of breast cancer among all current and recent users of hormonal contraception was 1.20 (95% Cl 1.14 to 1.26). This risk increased from 1.09 (95% Cl 0.96 to 1.23) with less than 1 year of use to 1.38 (95% Cl 1.26 to 1.51) with more than 10 years of use. In addition, breast cancer risk was also increased with duration of oral contraceptive use (HR 1.04; 95% Cl 0.97 to 1.11 for women using OCP for more than 10 years compared to less than 1 year) (Michels, *et al.*, 2018): .
- A systematic review showed that compared with never users of oral contraceptives, the relative risk of cervical cancer increased with increasing duration of use: for durations of approximately less than 5 years, 5-9 years, and 10 or more years, respectively, the summary relative risks were 1.1 (95% CI 1.1 to 1.2), 1.6 (95% CI 1.4 to 1.7), and 2.2 (95% CI 1.9 to 2.4) for all women (Smith, *et al.*, 2003).
- 5825 Women who have ever used OCP have a 15% to 20% lower risk of colorectal cancer than women 5826 who have never used OCP (Gierisch, *et al.*, 2013, Michels, *et al.*, 2018). No association was observed 5827 between OCP use and pancreatic cancer (Butt, *et al.*) or thyroid cancer (Braganza, *et al.*, 2014) in 5828 two large prospective studies.
- 5829 Scanty evidence is available on the neoplastic effect of progestins and their long-term use. 5830 However, an association between use of progestins for contraception and an increased risk of 5831 breast cancer has never been reported (Berlanda, *et al.*, 2016).

5832 Recommendations

Clinicians should reassure women with endometriosis about the risk of malignancy associated with the use of the oral contraceptive pill (OCP). $\oplus OOO$

5833 Justification

Robust evidence shows that the risks of ovarian, endometrial, and colorectal cancers are 5834 decreased in women who use CHC, whereas the risks of breast and cervical cancers are increased. 5835 5836 The risk reductions and risk increases are more pronounced for longer durations of use. Based on studies in the general population, evidence shows that the risks of ovarian, endometrial, and 5837 colorectal cancers are decreased in women who use CHC, whereas the risks of breast and cervical 5838 cancers are increased. However, the higher risk of cervical cancer related to CHC use may be 5839 counterbalanced by the lower cervical cancer risk related to endometriosis, and the risk reduction 5840 5841 for ovarian, endometrial, and colorectal cancers may outweigh the increased risk for breast cancer.

5842 Further information

- 5843 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5844 X.1)
- 5845

- 5846 References
- 5847Akahane T, Sekizawa A, Purwosunu Y, Nagatsuka M, Okai T. The role of p53 mutation in the carcinomas arising5848from endometriosis. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2007;26: 345-351.
- Amemiya S, Sekizawa A, Otsuka J, Tachikawa T, Saito H, Okai T. Malignant transformation of endometriosis and genetic alterations of K-ras and microsatellite instability. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2004;86: 371-376.
- 5851 Anglesio MS, Bashashati A, Wang YK, Senz J, Ha G, Yang W, Aniba MR, Prentice LM, Farahani H, Li Chang H *et* 5852 *al.* Multifocal endometriotic lesions associated with cancer are clonal and carry a high mutation burden. J 5853 *Pathol* 2015;236: 201-209.
- Anglesio MS, Papadopoulos N, Ayhan A, Nazeran TM, Noe M, Horlings HM, Lum A, Jones S, Senz J, Seckin T *et al.* Cancer-Associated Mutations in Endometriosis without Cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2017;376: 1835-1848.
- 5856 Anglesio MS, Yong PJ. Endometriosis-associated Ovarian Cancers. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 2017;60: 711-727.
- 5857 Berlanda N, Somigliana E, Vigano P, Vercellini P. Safety of medical treatments for endometriosis. *Expert Opin* 5858 *Drug Saf* 2016;15: 21-30.
- 5859 Bertelsen L, Mellemkjaer L, Frederiksen K, Kjaer SK, Brinton LA, Sakoda LC, van Valkengoed I, Olsen JH. Risk 5860 for breast cancer among women with endometriosis. *Int J Cancer* 2007;120: 1372-1375.
- 5861 Borrelli GM, Abrao MS, Taube ET, Darb-Esfahani S, Kohler C, Chiantera V, Mechsner S. (Partial) Loss of BAF250a 5862 (ARID1A) in rectovaginal deep-infiltrating endometriosis, endometriomas and involved pelvic sentinel lymph 5863 nodes. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2016;22: 329-337.
- 5864 Braganza MZ, de González AB, Schonfeld SJ, Wentzensen N, Brenner AV, Kitahara CM. Benign breast and 5865 gynecologic conditions, reproductive and hormonal factors, and risk of thyroid cancer. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)* 5866 2014;7: 418-425.
- 5867 Bulun SE, Wan Y, Matei D. Epithelial Mutations in Endometriosis: Link to Ovarian Cancer. *Endocrinology* 5868 2019;160: 626-638.
- 5869 Butt SA, Lidegaardi Ø, Skovlund C, Hannaford PC, Iversen L, Fielding S, Mørch LS. Hormonal contraceptive use 5870 and risk of pancreatic cancer-A cohort study among premenopausal women. *PLoS One* 2018;13: e0206358.
- 5871 Er TK, Su YF, Wu CC, Chen CC, Wang J, Hsieh TH, Herreros-Villanueva M, Chen WT, Chen YT, Liu TC *et al.* 5872 Targeted next-generation sequencing for molecular diagnosis of endometriosis-associated ovarian cancer. *J* 5873 *Mol Med (Berl)* 2016;94: 835-847.
- 5874 Farland LV, Tamimi RM, Eliassen AH, Spiegelman D, Hankinson SE, Chen WY, Missmer SA. Laparoscopically 5875 Confirmed Endometriosis and Breast Cancer in the Nurses' Health Study II. *Obstet Gynecol* 2016;128: 1025-5876 1031.
- 5877 Ferrero S, Alessandri F, Racca A, Leone Roberti Maggiore U. Treatment of pain associated with deep 5878 endometriosis: alternatives and evidence. *Fertil Steril* 2015;104: 771-792.
- 5879 Ferrero S, Evangelisti G, Barra F. Current and emerging treatment options for endometriosis. *Expert Opin* 5880 *Pharmacother* 2018;19: 1109-1125.
- 5881 Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Urrutia RP, Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, Lowery WJ, Dinan M, McBroom AJ, 5882 Hasselblad V, Sanders GD *et al*. Oral contraceptive use and risk of breast, cervical, colorectal, and endometrial 5883 cancers: a systematic review. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2013;22: 1931-1943.
- 5884 Guo SW. Cancer-associated mutations in endometriosis: shedding light on the pathogenesis and 5885 pathophysiology. *Hum Reprod Update* 2020;26: 423-449.
- Havrilesky LJ, Moorman PG, Lowery WJ, Gierisch JM, Coeytaux RR, Urrutia RP, Dinan M, McBroom AJ,
 Hasselblad V, Sanders GD *et al.* Oral contraceptive pills as primary prevention for ovarian cancer: a systematic
 review and meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2013;122: 139-147.
- 5889 Kobayashi H, Sumimoto K, Moniwa N, Imai M, Takakura K, Kuromaki T, Morioka E, Arisawa K, Terao T. Risk of 5890 developing ovarian cancer among women with ovarian endometrioma: a cohort study in Shizuoka, Japan. *Int* 5891 *J Gynecol Cancer* 2007;17: 37-43.
- 5892 Kvaskoff M, Mahamat-Saleh Y, Farland LV, Shigesi N, Terry KL, Harris HR, Roman H, Becker CM, As-Sanie S,
 5893 Zondervan KT *et al.* Endometriosis and cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update*5894 2020.
- Lac V, Nazeran TM, Tessier-Cloutier B, Aguirre-Hernandez R, Albert A, Lum A, Khattra J, Praetorius T, Mason
 M, Chiu D *et al.* Oncogenic mutations in histologically normal endometrium: the new normal? *J Pathol* 2019a;249: 173-181.
- Lac V, Verhoef L, Aguirre-Hernandez R, Nazeran TM, Tessier-Cloutier B, Praetorius T, Orr NL, Noga H, Lum A,
 Khattra J *et al.* latrogenic endometriosis harbors somatic cancer-driver mutations. *Hum Reprod* 2019b;34: 6978.
- 5901 Michels KA, Pfeiffer RM, Brinton LA, Trabert B. Modification of the Associations Between Duration of Oral 5902 Contraceptive Use and Ovarian, Endometrial, Breast, and Colorectal Cancers. *JAMA Oncol* 2018;4: 516-521.

- 5903 Mogensen JB, Kjær SK, Mellemkjær L, Jensen A. Endometriosis and risks for ovarian, endometrial and breast 5904 cancers: A nationwide cohort study. *Gynecol Oncol* 2016;143: 87-92.
- Morch LS, Hannaford PC, Lidegaard O. Contemporary Hormonal Contraception and the Risk of Breast Cancer.
 N Engl J Med 2018;378: 1265-1266.
- 5907 Moseson M, Koenig KL, Shore RE, Pasternack BS. The influence of medical conditions associated with 5908 hormones on the risk of breast cancer. *Int J Epidemiol* 1993;22: 1000-1009.
- 5909 Saavalainen L, Lassus H, But A, Tiitinen A, Härkki P, Gissler M, Pukkala E, Heikinheimo O. Risk of Gynecologic 5910 Cancer According to the Type of Endometriosis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2018;131: 1095-1102.
- 5911 Siufi Neto J, Kho RM, Siufi DF, Baracat EC, Anderson KS, Abrao MS. Cellular, histologic, and molecular changes 5912 associated with endometriosis and ovarian cancer. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* 2014;21: 55-63.
- 5913 Smith JS, Green J, Berrington de Gonzalez A, Appleby P, Peto J, Plummer M, Franceschi S, Beral V. Cervical 5914 cancer and use of hormonal contraceptives: a systematic review. *Lancet* 2003;361: 1159-1167.
- Suda K, Nakaoka H, Yoshihara K, Ishiguro T, Tamura R, Mori Y, Yamawaki K, Adachi S, Takahashi T, Kase H *et* Clonal Expansion and Diversification of Cancer-Associated Mutations in Endometriosis and Normal
 Endometrium. *Cell Rep* 2018;24: 1777-1789.
- 5918 Van Gorp T, Amant F, Neven P, Vergote I, Moerman P. Endometriosis and the development of malignant 5919 tumours of the pelvis. A review of literature. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 2004;18: 349-371.
- Vigano P, Somigliana E, Chiodo I, Abbiati A, Vercellini P. Molecular mechanisms and biological plausibility
 underlying the malignant transformation of endometriosis: a critical analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2006;12: 77 89.
- 5923 Weiss HA, Brinton LA, Potischman NA, Brogan D, Coates RJ, Gammon MD, Malone KE, Schoenberg JB. Breast 5924 cancer risk in young women and history of selected medical conditions. *Int J Epidemiol* 1999;28: 816-823.
- 5925 Wentzensen N, Poole EM, Trabert B, White E, Arslan AA, Patel AV, Setiawan VW, Visvanathan K, Weiderpass 5926 E, Adami HO *et al.* Ovarian Cancer Risk Factors by Histologic Subtype: An Analysis From the Ovarian Cancer
- 5927 Cohort Consortium. *J Clin Oncol* 2016;34: 2888-2898.
- 5928 Yong PJ, Talhouk A, Anglesio MS. Somatic Genomic Events in Endometriosis: Review of the Literature and 5929 Approach to Phenotyping. *Reprod Sci* 2021.
- 5930 Zucchetto A, Serraino D, Polesel J, Negri E, De Paoli A, Dal Maso L, Montella M, La Vecchia C, Franceschi S,
- 5931 Talamini R. Hormone-related factors and gynecological conditions in relation to endometrial cancer risk. *Eur*
- 5932 *J Cancer Prev* 2009;18: 316-321.
- 5933

RAFT

5934 X.2. Monitoring for detection of malignancy

5935 PICO QUESTION: SHOULD WOMEN WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS BE MONITORED FOR DETECTION OF 5936 MALIGNANCY?

Based on the increase in lifetime risks of ovarian, breast, and thyroid cancer in endometriosis patients, monitoring could be advocated. However, the data discussed above show that the increased risk is very small compared with women in the general population (0.5-1.2%) (Kvaskoff, *et al.*, 2020).

5942 Monitoring for ovarian malignancy could be performed by CA-125 measurement, or imaging, 5943 although the value is unclear, even in women without endometriosis. Randomized-controlled trials 5944 have shown no benefit of serum CA-125 measurements or transvaginal ultrasound on early 5945 detection of ovarian cancer or mortality reduction (Buys, *et al.*, 2011, Jacobs, *et al.*, 2016). In fact, 5946 significant harms have been reported for those receiving false-positive test results for ovarian 5947 cancer (unnecessary surgery, surgical complications, infections, or cardiovascular/pulmonary 5948 complications) (Buys, *et al.*, 2011).

Still, monitoring, by regular CA-125 measurements or ultrasound scans, is performed in women 5949 5950 with high risk of developing ovarian cancer, such as those with family history of ovarian/breast cancer or a known germline mutation These women may have a lifetime risk of ovarian cancer of 5951 up to 50% compared to the 1.3% risk in the general population (and 2.5% in women with 5952 endometriosis). In some of these high-risk women, prophylactic bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy 5953 (BSO) is recommended for further reduction of ovarian cancer risk (Berek, et al., 2010); however, 5954 BSO is associated with important health risks of starkly higher incidence than the risk of ovarian 5955 cancer. In premenopausal women, BSO can result in cardiovascular diseases, depression, arthritis, 5956 asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and osteoporosis, in post-menopausal women, 5957 cardiovascular diseases, anxiety, sexual function disorders, fracture, neurologic disorders, or 5958 cognitive impairment (Kvaskoff, et al., 2020, Parker, et al., 2009). Considering the lifetime risk of 5959 ovarian cancer and the significant harms, BSO is not recommended in women with endometriosis 5960 without further risk factors for ovarian cancer. 5961

5962 Monitoring for other types of malignancy is not justified given the low absolute breast and thyroid 5963 cancer risk in women with endometriosis.

5964 Recommendations

Clinicians should not systematically perform cancer screening in women with endometriosis. $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

5965

5937

Clinicians can consider cancer screening according to local guidelines in individual patients that have additional risk factors, e.g., strong family history, specific germline mutations.

GPP

5966 Justification

5967 Given the small increases in the lifetime risk of ovarian cancer in endometriosis patients, regular 5968 screening through serum CA-125 measurements or trans-vaginal ultrasound has no benefit on 5969 early detection or mortality reduction for ovarian cancer. Conversely, significant harms have been 5970 reported for women receiving false-positive test results. In the absence of significant risk factors, 5971 bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy outweighs the risk of ovarian cancer.

There was a consensus to say that we should choose our words carefully, but that the recommendation should be clear – stating that this should be assessed on a case-by-case basis, where appropriate, is not clear or helpful. We also need to address how to counsel a woman with endometrioma, particularly when diagnosed in asymptomatic patients or in postmenopausal women. 5977 Research recommendation

5978 More data are needed on the malignant transformation of endometrioma and endometriosis in

5979 general to guide the need for monitoring. In addition, there is a critical need for longitudinal studies 5980 in patients with (asymptomatic) endometrioma, or diagnosed (or persistent) endometriosis after

5981 menopause to guide monitoring and management of the disease with regards to the risk of 5982 malignancy.

5983 Further information

5984 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question 5985 X.2)

5986 References

Berek JS, Chalas E, Edelson M, Moore DH, Burke WM, Cliby WA, Berchuck A. Prophylactic and risk-reducing
bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy: recommendations based on risk of ovarian cancer. *Obstet Gynecol* 2010;116:
733-743.

Buys SS, Partridge E, Black A, Johnson CC, Lamerato L, Isaacs C, Reding DJ, Greenlee RT, Yokochi LA, Kessel
B *et al.* Effect of screening on ovarian cancer mortality: the Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian (PLCO)
Cancer Screening Randomized Controlled Trial. *Jama* 2011;305: 2295-2303.

Jacobs IJ, Menon U, Ryan A, Gentry-Maharaj A, Burnell M, Kalsi JK, Amso NN, Apostolidou S, Benjamin E, Cruickshank D *et al.* Ovarian cancer screening and mortality in the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian Cancer Screening (UKCTOCS): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2016;387: 945-956.

5996 Kvaskoff M, Mahamat-Saleh Y, Farland LV, Shigesi N, Terry KL, Harris HR, Roman H, Becker CM, As-Sanie S, 5997 Zondervan KT *et al.* Endometriosis and cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 5998 2020.

5999 Parker WH, Jacoby V, Shoupe D, Rocca W. Effect of bilateral oophorectomy on women's long-term health. 6000 *Womens Health (Lond)* 2009;5: 565-576.

RAFTE

X.3. Surgery and malignancy 6002

6003 6004

PICO QUESTION: DOES SURGERY FOR ENDOMETRIOSIS CHANGE THE FUTURE RISK OF CANCER?

Some authors have advocated "earlier and more meticulous surgical intervention for complete 6005 6006 disease removal" to reduce future ovarian cancer risk (Nezhat, et al., 2008). Others have challenged this position on the basis that preventative surgery may be extended to asymptomatic women and 6007 6008 argued that given the relapsing nature of endometriosis, it is unlikely that preventative surgery would reduce the future risk substantially (Vercellini, et al., 2009). 6009

A nationwide, registry-based study of all women with a first-time discharge diagnosis of 6010 endometriosis (70%-80% with endometrioma regardless of other types) in 1969-2007 in Sweden 6011 6012 identified 183 cases of epithelial ovarian cancer in women with endometriosis and compared them 6013 with 318 matched controls with endometriosis and no ovarian cancer using a nested case-control design (Melin, et al., 2013). Those who had undergone unilateral oophorectomy or extirpation of all 6014 visible endometriosis at surgery for endometriosis had a dramatically reduced risk of ovarian 6015 cancer in later life. This risk reduction was more pronounced in those who had unilateral 6016 oophorectomy (OR 0.10; 95%Cl 0.03 to 0.36) compared with those who had excision without 6017 removing the affected ovary (OR 0.29; 95%Cl 0.10 to 0.84). Other types of surgical treatment (tubal 6018 6019 ligation, unilateral or bilateral salpingectomy, hysterectomy) were not significantly associated with the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. 6020

A population-based case-control study of 812 women with ovarian cancer and 1313 controls 6021 explored the relationship between pre-existing benign ovarian conditions and risk of ovarian 6022 cancer, as well as the reduction in such risk associated with ovarian surgery following the diagnosis 6023 of the benign condition (Rossing, et al., 2008). However, the study lacked statistical power (only 175 6024 6025 participants reported endometriosis) and produced imprecise estimates, with wide CIs that often overlapped across subgroups. The association between self-reported endometriosis and ovarian 6026 cancer did not significantly differ between women who reported ovarian surgery after their 6027 endometriosis (unilateral oophorectomy, excision of a cyst or of a partial ovary; OR 1.4; 95%CI 1.0 to 6028 2.0) and those who did not (OR 1.0; 95%Cl 0.5 to 2.2). The OR for the association between self-6029 reported endometriosis and ovarian cancer was 0.8 (95%Cl 0.3 to 2.1) in women who reported 6030 unilateral oophorectomy, whereas it was 3.3 (95%CI 0.7 to 15.3) in those who reported a lesser extent 6031 of ovarian surgery (cystectomy or partial oophorectomy). Self-reported endometriosis was 6032 associated with a three-fold increase in the risk of endometrioid and clear-cell invasive tumours 6033 (OR 3.2; 95%CI 1.9 to 5.6), with a smaller OR in those who underwent ovarian surgery (OR 1.6; 95%CI 6034 6035 0.4 to 5.7).

In a retrospective cross-sectional study of 485 women who had excision of endometrioma, 4 (0.8%) 6036 developed ovarian cancer (Haraguchi, et al., 2016). These all occurred in women with recurrence of 6037 6038 their endometrioma. Age at endometrioma excision ranged from 32 to 41.

6039 Recommendations

Clinicians should be aware that there is epidemiological data, mostly on ovarian endometriosis, showing that complete excision of visible endometriosis may reduce the risk of ovarian cancer (OR 0.29). The potential benefits should be weighed against the risks of surgery (morbidity, pain, and ovarian reserve).

 $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$

6040 Justification

Surgical excision of endometriosis, from the ovaries and from other locations, may reduce the risk 6041 6042 of subsequent ovarian cancer. However, removal of the affected ovary, where appropriate, may have a bigger cancer risk reduction effect than excision of disease and preservation of the ovary. If 6043 6044 endometriosis involves both ovaries, BSO should be considered with caution with regards to other long-term health risks, as detailed in section X.2 6045

ESHRE GUIDELINE ENDOMETRIOSIS 2021 DRAFT FOR REVIEW

6046 Further information

6047 Details of the literature study and evidence tables are available in Annex 7 and Annex 8 (question6048 X.3)

6049 References

Haraguchi H, Koga K, Takamura M, Makabe T, Sue F, Miyashita M, Urata Y, Izumi G, Harada M, Hirata T *et al.*Development of ovarian cancer after excision of endometrioma. *Fertil Steril* 2016;106: 1432-1437.e1432.

Melin AS, Lundholm C, Malki N, Swahn ML, Sparen P, Bergqvist A. Hormonal and surgical treatments for endometriosis and risk of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2013;92: 546-554.

6054 Nezhat F, Datta MS, Hanson V, Pejovic T, Nezhat C, Nezhat C. The relationship of endometriosis and ovarian 6055 malignancy: a review. *Fertil Steril* 2008;90: 1559-1570.

6056 Rossing MA, Cushing-Haugen KL, Wicklund KG, Doherty JA, Weiss NS. Risk of epithelial ovarian cancer in 6057 relation to benign ovarian conditions and ovarian surgery. *Cancer Causes Control* 2008;19: 1357-1364.

- 6058 Vercellini P, Parazzini F, Somigliana E, Vigano P, Bolis G, Fedele L. The endometriosis-ovarian cancer 6059 connection: the case against preventive surgery. *Fertil Steril* 2009;91: e37; author reply e36.
- 6060

or est, author reply est

- Annex 1: Guideline group
- 6062 Annex 2: Abbreviations
- 6063 Annex 3: Terminology
- Annex 4: Key Questions
- 6065 Annex 5: Methodology
- 6066 Annex 6: Stakeholder review
- Annex 7: Details of the literature study
- 6068 Annex 8: evidence tables

6069

6070 Annexes will be introduced in the final version

RAF